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Basis of Presentation

General

Except where the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) to the “Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” or similar words or phrases are to Bausch Health Companies Inc. and its subsidiaries, taken
together. In this Form 10-K, references to “$” or “USD” are to United States dollars, references to “€” are to Euros, and references to “CAD” are to Canadian dollars. Unless otherwise indicated, the statistical and financial data contained in this
Form 10-K are presented as of December 31, 2020.

Trademarks

The following words are some of the trademarks in our Company s trademark portfolio and are the subject of either registration, or application for registration, in one or more of Canada, the United States of America (the “U.S.”) or certain
other jurisdictions  AERGEL , AKREOS , ALAWAY , ALREX , ALTRENO , AMMONUL , APLENZIN , APRISO , AQUALOX , ARAZLO , ARESTIN , ARTELAC , ATIVAN , B & L , B + L , BAUSCH & LOMB , BAUSCH +
LOMB , BAUSCH + LOMB ULTRA , BAUSCH HEALTH , BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES , BEDOYECTA , BENZACLIN , BEPREVE , BESIVANCE , BIOTRUE , BISOCARD , BOSTON , BRYHALI , BUPAP , CARAC ,
CARDIZEM , CLEAR + BRILLIANT , CLINDAGEL , COLD FX . COMFORTMOIST , CRYSTALENS , CUPRIMINE , DIASTAT , DUOBRII , EDECRIN , ENVISTA , ESPAVEN , FRAXEL , GLUMETZA , ISTALOL , IVEXTERM ,
JUBLIA , LIBRAX , LOTEMAX , LUMIFY , LUXGOOD , LUXSMART , LUZU , MEDICIS , MEPHYTON , MIGRANAL , MOISTURESEAL , NEUTRASAL , NORITATE , OCUVITE , ONEXTON , OPTICALIGN , ORTHO
DERMATOLOGICS , PRESERVISION , PROLENSA , PUREVISION , RELISTOR , RENU , RENU MULTIPLUS , RETIN-A , RETIN-A MICRO , SALIX , SCLERALFIL , SECONAL SODIUM , SHOWER TO SHOWER , SILIQ ,
SILSOFT , SOFLENS , SOLODYN , SOLTA MEDICAL , STELLARIS , STELLARIS ELITE , SYNERGETICS , SYPRINE , TARGRETIN , THERMAGE , THERMAGE FLX , THROMBO ASS , TRULANCE , TRULIGN , UCERIS ,
VALEANT , VASERLIPO , VICTUS , VIRAZOLE , VITESSE , VYZULTA , XENAZINE , ZEGERID , ZIANA , and ZYLET .

In addition to the trademarks previously noted, we have filed trademark applications and/or obtained trademark registrations for many of our other trademarks in the U.S., Canada and in other jurisdictions and have implemented, on an ongoing
basis, a trademark protection program for new trademarks.

WELLBUTRIN , WELLBUTRIN XL  and ZOVIRAX  are trademarks of GlaxoSmithKline LLC and are used by us under license. ELIDEL  and XERESE  are registered trademarks of Meda Pharma SARL and are used by us under license.
EMERADE  is a registered trademark of Medeca Pharma AB and is used by us under license. ISUPREL  and NITROPRESS  are registered trademarks of Hospira, Inc. and are used by us under license. XIFAXAN  is a registered trademark of
Alfasigma S.p.A. and is used by us under license. PEPCID  is a brand of Johnson & Johnson and is used by us under license. MOVIPREP  is a registered trademark of Velinor AG and is used by us under license. PLENVU  is a registered trademark
of Velinor AG and is used by us under license. LOCOID  is a registered trademark of Leo Pharma A/S and is used by us under license. TANGIBLE  and HYDRA-PEG  are registered trademarks of Tangible Science, LLC and are used by us under
license. LUMINATE  is a registered trademark of Allegro Ophthalmics, LLC and we have entered into an agreement for an option to acquire all ophthalmology assets of Allegro Ophthalmics, LLC. XIPERE  is a trademark of Clearside Biomedical,
Inc. and is used by us under license. CONTRAVE  and MYSIMBA  are used by us under license.

Forward-Looking Statements

Caution regarding forward-looking information and statements and “Safe-Harbor” statements under the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian securities laws

To the extent any statements made in this Form 10-K contain information that is not historical  these statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933  as amended  and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  as amended  and may be forward-looking information within the meaning defined under applicable Canadian securities laws (collectively  “forward-looking statements”).

These forward-looking statements relate to  among other things  our business strategy  business plans and prospects and forecasts and changes thereto  product pipeline  prospective products and product approvals  product development and
future performance and results of current and anticipated products  anticipated revenues for our products  anticipated growth in our Ortho Dermatologics business  expected research and development ( R&D ) and marketing spend  our expected
primary cash and working capital requirements for 2021 and beyond  our plans for continued improvement in operational efficiency and the anticipated impact of such plans  our liquidity and our ability to satisfy our debt maturities as they become
due  our ability to reduce debt levels  our ability to meet the financial and other covenants contained in our Fourth Amended and Restated Credit
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and Guaranty Agreement (the Restated Credit Agreement ) and senior notes indentures  the impact of our distribution  fulfillment and other third-party arrangements  proposed pricing actions  exposure to foreign currency exchange rate changes
and interest rate changes  the outcome of contingencies  such as litigation  subpoenas  investigations  reviews  audits and regulatory proceedings  the anticipated impact of the adoption of new accounting standards  general market conditions  our
expectations regarding our financial performance  including revenues  expenses  gross margins and income taxes  our impairment assessments  including the assumptions used therein and the results thereof  the anticipated impact of the evolving
COVID-19 pandemic and related responses from governments and private sector participants on the Company  its supply chain  third-party suppliers  project development timelines  costs  revenue  margins  liquidity and financial condition  the
anticipated timing  speed and magnitude of recovery from these COVID-19 pandemic related impacts and the Company s planned actions and responses to this pandemic  and the Company s plan to separate its eye-health business  including the
structure and timing of completing such separation transaction.

Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of words such as “believe”  “anticipate”  “expect”  “intend”  “estimate”  “plan”  “continue”  “will”  “may”  “could”  “would”  “should”  “target”  “potential”
“opportunity”  “designed”  “create”  “predict”  “project”  “forecast”  “seek”  “strive”  “ongoing” or “increase” and variations or other similar expressions. In addition  any statements that refer to expectations  intentions  projections or other
characterizations of future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements may not be appropriate for other purposes. Although we have previously indicated certain of these statements set out herein  all of
the statements in this Form 10-K that contain forward-looking statements are qualified by these cautionary statements. These statements are based upon the current expectations and beliefs of management. Although we believe that the expectations
reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable  such statements involve risks and uncertainties  and undue reliance should not be placed on such statements. Certain material factors or assumptions are applied in making such forward-
looking statements  including  but not limited to  factors and assumptions regarding the items previously outlined  those factors  risks and uncertainties outlined below and the assumption that none of these factors  risks and uncertainties will cause
actual results or events to differ materially from those described in such forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Important factors  risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from these expectations include  among other things  the following

• the risks and uncertainties caused by or relating to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic  the fear of that pandemic  the availability and effectiveness of vaccines for COVID-19  the rapidly evolving reaction of governments  private sector
participants and the public to that pandemic  and the potential effects and economic impact of the pandemic and the reaction to it  the severity  duration and future impact of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted  and which
may have a significant adverse impact on the Company  including but not limited to its supply chain  third-party suppliers  project development timelines  employee base  liquidity  stock price  financial condition and costs (which may
increase) and revenue and margins (both of which may decrease)

• with respect to the proposed separation of the Company s eye-health business  the risks and uncertainties include  but are not limited to  the expected benefits and costs of the separation transaction  the expected timing of completion of the
separation transaction and its terms  the Company s ability to complete the separation transaction considering the various conditions to the completion of the separation transaction (some of which are outside the Company s control
including conditions related to regulatory matters and a possible shareholder vote  if applicable)  that market or other conditions are no longer favorable to completing the transaction  that any shareholder  stock exchange  regulatory or
other approval (if required) is not obtained on the terms or timelines anticipated or at all  business disruption during the pendency of or following the separation transaction  diversion of management time on separation transaction-related
issues  retention of existing management team members  the reaction of customers and other parties to the separation transaction  the qualification of the separation transaction as a tax-free transaction for Canadian and/or U.S. federal
income tax purposes (including whether or not an advance ruling from either or both of the Canada Revenue Agency and the Internal Revenue Service will be sought or obtained)  potential dyssynergy costs resulting from the separation
transaction  the impact of the separation transaction on relationships with customers  suppliers  employees and other business counterparties  general economic conditions  conditions in the markets the Company is engaged in  behavior of
customers  suppliers and competitors  technological developments  as well as legal and regulatory rules affecting the Company s business

• the expense  timing and outcome of legal and governmental proceedings  investigations and information requests relating to  among other matters  our past distribution  marketing  pricing  disclosure and accounting practices (including
with respect to our former relationship with Philidor Rx Services  LLC ( Philidor ))  including a number of pending non-class securities litigations (including certain pending opt-out actions in the U.S. related to the previously settled
securities class action (which remains subject to an objector's appeal of the Court's final approval order) and certain opt-out actions in Canada relating to the recently settled class action in Canada) and purported class actions
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under the federal RICO statute and other claims  investigations or proceedings that may be initiated or that may be asserted

• potential additional litigation and regulatory investigations (and any costs  expenses  use of resources  diversion of management time and efforts  liability and damages that may result therefrom)  negative publicity and reputational harm on
our Company  products and business that may result from the past and ongoing public scrutiny of our past distribution  marketing  pricing  disclosure and accounting practices and from our former relationship with Philidor

• the past and ongoing scrutiny of our legacy business practices  including with respect to pricing  and any pricing controls or price adjustments that may be sought or imposed on our products as a result thereof

• pricing decisions that we have implemented  or may in the future elect to implement  such as the Patient Access and Pricing Committee s commitment that the average annual price increase for our branded prescription pharmaceutical
products will be set at no greater than single digits  or any future pricing actions we may take following review by our Patient Access and Pricing Committee (which is responsible for the pricing of our drugs)

• legislative or policy efforts  including those that may be introduced and passed by the U.S. Congress  designed to reduce patient out-of-pocket costs for medicines  which could result in new mandatory rebates and discounts or other pricing
restrictions  controls or regulations (including mandatory price reductions)

• ongoing oversight and review of our products and facilities by regulatory and governmental agencies  including periodic audits by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the FDA ) and equivalent agencies outside of the U.S. and the
results thereof

• actions by the FDA or other regulatory authorities with respect to our products or facilities

• our substantial debt (and potential additional future indebtedness) and current and future debt service obligations  our ability to reduce our outstanding debt levels and the resulting impact on our financial condition  cash flows and results
of operations

• our ability to meet the financial and other covenants contained in our Restated Credit Agreement  senior notes indentures  2023 Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) and other current or future debt agreements and the limitations
restrictions and prohibitions such covenants impose or may impose on the way we conduct our business  including prohibitions on incurring additional debt if certain financial covenants are not met  limitations on the amount of additional
obligations we are able to incur pursuant to other covenants  our ability to draw under our 2023 Revolving Credit Facility and restrictions on our ability to make certain investments and other restricted payments

• any default under the terms of our senior notes indentures or Restated Credit Agreement and our ability  if any  to cure or obtain waivers of such default

• any downgrade by rating agencies in our credit ratings  which may impact  among other things  our ability to raise debt and the cost of capital for additional debt issuances

• any reductions in  or changes in the assumptions used in  our forecasts for fiscal year 2021 or beyond  including as a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and operations  which could lead to  among other things
(i) a failure to meet the financial and/or other covenants contained in our Restated Credit Agreement and/or senior notes indentures and/or (ii) impairment in the goodwill associated with certain of our reporting units or impairment charges
related to certain of our products or other intangible assets  which impairments could be material

• changes in the assumptions used in connection with our impairment analyses or assessments  which would lead to a change in such impairment analyses and assessments and which could result in an impairment in the goodwill associated
with any of our reporting units or impairment charges related to certain of our products or other intangible assets

• the uncertainties associated with the acquisition and launch of new products  including  but not limited to  our ability to provide the time  resources  expertise and funds required for the commercial launch of new products  the acceptance
and demand for new pharmaceutical products  and the impact of competitive products and pricing  which could lead to material impairment charges

• our ability or inability to extend the profitable life of our products  including through line extensions and other life-cycle programs

• our ability to retain  motivate and recruit executives and other key employees

iv
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• our ability to implement effective succession planning for our executives and key employees

• factors impacting our ability to achieve anticipated growth in our Ortho Dermatologics business  including the success of recently launched products (such as Arazlo )  expected geographic expansion in our Solta business (including with
respect to Next Generation Thermage FLX )  the ability to successfully implement and operate our cash-pay prescription program for certain of our Ortho Dermatologics branded products  and the ability of such program to achieve the
anticipated goals respecting patient access and fulfillment  the approval of pending and pipeline products (and the timing of such approvals)  changes in estimates on market potential for dermatology products and continued investment in
and success of our sales force

• factors impacting our ability to achieve anticipated revenues for our products  including changes in anticipated marketing spend on such products and launch of competing products

• the challenges and difficulties associated with managing a large complex business  which has  in the past  grown rapidly

• our ability to compete against companies that are larger and have greater financial  technical and human resources than we do  as well as other competitive factors  such as technological advances achieved  patents obtained and new
products introduced by our competitors

• our ability to effectively operate and grow our businesses in light of the challenges that the Company has faced and market conditions  including with respect to its substantial debt  pending investigations and legal proceedings  scrutiny of
our past pricing and other practices  limitations on the way we conduct business imposed by the covenants contained in our Restated Credit Agreement  senior notes indentures and the agreements governing our other indebtedness  and the
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic

• the extent to which our products are reimbursed by government authorities  pharmacy benefit managers ( PBMs ) and other third-party payors  the impact our distribution  pricing and other practices may have on the decisions of such
government authorities  PBMs and other third-party payors to reimburse our products  and the impact of obtaining or maintaining such reimbursement on the price and sales of our products

• the inclusion of our products on formularies or our ability to achieve favorable formulary status  as well as the impact on the price and sales of our products in connection therewith

• the consolidation of wholesalers  retail drug chains and other customer groups and the impact of such industry consolidation on our business

• our eligibility for benefits under tax treaties and the continued availability of low effective tax rates for the business profits of certain of our subsidiaries

• the actions of our third-party partners or service providers of research  development  manufacturing  marketing  distribution or other services  including their compliance with applicable laws and contracts  which actions may be beyond our
control or influence  and the impact of such actions on our Company  including the impact to the Company of our former relationship with Philidor and any alleged legal or contractual non-compliance by Philidor

• the risks associated with the international scope of our operations  including our presence in emerging markets and the challenges we face when entering and operating in new and different geographic markets (including the challenges
created by new and different regulatory regimes in such countries and the need to comply with applicable anti-bribery and economic sanctions laws and regulations)

• adverse global economic conditions and credit markets and foreign currency exchange uncertainty and volatility in certain of the countries in which we do business

• the impact of the United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (“USMCA”) and any potential changes to other trade agreements

• the final outcome and impact of Brexit negotiations

• the trade conflict between the United States and China

• our ability to obtain  maintain and license sufficient intellectual property rights over our products and enforce and defend against challenges to such intellectual property (such as in connection with the filing by Norwich Pharmaceuticals
Inc. (“Norwich”) of its Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) for Xifaxan  (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets and the Company s related lawsuit filed against Norwich in connection therewith)

®

®

®
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• the introduction of generic  biosimilar or other competitors of our branded products and other products  including the introduction of products that compete against our products that do not have patent or data exclusivity rights

• our ability to identify  finance  acquire  close and integrate acquisition targets successfully and on a timely basis and the difficulties  challenges  time and resources associated with the integration of acquired companies  businesses and
products

• any divestitures of our assets or businesses and our ability to successfully comple e any such divestitures on commercially reasonable terms and on a timely basis  or at all  and the impact of any such divestitures on our Company  including
the reduction in the size or scope of our business or market share  loss of revenue  any loss on sale  including any resultant impairments of goodwill or other assets  or any adverse tax consequences suffered as a result of any such
divestitures

• the expense  timing and outcome of pending or future legal and governmental proceedings  arbitrations  investigations  subpoenas  tax and other regulatory audits  examinations  reviews and regulatory proceedings against us or relating to
us and settlements thereof

• our ability to negotiate the terms of or obtain court approval for the settlement of certain legal and regulatory proceedings

• our ability to obtain components  raw materials or finished products supplied by third parties (some of which may be single-sourced) and other manufacturing and related supply difficulties  interruptions and delays

• the disruption of delivery of our products and the routine flow of manufactured goods

• economic factors over which the Company has no control  including changes in inflation  interest rates  foreign currency rates  and the potential effect of such factors on revenues  expenses and resulting margins

• interest rate risks associated with our floating rate debt borrowings

• our ability to effectively distribute our products and the effectiveness and success of our distribution arrangements  including the impact of our arrangements with Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”)

• our ability to effectively promote our own products and those of our co-promotion partners

• the success of our fulfillment arrangements with Walgreens  including market acceptance of  or market reaction to  such arrangements (including by customers  doctors  patients  PBMs  third-party payors and governmental agencies)  and
the continued compliance of such arrangements with applicable laws

• our ability to secure and maintain third-party research  development  manufacturing  licensing  marketing or distribution arrangements

• the risk that our products could cause  or be alleged to cause  personal injury and adverse effects  leading to potential lawsuits  product liability claims and damages and/or recalls or withdrawals of products from the market

• the mandatory or voluntary recall or withdrawal of our products from the market and the costs associated therewith

• the availability of  and our ability to obtain and maintain  adequate insurance coverage and/or our ability to cover or insure against the total amount of the claims and liabilities we face  whether through third-party insurance or self-
insurance

• the difficulty in predicting the expense  timing and outcome within our legal and regulatory environment  including with respect to approvals by the FDA  Health Canada and similar agencies in other countries  legal and regulatory
proceedings and settlements thereof  the protection afforded by our patents and other intellectual and proprietary property  successful generic challenges to our products and infringement or alleged infringement of the intellectual property
of others

• the results of continuing safety and efficacy studies by industry and government agencies

• the success of preclinical and clinical trials for our drug development pipeline or delays in clinical trials that adversely impact the timely commercialization of our pipeline products  as well as other factors impacting the commercial success
of our products  which could lead to material impairment charges

vi

Exhibit 2160
Page 007 of 168



• the results of management reviews of our research and development portfolio (including following the receipt of clinical results or feedback from the FDA or other regulatory authorities)  which could result in terminations of specific
projects which  in turn  could lead to material impairment charges

• the seasonality of sales of certain of our products

• declines in the pricing and sales volume of certain of our products that are distributed or marketed by third parties  over which we have no or limited control

• compliance by the Company or our third-party partners and service providers (over whom we may have limited influence)  or the failure of our Company or these third parties to comply  with health care “fraud and abuse” laws and other
extensive regulation of our marketing  promotional and business practices (including with respect to pricing)  worldwide anti-bribery laws (including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public
Officials Act)  worldwide economic sanctions and/or export laws  worldwide environmental laws and regulation and privacy and security regulations

• the impacts of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act  as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “Health Care Reform Act”) and potential amendment thereof and other legislative and regulatory
health care reforms in the countries in which we operate  including with respect to recent government inquiries on pricing

• the impact of any changes in or reforms to the legislation  laws  rules  regulation and guidance that apply to the Company and its businesses and products or the enactment of any new or proposed legislation  laws  rules  regulations or
guidance that will impact or apply to the Company or its businesses or products

• the impact of changes in federal laws and policy that may be undertaken following the change in the U.S. administration

• illegal distribution or sale of counterfeit versions of our products

• interruptions  breakdowns or breaches in our information technology systems  and

• risks in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K.

Additional information about these factors and about the material factors or assumptions underlying such forward-looking statements may be found elsewhere in this Form 10-K  under Item 1A. Risk Factors  and in the Company's other
filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “CSA”). When relying on our forward-looking statements to make decisions with respect to the Company  investors and others
should carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any of these forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Form 10-K or to reflect actual outcomes  except as required by law. We caution that  as it is not possible to predict or identify all relevant factors that may impact forward-looking statements  the
foregoing list of important factors that may affect future results is not exhaustive and should not be considered a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties.
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PART I

Item 1.    Business

Introduction

Bausch Health Companies Inc. is a global company whose mission is to improve people s lives with our health care products. We develop, manufacture and market, primarily in the therapeutic areas of eye-health, gastroenterology (“GI”) and
dermatology, a broad range of  (i) branded pharmaceuticals, (ii) generic and branded generic pharmaceuticals, (iii) over-the-counter (“OTC”) products and (iv) medical devices (contact lenses, intraocular lenses, ophthalmic surgical equipment and
aesthetics devices), which are marketed directly or indirectly in approximately 100 countries.

Our portfolio of products falls into four operating and reportable segments  (i) Bausch + Lomb/International, (ii) Salix, (iii) Ortho Dermatologics and (iv) Diversified Products.

• The Bausch + Lomb/International segment consists of  (i) sales in the U.S. of pharmaceutical products, OTC products and medical device products, primarily comprised of Bausch + Lomb products, with a focus on the Vision Care,
Surgical, Consumer and Ophthalmology Rx products and (ii) with the exception of sales of Solta products, sales in Canada, Europe, Asia, Australia, Latin America, Africa and the Middle East of branded pharmaceutical products, branded
generic pharmaceutical products, OTC products, medical device products and Bausch + Lomb products.

• The Salix segment consists of sales in the U.S. of GI products.

• The Ortho Dermatologics segment consists of  (i) sales in the U.S. of Ortho Dermatologics (dermatological) products and (ii) global sales of Solta medical aesthetic devices.

• The Diversified Products segment consists of sales in the U.S. of  (i) pharmaceutical products in the areas of neurology and certain other therapeutic classes, (ii) generic products and (iii) dentistry products.

For additional discussion of our reportable segments, see the discussion in Item 1. "Business — Segment Information" and Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on these
reportable segments.

As discussed further in Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview — Separation of Bausch + Lomb Eye-Health Business” of this Form 10-K, on August 6, 2020, the
Company announced that it intends to separate its eye-health business into an independent publicly traded entity from the remainder of Bausch Health Companies Inc. (the “Separation”). The Separation will establish two separate companies that
include  (i) a fully integrated eye-health company which will consist of the Company s Bausch + Lomb Global Vision Care, Global Surgical, Global Consumer and Global Ophthalmology Rx businesses and (ii) a diversified pharmaceutical company
which will include the Company s Salix, International Rx, Solta, generic products, neurology, dentistry and medical dermatology pharmaceutical businesses. The anticipated separation is subject to regulatory approvals and certain conditions,
including final approval by the Company s Board of Directors and any shareholder vote requirements that may be applicable. In connection with the Separation, the Company expects to realign and begin managing its operations in a manner
consistent with the organizational structure of the two separate entities as proposed by the Separation during the first quarter of 2021. Accordingly, the Company expects to begin reporting under the following reporting segments on a retrospective
basis beginning with its first quarter of 2021  Bausch + Lomb, International Rx, Salix, Ortho Dermatologics and Diversified Products.

We are in the process of addressing the organization, structure and pro forma capitalizations of the two entities post-separation. As a result, the information in this Form 10-K relating to the Separation is preliminary and may change as the
transaction progresses and any such change may be material. Further, there can be no assurance that the Separation will occur. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors — Risk Relating to the Separation” of this Form 10-K for additional risks relating to the
Separation.

COVID-19 Pandemic

In December 2019, a novel strain of the coronavirus disease, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to most of the world, including the United States, Canada and Europe, and was declared a global
pandemic by the World Health Organization (the "WHO") on March 11, 2020. As a global health care company, now more than ever, we remain focused on our mission of helping to improve people s lives with our health care products.

We are and will continue to closel  monitor the impacts of the COVID 19 pandemic and related responses from go ernments and pri ate sector participants on the Compan  our customers  suppl  chain  third part  suppliers  project
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development timelines, costs, revenue, margins, liquidity and financial condition and our planned actions and responses to this pandemic. To date, the Company has been able to continue its operations with limited disruptions in supply and
manufacturing.

We believe we have responded quickly to the human and commercial challenges brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic and that our early actions have, so far, enabled us to keep our employees safe and our supply lines largely intact and we
believe these actions have laid the foundation for us to work our way through the uncertainties to come. Importantly, we believe that the steps we took over the last several years to manage our capital structure place us in a strong position to maintain
sufficient liquidity to continue operations through an extended pandemic and we believe that our businesses will not see their long-term value diminished by this unprecedented situation. See Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Overview — Impacts of COVID-19” of this Form 10-K for additional information on the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and Item 1A. “Risk Factors — Risk Relating to COVID-19” of this
Form 10-K for additional risks relating to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to focus our business on core therapeutic classes that offer attractive growth opportunities. Within our chosen therapeutic classes, we prioritize durable products which we believe have the potential for strong operating margins
and evidence of growth opportunities. We believe this strategy has reduced complexity in our operations and maximizes the value of our  (i) eye-health, (ii) GI and (iii) dermatology businesses, which collectively now represent a substantial portion of
our revenues. We have found and continue to believe there is significant opportunity in these businesses and we believe our existing portfolio, commercial footprint and pipeline of product development projects position us to successfully compete in
these markets and provide us with the greatest opportunity to build value for our shareholders. We identify these businesses as “core”, meaning that we believe we are best positioned to grow and develop them.

We believe we have a well-established product portfolio that is mixed within our core businesses and provides a sustainable revenue stream to fund our operations. Our continued success is dependent upon our ability to continually refresh our
pipeline and bring new product solutions to the market that meet changing demands and replace other products that have lost momentum. We have a robust pipeline that we believe not only provides for the next generation of our existing products,
but is also poised to bring new and innovative solutions to market. Our R&D organization focuses on the development of products through clinical trials and, as of December 31, 2020, included approximately 1,300 dedicated R&D and quality
assurance employees in 23 R&D facilities.

We have focused our R&D to advance development programs that we believe will drive growth in our core businesses, while creating efficiencies in our R&D efforts and expenses. Although we primarily rely on our R&D organization to build-
out and refresh our product portfolio, to supplement those efforts, we continually seek out opportunities, such as co-promotions, licensing agreements and strategic acquisitions, to leverage our commercial footprint, particularly our sales force, by
strategically aligning ourselves with other innovative product solutions that, when coupled with our existing product portfolio, address specific needs in the market. See Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations — Overview — Focus on Core Businesses” of this Form 10-K.

Segment Information

Our revenues for 2020, 2019 and 2018 were $8,027 million, $8,601 million and $8,380 million, respectively. We have approximately 1,300 products in our portfolio of products, which fall into four operating and reportable segments  (i)
Bausch + Lomb/International, (ii) Salix, (iii) Ortho Dermatologics and (iv) Diversified Products. Segment revenues for the years 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows

2020 2019 2018
(in millions) Amount Pct. Amount Pct. Amount Pct.

Bausch + Lomb International $ 4 408  55 % $ 4 739  55 % $ 4 664  56 %
Salix 1,904  24 % 2,022  23 % 1,749  21 %
Ortho Dermatologics 553  7 % 565  7 % 617  7 %
Diversified Products 1,162  14 % 1,275  15 % 1,350  16 %
Total revenues $ 8,027  100 % $ 8,601  100 % $ 8,380  100 %

Comparative segment information for 2020, 2019 and 2018 is further presented in Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Bausch + Lomb/International

Our Bausch + Lomb/International segment includes our global Bausch + Lomb eye-health business and our International Rx business. Our global Bausch + Lomb eye-health business includes our Global Vision Care, Global Surgical, Global
Consumer and Global Ophthalmology Rx products, which in aggregate accounted for approximately 41%, 42% and 43% of our Company's revenues for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our International Rx business, with the exception of our
Solta products, includes sales in Canada, Europe, Asia, Australia, Latin America, Africa and the Middle East of branded pharmaceutical products, branded generic pharmaceutical products and OTC products, which in aggregate accounted for
approximately 14%, 13% and 13% of our Company's revenues for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Our global Bausch + Lomb business is a fully integrated eye-health business, which we believe is critical to maintaining and developing our position in the global eye-health market. As a fully integrated eye-health business with a 165-year
legacy, Bausch + Lomb has an established line of contact lenses, intraocular lenses and other medical devices, surgical systems and devices, vitamin and mineral supplements, lens care products, prescription eye-medications and other consumer
products that positions us to compete in all areas of the eye-health market.

As part of our global Bausch + Lomb business strategy, we continually look for key trends in the eye-health market to meet changing consumer/patient needs and identify areas for investment and growth. For instance, one of these trends is the
increasing rate of myopia, and importantly, myopia as a potential risk factor for glaucoma, macular degeneration and retinal detachment. We continue to see increased demand for new eye-health products that address conditions brought on by factors,
such as increased screen time, lack of outdoor activities and academic pressures, as well as conditions brought on by an aging population (for example, as more and more baby-boomers in the U.S. are reaching the age of 65). To supplement our well-
established Bausch + Lomb product lines, we continue to identify new products tailored to address these key trends, which we develop internally with our own R&D team to generate organic growth. We also license selective molecules or technology
in leveraging our own R&D expertise through development, as well as seek out external product development opportunities. Recent product launches include Biotrue  ONEday daily disposable contact lenses, the next generation of Bausch + Lomb
ULTRA  contact lenses, SiHy Daily contact lenses, Lumify  (an eye redness treatment), Vyzulta  (a pressure lowering eye drop for patients with angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension) and Ocuvite  Eye Performance (vitamins to protect the eye
from stressors such as sunlight and blue light emitted from digital devices).

Currently our principal products in the eye-health business include

Vision Care

• SofLens Daily Disposable Contact Lenses, which use ComfortMoist Technology (a combination of thin lens design and moisture-rich packaging solution) and High Definition Optics  which is an aspheric design that reduces spherical
aberration over a range of powers, especially in low light.

• PureVision is a silicone hydrogel frequent replacement contact lens using AerGel technology lens material to allow natural levels of oxygen to reach the eye as well as resist protein buildup. The lens also incorporates an aspheric optical
design that reduces spherical aberration.

• Biotrue ONEday daily disposable contact lenses, which are made of a unique material that works like the eye to form a dehydration barrier. The lens maintains over 98% of its moisture for up to 16 hours, it matches the water content of the
cornea at 78% and allows for the oxygen a healthy eye needs.

• Biotrue ONEday for Astigmatism is a daily disposable contact lens for astigmatic patients. The Biotrue ONEday lenses incorporates Surface Active Technology to provide a dehydration barrier.  The Biotrue ONEday for Astigmatism
also includes evolved peri-ballast geometry to deliver stability and comfort for the astigmatic patient.

• Bausch + Lomb ULTRA is a silicone hydrogel frequent replacement contact lens that uses the proprietary MoistureSeal technology which allows the contact lens to retain 95% of moisture after 16 hours of wear, limiting lens dryness and
resulting symptoms.

• Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Astigmatism is a monthly planned replacement contact lens for astigmatic patients.  The Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Astigmatism lens was developed using the proprietary MoistureSeal technology. In
addition, the Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Astigmatism lens integrates an OpticAlign  design engineered for lens stability and to promote a successful wearing experience for the astigmatic patient.

• Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Presbyopia is a monthly planned replacement contact lens for presbyopic patients. The Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Presbyopia lens was developed using the proprietary MoistureSeal technology. In addition,
the Bausch + Lomb ULTRA for Presbyopia lens integrates a 3-zone progressive design for near, intermediate and distance vision. We launched expanded parameters of this product throughout 2017.
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• SiHy Daily is a silicone hydrogel daily disposable contact lens designed to provide clear vision throughout the day. In September 2018, we launched SiHy Daily in Japan under the branded name AQUALOX  ONE DAY.  In August 2020,
we launched SiHy Daily in the U.S. under the branded name Bausch + Lomb INFUSE  SiHy Daily Disposable contact lens. SiHy Daily has also received regulatory approval for Canada, Australia, New Zealand, Hong Kong, South Korea,
Singapore and Malaysia where it will be branded as Bausch + Lomb Ultra  ONE DAY.

Surgical

• The Stellaris Elite  Vision Enhancement System is our next phacoemulsification cataract platform, which offers new innovations, as well as the opportunity to add upgrades and enhancements every one to two years. Stellaris Elite  is the
first phacoemulsification platform on the market to offer Adaptive Fluidics , which combines aspiration control with predictive infusion management to create a responsive and controlled surgical environment for efficient and safe cataract
lens removal. Our Stellaris Elite  Vision Enhancement System was launched in April 2017.

• The Vitesse  hypersonic vitrectomy system advances the process of vitreous removal using an innovative and effective approach. Available exclusively on the Stellaris Elite  system, Vitesse  brings an exceptional level of surgical control
and precision to vitrectomies.

• A portfolio of ophthalmic surgical products, including  (i) pre-loaded intraocular lenses such as Akreos , enVista , LuxSmart  and LuxGood , (ii) handcrafted surgical instruments including Storz  and Synergetics and (iii) a suite of
surgical equipment including TENEO  excimer laser for refractive and VICTUS femtosecond laser for cataract surgery and keratoplasty.

Consumer

• PreserVision  AREDS 2 is an eye vitamin formula for those with moderate-to-advanced age-related macular degeneration.

• Ocuvite  is a vitamin and mineral supplement for the eye that contains lutein (an antioxidant carotenoid), a nutrient that supports macular health by helping filter harmful blue light.

• Biotrue  multi-purpose solution helps prevent certain tear proteins from denaturing and fights germs for healthy contact lens wear. Biotrue  multi-purpose solution uses a lubricant found in eyes and is pH balanced to match healthy tears.

• Lumify  (brimonidine tartrate ophthalmic solution, 0.025%) is an OTC eye drop developed as an ocular redness reliever. Lumify  was launched in the U.S. in May 2018. We plan to launch Lumify  in South Korea in the second half of 2021
and in Canada in 2022.

• Bausch + Lomb Renu  Advanced Formula multi-purpose solution is a novel soft and silicone hydrogel contact lenses solution that makes use of three disinfectants and two moisture agents.

• Boston  solution is a specialty cleansing solution design for gas permeable contact lenses.

• Bedoyecta Tri  (Injectable Hydroxocobalamine, vitamin B complex) is indicated for the prevention and treatment of certain vitamin deficiencies. It is useful in the treatment of Neuritis and polyneuritis of nutritional, diabetic, alcoholic and
toxic origin due to the use of drugs. Bedoyecta  is also available in soft gel and capsule form. Bedoyecta  is commercialized in Mexico and South America.

• Cold FX  is a product derived from the roots of North American ginseng. COLD-FX  Daily Support has a clinically proven formula that helps reduce the frequency, severity and duration of cold and flu symptoms by boosting the immune
system.

• Artelac  is an eye moisturizer eye drop which enables quick wetting of dry eyes. Artelac  contains hypromellose, a known moisturizer, and is used to treat dehydration of the surface of the eye, especially for dry eyes with an unpleasant
foreign body sensation. Artelac  is particularly suitable for alleviating mild symptoms of dry eyes and can also be used to moisten hard contact lenses while being worn. Artelac  is commercialized widely in Europe, the Middle East and
Africa, Asia Pacific, Canada and Latin America.

Ophthalmology Rx

• Lotemax Gel is a topical corticosteroid indicated for the treatment of inflammation and pain following ocular surgery. This formulation is a technology that allows the drug to adhere to the ocular surface and offers dose uniformity, which
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eliminates the need to shake the product in order to ensure the drug is in suspension. The product contains a low concentration of preservative and two known moisturizers. Lotemax Gel is commercialized globally.

• Vyzulta  (latanoprostene bunod ophthalmic solution, 0.024%) is an intraocular pressure lowering single-agent eye drop dosed once daily for patients with open angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension. Vyzulta  was launched in the U.S.
(December 2017), Canada (July 2019), Hong Kong (2020), Mexico (2020) and Argentina (2020). We are planning to launch Vyzulta  in Taiwan in 2021 and in South Korea in 2022.

• Prolensa  (bromfenac ophthalmic solution) 0.07% is a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug indicated to treat inflammation and reduce eye pain in patients after cataract surgery. This product is commercialized widely in Europe under the
brand name Yellox .

International Rx

• Bisocard  (bisoprolol fumarate) is an orally administered tablet dosed once daily for patients with hypertension, angina pectoris or heart failure and is a leading brand in Poland.

• Thrombo ASS  (gastroprotective coated form of acetylsalicylic acid 50mg and 100mg) is an antithrombotic agent dosed once daily for secondary prophylaxis of thrombotic complications after such events as a stroke or heart attack.
Thrombo ASS  is a leading brand in Russia.

• Contrave / Mysimba  is a fixed-dose combination prolonged-release tablet for the treatment of obesity. Used alongside diet and exercise it is designed to help manage weight in adults who are obese or overweight. The formulation is
designed to initiate weight loss and sustain it over a longer period of time by switching off natural compensatory mechanisms involved in the typical weight loss plateau stage. Contrave  / Mysimba  is commercialized in Canada, Greece,
and Central Eastern Europe.

• Jublia (efinaconazole 10% topical solution) is a topical azole approved for the treatment of onychomycosis of the toenails (toenail fungus). Jublia  is commercialized in Canada (the only market outside the U.S.).

• Ivexterm  (Ivermectin 6 mg tablets) is an antiparasitic drug, which is commercialized in Mexico and Central America, and is currently under investigational studies for treating COVID-19 patients.

• Espaven  (Dimethicone tablets, drops, suspension) is a complete line of gastrointestinal treatments for diverse digestive indications such as  antiflatulence, dyspepsia, absolute or relative enzyme deficiency, steatorrhea, irritable colon
syndrome, pancreatic insufficiency and poor fat digestion. Espaven  is commercialized primarily in Mexico and South America.

Salix

The Salix segment consists of sales in the U.S. of GI products and includes our Xifaxan  product. We have been making investments in our Salix business since 2017, including  (i) hiring 200 trained and experienced sales force representatives
to expand the commercial field force for Xifaxan , (ii) increasing the focus on the development of next generation formulations of our Salix products to address new indications, (iii) completing the strategic acquisition of certain assets of Synergy
Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Synergy”), which included the Trulance  product, and (iv) increasing the number of sales force representatives for Trulance . In addition, we have entered into licensing agreements for investigational products, which, once
developed and if approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA"), will be new treatments for certain GI and liver diseases and we anticipate will contribute to the future growth. Each of these opportunities potentially provides us
with the ability to expand our GI portfolio and allows us to leverage our existing GI sales force, supply channel and distribution channel.

Currently our principal products in the Salix segment (including products of our third-party co-promotion partners) include

• Xifaxan which includes  (i) tablets indicated for the treatment of IBS-D in adults and for the reduction in risk of overt hepatic encephalopathy recurrence in adults and (ii) tablets indicated for the treatment of travelers  diarrhea caused by
noninvasive strains of Escherichia coli in patients 12 years of age and older. Our Xifaxan  product accounted for revenues of $1,482 million, $1,452 million and $1,195 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

• Glumetza (metformin hydrochloride) extended release tablets are indicated as an adjunct to diet and exercise to improve glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus.

• Relistor (methylnaltrexone) is given to adults who use narcotic medicine to treat severe chronic pain that is not caused by cancer to prevent constipation without reducing the pain-relieving effects of the narcotic.
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• Trulance  (plecanatide) is a once-daily tablet for adults with chronic idiopathic constipation, or CIC, and irritable bowel syndrome with constipation, or IBS-C.

• Plenvu  is a novel, lower-volume polyethylene glycol-based bowel preparation developed to help provide complete bowel cleansing, with an additional focus on the ascending colon. Plenvu  was launched in September 2018.

Ortho Dermatologics

The Ortho Dermatologics segment consists of  (i) sales in the U.S. of Ortho Dermatologics (dermatological products) and (ii) global sales of Solta dermatological devices.

The Ortho Dermatologics business is our medical dermatology business dedicated to the treatment of a range of therapeutic areas, including aesthetics, psoriasis, actinic keratosis, acne, atopic dermatitis, onychomycosis and other dermatoses.
As part of our business strategy for the Ortho Dermatologics segment, we have made significant investments to build out our psoriasis, atopic dermatitis and acne product portfolios, which are the markets within dermatology where we see the
greatest opportunities, with a focus on topical gel and lotion products over injectable biologics. We continue to support the use of injectable biologics; however, we believe some patients prefer topical products as an alternative to injectable biologics.
Further, as topical products can, in many cases, defer the use of injectable biologics that often come with associated risk/benefit profiles, a topical product is usually readily adopted by payors, is less expensive and can be more cost-effective than
injectable biologics. Therefore, we believe topical products represent alternative treatments for physicians, payors and patients, and as the preferred choice of treatment, have the potential to drive greater volumes, generate better margins and
potentially be a key contributing factor of our Ortho Dermatologics business.

During 2017 through 2020, we have made significant investments to build out our aesthetics, psoriasis and acne product portfolios, which we believe, coupled with our experienced dermatology sales leadership team and the reorganization of
our Ortho Dermatologics sales force, will position our Ortho Dermatologics business for future growth.

Currently our principal products in the medical dermatology business include

• Jublia (efinaconazole 10% topical solution) is a topical azole approved for the treatment of onychomycosis of the toenails (toenail fungus).

• Targretin  (bexarotene) capsules and gel are prescription medicines used to treat the skin problems arising from the disease cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, or CTCL, in patients who have not responded well to other treatments.

• Bryhali  was launched in November 2018 and is a novel product that contains a unique, lower concentration of halobetasol propionate for the treatment of moderate-to-severe psoriasis.

• Siliq  was launched in the U.S. in 2017 and is an IL-17 receptor blocker monoclonal antibody for patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis.

• Altreno  (tretinoin 0.05%) was launched in the U.S. in October 2018 and is a lotion approved for the topical treatment of acne vulgaris in patients 9 years of age and older.

• Duobrii  was launched in June 2019 and is the first and only topical lotion that contains a unique combination of halobetasol propionate and tazarotene for the treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis in adults.

• Arazlo  (tazarotene) Lotion, 0.045% is an acne product containing lower concentration of tazarotene in a lotion form to help reduce irritation while maintaining efficacy and was launched in June 2020.

• An Acne franchise, which includes Solodyn , a prescription oral antibiotic approved to treat only the red, pus-filled pimples of moderate to severe acne in patients 12 years of age and older, as well as Retin-A , Clindagel  and Onexton
Gel, a fixed combination 1.2% clindamycin phosphate and 3.75% benzoyl peroxide medication for the once-daily treatment of comedonal (non-inflammatory) and inflammatory acne in patients 12 years of age and older.

Our Solta business is dedicated to the development of innovative treatment technologies that provide proven and effective medical aesthetic and therapeutic benefits to consumers. Global Solta revenues were $253 million, $194 million and
$135 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase in revenue is primarily attributable to Next Generation Thermage FLX , a fourth-generation non-invasive treatment option using a radiofrequency platform designed to optimize key
functional characteristics and improve patient outcomes. During 2018 and 2019, Next Generation Thermage FLX  was launched in Hong Kong, Japan, Korea, Taiwan, Philippines, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, China, Thailand, Vietnam, and
Australia as part of our Solta medical aesthetic devices portfolio. These launches have been successful as Next Generation Thermage FLX  revenues for 2020 and 2019 were $142 million and $77 million, respectively. We expect additional launches
of Next Generation Thermage FLX  in Europe in the near term, paced by country-specific regulatory registrations.
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Currently our principal products in the Solta business include

• Thermage  is a non-invasive radiofrequency treatment that can smooth, tighten and contour skin for an overall younger-looking appearance.

• Fraxel  is a treatment that improves tone, texture and radiance for aging, sun damaged or scarred skin.

• Clear + Brilliant  is a laser treatment that can help prevent the visible signs of aging and address the overall effects time and the environment can have on skin.

• VASERlipo  for minimally-invasive aesthetic body contouring that yields dramatic results with less pain and downtime of traditional liposuction.

Diversified Products

The Diversified Products segment consists of sales in the U.S. of  (i) pharmaceutical products in the areas of neurology and certain other therapeutic classes, (ii) generic products and (iii) dentistry products. The Company utilizes the Diversified
Products segment to extend the long-term cash flows from a number of assets that are expected to decline over time due to the loss of exclusivity, by launching and selling authorized generic versions of certain branded assets. Our principal products
in this segment include

Pharmaceutical

• Wellbutrin XL is an extended release formulation of bupropion indicated for the treatment of major depressive disorder in adults.

• Cuprimine is a treatment for Wilson's disease (a condition in which high levels of copper in the body cause damage to the liver, brain, and other organs), cystinuria (a condition which leads to cystine stones in the kidneys) and for patients
with severe rheumatoid arthritis who have failed to respond to an adequate trial of conventional therapy.

• Migranal  (dihydroergotamine mesylate) Nasal Spray is used to treat an active migraine headache with or without aura.

• Ativan  (lorazepam) is indicated for the management of anxiety disorders or for the short-term relief of the symptoms of anxiety or anxiety associated with depressive symptoms. 

• Xenazine is indicated for the treatment of chorea associated with Huntington s disease. In the U.S., Xenazine is distributed for us by Lundbeck LLC under an exclusive marketing, distribution and supply agreement.

• Syprine is a treatment for Wilson's disease in patients who cannot take the medication known as penicillamine.

• Aplenzin   (bupropion hydrobromide extended release tablets) is indicated for the treatment of major depressive disorder, and for the prevention of seasonal major depressive episodes in patients with a diagnosis of seasonal affective
disorder. 

• Librax (chlordiazepoxide and clidinium) is indicated to control emotional and somatic factors in gastrointestinal disorders. Librax  may also be used as adjunctive therapy in the treatment of peptic ulcer and in the treatment of the irritable
bowel syndrome (irritable colon, spastic colon, mucous colitis) and acute enterocolitis.

Generics

• Diastat authorized generic (“AG”) (diazepam rectal gel) is a gel formulation of diazepam intended for rectal administration for certain patients with epilepsy who are already taking antiepileptic medications, and who require occasional use
of diazepam to control bouts of increased seizure activity.

• Uceris AG (budesonide) extended release tablets are a prescription corticosteroid medicine used to help get mild to moderate ulcerative colitis under control (induce remission).

• Elidel AG (pimecrolimus) is a second-line therapy for short term and intermittent long-term therapy of mild to moderate atopic dermatitis.

• Apriso AG is an aminosalicylate anti-inflammatory drug used to treat ulcerative colitis, proctitis and proctosigmoiditis. Apriso is also used to prevent the symptoms of ulcerative colitis from recurring. Apriso AG was launched in
December 2019.
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• Tobramycin and Dexamethasone Ophthalmic Suspension is indicated for steroid-responsive inflammatory ocular conditions for which a corticosteroid is indicated and where superficial bacterial ocular infection or a risk of bacterial ocular
infection exists.

• Latanoprost Ophthalmic Solution is indicated for the reduction of elevated intraocular pressure in patients with open-angle glaucoma or ocular hypertension.

Dentistry

• Arestin (minocycline hydrochloride) is a subgingival sustained-release antibiotic. Arestin is indicated as an adjunct to scaling and root planing ("SRP") procedures for reduction of pocket depth in patients with adult periodontitis. Arestin
may be used as part of a periodontal maintenance program, which includes good oral hygiene and SRP.

• NeutraSal is indicated for dryness of the mouth (hyposalivation, xerostomia) and dryness of the oral mucosa due to drugs that suppress salivary secretion.

Research and Development

Our R&D organization focuses on the development of products through clinical trials. Currently, we have approximately 200 R&D projects in our pipeline. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 1,300 dedicated R&D and quality assurance
employees in 23 R&D facilities were involved in our R&D efforts.

Our R&D expenses for 2020, 2019 and 2018, were $452 million, $471 million and $413 million, respectively. R&D expenses as a percentage of revenue were approximately 6% in 2020, as compared to approximately 5% in 2019 and 2018. We
have rebalanced our portfolio to better align with our long-term plans and focus on core businesses. Our investment in R&D reflects our commitment to drive organic growth through internal development of new products, a pillar of our strategy. We
further supplement these efforts by continually seeking out other opportunities, such as co-promotions, licensing agreements and strategic acquisitions. See Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Overview — Focus on Core Businesses” of this Form 10-K.

Trademarks, Patents, Exclusivity and Proprietary Know-How

We rely on a combination of contractual provisions, confidentiality policies and procedures and patent, trademark, copyright and trade secrecy laws to protect the proprietary aspects of our technology and business. Our policy is to vigorously
protect, enforce and defend our rights to our intellectual property and proprietary rights, as appropriate. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K for additional information on the risks associated with our intellectual property and proprietary
rights.

Trademarks

We believe that trademark protection is an important part of establishing product and brand recognition. We own or license a number of registered trademarks and trademark applications in the U.S., Canada and in various other countries
throughout the world. U.S. federal registrations for trademarks remain in force for 10 years and may be renewed every 10 years after issuance, provided the mark is still being used in commerce. Trademark registrations in Canada issued on or before
June 17, 2019 remain in force for 15 years and may be renewed for 10-year terms, provided that, as in the case of U.S. federal trademark registrations, the mark is still being used in commerce. Trademark registrations in Canada issued after June 17,
2019 remain in force for 10 years and may be renewed every 10 years after issuance, provided that, as in the case of U.S. federal trademark registrations, the mark is still being used in commerce. Other countries generally have similar but varying
terms and renewal policies with respect to trademarks registered in those countries.

Data and Patent Exclusivity

For certain of our products, we rely on a combination of regulatory and patent rights to protect the value of our investment in the development of these products.

A patent is the grant of a property right which allows its holder to exclude others from, among other things, selling the subject invention in, or importing such invention into, the jurisdiction that granted the patent. In the U.S., Canada and the
European Union (“EU”), generally patents expire 20 years from the date of application. We have obtained, acquired or in-licensed a number of patents and patent applications covering key aspects of certain of our principal products. In the aggregate,
our patents are of material importance to our business taken as a whole.

In the U.S., the Hatch-Waxman Act provides non-patent regulatory exclusivity for five years from the date of the first FDA approval of a new drug compound in a New Drug Application (“NDA”). The FDA, with one exception, is prohibited

® ® ®
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during those five years from accepting for filing a generic, or an Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”), that references the NDA. In reference to the foregoing exception, if a patent is indexed in the FDA Orange Book for the new drug
compound, a generic may file an ANDA four years from the NDA approval date if it also files a Paragraph IV Certification with the FDA challenging the patent. Protection under the Hatch-Waxman Act will not prevent the filing or approval of
another full NDA. However, the NDA applicant would be required to conduct its own pre-clinical and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to independently demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

A similar data exclusivity scheme exists in the EU, whereby only the pioneer drug company can use data obtained at the pioneer s expense for up to eight years from the date of the first approval of a drug by the European Medicines Agency
(“EMA”) and no generic drug can be marketed for ten years from the approval of the innovator product. Under both the U.S. and the EU data exclusivity programs, products without patent protection can be marketed by others so long as they repeat
the clinical trials necessary to show safety and efficacy.

In the U.S., the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act ("BPCIA") allows companies to seek FDA approval to manufacture and sell biosimilar or interchangeable versions of brand name biological products. Due to the size and
complexity of biological products, as compared to small molecule drugs, a biosimilar must be “highly similar” to the reference product with “no clinically meaningful differences” in safety, purity and potency between the two. The BPCIA provides
reference product sponsors with 12 years (with potential for six additional months of pediatric exclusivity) of market exclusivity, but unlike the Hatch-Waxman Act which covers small molecules, it does not require reference product sponsors to list
patents in an Orange Book equivalent and does not include an automatic 30-month stay of FDA approval upon the timely filing of a lawsuit. The BPCIA, however, does provide pre-litigation procedures for the parties to follow, including
identification of relevant patents and each party s basis for infringement and invalidity.  A biosimilar patent application cannot be filed until four years after the reference product is first licensed and a biosimilar cannot be launched, at the earliest
(assumes no patent litigation or an adverse decision on all patents), until the expiration of the twelve years of data exclusivity from the approval of the reference product. 

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a disease or condition that affects populations of fewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S. or a disease whose incidence rates
number more than 200,000 where the sponsor establishes that it does not realistically anticipate that its product sales will be sufficient to recover its costs. The sponsor that obtains the first marketing approval for a designated orphan drug for a given
rare disease is eligible to receive marketing exclusivity for use of that drug for the orphan indication for a period of seven years.

In Canada, the Patented Medicines (Notice of Compliance) Regulations (“PM(NOC) Regulations”) create a regime analogous to the U.S. Hatch-Waxman Act, and link the regulatory approval process for generic and biosimilar drugs to the
adjudication of innovator patent rights. To be eligible for protection under the PM(NOC) Regulations, patents must first be listed on the Patent Register in connection with an innovator s drug submission to Health Canada. A generic or biosimilar
manufacturer must then provide notice to the innovator of its plans to market a drug that it compared to the innovator s patented drug in the Health Canada approval process. Within 45 days of receiving such a notice of allegation, an innovator drug
company may commence patent infringement proceedings against the generic or biosimilar manufacturer. The commencement of an action by the innovator under the PM(NOC) Regulations may stay Health Canada s regulatory approval of the
generic or biosimilar drug for a period of 24 months.

Canada also employs a data exclusivity regime for innovative drugs that provides an eight-year period of data protection from the date of market approval by Health Canada. An additional six months of data exclusivity is provided for drugs
studied in clinical trials relating to use in pediatric populations. Drug submissions seeking approval based on a comparison to an innovative drug cannot be filed during the first six years of the data exclusivity period. Generic or biosimilar drug
submissions remain on hold until expiry of the innovator s data protection term, unless the innovative product is a patented drug subject to further protection under the PM(NOC) Regulations. Canada has no distinct drug submission process for
biosimilar or orphan drug products.

Proprietary Know-How

We also rely upon unpatented proprietary know-how, trade secrets and technological innovation in the development and manufacture of many of our principal products. We protect our proprietary rights through a variety of methods, including
confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements and proprietary information agreements with vendors, employees, consultants and others who may have access to proprietary information.
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Government Regulations
Government authorities im the U.S., at the federal, state and local level, im Canada. im the EU and in all other countries extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing. approval, manufacturing, labeling, post-

Tesources. Failure to comply with these regulations could result in, among other things, warning letters, civil penalties, delays im approving or refusal to approve a product candidate, product recall, product seizure, interruption of production,
operatingrestrictions, suspension orwithdrawal ofproduct approval, injunctions orcriminal prosecution.

Prior to human use, FDA approval (drugs (in the formofan NDA or ANDA for generic equivalents), biologics (inthe form ofa Biologics License Application (“BLA™)) and some medical devices) or marketing clearance (other devices) mmst
be obtained in the U.S., approval by Health Canada nmmst be obtained in Canada, EMA approval (drugs) ora CE Marking (devices) must be obtained for countries that are part ofthe EU and approval must be obtained from comparable agencies in
other countries prior to manufacturing or marketing new pharmaceutical products or medical devices. Generally, preclinical studies and clinical trials of the products must first be conducted and the results submitted to the applicable regulatory
agency (such as the FDA) for approval.

Regulation by other federal agencies, such as the Drug Enforcement Administration, and state and local authorities in the U.S., and by comparable agencies in certain foreign countries, is also required In the U.S., the Federal Trade

FDA requires a Boxed Warming (sometimes referred to as a “Black Box” Warning) for products that have shown a significant risk of severe or life-threatening adverse events and similar warnings are also required to be displayed on the product inin other jurisdictis

Health Canada, in the U_S. and Canada respectively, and similar regulations enforced by regulatory agencies in other countries and we face annual audits ofour facilities andplants and those ofour contract manufacturers by the FDA and such other
regulatory agencies. In addition, we are subject to price control restrictions onour pharmaceutical products in many countries inwhichwe operate.

‘We are also subject to extensive U.S. federal and state health care marketing and fraud and abuse regulations, such as the federal False Claims Act, federal and provincial marketing regulations in Canada and similar regulations in foreign
countries inwhichwe may conduct our business. The federal False Claims Act imposes civil and criminal liability on individuals or entities who submit (or cause the submission of) false or fraudulent claims for paymentto the government. The U.S.
federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibitspersons or entities fromknowingly andwillfully soliciting, receiving, offering orprovidingremmmeration, directly or indirectly, to induce either the referralofan individual, or the furnishing, recommending, or
arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal or state health care program such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Some state anti-kickback laws also prohibit such conduct where commercial insurance,
rather than federal or state, programs are involved. Due to recent legislative changes, violations of the U.S.federal Anti-Kickback Statute also carry potential federal False Claims Act liability. In addition, in the U.S., Canada and various other
countries, companies may not promote drugs or medical devices for “off-label” uses - that is, uses that are not described in the product s labeling and that differ from those that were approved or cleared by the FDA, Health Canada or applicable
regulatory agency in such other countries - and “off-label promotion” in the U.S. has also formed the predicate for False Claims Act liability resulting in significant financial settlements. These and other laws and regulations, rules and policies may
‘significantly impact the manner inwhich we are permittedto market our products. Ifour operations are found to be inviolationofanyofthese laws, regulations, rules or policies or any otherlaw or governmental regulation, or ifinterpretations ofthe
foregoing change, we maybe subjectto civil and criminalpenalties, damages, fines, exclusion fromthe Medicare and Medicaid programs andthe curtailment orrestructuring ofour operations.

Telated and other sensitive and personal information, including, but not limited to, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical HealthAct of 2009
(Collectively, “HIPAA”). HIPAA mandates, among other things, the adoption ofuniform standards for the electronic exchange of information in common health care transactions (¢.g., health care claims information and plan eligibility, referralcertification and
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laws may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to sensitive and personal information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may differ from each other, which may complicate
compliance efforts. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), which went into effect on January 1, 2020, imposes stringent data privacy and security requirements and obligations with respect to the personal information of
California residents, including, among other things, new disclosures to California consumers and providing such consumers new data protection and privacy rights, including the ability to opt out ofcertain sales ofpersonal information. The CCPA
provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right ofaction for certain data breaches that result imthe loss ofpersonal data that may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation. It remains unclear how
‘various provisions ofthe CCPA will be interpreted and enforced, and nmltiple states have enacted or are expected to enact similar laws. The effects on ourbusiness ofthe CCPA and other similar state laws are potentially significant, and may require
‘us to modify our data processing practices andpolicies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. State laws are changing rapidly and there is discussion in Congress ofa new federal data protection andprivacy law to which
‘we may be subject.

Additionally, some statutory requirements, both in the U.S. and abroad, include obligations for companies to notify individuals ofsecurity breaches involving particular personal information, which could result from breaches experienced by us
or our service providers. For example, laws im all 50 U.S. states require businesses to provide notice to customers whose personal data has been disclosed as a result ofa data breach The laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event ofa
‘widespread data breach is difficult andmay be costly. Moreover, states have beenfrequently amending existing laws, requiring attention tochangingregulatoryrequirements.

Internationally, laws and regulations in many jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, transmission, dissemination, use, privacy, confidentiality, security, retention, availability, integrity and other processing of health-related and other
‘Sensitive andpersonal information. For example, in the European Economic Area (the “EEA”™) and, for the duration ofthe transitionperiod (as defined below), the United Kingdom, the collection and useofpersonal data, including clinical trial data,
is governed by the provisions of the General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”). The GDPR became effective on May 25, 2018, repealing its predecessor directive and increasing responsibility and liability of companies im relation to the

consent and rights ofthe individuals to whom the personal data relates, the transfer ofpersonal data out ofthe EEA or the United Kingdom, security breach notifications and the security and confidentiality ofpersonal data. The GDPR authorizes
fines for certainviolations ofup to 4% of global annual revenue or €20 million, whichever is greater. European data protection authorities may interpret the GDPR and national laws differently and impose additional requirements, which contributes
to the complexity of processing personal data in or from the EEA or United Kingdom. Guidance on implementation and compliance practices is often updated or otherwise revised. We are also subject to Canada's federal Personal Information
Protection andElectronic Documents Act and substantially similar equivalents at the provincial level with respect to the collection, use and disclosure ofpersonal information in Canada Such federal and provincial legislation impose data privacy
and security obligations on our processing ofpersonal information ofCanadian residents. The federal and Alberta legislation include mandatory data breach notification requirements. Canada s Anti-Spam Legislation (“CASL”) also applies to the
extent that we send commercial electronic messages from Canada or to electronic addresses inCanada. CASL contains prescriptive consent, form, content and unsubscribe mechanism requirements. Penalties for non-compliance with CASL are up to
‘CAD 10 million per violation. These laws and regulations may be interpreted and applied differently over time and fromjurisdiction tojurisdiction, and it is possible they will be interpreted and applied in ways that will materially and adversely
affect ourbusiness. The regulatory framework for dataprivacy, data security and data transfers worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remainuncertainfor the foreseeable future. Complying with allofthese laws and regulations involves costs
‘to ourbusiness, andfailure to complywith these laws and regulations canresult inthe impositionofsignificant civil and criminal penalties, as well as litigation.

‘Successful commercialization ofour products may depend, im part, on the availability of governmental and third-party payor reimbursement for the cost of our products. Third-party payors may include government health administration
authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. In the U.S., the E.U. and other significant or potentially significant markets for our products and product candidates, government authorities and third-party payors are increasingly
attempting to limit orregulate thepriceofmedical products and services, whichhas resulted in lower average realizedprices. In the U_S., these pressures can arise from mules andpractices ofmanaged care groups, judicial decisions and governmental
laws and regulations related to Medicare, Medicaid andhealth care reform, pharmaceutical reimbursement policies and pricingin general. In particular, salesofourproducts maybe subject to discounts from list price andrebate obligations, as well as
formulary
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coverage decisions impacting or limiting the types ofpatients forwhom coverage will beprovided. Various U_S. health care and other laws regulate our interactions with government agencies, private insurance companies and other third-party payors
Tegarding coverage and reimbursement for our products. Failure to comply with these laws could subject us to civil, criminal and administrative sanctions. In countries outside the U.S., the success of our products may depend, at least in part, on

Tevenue-related taxes, tenders andprofit control, and theyexpect prices ofprescriptionpharmaceuticals to decline over the lifeoftheproduct or as volumes increase.
In the US.and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number oflegislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in ways that could impact our ability to sell our products profitably. The Patient Protection and

Affordable Care Act (the “PPACA”), as amended by the Health Care Reform Act, may affect the operational results ofcompanies in the pharmaceutical and medical device industries, including the Company and other health care related industries,
by imposing on them additional costs. Although efforts at replacing the Health Care ReformAct have stalled in Congress, there are a number ofproposals that we expect to be introduced to Congress and put forth by the Biden administration that
‘may result in further changes to the health care system that couldmaterially impact the Company.

For example, on January 28, 2021, President Biden issued the “Executive Order on Strengthening Medicaid and the Affordable Care Act,” which directs federal agencies to review all existing regulations, orders, guidance documents, policies
and any other similar agency actions that limit Americans access to high-quality health care, and to consider actions that will protect and strengthen Medicaid. the PPACA and access to affordable health care for every American Under this order,
federal agencies mmst make determinations as to whether additional actions are necessary to advance President Biden s overall access policy and specifically examine (i) policies that may undermine protections for people with pre-existing
conditions, including complications related to COVID-19,(ii) demonstrations andwaivers that mayreduce coverage under or otherwise undermine Medicaid or the PPACA, (iii) policies that may undermine the Health Insurance Marketplace orother
markets for health insurance, (iv) policies that may present unnecessary barriers to enroll in Medicaid or the PPACA and (v) policies or practices that may reduce the affordability of coverage or financial assistance for coverage, including for
dependents. We cannot predictwhat changes will result fromthe Executive Orderor whenthey will take effect, nor is it possible at this time to estimate the impactofany such changes onthe Company.

See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K for additional information on the risks associatedwith these regulations and related matters.
Environmental and Other Regulation

Our facilities and operations are subject to federal, state and local environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations in both the U.S. and countries outside the U.S. (including Canada), including those governing the

our development and manufacturing activities involve the use of hazardous substances. We believe we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations. We are not
aware ofanypending environmental or occupational health and safety litigation or significant liabilities that are likely to have a material adverse effect on our financialposition. We cannot assure, however, that environmental liabilities relating tous
or facilities owned, leased or operated by us will not develop in the future, and we cannot predict whether any such liabilities, if they were to develop, would require significant expenditures on our part. In addition, we are unable to predict what
environmental or and occupational health and safety legislationor regulations may be adoptedorenacted in the future. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K foradditional information.
‘Customers and Marketing

In 2020, the U.S. and Puerto Rico accounted for approximately 60% ofour total revenue. No other country accounted for more than 5%. See Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for
Tevenues by geographic area_
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‘Customers that accounted for 10% or moreofour totalrevenue for 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows
2020 2019 2018

‘McKesson Corporation 1% 1% 18%
AmerisourceBergen Corporation 1% 16% 18%
Cardinal Health, Inc 1% 4% bB%

‘We currently promote ourpharmaceutical products to physicians, hospitals, pharmacies and wholesalers through our own sales force and sell throughwholesalers. In some markets, we additionally sell directly to physicians, hospitals and large
drug store chains and we sell through distributors in countries where we do not have our own sales staff As partofour marketing program for pharmaceuticals, we use direct to customer advertising, direct mailings, advertise in trade, social media

C titi

CompetitiveLandscapeforProductsandProducts in Development

manufacturers, in the U.S., Canada, Europe, Asia, Latin America, Middle East, Africa and in other countries in which we market our products. The dermatology competitive landscape is highly fragmented, with a large number of mid-size and
smaller companies competing in both the prescription sector and the OTC and cosmeceutical sectors. With respect to the GI market, generic entrants continue to capture significant share for treatment ofmany GI conditions. In the area ofirritable
bowel syndrome ("IBS") and OIC, competitors have recently launched new competing products, which should increase the size ofthese markets and intensify competition. The market for Bausch + Lomb products is very competitive, both across

inniche areas orregions.
Our competitors are pursuing the de elopment and or acquisition ofpharmaceuticals medical de ices and OTC products that target the same diseases and conditions that we are targeting in dermatolog e e health and other therapeutic

areas Academic and other research and de elopment institutions ma also de elop products or technologies that compete with our products which technologies and products ma be acquired or licensed b our competitors These competitors ma
ha e greater financial R&D or marketing resources than we do If competitors introduce new products deli er s stems or processes with therapeutic or cost ad antages our products can be subject to progressi e price reductions or decreased

olumeofsales orboth Most new products thatwe introduce must compete with other products alread on the market orproducts that are later de elopedb competitors
‘We sell a broad range ofproducts, and competitive factors vary by product line and geographic area in which theproducts are sold. The principal methods ofcompetition for our products include quality, efficacy, market acceptance, price and

‘marketing andpromotional efforts.

‘We face increased competition from manufacturers ofgeneric pharmaceutical products when patents co ering certain ofour current] marketed products expire or are successfull challenged orwhen the regulator exclusi it for our products
expires or is otherwise lost Generic ersions are generall significant] less expemsi e than branded ersions and where a ailable ma be required to be utilized before or im preference to the branded ersion under third part reimbursement
Programs or substituted b pharmacies According] when a branded product loses its market exclusi it it mormall faces intense price competition from generic forms ofthe product To successfull compete for business with managed care and
pharmac benefits management organizations we must often demonstrate thatour products offer not onl medical benefits but also costad antages as comparedwith other forms ofcare

competition, see Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results ofOperations — Business Trends — Generic Competition and Loss ofExclusivity” ofthis Form 10-K. See Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"
to our audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails regarding certaininfringement proceedings. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K for additional information onourcompetitionrisks.
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‘Manufacturing
‘We currently operate approximately 38 manufacturing sites worldwide and continue to make capital investments in these facilities as discussed in Item 7. “Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations —Overview —Focus on Core Businesses” ofthis Form 10-K.
In the normal courseofbusiness, ourproducts, devices and facilities are the subject ofongoing oversight and reviewby regulatory and governmental agencies, including general, for cause andpre-approval inspections by therelevantcompetent

authorities where we have business operations. Through the date ofthis filing, all ofour global operations and facilities have the relevant operational goodmanufacturing practices certificates and all Company products and operating sites are in good
compliance standing with all relevant notified bodies and global health authorities. Further, all sites underFDAjurisdiction are rated as eitherNo Action Indicated (where there was no Form 483 observation) or Voluntary Action Indicated (“VAI”)
(where there was a Form 483 with one or more obser ations) In the case ofVAI imspection outcomes the FDA has accepted our responses to the issues cited which will be erified when the agenc makes its next inspection of those specific
facilities. A Form483 is issued at the endofeach inspection whenFDA investigators have observed any condition that intheirjudzmentmay constitute violations ofcurrent good manufacturingpractices.

‘We also subcontract the manufacturing ofcertain of our products, including products manufactured under the rights acquired from other pharmaceutical companies. Products representing approximately 20% of our product sales for 2020 are
produced intotal, or inpart, by third-party manufacturers under manufacturing arrangements.

In some cases, the principal raw materials, including active pharmaceutical ingredients, usedby us (or our third-party manufacturers) for our various products are purchased in the open market or are otherwise available from several sources.
However, some ofthe active pharmaceutical ingredients and other raw materials used in ourproducts and someofthe finished products themselves are currently only available from a single source; or others may in the future become available from
only one source. For example, with respect to some of our largest or most significant products, the supply of the finished product for each of our Siliq®, Duobrii*, Bryhali*, Lumify*, Trulance®, Vyzulta®, SofLens®, Wellbutrin XL*, Ocavite*,
PreserVision®, Renu*, Xenazine*, Aplenzin®, Relist:Oral andl PassVisiea!” poodacts ave culy available Soom 2 single svesce axed thn supply of active pharmacectical ingyedient Ser euch ofour Silig, Duobrii®, Bryhak®, ‘Trolance®, Vymin®,
Xemanian®, Aglonnial®, nod Rakister® Onell pooducts ave also culy available Seen a single suesce. Assy disvaption in tha supply ofany sack singfe-sounced active phacesacouticel ingpedient, other raw matusisl ox finished peodact or on incense in thncost of such materials or products could adversely impact our ability to manufacture or sell such products, the ability ofour third-party manufacturers to supply us with such products, or our profitability. We attempt to manage the risks associated
with reliance on single sources of active pharmaceutical ingredient, other raw materials or finished products by carrying additional inventories or, where possible, developing second sources of supply. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for additional
information onthe risks associatedwith ourmanufacturing arrangements.

Our global supply team worked diligently to stay ahead of the challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic once it appeared in Asia. See Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis — Impacts ofCOVID-19 Pandemic” for furtherinf ,

Human Capital Resources
In order to achieve ourvisionofbeing a trusted health care partner, we strive to ensure our employees around the world feelproudtobea partofBauschHealth Companies Inc.
As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately 21,600 employees, which included approximately 11,100 im production, 7,600 im sales and marketing, 1,600 in general and administrative positions and 1,300 in R&D. These employees are

located around the world, with 7,100 in the United States and Canada, 6,500 in Europe, 2,800 in the Middle East and Africa, 2,400 in Asia-Pacific countries, 2,100 in Latin America, and 700 in Russia and Commonwealth of Independent Statecountries.

Collective bargaining exists for some employees in several countries in which we dobusiness. We consider our relationswith our employees to be goodand have not experienced any work stoppages, slowdowns orother serious laborproblems

During fiscal 2020, our voluntary turnover rate was lower than in prior years, partially attributable to the impact ofthe COVID-19 pandemic. We have not experienced any significant business disruption to date as a resultoftumover, and we
regularly conduct an employee engagement survey globally in order to keep a pulse on the organization. Based on the survey results, we believe that our employees are proud to work for Bausch Health Companies Inc. and 87% would recommend
our Company as a goodplace towork.
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Health, Safetyand Wellness
Our employees’ health, safety, and wellness are important to us. With the COVID-19 outbreak, a focus in 2020 was protecting the health and safety ofour employees and their families. We broadened our existing remote work policies to enable

our global employees to work from home wherever possible. In circumstances where remote work was not possible (such as at our manufacturing and distribution facilities) we implemented safety measures to ensure we prevented the spread of
‘COVID-19 im the workplace, such as mandatory face coverings, social distancing, hand hygiene, plexiglass barriers, limited face-to-face meetings and other procedures as prescribed by global public health organizations, such as the WHO and U.S.Centers forDisease Control and Prevention.

On an ongoing basis, we measure how well we are fostering the health and safety ofour employees through our Days Away Rate ("DAR"), which captures globally the numberofdays that our employees are away from work due to illness or
‘injury. In 2020, we achieved an annual DARof 11, which surpassed our annual goal of 13 and exceeds the industry standardof24 days away.

‘We also recognize that physical, emotional and financial wellbeing are significant contributors to our employees success at work and home, especially in 2020. We aim to support our employees in all aspects oftheir everyday life by centering
programs and activities around these three pillars ofwellbeing. Across each ofthese pillars, we offer a rangeofresources to help our employees be healthy and feel successful in both their professional andpersonal lives, including through employee
assistanceprograms. For 2020, we also provided resources for our employees specifically in response to COVID-19. including launching a website — Collaborating in the New Normal— to help ouremployees encourage each other, leadwithempathy
and adapt as we navigated these unprecedented times.
Diversity and Inclusit

‘We are dedicated to fostering an inclusive work environment where everyone feels welcomed, supported and valued for their talents and contributions. Our Bausch Health Diversity & Inclusion ("D&I") strategy centers on connecting our
employees to our Company, each other, and our commmumities to cultivate a senseoftrust, respect andbelonging for all. We have a D&I Council that is led by our Company's Executive Committee members sponsored by our ChiefHuman Resources

‘We strive to advance candid conversations among our employees about racism and expanding diversity and inclusion training and education for them. Specifically, we have provided all employees with educational tools and resources to
understand how to talk about these topics at work and have introducedtraining aimed at helping employees become more aware ofunconscious biases.

‘We are focused on continuing to expand our Employee Resource Groups ("ERGs"), providing opportunities for professional growth, development and informal networking. The Bausch Health Women s Leadership Network advances the
growth and leadership development ofwomen at our Company. In 2020, they facilitated a roundtable discussion with three female members ofour Executive Committee — our ChiefHuman Resources Officer, General Counsel, and President ofour
Diversified Business — to discuss their views on the most important qualities of leadership. They also hosted guest speakers focused on the importance ofbuilding resilience and practicing mindfulness, as well as effectively managing stress. Our
Bausch Health Military Network Employee Resource Groupwas recently formed as well, and in their inaugural year they hosted a virtual Veterans Day tribute andorganizeda Toys for Tots drive to support local communities.
TalentDevelopment

‘Weare committedto thedevelopment ofour employees andbelieve that our success coincides with our employees achievements ofpersonal and professional goals.
Through our Employee DevelopmentFramework, we endeavor to support our employees interests to grow totheirfull potential, achieve career goals, and contribute to the successofour Company. We empower employees to explore roles that

are ofinterest and gain insights into their strengths and development needs. We provide a variety of development programs to support our employees at every stage oftheir career and incorporate indivical development plans that sim 10 help ouremployees reach theircareer goals.
‘We also have a robust, global succession planning process that allows us to define talent needs based on business strategy, identify talent and drive their development and growth, strengthen the pipeline for critical leadership positions, and

optimize talent deployment across the business. As detailed in its charter, the Talent and Compensation Committee ofthe Board ofDirectors assists the Boardwith oversight ofourCompany s talent management and succession planningprocess. The
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this process, the Board interacts withleaders and managers throughout the organization during the year to get to know these employees and theirwork.
TotalRewards

Our Company s total rewards philosophy is designed to attract, retain, motivate, and engage our employees. We provide comprehensive and market competitive compensation and benefit programs across our geographies, aligning these

Our compensationprogram includes base pay, short-term incentives, andlong-term incentives. We provide the opportunity for our employees to eam more when we deliver against objectives — both as a total company and individually. We also

geographies inwhich we operate, we also offer family planningbenefits to our employees such as adoption and surrogacy assistance programs.
CorporateSocialResponsibility

In 2017, we established The BauschFoundation, which supports initiatives aimed at disease prevention, improving patient outcomes, and community support related to our core businesses. Additionally, it supports global reliefefforts and those
‘who need help in the commumities inwhichwe live and work.

The support ofour employees is essential to the success ofthe foundation. For example, in order to offer support to others during the pandemic, we established a campaign for our employees to donate to Feeding America, with the foundation
matching up to $100,000 ofthese contributions. Our employees may also submit a request to the foundation for a financial contribution to support the charitable efforts ofan organization they support. During 2020, the foundation, which is managed
‘by ouremployees, donatedmedicines andhealth care products to assist inthe global fight againstthe COVID-19 virus.

‘We are committed to supporting patients who have lost employment health benefits due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and because it is important to continue prescribed treatments, we are proud to offer certain of our prescription medicines
through our Bausch Health Assistance Program In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, some people have financial obstacles that keep them from obtaining and continuing their prescribed treatments. The purpose of the Bausch Health Patient
Assistance Program is to provide eligible unemployed patients in the U.S., who have lost their health insurance due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with certain ofour prescription products although their financial circumstances or insurance status may
otherwise interfere withtheir ability to do so. Ifapproved, patients receive theirBausch Health Companies Inc. prescription product(s) at no cost to them for up to one year, and may be able to reapply to the program annually ifthey continue to meet
eligibility requirements andhave avalid prescription.

‘See Item 7. “Management's Discussion andAnalysis — Overview—Focus onCore Businesses—Improve Patient Access” for additional discussion regardingCompanyprograms to address theaffordability and availability ofourproducts.
Product LiabilityInsurance

‘Since March 31, 2014, we have self-insured substantially all ofour product liability risk for claims arising after that date In the future, we will continue to re-evaluate our decision to self-insure and may purchase additional product liability
imsurance to cover product liability risk. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K for additional information.
Seasonality ofBusiness

Historically, revenues from our business tend to beweighted toward the second halfofthe year. Sales in the first quarter tend to be lower as patient co-pays and deductibles reset at the beginning ofeachyear Sales in the fourth quarter tend to

‘Geographic Areas
A significant portion of our revenues is generated from operations or otherwise earned outside the U.S. and Canada All of our foreign operations are subject to risks inherent in conducting business abroad, including price and currency

affect ourresults ofoperations. For adiscussion ofthese risks, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K.
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See Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION” to our auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for revenues and long-lived assets by geographic area.
A portion ofourrevenue and incomewas eared in Canada and Ireland, which have low effective tax rates. SeeItem 1A “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K relating totax rates for more information.

AvailableInformation

Our Intemet address isyousbauschheaithcomWe post links on ourwebsite to the following filings as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filedor furnished to the SEC annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, curent reports on Form 8-K and any amendment to those reports filed or furnishedpursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Actof 1934, as amended All such filings are available throughour website free ofcharge.
The informationon our Internet website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K or our other securities filings and is not a part of such filings. The SEC also maintains anInternet website atwowsecsoythat contains reports, proxy and

‘We are also required to file reports and otherinformation with the securities commissions in all provinces in Canada. You are invited to read and copy any reports, statements orother information, other than confidential filings, that we file with
the provincial securities commissions. These filings are also electronically available from the Canadian System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval “SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com. the Canadian equivalent of the SEC s electronic
document gathering and retrieval system.
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Item 1A. RiskFactors

Form 10-E including those risk: setforth under the heading entitled “Forward-Looking Statements” and in other documents thatwefile with the SECandthe CSA before making any investmentdecision with respect to our common shares or debt
securities. Ifany ofthe risks or uncertainties actually occur or develop our business financial condition cashflows results ofoperations and/orfuture growth prospects could change andsuch change could be materially adverse. Under these
circumstances the marketvalueofourcommon shares and/ordebtsecurities coulddecline andyou couldlose allorpartofyourinvestmentin ourcommon shares and/or debtsecurities.

Summary ofRiskFactors
‘The following is a summary ofthe risk factors ourbusiness faces. The listbelow is not exhaustive, andinvestors should read this “Risk Factors” section in full Some ofthe riskswe face include

the effect ofthe COVID-19pandemic on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows, and results ofoperations;

the impact ofchanges to our pricingpractices, whether imposed, legislated or voluntary;

our dependence on thirdparties to meet their contractual, legal, regulatory, and other obligations;
the impact ofproduct recalls andrelatedproductliability claims:

our ability to comply with restrictive covenants in our debt agreements;
our ability to generate cash in order to service ourdebt;
the impact on our business ofrestrictions imposedby our significant indebtedness:
the effect ofinterest rate changes, includingthe potential discontinuation ofLIBOR;
our ability to recruit and retain executives andkeypersonnel;
the potential increase ofoureffective tax rates:
our ability to compete with generic competitors inproducts that represent a significant amount ofour revenue;
our ability to obtain, maintain, enforceordefendthe intellectual propertyrights required to conduct ourbusiness;
our ability to develop oracquire more effective or less costly pharmaceutical orOTC products or medical devices than our competitors;
the effect ofourcommitment to the cessation oforlimitation onpricing increases forcertain ofourproducts;

the potential adverse effect ofacquisitions ofassets, products andbusinesses:
our ability to maintain andprovide appropriate training inour products to our health care providers;
our ability to achieve or maintain expectedlevelsofmarket acceptance for our new products;
our dependence on reimbursements from governmental and other third-party payors;
the impact ofa failure to be included informularies developedby managed careorganizations and third-party payors;

 

Exhibit 2160

Page 026 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 027 of 168

+  Tisks associated withthe international scope ofour operations;
+ foreign currency exposure onthe translation into U_S. dollars ofthe financial resultsofour international operations;
* our ability to successfullycommercialize our pipeline products;
* our ability to comply with ongoing regulatory review ofourmarketed drugs;
+ the effect that the United Kingdomsexit from the EuropeanUnion mayhave on the development, regulatoryapproval and reviewofour products;
+ the impact on our business ofinterruptions in our manufacturingprocesses;
* our dependence on a limited number ofsources for certain ofour finished products andraw materials;
+ the effect ofchanges in inventory levels or fluctuations in buying pattems by our large distributor andretail customers;
* our ability to comply with applicable laws andregulations andprevail in anylitigationrelated to noncompliance;
+ the impact thatreforms ofthe health care system may have on our ability to sell ourproducts profitably;
* our ability to comply with environmental laws andregulations and environmental remediationobligations;
+ the potential adverse effect ofshareholderactivism:
+ the impact on our profitability from the potential impairment ofgoodwill andotherintangible assets;
+ the breakdown, interruption, breach orothercompromise ofour information technology systems;
* our ability to effectively monitor and respondto expectations regarding environmental, social and governance matters;
+ the restatement ofour previously issued financial statements andpotential exposure to additional risks therefrom;
+ the decline in pricing and/orvolume ofour products inour distribution agreements with other companies;
+ the illegal distribution and sale ofcounterfeitversions ofourproducts;
* the reduction ofprofits due to imports fromcountries where ourproducts are available at lower prices;
+ the reduction ofrevemmes in fumure fiscalperiods due to ourpolicies regarding retums, allowances, andchargebacks;
* the decline im sales volumes orpricesofourproducts as the result ofthe concentrationofsales to wholesalers;
* ourpotential obligations underour indemnity agreements and arrangements; and
+ the fluctuationofouroperatingresults and financial condition from quarter to quarter

Risk Relating to COVID-19
The ongoing COVID-19pandemic, the rapidly evolving reaction ofgovernments,private sectorparticipants and thepublic to thatpandemic and/or the associated economic impact ofthepandemic andthe reactions to it, couldadversely and
materially impact our business,financialcondition, cashflows andresultsofoperations.

In December 2019, a novel strain of the coronavirus disease, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to other parts of the world, including the United States, Canada and Europe, and was declared a
global pandemic by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020. The pandemic and the rapidly evolving reaction of governments, private sector participants and the public in an effort to contain the spread ofCOVID-19 and/or address its
impacts have intensified and have had significant direct and indirect effects on businesses and commerce generally, including disruption to supply chains, employee base and transactional activity, facilities closures and production suspensions, and
‘significantly increased demand forcertain goods and services, such as pandemic-related medical services and supplies, alongside decreased demandfor others, such as retail, hospitality, travel and elective surgery.

As aresultofthe impact ofCOVID-19, we have experienced delays in andpostponement ofour clinical trialprograms and reduced demandfor certain ofour products due to the deferral ofelective medical procedures and ofdoctor and dentist
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visits. We expect to continue to experience those effects as a resultofthe pandemic, the reactions ofgovernments, private sector participants and the public to thepandemic andthe associateddisruptiontobusiness andcommerce generally.
In addition, as a result ofthese factors, we may experience additional disruptions that could materiallyimpact our business, financial condition. cash flows and results ofoperations. Forexample, we may experience
= material closures ordisruptions to ourmanufacturing sites (for example, we experienced closures at ourMilan, Bothell, WashingtonUSA sites andour two sites inChina in 2020);
+ lack ofavailabilityofactivepharmaceutical ingredients ("API"), and intermediates, or other supply chain disruptions, including for some ofourkey products;

extended ‘time;
+ interruption or delays in theoperations oftheFDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities, whichmay impact review and approval timelines forour planned trials and launches;
* delays or difficulties in enrolling patients inour clinical trials;

+ diversion ofhealthcare resources awayfrom the conductofclinical trials, includingthe diversionofhospitals servingas ourclinical trial sites andhospital staffsupporting the conduct ofour clinical trials;
* interruption or postponement ofkey clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site data monitoring, due to limitations on travel imposedor recommended by federal or state governments, employers andothers or interruption ofclinical trial

subject visits and studyprocedures, whichmay impact the integrity ofsubject data and clinical stidy endpoints;
+ limitations on employee resources thatwould otherwise be focused on our business and operations, such as the conduct ofourpreclinical studies and clinical trials, including because ofsickness ofemployees or their families or the desireof

employees to avoidcontactwithlarge groups ofpeople;

- delays inorpostponementofour clinical wil programs as resultof“stay at home” orders affecting ourresearch facilities or the closureofsuch researc facilities, whichmay impact the timing, epproval and launch ofthe affected clinical‘Programs;

deferral of elective medical procedures and of doctor and dentist visits, and reduced usage of contact lens, which may reduce demand for certain of the Company s products, including our contact lens products and certain branded
pharmaceutical products in our eye-care, dermatology, GI and dentistry businesses; and

+ adverse effects ontheregional economies in whichwe operate which could reduce demand for certain ofthe Company s products.
‘The extent and durationofthepandemic, the reactions ofgovernments, private sectorparticipants and the public tothat pandemic andthe associated disruption to business and commerce generally, and the extent to which these may impact our

include the ultimate geographic spread and duration of the pandemic, the availability and effectiveness of vaccines for COVID-19, new information which may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19, the effectiveness and intensity of
measures to contain COVID-19 and/or address its impacts, and the economic impact ofthe pandemic and the reactions to it. Suchdevelopments, among others, depending on their nature, duration and intensity, could have a significant adverse effect
on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andmay exacerbate otherrisk factors disclosed in this Item 1A. “Risk Factors.”

Developments such as those described above, among others, depending on theirnature, durationand intensity, could have a significant adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, cash flows andresults ofoperations.
Risk Relating to the Separation
Ourplan to separate our eye-health business into an independentpublicly traded entityfrom the remainder ofthe Company is subject to various risks and uncertainties and may not be completed in accordance with the expectedplans or‘cipated
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timeline, orat all, andwill involve significanttime, expense, anddistraction, which coulddisrupt or have a materialadverse effect on our business,financial condition, cashflows and results ofoperations andcould cause the market valueofour common sharesand/or debtsecurities to decline.

On August 6, 2020, we announced that we intend to separate our eye-health business into an independent publicly traded entity from the remainder of Bausch Health Companies Inc. (the “Separation™). The Separation will establish two
‘separate companies that include (i) a fully integrated eye-health company which will consist of our Bausch + Lomb Global Vision Care, Global Surgical, Global Consumer and Global Ophthalmology Rx businesses and (ii) a diversified

approval by the Company s Board ofDirectors, any shareholder vote requirements that may be applicable, compliance with (including completion of all necessary filings required by) U.S. and Canadian securities laws and stock exchange mules,
Teceipt ofany applicable opinions and/or rulings with respect to the Canadian and U_S. federal income tax treatment ofthe Separation and determination ofthe pro forma capitalizations ofthe two separate companies. The failure to satisfy all ofthe
Tequired conditions could delay the completion ofthe Separation fora significantperiodoftime orprevent it from occurring at all.

‘Unanticipated developments, including disruptions to business and commerce induced by the COVID-19 pandemic, changes in market conditions, possible delays in obtaining any necessary shareholder, stock exchange, regulatory or other
approval or the failure to obtain any such approvals, possible delays inobtaining any requiredtax opinions orrulings or the failure to obtainany suchtax opinions or rulings, negotiating challenges, theuncertainty ofthe financial markets, changes in
the law, and other challenges in executing the Separation, could delay or prevent the completion ofthe Separation, or cause the Separation to occur on terms or conditions that are different or less favorable than expected While we anticipate that we
will be able to complete the internal organizational design and structure ofthe Bausch + Lomb entity by the end of2021, we will need to complete a number ofadditional steps thatwill depend on the ultimate structure ofthe transaction (in addition
to obtaining the regulatory approvals and satisfying the conditions described above) before we can complete the Separation. Any changes to the Separation or delay in completing the Separation could cause us not to realize some orallofthe expected
benefits, or realize themona different timeline than expected. Further, our BoardofDirectors could decide, either becauseofa failure to satisfy conditions or because ofmarket or other factors, to abandon the Separation No assurance can be given
as to whether andwhen the Separation will occurorwhether the Separationwill achieve the benefits we expect. As a result, there can be no assurance as to the timing ofthe completion ofthe Separation or its terms, and, the information in this Form
10-K relating to the Separationispreliminary andmaychange as the transactionprogresses and any such change maybe material.

operation ofour business. We may also experience increased difficulties in attracting, retaining, and motivating management and employees during the pendency of the Separation and following its completion. The Separation, whether or not

benefit ifthe Separationis not completed. In addition, ifthe Separation is not completed, we will still be required topay certain costs and expenses incurred in connectiontherewith, such as legal, accounting, and other professional and advisory fees.
Furthermore, the Separation, ifcompleted, may result in potential dyssynergy costs, which may be greater thanwe anticipate and/or may be significant.

Any ofthe above factors could cause the Separation (or the failure to consummate the Separation) to have a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market valueofour common shares and/ordebt securities to decline.

Legal and Reputational Risks

Philidor, which have hadandcouldcontinue to havea material adverse effect on our reputation, business,financial condition, cashflows andresults ofoperations, could result in additional claims andmaterialliabilities, and couldcause the
market valueofourcommon shares and/ordebt securities to decline.

‘While we have successfully settled or otherwise resolved a number of legacy legal proceedings, investigations and inquiries relating to, among other things, our disclosure and accounting practices and our former relationship with Philidor,
includingthe securities class action litigation matters inboth the U.S. and Canada, the investigationby the SEC andthe investigation order fromthe Autorité des marches financiers (the “AMF”) (ourprincipal securities regulator in Canada), we are
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curently still the subject ofa number ofother ongoing legal proceedings and investigations and inquiries by governmental agencies, including, but not limited to, the following (i) a number ofpending securities litigations, including certain opt-out
actions in the U.S.(related to the U.S. Securities class action which has been settled, but remains subject to an objector's appeal ofthe final court approval), and in Canada (related to the securities class action litigation in Canada which has been
settled), have been instituted, the allegations ofwhich relate to, among other things, allegedly false and misleading statements by the Company and/or failures to disclose information about our business and prospects, including relating to drug
Pricing, our policies and accounting practices, our use of specialty pharmacies, and our formerrelationship with Philidor and (ii) purported class actions under the federal RICO statute onbehalfofthird-party payors arising out ofour pricing anduse

of specialty Pharmacies, and our former relationship with Philidor Tnaddition, we could, in the farure, face additional legal proceedings and investigations and inquiries by governmental agencies relating to these or simular matters. For moreinformation regarding legalproceedings, see Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"to ouraudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
‘We are unable to predict how long such proceedings, investigations and inquiries will continue, but we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant costs in connection with some or all of these matters and that some or all of these

Proceedings, investigations and inquiries will result ina substantial distraction ofmanagementstime, regardless ofthe outcome. Some or all ofthese proceedings, investigations and inquiries will likely result in damages, settlement payments (such
as the $1,210 million payment to be made by the Company in comnection with the previously settled U.S. Securities class action (subject to an objector’s appeal of the final court approval)), fines, penalties, consent orders or other administrative
sanctions (including exclusion from federal programs) against the Company and/or certain ofour directors and officers, any ofwhich could be material, or in changes to our business practices, which, in tum, may result in or may contribute to an
inability by us to meet the financial covenant contained in our Restated Credit Agreement. Furthermore, publicity surrounding these proceedings, investigations and inquiries or any enforcement action as a result thereof, even ifultimately resolved
favorably for us could result in additional investigations and legal proceedings. As a result, these proceedings, investigations and inquiries could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.
Our historical businesspractices, including with respect topastpricingpractices, are under scrutiny. Any changes to ourpractices relating topricing or the currentprices ofproducts, whether imposed, legislated or voluntary, could have a
materialadverse effect on our business,financialcondition, cashflows andresultsofoperations andcouldcausethe marketvalueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

‘We are under scrutiny with respect to our historical business practices (including with respect to past pricing practices), including various securities litigations, including certain opt-out actions in the U.S. (related to the previously settled
‘securities class action (subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval)) and inCanada (relatedto the recently settled securities class action), and purportedclass actions under the federal RICO statute on behalfofthird-party payors. We are
unable to predict how such proceedings, investigations and inquiries will impact our current business practices, including with respect to pricing, or the prices of our products, including whether we will be required to impose pricing freezes or
controls, pricing reductions (including on a retroactivebasis) or other price regulation for some or all ofour products.

In addition, in recent years, inthe U_S., state and federal governments have considered implementing legislation thatwould control or regulate the pricesofdrugs. Othercountries have announced or implemented measures on pricing, including

could lead to impairment ofcertain ofour intangible assets which could be significant, and/or could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/ordebt securities todecline.

We areinvolvedin various otherlegal andgovernmentalproceedings that are uncertain, costlyandtime-consuming andcould havea materialadverse effecton ourbusiness,financial condition, cashflowsandresults ofoperations and could
cause the marketvalueofour common sharesand/or debtsecurities to decline.

‘We are involved in a number ofother legal and governmental proceedings and maybe involved im additional litigation in the future. These proceedings are complex and extended and occupy the resources ofour management and employees.
These proceedings are also costly to prosecute and defend and may involve substantial awards or damages payable by us ifnot found in our favor. We may also be required to pay substantial amounts or grant certain rights on unfavorable terms in
order to settle suchproceedings. Defending against or settling such claims and any unfavorable legal decisions, settlements or orders could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and
could cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline For more information regarding legal proceedings, see Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
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For example, the pharmaceutical industry, including our Company, has been the focus of both private payor and governmental concern regarding pricing of pharmaceutical products. Related actions, including Congressional and other
governmental investigations and litigation, are costly and time-consuming, and adverse resolution of such actions or changes in our business practices, such as our approach to the pricing ofour pharmaceutical products, could adversely affect our
‘business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

Farther, the pharmaceutical and medical device industries historically have generated substantial litigation concerning the manufacture, use and sale of products and we expect this litigation activity to continue. As a result, we expect that
patents related to our products will be routinely challenged. and the validity or enforceability of our patents may not be upheld. In order to protect or enforce patent rights, we may initiate litigation against third parties. Our patents may also be
challenged in administrative proceedings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and patent offices outside ofthe United States. Ifwe are not successful in defending an attack on our patents and maintaining exclusive rights to market one
or more ofourproducts still underpatent protection, we could lose 2 significant portionofsales ina very short period. We may also become subject to infringement claims by thirdparties and may have to defend against charges that we infringed or
otherwise violated patents or the intellectual property or proprietary rights ofthird parties. Ifwe infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights ofothers, we could lose our right to develop, manufacture or sell products, including our
generic products, or couldbe requiredto pay monetary damages or royalties to license proprietary rights fromthirdparties, which couldbe substantial.

In addition, in the U_S., it has become increasingly common for patent infringement actions to prompt claims that antitrust laws have been violated during the prosecution ofthe patent or during litigation involving the defense ofthat patent.
‘Such claims by direct and indirect purchasers and other payers are typically filed as class actions. The relief sought may include treble damages and restitution claims. Similarly, antitrust claims may be brought by government entities or private
parties following settlement ofpatent litigation, alleging that such settlements are anti-competitive and in violationofantitrust laws. In the U.S. and Europe, regulatory authorities have continued to challenge as anti-competitive so-called “reverse
payment” settlements between branded and generic drug manufacturers. We may also be subject to other antitrust litigation involving competition claims unrelated to patent infringement and prosecution. For more information regarding legal
proceedings, see Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements. A successful antitrust claim by a private party or government entity against us could have a material adverse effect onour business, financial
condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcouldcause themarket valueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.
We depend on thirdparties to meettheircontractual, legal, regulatory, andotherobligations.

‘We rely ondistributors, suppliers, contract researchorganizations, vendors, service providers, business partners and otherthird parties to research, develop, manufacture, distribute, market and sell many ofourproducts, as well asperform other
services relating to ourbusiness. We rely on these third parties to meet theircontractual, legal, regulatory and otherobligations. A failure to maintain these relationships orpoorperformanceby these thirdparties could negatively impact ourbusiness.

parties to meet these legal, contractual and regulatory obligations or any improper actions by such thirdparties or even allegations of suchnon-compliance or actions could damage our reputation, adversely impact our ability to conduct business in
Certain markets and subject us to civil or criminal legal proceedings and regulatory investigations, monetary and non-monetary damages and penalties and could cause us to incur significant legal and investigatory fees and, as a result, couldhave a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline. For example, the allegations about the activities ofPhilidorand our former relationship with Philidor have resulted in a number of investigations, inquiries and legal proceedings against us, which may damage our reputation and result in damages, fines, penalties or administrative sanctions against the
‘Company and/or certain ofour officers. Formore informationregarding legal proceedings, see Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements.
Ifourproducts cause, orareallegedto cause, serious orwidespreadpersonal injury, we may haveto withdraw thoseproductsfrom the marketand/or incur significantcosts, includingpaymentofsubstantialsums in damages, andwe may be
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subject to exposure relatingtoproduct liability claims. In addition, ourproductliabilityself-insuranceprogram maynotbe adequateto coverfumrelosses.
‘We face an inherent business risk ofexposure to significant product liability and other claims in the event that the use ofour products caused, or is alleged to have caused, adverse effects. These product liabilityproceedings may be costly to

prosecute and defend and may involve substantial awards or damages payable by us ifnotfound in ourfavor.
Furthermore, our products may cause, or may appear to have caused, adverse side effects (including death) or potentially dangerous drug interactions that we may not learn about or understand fully until the drug has been administered to

patients forsome time. The withdrawal ofa product following complaints and/or incurring significant costs, including the requirement to pay substantial damages inpersonal injury cases or product liability cases, couldhave a material adverse effect
on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcould cause the market valueofour common shares and/ordebt securities to decline.

In addition, since March 31, 2014, we have self-insured substantially all ofour product liability risk for claims arising after that date. We periodically evaluate and adjust our claims reserves to reflect trends in our own experience, as well as
industry trends. However, historical loss trends may not be adequate to cover future losses, as historical trends may not be indicative of future losses. Ifultimate results exceed our estimates, this would result im losses in excess of our reserved
amounts. Ifwe were required to pay a significant amount on account ofthese liabilities for which we self-insure, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause themarket valueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

Ourmarketing,promotionalandbusinesspractices, as wellas the mannerin which salesforces interact withpurchasers,prescribers andpatients, are subject to axtensive regulation andany materialfailuretocomply couldresultin significant
Sanctions againstus.

‘The marketing, promotional andbusiness practices ofpharmaceutical and medical device companies, as well as the manner in whichcompanies in-house or third-party sales forces interact withpurchasers, prescribers, andpatients, are subject
to extensive regulation, enforcement ofwhich may result in the imposition ofcivil and/or criminal penalties, injunctions, and/or limitations on marketing practice for some ofour products and/or pricing restrictions or mandated price reductions for
‘some of our products. Many companies, including us, have been the subject ofclaims related to these practices asserted by federal authorities. These claims have resulted in fines and other consequences, such as entering into corporate integrity
agreements with the U.S. government. Companies may not promote drugs for “off-label” uses-that is, uses that are not described in the product s labeling and that differ from those approved by the FDA, Health Canada, EMA or other applicable
Tegulatory agencies. A company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including civil and administrative remedies (such as entering into corporate integrity agreements with the U.S.
government), as well as criminal sanctions. In addition, management s attention could be diverted from our business operations and our reputation could be damaged For more information regarding legal proceedings, see Note 20, "LEGALPROCEEDINGS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our Restated CreditAgreement andthe indentures governing our senior notes impose restrictive covenants on us. Ourfailure to comply with these covenants couldtrigger events, which could result in the acceleration ofthe related debt, a
or cross-acceleration to other debt,foreclosure upon any collateral securing the debt andtermination ofany commitments to lend, each ofwhich would have a material adverse effect on our business,financial condition, cash

Slowsandresultsofoperations andwouldcausethe marketvalueofour common shares and/or securities to declineandcouldleadto bankruptcy or liquidation.
Our Restated Credit Agreement and the various indentures governing our senior notes contain covenants that restrict the way we conduct business and require us to satisfy certain financial tests in order to incur debt or take other actions. For

example, our Restated CreditAgreement contains a financial covenant thatrequires us to maintain a certain financial ratio at fiscal quarter end
The Company s Restated Credit Agreement contains a specified quarterly financial maintenance covenant (consisting ofa first lien leverage ratio). As ofDecember 31, 2020, we were in compliance with this financial maintenance covenant.

However, we can make no assurance that we will be able to comply with the restrictive covenants contained in the Restated Credit Agreement and indentures in the future. Based on our current forecast for the next twelve months from the date of
issuance ofthis Form 10-K, we expect to remain in compliance with this financial maintenance covenant and meet our debt obligations over that same period In the event thatwe performbelow our forecasted levels, we may also implement certain
additional cost-efficiency initiatives, such as rationalization of selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") and R&D spend, which would allow us to continue to comply with the financial maintenance covenant. The Company may
consider takingother
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obligations, or may negotiate with the applicable lenders for an amendment or modification to such covenant, as deemed appropriate. However, we cannot guarantee that any ofthe above-noted actions would be achieved. Ifwe perform below our
forecasted levels and the actions referenced above are not effective, we would fail to comply with our financial maintenance covenant. In that instance, we would be in default, and our lenders would be permitted to accelerate our debt unless we
could obtainan amendment. Ifour debtwas accelerated, wewould not have sufficient funds to repay our debt absent a refinancing, andwe cannot provide assurance that we wouldbe able to obtain a refinancing.

Our inability to comply with the covenants in our debt instruments could lead to a default or an event ofdefault under the terms thereof, for which we may need to seek relieffrom our lenders and noteholders in order to waive the associated
default or event ofdefault and avoid a potential acceleration ofthe related indebtedness or cross-default or cross-acceleration to other debt. There can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain such reliefon commercially reasonable terms or
otherwise and we may be required to incur significant additional costs. In addition, the lenders under our Restated Credit Agreement and holders ofour senior notes may impose additional operating and financial restrictions onus as a condition to
granting any such waiver. Ifan event ofdefault is not cured or is not otherwise waived, 2 majority oflenders in principal amount under our Restated Credit Agreement or the trustee or holders ofat least 25% in principal amount ofa series ofour
seniornotes may accelerate the maturity ofthe related debtunder these agreements, forecloseupon any collateral securing the debt and terminate any commitments to lend, anyofwhichwould have a material adverse effectonour business, financial
condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and would cause the market valueofour securities todecline Furthermore, under these circumstances, we may not have sufficient funds or other resources to satisfy all ofourobligations and we may be
unable to obtain alternative financing on terms acceptable to us orat all. In such circumstances, we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation and, as a result, investors could lose all ora portion oftheir investment in our securities.
To service our debt, we will be requiredto generate a significant amountofcash. Our ability to generate cash depends on anumberoffactors, some ofwhich are beyond our control, andanyfailure to meet our debt obligations would havea
materialadverse effect on our business,financialcondition, cashflows andresultsofoperations andcouldcausethe marketvalueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

‘We have a significant amount of indebtedness. For details regarding our debt and the maturity dates thereof, see Note 10, "FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Our ability to satisfy our debt

debt. Ifwe do not generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to
raise additional capital Alternatively, as we have done in the past, we may also elect to refinance certain of our debt, for example, to extend maturities. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the capital markets and our
financial condition at such time. Ifwe are unable to access the capital markets, whether because ofthe condition ofthose capital markets or our own financial condition or reputation within such capital markets, we may be unable to refinance our
debt. In addition, anyrefinancingofour debt could be at higher interest rates andmay require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. Further, givenour capital structure, any refinancing ofour
senior unsecured debt may be with secured debt, thereby increasing our first lien and/or secured leverage ratios. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations or to refinance our obligations on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcould cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

Repayment ofour indebtedness is dependent on the generation ofcash flow by our subsidiaries and their ability to make such cash available to us, by dividend, debt repayment or otherwise. Our subsidiaries may not be able to, or may not be
permitted to, make distributions to enable us to make payments in respect ofour indebtedness. Each subsidiary is a distinct legal entity and, under certain circumstances, legal and contractual restrictions may limit our ability to obtain cash from our
subsidiaries. Certain subsidiaries include non-US. subsidiaries that may be prohibited by law or other regulations fromdistributing funds to us and/orwe may be subject to payment oftaxes andwithholdings on such distributions. In the eventthat we

Our ability to continue to reduce our indebtedness will depend upon factors including our future operating performance, our ability to access the capital markets to refinance existing debt and prevailing economic conditions and financial,
‘business and other factors, many ofwhich are beyond our control. We can provide no assurance of the amount by which we will reduce our debt, if at all. In addition, servicing our debt will result in 2 reduction in the amount ofour cash flowavailable for other
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incmming additional debt ifcertain financial covenants are not met and restrictions on our ability to make certain investments andother restricted payments. Any additional debt, to the extent we are able to incur it, may further restrict the manner in
whichwe conduct business. Such restrictions, prohibitions and limitations could impact our ability to implement elements ofour strategy, including in the followingways

our flexibility to plan for, orreact to, competitive challenges in our business and the pharmaceutical andmedical device industries may be compromised;
‘we maybeput at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors that do not have as much debt as we have, and competitors that may be in a more favorable position to access additional capital resources;
our ability to make acquisitions andexecutebusiness development activities through acquisitions willbe limited and may, in future years, continue tobe limited: and
our ability to resolveregulatory and litigation matters may be limited

In thepast, ourcredit ratings have been downgraded. Any further downgrade inour corporate creditratings or othercredit ratings may increase our cost ofborrowingandmay negatively impact our ability to raise additional debt capital
We are exposedto risks relatedto interest rates.

Our senior secured credit facilities bear interest based on U.S. dollar London Interbank Offering Rates or U.S. Prime Rate, or Federal Funds effective rate (for U.S. dollar loans) and Canadian Prime Rate or Canada Bankers Acceptance Rate
(for Canadian dollar loans). Thus, a change in the short-term interest rate environment (especially a material change) could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations (which adverse effect could
be material) and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline. As ofDecember 31, 2020, we didnot have any outstanding interest rate swap contracts.

In July 2017,the head ofthe United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority announced the desire to phase out the use ofLIBOR by the end of 2021. In November 2020, ICE Benchmark Administration Limited, the administrator ofLIBOR,
announced that it will consult on its intention to cease thepublication ofthe one week and two month USD LIBOR settings immediately following the LIBOR publication on December 31, 2021 and the remaining USD LIBOR settings immediately
following the LIBOR publication on June 30, 2023. IfLIBOR ceases to exist, we will need to endeavor, with the administrative agent thereunder, to amend the credit facilities to substitute LIBOR with an alternative rate of interest that gives due
consideration to the then-prevailing market convention for syndicated loans in the U.S., subject to notice to all lenders and the absence ofobjection by the “required lenders.” or pay interest based on the “base rate" untilwe can otherwise renegotiate
our Senior Secured Credit Facilities to include a LIBOR replacement. Any change in accordance with the aforementioned procedures, or the conversion of loans to base rate or U.S. prime rate loans, could have an adverse impact on our cost of
capital. Currently, there is no definitive information regarding the future utilization ofLIBOR or ofany particular replacement rate. As such, the potential effect ofany such event on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
securities to decline.

Employment-related Risks
The loss ofthe services of, orourinability to recruit, retain ormotivate, ourexecutives andother key employees couldhaveamaterialadverse effect on our business,financial condition, cashflows andresults ofoperations and couldcause the
market valueofourcommon shares and/ordebt securities to decline.

‘We must continue to retain and motivate our executives and other key employees, and to recruit other executives and employees, in order to strengthen ourmanagement team and workforce. Our ability to retain or recruit executive and other
key employees may be hindered or delayedby, among other things, competition from other employers who may be able to offer more attractive compensation packages or the reputational challenges the Company faces as a resultofhistorical issues
andmay
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in the future continue to face. A failure by us to retain, motivate and recruit executives and other key employees or the unanticipated loss ofthe services of any of these executives or key employees for any reason, whether temporary or permanent,

holders and could cause concern regarding our ability to execute ourbusiness strategy or to manage operations in the mannerpreviously conducted and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows
and results ofoperations and could cause the market value of our common shares and/or debt securities to decline. Furthermore, as a resultofany failure to retain, or loss of, any executives or key employees, we may experience increased costs in
order to identify and recruit a suitable replacement in a timely manner (and, even ifwe are able to hire a qualified successor, the search process and transition period maybe difficult to manage and result in additional periods ofuncertainty), which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline. In addition, once identified and recruited, the
transition ofnew executives and key employees may be difficult to manage andwe cannot guarantee that new executives and employees will efficiently transition into theirroles or ultimately be successful in their roles. Finally, as a resultofchanges
in our executives and key employees, there may be changes in the way we conduct our business, as well as changes to our business strategy. We cannot predict what these changes may involve or the timing of any such changes and how they will
impact our product sales, revenue, business, financial condition, cash flows or results ofoperations, but any such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause
the market value of our common shares and/or debt securities to decline. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities todecline.
Tax-related Risks

Oureffective tax rates may increase.
‘We have operations in various countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Our tax reporting is supported by current domestic tax laws in the countries in which we operate and the application oftax treaties between the various countries in

which we operate. Our income tax reporting is subject to audit by domestic and foreign authorities. Our effective tax rate may change from year to year based on changes in the mixofactivities and income earned among the differentjurisdictions in
which we operate; changes im tax laws im thesejurisdictions; changes im the tax treaties between various countries inwhich we operate; changes in our eligibility for benefits underthose tax treaties; and changes in the estimated values ofdeferredtax
assets and liabilities. Tax laws, regulations, and administrative practices in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant change. with or without notice, due to economic, political, and other conditions, and significantjudgment is required in
evaluating and estimatingourprovisionand accruals for these taxes. Such changes couldresult in a substantial increase inthe effective tax rate on all ora portion ofour income.

Our provision for income taxes is based on certain estimates and assumptions made by management. Our consolidatedincome tax rate is affectedby the amount ofpre-tax income eared in our various operatingjurisdictions, the availability of
benefits under tax treaties, and the rates oftaxes payable in respect ofthat income. We enter into many transactions and arrangements in the ordinary course ofbusiness in respect ofwhich the tax treatment is not entirely certain. We therefore make
estimates andjudgments based on our knowledge and understanding ofapplicable tax laws and tax treaties, and the application ofthose tax laws and tax treaties to our business, in determining our consolidated tax provision. For example, certain
countries could seek to tax a greater shareofincome than we will allocate to our business in such countries. The final outcome ofany audits by taxation authorities may differ from the estimates and assumptions that we may use in determining our
consolidated tax provisions and accruals. This could result in a material adverse effect on our consolidated income tax provision, financial condition and thenet income for theperiod in which suchdeterminations are made.

assessment ofthe appropriate amount ofa valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets is dependent upon several factors, including estimates ofthe realization ofdeferred income tax assets, which realization will be primarily based on future
taxable income, including the reversal ofexisting taxable temporary differences. Significantjudgment is applied to determine the appropriate amount ofvaluationallowance to record Changes in the amountofanyvaluation allowance requiredcould
materially increaseor decrease ourprovision forincome taxes in a given period.

See Note 17, "INCOME TAXES"to our audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements.
Risks Relating to Intellectual Property and Exclusivity
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Products representinga significant amountofour revenue arenotprotected bypatent or marketing or data exclusivity rights orarenearing the endoftheir exclusivityperiod. In addition, we havefacedgeneric competition in thepast and
expect toface additional generic competition in thefuture. Competitors (including generic and biosimilar competitors) ofourproducts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cashflows and results of
operations andcouldcausethemarketvalueofour common shares and/ordebt securitiesto decline.

A significant numberofthe products we sell either (i) have no meaningful exclusivity protectionvia patent or marketing or data exclusivity rights or (ii) are protectedby patents or regulatory exclusivity periods thatwill be expiring in the near
future. These products represent a significant amount ofour revenues (See Item 7. “Management s Discussion andAnalysis ofFinancial Condition and Results ofOperations — Business Trends — Generic Competition and Loss ofExclusivity” in
this Form 10-K foralist ofsome ofthese products). Withoutexclusivity protection, competitors and other third parties (including generics andbiosimilars) face fewer barriers in introducing competing products. Upon the expiration or lossofpatent
exclusivity or regulatory exclusivity for our products or otherwise upon the introduction ofgeneric, biosimilar or other competitors (which may be sold at significantly lower prices than our products), we could lose a significant portion ofsales and
market share ofthe applicable products ina very short period and, as a result, our revenues could be lower. In addition, the introduction ofgeneric and biosimilar competitors may have a significant downward pressure on the pricing ofour branded
products which compete with such generics and biosimilars. Where we have the rights, we may elect to launch an authorized generic ofsuch product (either ourselves or through a third party) prior to, upon or following generic entry, which may
‘mitigate the anticipated decrease in product sales; however, even with the launchofan authorized generic, the decline in product sales ofsuch product would stillbe expected tobe significant, and the effect on our future revenmes could be material.
The introduction of competing products (including generic products and biosimilars) could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value of our common‘shares and/or debt securities to decline.

We mayfail to obtain, maintain, license, enforce or defend the intellectualproperty andproprietary rights required to conduct our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,financial condition, cashflows and
results ofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofour common shares and/or debtsecurities to decline.

‘We strive to acquire, maintain, enforce and defend patent, trademark and other intellectual property and proprietary protections over our products and the processes used to manufacture these products. However, we may not be successful in
obtaining such protections, or the patent, trademark and other intellectual property and proprietary rights we do obtain may not be sufficient in breadth and scope to fully protect our products or prevent competing products, or such rights may be
susceptible to third-party challenges. whichcould result in the loss ofsuch intellectual property rights or the narrowing ofscope ofprotection afforded by such rights. Our intellectual property and proprietary rights may also be circumvented by third
parties. The failure to obtain, maintain, enforce ordefend such intellectual property and proprietary rights, for any reason, could allow thirdparties to manufacture and sell products that compete with our products or may impact our ability to develop,
manufacture and market our ownproducts, which couldhave a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows andresults ofoperations and could cause the market valueofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.

For certain of our products and mamufacturing processes, we rely on trade secrets and other proprietary information, which we seek to protect, im part, by confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with our employees, contractors,
consultants, advisors and parmers. We also seek to enter into agreements whereby suchemployees, contractors, consultants, advisors andpartners assign tous the rights inany intellectual propertythey develop. We may not enter into such agreements
with all applicable parties, such agreements maybe breached or otherwise may not effectively prevent disclosure or misappropriation ofsuch information, and disputes may still arise with respect to the ownership ofintellectual property. Inaddition,
third parties may independently develop the same or similar proprietary information. The disclosure ofsuch proprietary information or the loss of such intellectual property andproprietary rights may impact our ability to develop, manufacture and
market our own products or may assist competitors or other third parties in the development, manufacture and sale ofcompeting products, which could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.

For a number ofour commercialized products and pipeline products, including Xifaxan®, Siliq*, Lumify*, Plenvu*, Vyzulta*, Relistor®, Jublia® and the pipeline products that are the subject ofour recently announced licenses with Eyenovia,
Inc., Novaliq GmbH, BHVI and Clearside Biomedical, Inc., we rely on licenses to patents and other technologies, know-how and intellectual property and proprietary rights heldby thirdparties. Any loss, expiration, termination or suspension ofour
Tights to such licensed intellectual property would result in our inability to continue to develop, manufacture and market the applicable products or product candidates and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market alueofour common shares and or debt securities to decline In the future we ma also need to obtain additional licenses from third parties to de elop manufacture market
of continue to manufacture or market our products. Ifwe are unable to timely obtain these licenses on commercially reasonable terms or at all, our ability to develop, manufacture and market our products may be inhibited or prevented, which couldhavea
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material adverseeffect onour business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcould cause themarketvalue ofour commonshares and/or debt securities to decline.
c titive Risk

We operate in extremely competitive industries. Ifcompetitors develop or acquire more effective or less costlypharmaceutical or OTCproducts or medical devicesfor our target indications, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business,financialcondition,cashflowsandresultsofoperations andcouldcause themarket valueofourcommon shares and/ordebt securities todecline.

The pharmaceutical, OTC and medical device industries are extremely competitive. Our success and future growth depend, in part, on our ability to develop, license or acquire products that are more effective than those ofour competitors or

effective, more advanced or less costly than those currently marketed or proposed for development by us. In addition, academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private organizations conducting research may seek patent
Protection with respect to potentially competitive products and may also establish exclusive collaborative or licensing relationships with our competitors. These competitors and the introduction of competing products (that may be more effective or
less costly than our products) could make our products less competitive or obsolete, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and could cause the market value of ourcommon shares and/ordebt securities todecline.

Risks Relating toOur Business Strategy
We have made commitments andpublic statements with respecttothe cessation ofor limitation onpricing increasesforcertain ofourproducts. Thesepricing decisions could havea materialadverse effect on ourbusiness,financial condition,
cashflows andresultsofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofourcommon shares and/ordebt securitiesto decline.

InMay 2016, we formed a new PatientAccess and Pricing Committeeresponsible for the pricingofour drugs. The new committeesfirstaction was a recommendation, whichwe implemented, for an enhanced rebate programto all hospitals in
the U.S.to reduce the price ofour Nitropress® and Isuprel® products. In addition, the Patient Access and Pricing Committee made a commitment that the average annual price increase for our branded prescription pharmaceutical products will be set

or recommend additionalprice changes and/ornew programs to enhance patient access to our drugs.
At this time, we cannot predict what specific pricing changes the committee will make nor can we predict what other changes in ourbusiness practices we may implement with respect to pricing (such as imposing limits or prohibitions on the

amountofpricing increaseswe may take on certain ofour products or taking retroactive or future price reductions). We also cannot predict the impact suchpricing decisions or changes will or would have on ourbusiness. However, any such changes
could have a material adverse effect onour business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

For example, any pricing changes and programs could affect the average realized prices for our products and may have a significant impact on our revenue trends. In addition, limiting or eliminating price increases on certain ofour products
will result in fewer or lower price appreciation credits from certain ofour wholesalers. Price appreciation credits are generatedwhen we increase a product s wholesaler acquisition cost (“WAC™) under our contracts with certain wholesalers. Under
such contracts, we are entitled to credits from such wholesalers for the impact of that WAC increase on inventory currently on hand at the wholesalers. In wholesaler contracts, such credits, which can be significant, are offset against the total
distribution service fees we pay on all ofour products to each wholesaler. As a result, to the extentwe decide to cease or limitprice increases, we will have fewer or lowerprice appreciationcredits to use to offset against ourdistribution fees owing to
these wholesalers. In addition, under certain of our agreements with our wholesaler customers, we have price protection or price depreciation provisions, pursuant to which we have agreed to adjust the value ofany on-hand or in-transit inventory
with such customers in the event we reduce the price ofany ofour products. As a result, to the extent we reduce the WAC price for any ofour products, we may owe 3 payment to such customers (or such customers may earn a credit to be offset
against any amounts owing to us) equal to the amount of suchinventory multipliedby the difference between the price at whichthey acquired theproduct inventory and the new reducedprice.
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Inprioryears, we have undertaken a number ofdivestitures ofcertain ofour assets and business. We may, in thefuture, seek to divest additional asset and/or businesses, some ofwhich may be material and/or transformative, which could
adversely affect our business,prospectsandopportunitiesforgrowth.

In recent years, we have completed a number ofdivestitures ofour assets, products or businesses that were not considered core to our ongoing operations or the needs ofour primary-customer base, including the divestitures ofour Obagi
Medical Products business, our Nova Pharmaceuticals business, our Dendreon Pharmaceuticals subsidiary, our Sprout Pharmaceuticals subsidiary and the CeraVe*, AcneFree™ and AMBI® skincare brands. We may, in the future, seek to completeditional divesti

Each of these divestitures has been time-consuming and has diverted management s attention. As a result of these divestitures (and others we may in the future complete), we may experience lower revenue and lower cash flows from
operations. In addition, as was the case with our sale ofour Sprout Pharmaceuticals subsidiary, we may recognize a loss on sale in connection with such divestitures. We may also suffer adverse tax consequences as a result of such divestitures,
including capital gains tax or the accelerateduseofNOLs or other attributes. Furthermore, divesting certainofour businesses or assets may require us to incur restructuring charges, and we may not be able to achieve the cost savings thatwe expect
from any suchrestructuring efforts ordivestitures. Any such divestiture could reduce the size or scope ofourbusiness, our market share inparticular markets, our opportunities withrespect to certain markets, products or therapeutic categories or our
ability to compete in certain markets and therapeutic categories. Furthermore, we will be requiredtouse the netproceeds (or substantial portions thereof) from certain asset sales to repay the term loans under the Restated Credit Agreement, subject to
a ish

In addition, should we seek to divest other of our assets and business, we may be unable to dispose of such businesses and assets on satisfactory or commercially reasonable terms within our anticipated timeline. In addition, our ability to
identify, enter into and/or consummate divestitures may be limited by competition we face from other companies in pursuing similar transactions in the pharmaceutical industry. Any divestiture or other disposition we pursue, whether we are able to
complete it or not, may be complex, time consuming and expensive, may divert the management s attention, have a negative impact on our customer relationships, cause us to incur costs associated with maintaining the business of the targeted
divestiture during the disposition process and also to incur costs of closing and disposing the affected business or transferring the operations of the business to other facilities. The divestiture process may also further expose us to operational
inefficiencies. In addition, ifsuch transactions are not completed for any reason, the market price ofour common shares may reflect a market assumption that such transactions will occur, and a failure to complete such transactions could result in a
egative perceptionby the marketofus generally and adecline inthe market price ofour common shares.

As 2 result of these factors, any divestiture (whether or not completed) could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common sharesand/or debt securities to decline.

Aspartofourbusiness strategy, we seekto identifyandacquire certain assets,products andbusinesses.
Historically, part of our business strategy included acquiring and integrating complementary businesses, products, technologies or other assets. As partofour current business strategy, we again are seeking to complete certain acquisitions of

consummate some negotiations for acquisitions or other arrangements, which could result in significant diversion of management and other employee time, as well as substantial out-of-pocket costs. In addition, there are a number of risks and
‘uncertainties relating to our closing transactions. If such transactions are not completed for any reason, we willbe subject to several risks, including the following (i) the market price ofour common shares may reflect a market assumption that such
‘transactions will occur, and a failure to complete such transactions couldresult in a negative perception by the market ofus generally and a decline in the market price ofour common shares; and (ii) many costs relating to such transactions may be
payable by us whetheror not such transactions are completed.

Ifanacquisition is consummated, the integration ofthe acquiredbusiness, productorother assets into our Company may also be complex and time-consuming and. ifsuchbusinesses, products and assets are not successfully integrated, we may
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Furthermore, we may incur restructuring and integration costs and a number of non-recurring transaction costs associated with these acquisitions, combining the operations of the Company and the acquired company and achieving desired
‘synergies. These fees and costs may be substantial. Non-recurring transaction costs include, but are not limited to, fees paid to legal, financial and accounting advisors, filing fees and printing costs. Additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in
the integration ofthe businesses ofthe Company and the acquired company. There canbe no assurance that the elimination ofcertain duplicative costs, as well as the realization ofother efficiencies related to the integration ofthe acquiredbusiness,
will offset the incremental transaction-related costs over time. Therefore, anynetbenefit maynot be achieved in the near term, the long term orat all.

Finally, these acquisitions and other arrangements, even if successfully integrated, may fail to further our business strategy as anticipated or to achieve anticipated benefits and success, expose us to increased competition or challenges with
Tespect to ourproducts or geographic markets, and expose us to additional liabilities associated with an acquiredbusiness, product, technology or other assetor arrangement Any oneofthese challenges orrisks could impair our ability to realize any
benefit from our acquisition orarrangement afterwe have expended resources on them.

‘We market our pharmaceutical products to physicians, hospitals, pharmacies and wholesalers through our own sales force and sell throughwholesalers. In some markets, we additionally sell directly to physicians, hospitals and large drug store
chains and we sell through distributors in countries where we do not have our own sales staff. We have developed and strive to maintain strong relationships with members ofeach ofthese groups who assist inproduct research and development and
advise us on how to satisfy the full range of consumer needs. We rely on these groups to recommend our products to their patients and to other members oftheir organizations. Consumers in the pharmaceutical industry, particularly the contact lens
and lens care customers in the eye-health industry, have a tendency not to switchproducts regularly and are repeat consumers. As a result, the success ofcertainofourproducts, particularly our vision careproducts. is impacted by a physician's initial
Tecommendation ofsuch products and a consumer's initial choice to use such products. Asa result, the failure ofcertain ofour products, particularly in our vision care business, to retain the support ofpharmaceuticalprofessionals, hospitals or group
purchasing organizations and to retain the support ofthe end-users andthe distributors andretailers to whomwe sell suchproducts, could have a material adverse effect onour sales andprofitability.
C inlization Risk

Ourapprovedproducts maynotachieve ormaintain expectedlevels ofmarketacceptance.
Even ifwe are able to obtain andmaintain regulatory approvals for our pharmaceutical and medical device products, generic or branded, the success ofthese products is dependent uponachieving andmaintainingmarket acceptance. Launching

and commercializing products is time consuming, expensive and unpredictable. The commercial launch ofa product takes significant time, resources, personnel and expertise, which we may not have in sufficient levels to achieve success, and is
subject to various market conditions, some ofwhichmay be beyond our control. There can be no assurance that we will be able to, either by ourselves or in collaboration with our partners or through our licensees or distributors, successfully launch
and commercialize new products or gain market acceptance for such products. New product candidates that appear promising in development may fail to reach the market or may have only limited or no commercial success. While we have been
successful in launching some ofour products, we may not achieve the same level of success with respect to all ofour new products. Our inability to successfully launch our new products may negatively impact the commercial success of such
product, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and could cause the market value of our common shares and/or debt securities to decline. Our inability to successfully
Isunch our new products could also lead to material impairment charges.

‘Levels ofmarketacceptance for ournew products couldbe impactedby several factors, someofwhich are notwithin ourcontrol, including but not limitedto the following
safety, efficacy, convenience and cost-effectiveness ofour products comparedto products ofourcompetitors;
scope ofapproveduses andmarketingapproval;
availabilityofpatent or regulatory exclusivity,
timing ofmarket approvals and marketentry;
ongoing regulatory obligations following approval, such as therequirement to conduct a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy ("REMS") programs;
amy restrictions or “black box” warnings requiredon the labelingofsuchproducts;
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acceptance ofthepriceofour products;
effectiveness ofour sales forces and promotional efforts;
the levelofreimbursement ofour products;

ability to market ourproducts effectivelyat the retail level or in the appropriate setting ofcare; and
the reputation ofourproducts.

Further, the market perception and reputation ofour products and their safety and efficacy are important to ourbusiness and the continued acceptance ofourproducts. Any negative publicity about our products, such as the discovery ofsafety
issues with our products, adverse events involving our products, or even public rumors about such events, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows or results ofoperationor could cause the market valueof
our common shares and/ordebt securities to decline. In addition, the discovery ofsignificantproblems with a product similar to one ofourproducts that implicate (or are perceived to implicate) an entire class ofproducts or thewithdrawal or recallof
such similar products could have a material adverse effect on sales ofour products. Accordingly, new data about our products, or products similar to our products, could cause us reputational harm and could negatively impact demand for our
products due to real or perceived side effects oruncertaintyregarding safety or efficacy and, insome cases, could resultinproductwithdrawal.

‘If our products fail to gain, or lose, market acceptance, our revenues would be adversely impacted and we may be required to take material impairment charges, all ofwhich could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcause themarket valueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.
For certain ofourproducts, we depend on reimbursementfrom governmental andother third-partypayors and a reduction in reimbursement could reduce ourproduct sales and revenue. In addition,failure to be included informularies
developed by managed care organizations and coverage by other organizations may negatively impact the utilization ofourproducts, which could harm our market share and could have a material adverse effect on our business,fmancial
condition, cashflows and resultsofoperations andcouldcausethemarket value ofourcommon shares and/ordebtsecurities to decline.

Sales ofcertainofour products are dependent, in part, on the availability and extent ofreimbursement from government health administration authorities, private health insurers, pharmacy benefit managers and other organizations ofthe costs
ofour products and the continued reimbursement and coverage ofour products in such programs. Changes in government regulations or private third-party payors reimbursement policies may reduce reimbursement for our products. In addition,
such third-party payors may otherwise make the decision to reduce reimbursement of some or all our products or fail to cover some or all our products in such programs or assert that reimbursements were not in accordance with applicable
Tequirements. For example, these decisions may be based on the price ofour products or our current or former pricing practices and decisions. Any reduction or elimination ofsuch reimbursement or coverage could result ina negative impact on the
utilization ofour products and, as a result, could have a material adverseeffect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

‘Managed care organizations and other third-party payors try to negotiate the pricing ofmedical services and products to control their costs. Managed care organizations andpharmacy benefit managers typically develop formularies to reduce

from one managed care organization to another, and many formmlaries include alternative and competitive products for treatment ofparticular medical conditions. Failure to be included in such formmlaries or to achieve favorable formulary status
may negatively impact the utilization and market share of our products. Ifour products are not included within an adequate number of formularies or adequate reimbursement levels are not provided, or ifthose policies increasingly favor generic
products, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

At the beginning of2016, we launched a brand fulfillment arrangementwith Walgreen Co. ("Walgreens"), pursuant to whichwe have made certainofourdermatology and ophthalmologyproducts available to eligible patients through a patient
access and co-pay program available at Walgreens U.S. retail pharmacy locations, as well as participating independent retail pharmacies. We have, in the past, experienced certain operational and other issues respecting this arrangement, including
lower than anticipated average realized prices associated with these products through this arrangement. In July 2019, we entered into an amendment to the existing fulfillment agreement to address some of these issues. We cannot guarantee this
arrangement will continue to be successful in the future, nor can we guarantee that additional operational issues will not be encountered, nor can we guarantee that we will be able to successfully negotiate with Walgreens any improvements or
amendments to this arrangement we identify as necessary or desired. In addition, we cannotpredict how the market, includingcustomers, doctors,
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patients, pharmacy benefit managers and third-partypayors, or governmental agencies, will continue to react to these arrangements andprograms. Ifthis arrangement orprogram fails, ifthey do not achieve sufficient success and market acceptance, if
we face retaliation from third parties as a result ofthis arrangement andprogram (for example, in the form oflimitations on or exclusions fromthe reimbursement ofour products) or ifany part ofthis arrangement is found to be non-compliant with
applicable law or regulations, this could have a material adverse effect onour business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the marketvalue ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

In addition, in February 2019, we launched Dermatology.com, a cash-pay product acquisitionprogram offering certain branded Ortho Dermatologics products directly topatients. InMarch 2020, the name Dermatology.comwas removed as the
cash-pay product program name, with the name Dermatology.com limited to only online usage, including future digital teledermatology and e-commerce offerings. This program is designed to address the affordability and availability of certain

be successful or that we will contime to add new products to the program. In addition, we cannot predict how the market, including customers, doctors and patients will react to this program Ifthis program fails, if it does not achieve sufficient
success and market acceptance or ifanypart ofthis program is found to be non-compliantwithapplicable law orregulations, this couldhave a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

Risks Relating to the International Scope ofour Business

‘We conduct a significant portion ofour business outside the U.S. and Canada and may,in the future, expand our operations into new countries, including emerging markets. We sell our pharmaceutical and medical device products in many
countries around the world. All ofour foreign operations are subject to risks inherentin conductingbusiness abroad, including. among other things

+ difficulties im coordinating and managing foreign operations, including ensuring that foreign operations comply with foreign laws as well as Canadian and U.S.laws applicable to Canadian companies with U.S. and foreign operations,
such as export and sanctions laws and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the Canadian Corruption ofForeignPublic Officials Act, andotherapplicableworldwide anti-bribery laws;
price andcurrency exchange controls;

scarcity ofhard currency, including the U.S. dollar, whichmay require a transfer orloanoffunds to the operations in such countries, whichthey may notbe able to repay on a timelybasis;
litical and ic instability:

compliancewith economic sanctions laws and other laws that apply to our activities in the countries wherewe operate;
Jess established legal and regulatory regimes in certainjurisdictions, including as relates to enforcement ofanti-bribery and anti-corruption laws andthereliability ofthejudicial systems;
differing degreesofprotectionfor intellectual property;

new export license requirements;
adverse changes in tariffand trade protectionmeasures;

potentially negative consequences from changes in or interpretations oftax laws;

bu covernmental- es <credit marketuncertainty,
differing local practices, customs and cultures, some ofwhich may not alignor comply with ourCompany practices andpolicies orU.S. laws and regulations;
difficultieswith licensees, contract counterparties, orothercommercialparmers: and

As a result of changes to U.S. policy, there may be changes to existing trade agreements and greater restrictions on trade generally. On November 30, 2018, the United States, Canada and Mexico signed the United States-Mexico-Canada
Agreement
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(USMCA”) as an overhaul and update to the North AmericanFree Trade Agreement. It is difficult to anticipate the full impact ofthis agreement onour business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations.
‘Notwithstanding the USMCA, support for protectionism and rising anti-globalization sentiment in the United States and other countries may slow global growth In particular, a protracted and wide-ranging trade conflict between the United

‘States and China could adversely affect global economic growth. Concems also remain around the social, political and economic impacts of the changing political landscape in Europe, including the final outcome of Brexit (as defined below)
negotiations. In addition, there are growing concerns over an economic slowdown in emerging markets in light ofcapital outflows in favor of developed markets and expected interest rate increases. Broader geopolitical tensions remained high
gmongst the U_S., Russia, China, and across the Middle East.

operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.
‘Similarly, adverse economic conditions impacting our customers in these countries or uncertainty about global economic conditions could cause purchases ofour products to decline, which would adversely affect our revenmes and operating

results. Moreover, our projected revenues and operating results are based on assumptions concerning certain levels ofcustomer spending. Any failure to attain our projected revenues and operating results as a result of adverse economic or market
conditions couldhave a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows andresultsofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.
Due to thelargeportion ofourbusiness conductedin currency otherthan U.S. dollars, we have significantforeign currencyrisk.

‘We face foreign currency exposure on the translation into U.S. dollars of the financial results ofour operations in Europe, Canada, Latin America, Asia, Africa and the Middle East and other regions. Where possible, we manage foreign
ccurency risk by managing same currency revenue in relation to same currency expenses. We may also use derivative financial instruments from time to time to mitigate our foreign currency risk and not for trading or speculative purposes. We face
foreign currency exposure in those countries where we have revenue denominated in the local foreign currency and expenses denominated in other currencies. Both favorable and unfavorable foreign currency impacts to our foreign currency-
denominated operating expenses are mitigatedtoa certain extent by the natural, opposite impact on our foreign currency-denominated revenue. In addition, the repurchase ofourU.S. dollar denominated debt may result in foreign exchange gains or
losses for Canadian income tax purposes. One halfofany foreign exchange gains or losses will be included in our Canadian taxable income. Any foreign exchange gain will result in a correspondingreduction inouravailable Canadiantax attributes.
Further strengthening oftheU.S. dollar and/orthe devaluation ofother countries’ currencies could have a negative impact on ourreportedinternational revenue.
Development and Regulatory Risks
The successful development ofourpipelineproducts is highly uncertain andrequires significantexpenditures andtime. In addition, obtaining necessarygovernment approvalsis time-consuming andnotassured. Thefailure to commercialize
certain ofourpipelineproducts couldhaveamaterialadverse effect on ourbusiness,financial condition, cashflows andresults ofoperations and couldcause the marketvalue ofour common shares and/or debtsecurities to decline.

‘We currently have 2 number of pipeline products im development. We and our development partners, as applicable, conduct extensive preclinical studies and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of our pipeline
products in order to obtain regulatory approval for the sale ofour pipeline products. Preclinical studies and clinical trials are expensive, complex, can take many years and have uncertain outcomes. None of, or only a small number of, our research
and developmentprograms may actually result inthe commercializationofa product. We will not be able to commercialize our pipeline products ifpreclinical studies do notproduce successful results or ifclinical trials do not demonstrate safety and
efficacy in humans. Furthermore, success in preclinical studies or early-stage clinical trials does not ensure that later stage clinical trials will be successful nor does it ensure that regulatory approval for the product candidate will be obtained. In
addition, the process for the completion ofpre-clinical and clinical trials is lengthy and may be subject to a numberofdelays for various reasons, which would delay the commercialization ofany successful product. Ifour development projects are
not successful or are significantly delayed, we may not recover our substantial investments in the pipeline product and our failure to bring these pipeline products to market on a timely basis, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our
‘business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

In addition, FDA and HealthCanada approval must be obtained in the U.S. andCanada, respectively, EMA approval (drugs) and CEMarking (devices) mmstbe obtained in countries inthe EU and similar approvals must be obtained from
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comparable agencies in other countries, prior to marketing or manufacturing new pharmaceutical and medical device products for use by humans. Obtaining such regulatory approvals for new products and devices and manufacturing processes can
take a number ofyears and involves the expenditure of substantial resources. Furthermore, the Trump administration took several executive actions, including the issuance ofExecutive Orders, that could impose significant burdens on, or otherwise
materially delay, the FDAsabilityto engage in routine regulatory and oversight activities suchas issuance ofguidance and review andapproval ofmarketing applications. It is unclear how these executive actions will be implementedor whether they
will be rescinded orreplacedunder the Bidenadministration, and therefore their effects on the FDA approvalprocess cannot be determined atthis time.

Even if such products appearpromising in development stages, regulatory approval may not be achieved and no assurance can be given that we will obtain approval in those countries where we wish to commercialize such products. Nor can
amy assurance be given that if such approval is secured, the approved labeling will not have significant labeling limitations, including limitations on the indications for which we can market a product, or require onerous risk management programs.
Furthermore, from time to time, changes to the applicable legislation or regulations may be introduced that change these review and approval processes for our products, which changes may make it more difficult and costly to obtain or maintainregulatory approvals.
Ourmarketeddrugs willbesubjectto ongoingregulatory review.

Following initial regulatory approval of any products, we or our partners may develop or acquire, we will be subject to continuing regulatory review by various government authorities in those countries where our products are marketed or
intended to be marketed, including the review ofadverse drug events and clinical results that are reported after product candidates become commercially available. In addition, we are subject to ongoing audits and investigations ofour facilities and
products by the FDA, as well as otherregulatory agencies inandoutside the U.S.

Ifwe fail to comply with the regulatory requirements im those countries where our products are sold, we could lose our marketing approvals or be subject to fines or other sanctions. Also, as a condition to granting marketing approval of aproduct, the applicable regulatory agencies may require a company to conduct additional clinical trials or remediate Current Good Manufacturing Practice (“CGMP”) issues, the results ofwhich could result in the subsequent loss ofmarketing
approval, changes inproductlabeling or new or increased concerns about side effects or efficacy ofa product.

In May 2017, the European Commission published the Medical Device Regulation (MDR) 2017/745, which replaced the Medical Device Directive (MDD). Pursuant to the terms ofthe new regulations, in order to continne to market medical
device products in the EU, such products must achieve compliance with these new regulations and be re-registered in the EU within a specified transition period, which, for a portion of products, will end as early as May 26, 2021. These new
Tegulations impact allofourexistingandpipeline medical device products being sold inthe EU for whichwe are legal manufacturer and/ordistributor, including contact lens, lens care, eye-health, aesthetic and surgical areas, as well as certain ofour
products outside the EU, which rely on the EU registration to support registration in those other countries. These products, in the aggregate, account for a meaningful portion ofour net revenue in this region While we are working to ensure
compliance with these new regulations for all impacted products, we may not be able to achieve compliance for all products within the applicable transition period Ifwe fail to achieve compliance, we will not be able to market and sell the non-
compliant products in the EU, nor will we be able to rely on the non-compliant registration for such products in regions outside ofthe EU, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations in the EU and, possibly, on a consolidatedbasis, and couldcause the market valueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

In addition, incidents ofadverse drug reactions, unintended side effects or misuse relating to ourproducts could result in additional regulatorycontrols or restrictions, or even lead to the regulatory authority requiring us to withdraw the product
from the market. Further, iffaced with these incidents of adverse drug reactions, unintended side effects or misuse relating to our products, we may elect to voluntarily implement a recall or market withdrawal of our product. A recall or market
withdrawal, whether voluntary or requiredbya regulatory authority, may involve significant costs to us, potential disruptions in the supply ofour products to our customers and reputational harm to our products and business, all ofwhich could harm
our ability to market ourproducts and could have a material adverse effect onour business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour commonshares and/or debt securities to decline.
The UnitedKingdom's exitfrom the European Union may impactthe development andthe regulatory approvalandreviewofourproducts.

(On June 23, 2016, the United Kingdom held a referendum on its membership in the European Union, in which United Kingdomvoters approved an exit from the European Union (“Brexit”). On March 29, 2017, the United Kingdom formally
notified the European Council pursuant to Article 50 of the Treaty of Lisbon of its intention to leave the European Union. On January 31, 2020 (“Exit Day”), the United Kingdom ceased to be a member state of the European Union EU law
applicable to
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the UnitedKingdom continued to apply to and inthe United Kingdom for the duration ofa transition periodwhich expired on December 31, 2020 (the “Transition Period”). During the Transition Period, the European Union and the United Kingdom
negotiatedthe termsoftheir future relationship and on December 31, 2020 entered into a Trade and Cooperation Agreement, anAgreement on Nuclear Cooperationand anAgreement on Security Procedures for Exchanging and Protecting Classified
Information. Subject to certain exceptions, domestic law derived fromEU law, EU law directly applicable in the UK and EU rights, powers, liabilities and obligations recognized and available in the UK im each case immediately beforethe expiration
of the Transition Period was retained by the UK, but im the future UK law may diverge from EU law. Following the Brexit vote, the European Union moved the European Medicines Agency s headquarters from the United Kingdom to the
Netherlands, which could result in disruptions and delays in new drug approvals in the European Union. In addition, we could face new regulatory costs and challenges that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
cash flows andresultsofoperations.
‘Mannfacturing and Supply Risks
Ifwe or our third-party manufacturers are unable to manufacture ourproducts orthe manufacturingprocess is interrupted due tofailure to comply with regulations orfor other reasons, the interruption ofthe manufacture ofourproducts
couldadversely affect our business. Other manufacturingandsupply difficulties or delays may also have a material adverse effect on our business,financial condition, cashflows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common sharesand/or debtsecurities to decline.

Our manufacturing facilities and thoseofour contract manufacturers mustbe inspected and found to be in full compliance with CGMP, quality system management requirements or similar standards before approval for marketing. Compliance

clinical trials, imposition ofnew manufacturing requirements, closure offacilities and criminal prosecution. These enforcement actions could lead to a delay or suspension in production, which couldhave a material adverse effect on our competitive
Position, business, financial condition, results ofoperations and cash flows.

In addition, our manufacturing and other processes use complicated and sophisticated equipment, which sometimes requires a significant amount of time to obtain and install Manufacturing complexity, testing requirements and safety and
‘security processes combine to increase the overall difficulty of manufacturing these products and resolving manufacturing problems that we may encounter. Although we endeavor to properly maintain our equipment (and require our contract
manufacturers to properly maintain their equipment), including through on-site quality control and experienced manufacturing supervision, and have key spare parts on hand, our business could suffer ifcertain manufacturing or other equipment, or
all or a portion ofour or their facilities, were to become imoperable for a period oftime. We could experience substantial production delays or inventory shortages in the eventofany such occurrence until we or they repair such equipment or facility
or we or they build or locate replacement equipment or a replacement facility, as applicable, and seek to obtain necessary regulatory approvals for suchreplacement. Any interruption in our manufacture ofproducts could adversely affect the salesof
our Current products or introduction ofnew products and could have a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the marketvalue ofour common shares and/or debt securities todecline.

‘The supply ofour products to our customers (or, in some cases, supply from our contract manufacturers to us) is subject to and dependent upon the use oftransportation services. Disruption oftransportation services (including as a result of
weather conditions) could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and resultsofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline. In addition, any prolonged
disruption in the operations ofour existing distribution facilities, whether due to technical, labor or other difficulties, weather conditions, equipment malfunction, contamination, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, destruction ofor
damage to any facility or other reasons, couldhave a material adverse effect onourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/ordebt securities to decline.
For some ofourfinishedproducts and raw materials, we obtain supplyfrom one ora limitednumberofsources. Ifwe are unable to obtain components or raw materials, orproducts supplied by thirdparties, our ability to manufacture and
deliverourproducts to the market wouldbe impeded, which couldhaveamaterialadverse effectonour business,financial
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condition, cashflows and resultsofoperations andcouldcausethemarket value ofourcommon shares and/ordebtsecurities to decline.
‘Some components and raw materials used in our manufactured products, and some finished products sold by us, are curently available only from one ora limited number ofdomestic or foreign suppliers. For example, with respect to some of

our largestormost significant products, the supply ofthe finished product for each ofour Siliq®, Duobrii*, Bryhali*, Lumify*, Trulance*, Vyzulta®, SofLens*, Wellbutrin XL*, Ocuvite®, PreserVision®, Renu*®, Aplenzin®, Xenazine*, Relistor® Oral

available from a single source. In the event an existing supplier fails to supplyproduct on a timely basis and/or inthe requested amount, suppliesproduct that fails to meet regulatory requirements, becomes unavailable throughbusiness interruption orfinancial insolvency or loses its regulatory status as an approved source orwe are unable to renew current supply agreements when such agreements expire and we do not have a second supplier, we may be unable to obtain the required components,
Taw materials or products ona timely basis or at commercially reasonable prices. We attempt to mitigate these risks by maintaining safety stock ofthese products, but such safety stock may not be sufficient. In addition, im some cases, only a single

pharmaceutical ingredient,
the market value of our common shares and/or debt securities to decline. In addition, these third-party manufacturers may have the ability to increase the supply price payable by us for the manufacture and supply of our products, in some cases‘withoutourconsent.

As a result, our dependence upon others to mamufacture our products may adversely affect our profit margins and our ability to obtain approval for and produce our products on a timely and competitive basis, which could have a material
adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.
(Changes in inventory levelsorfluctuations in buyingpatterns by ourlarge distributorandretail customers mayadverselyaffectour sales andearnings andaddto salesvariabilityfrom quartertoquarter.

‘Webalance the need to maintain inventory levels thatare sufficient to ensure competitive lead times against the risk ofinventory obsolescence because ofchanging customer requirements, fluctuating commodity prices, changes to ourproducts,
product transfers or the life-cycle ofour products. In order to successfully manage our inventories, we must estimate demand from our customers and produce products that substantially correspond to that demand. Ifwe fail to adequately forecastdemand for any new or existing product, or fail to determine the appropriate product mix for production purposes, we may face production capacity issues in manufacturing sufficient quantities of a given product. In addition, failures in our
information technology systems orhumanerrorcouldalso lead to inadequate forecasting ofour overall demand orproduct mix

‘We have a significant number ofunique products, and we anticipate that number will continue to grow over time. As a result, the demand forecasting precision required for us to avoid production capacity issues will also increase, which could
‘increase the risk of product unavailability and lost sales. Additionally, an increasing number ofunique products could increase global inventory requirements, negatively impacting our working capital performance and leading to write-offs due to
obsolescence and expiredproducts.

‘Due to the lead times necessary to obtain and install new equipment and ramp up production ofproduct lines, ifwe fail to adequately forecast the need for additional manufacturing capacity, whether for new or existing products, we may be
‘unable to scale productionin a timely manner to meet demand for ourproducts. Inaddition, the technically complex manufacturing processes required to manufacture many ofourproducts increase the risk ofproduction failures, and can increase the
costofproducing our goods. As a result, because the productionprocess for many ofour products is so complex and sensitive, the cost ofproduction and the chance ofproduction failures and lengthy supply interruptions is increased, which can have
2 substantial impact on ourinventory levels.

Finally, 2 significant portion of our products are sold to major health care distributors and major retail chains in Canada, the United States and abroad. Consequently, our sales and quarterly growth comparisons, as well as our estimates for
required inventory levels, may be affected by fluctuations in the buying patterns ofmajor distributors, retail chains and other trade buyers. These fluctuations may result from seasonality, pricing, large retailers’ and distributors’ buying decisions or
other factors. Ifwe overestimate demand and produce too mmch ofa particular product, we face a risk ofinventory obsolescence, leaving us with inventory that we cannot sell profitably or at all. In addition, we may have to write down such
inventory ifwe are unable to sell it for its recorded value. Conversely, ifwe underestimate demand and produce insufficient quantities ofaproduct, we could be forced to produce thatproduct at a higher price and forego profitability in order tomeet
customer demand. Forexample, ifa competitor initiates a recall and there is an unexpected increase inthe demand forourproducts, we may notbe
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able to meet such increased demand Insufficient inventory levels may lead to shortages that result in loss ofsales opportunities altogether as potential end-customers turn to competitors’ products that are readily available. If any ofthese situations
occur frequently or in large volumes or ifwe are unable to effectively manage our inventory andthatofour distribution partners, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations andcould cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

‘Risks Relating to Specific Legislation and Regulations
We are subjectto various laws andregulations, including “fraud andabuse”laws, anti-bribery laws, environmental laws andprivacy and security regulations, andafailure to comply with such laws and regulations orprevail in any litigation
relatedto noncompliance couldhaveamaterial adverse effecton ourbusiness,financialcondition, cashflows andresultsofoperations andcouldcausethemarketvalueofourcommon shares and/ordebt securitiesto decline.

Pharmaceutical and medical device companies have faced lawsuits and investigations pertaining to violations ofhealth care “fraud and abuse” laws, such as the federal False Claims Act, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (“AKS™) and other
state and federal laws and regulations. The AKS prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering. paying, soliciting orreceiving remumerationto induce or m retum for purchasing. leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease

presented, a false claim for payment to the federal government. Pharmaceutical and medical device companies have been prosecuted or faced civil liability under these laws for a variety ofalleged promotional and marketing activities, including
engaging in off-label promotion that caused claims to be submitted for non-covered off-label uses. Ifwe are in violation ofany of these requirements or any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or
asserting our rights, this could haveasignificant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant criminal and civil fines and penalties, exclusion from federal health care programs or other sanctions, including consent orders or
corporate integrity agreements.

In addition, the U.S. Department ofHealth and Human Services Office of Inspector General recommends, and increasingly states require pharmaceutical companies to have comprehensive compliance programs. Moreover, the Physician
Payment Sunshine Act enacted in 2010 imposes reporting and disclosure requirements on device and drug manufacturers for any “transfer ofvalue” made or distributed to prescribers and other health care providers. Failure to submit this required
information may result in significant civil monetary penalties. While we have developed corporate compliance programs based on what we believe to be current best practices, we cannot provide assurance that we or our employees or agents are or
will be in compliance with all applicable federal, state or foreign regulations and laws. Ifwe are inviolation ofany ofthese requirements or any such actions are instituted againstus, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our
Tights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition ofsignificant criminal and civil fines and penalties, exclusion from federal health care programs or other sanctions, including consent orders or corporate
integrity agreements.

The U.S. FCPA and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to officials for the purpose ofobtaining or retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance
‘with these anti-bribery laws. We operate inmany parts ofthe world that have experienced governmental corruption and in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices or may require
‘Us to interact with doctors and hospitals, some ofwhich may be state controlled, ina manner that is different than in the U.S. and Canada. We cannot provide assurance that our internal controlpolicies and procedures will protect us fromreckless or
timinal acts committedby ouremployees, consultants, distributors, thirdparty contractors or agents. Violations ofthese laws, orallegations ofsuchviolations, could disrupt our business and result in criminal or civil penalties orremedial measures,
any ofwhich could have a material adverse effecton ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and couldcausethe marketvalueofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.

‘We are also subject to various state, federal and international laws and regulations governing the collection, transmission, dissemination, use, privacy, confidentiality, security, retention, availability, integrity and other processing of health-
elated and other sensitive and personal information, including HIPAA. Many states in which we operate have laws that protect the privacy and security ofsensitive and personal information, including health-related information. Certain state laws
may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to sensitive and personal information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may differ from each other, which may complicate
compliance efforts. For example, the CCPA imposes stringent data privacy and security requirements and obligations with respect to the personal information ofCalifornia residents and provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private
Tight ofaction for certain data breaches that result in the loss ofpersonal data that may increase the likelihood of, and risks associatedwith, data breach litigation. The effects on our business ofthe CCPA and other similar state laws are potentially
significant, and may requireus to
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modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply. State laws are changing rapidly and there is discussion in Congress ofa new federal data protection andprivacy law to whichwe
may be subject.

Internationally, laws and regulations in many jurisdictions apply broadly to the collection, transmission, dissemination, Use, privacy, confidentiality, security, retention, availability, integrity and other processing of health-related and other‘sensitive and personal information. For example, the GDPR, together with national legislation. regulations and guidelines ofthe EU member states and the United Kingdom governing the processing ofpersonal data, impose strict obligations and
Testrictions on the ability to collect, analyze, store, transfer and otherwise process personal data, including health data from clinical trials and adverse event reporting. The GDPR authorizes fines for certain violations ofup to 4% of global annual
Tevenue or€20 million, whichever is greater. European data protection authorities may interpret the GDPR and national laws differently and impose additional requirements, which contributes to the complexity ofprocessing personal data in or from
the EEA or United Kingdom. Guidance on implementation and compliance practices is often updated or otherwise revised. We are also subject to Canada's federal Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act and substantially
‘similar equivalents at the provincial level with respect to the collection, use and disclosure of personal information im Canada Such federal and provincial legislation impose data privacy and security obligations on our processing ofpersonal
information ofCanadian residents. The federal and Alberta legislation include mandatory data breach notificationrequirements. Canada s Anti-Spam Legislation (“CASL”) also applies to the extent that we send commercial electronic messages from
‘Canada or to electronic addresses in Canada. CASL contains prescriptive consent, form, content and unsubscribe mechanism requirements. Penalties for non-compliance with CASL are up to CAD $10 million per violation These laws and
Tegulations may be interpreted and applied differently over time and fromjurisdiction tojurisdiction, and it is possible they will be interpreted and applied in ways that will materially and adversely affect our business. The regulatory framework for
data privacy, data security and data transfers worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remainuncertain for the foreseeable future. Complying with all ofthese laws and regulations involves costs to ourbusiness, and failure to comply with these
laws and regulations can result in the imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties, as well as litigation, all ofwhich could have 2 material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could
cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline. Formore information regarding applicable data privacy and security laws and regulations, see Item 1. “Business — Government Regulations” ofthis Form 10-K_

‘We are also subject to U.S. federal laws regarding reporting and payment obligations with respect to our participation in federal health care programs, including Medicare and Medicaid. Because our processes for calculating applicable
government prices and thejudzments involved in making these calculations involve subjective decisions and complex methodologies, these calculations are subject to risk oferrors and differing interpretations. In addition, they are subject to review
and challenge by the applicable governmental agencies, and it ispossible that suchreviews could result in changes that couldhave material adverse legal, regulatory, or economic consequences.
Legislative or regulatory reform ofthe health care system may affect our ability to sell ourproductsprofitably andcouldhavea material adverse effect on our business,financialcondition, cashflows and results ofoperations andcould cause
themarketvalue ofourcommon shares and/ordebtsecurities to decline.

In the US.and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number oflegislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in ways that could impact our ability to sell our products profitably. The Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, 2s amended by the Health Care Reform Act may affect the operational results ofcompanies in the pharmaceutical and medical device industries, including the Company and other health care related industries, by imposing on
them additional costs. Effective January 1, 2010, the Health Care ReformAct increased the minimum Medicaid drugrebates forpharmaceutical companies, expanded the 340B drug discount program, and made changes to affect the Medicare Part D
coverage gap, or “donut hole.” The law also revised the definition of“average manufacturerprice” for reporting purposes, which may affect the amount ofour Medicaid drug rebates to states. Beginning in 2011, the law imposed a significant annual
fee on companies that manufacture or import branded prescription drug products. More recently, the Bipartisan Budget Act of2018 amended the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, effective January 1, 2019. to close the donut hole in most
‘Medicare drug plans. In addition, im April 2018, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services published a final rule that gives states greater flexibility in setting benchmarks for insurers in the individual and small group marketplaces, which may
Ihave the effect ofrelaxing the essential health benefits required under the PatientProtection andAffordable Care Act for plans soldthrough such marketplaces.

Although efforts at replacing the Health Care Reform Act have stalled in Congress, there are a number ofproposals that we expect to be introduced to Congress and put forth by the Biden administration, including proposals relating to drug
pricing and drug delivery reforms, that may result in further changes to the health care system that couldmaterially impact the Company. We cannot predict what those changes will be or whenthey will take effect, andwe could face additional nsks
arising fromsuch changes. Because ofthis continueduncertainty, the number ofproposals and the indeterminable position that
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the Biden administration may take with regard to the Health Care Reform Act, we cannot quantify or predict with any certainty the likely impact ofthese proposals on our business model, prospects, financial condition or results ofoperations, in
particular on the pricing, coverage or reimbursement of any ofour product candidates that may receive marketing approval. Additionally, policy efforts designed specifically to reduce patient out-of-pocket costs for medicines could result in new
mandatory rebates and discounts or other pricing restrictions. Legislative efforts relating to drug pricing, the cost ofprescription drugs under Medicare, the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, and government program
Teimbursement methodologies for drugs have been proposed and considered at the U.S. federal and state level. While some of these proposed measures will require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, Congress and the
administration have each indicated an intent to continue to seek new legislative or administrative measures to control drug costs. At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and implemented regulations designed to control

from other countries and bulk purchasing. We also anticipate that Congress, state legislatures, and third-party payors may continue to review and assess alternative health care delivery and payment systems and may in the future propose and adopt
legislation or policy changes or implementations effecting additional fundamental changes in the health care delivery system. We cannot provide assurance as to the ultimate content, timing, or effect of changes, nor is it possible at this time to

In 2019, the U.S. Health and Human Services Administration announced a preliminary plan to allow for the importation of certain lower-cost drugs from Canada. The preliminary plan excludes insulin, biological drugs, controlled substances
and intravenous drugs. The preliminary plan relies on individual states to develop proposals for safe importation ofthose drugs from Canada and submit those proposals to the federal government for approval. At this time, studies to evaluate the
Telated costs and benefits, evaluate the reasonableness ofthelogistics, andmeasure the public reactionofsucha plan have not beenperformed We cannot provide assurance as to the ultimate content, timing. effector impact ofsucha plan.

In 2019, the Government ofCanada (Health Canada) published im the Canadian Gazette the new pricing regulation forpatented drugs. These regulations will become effective on July 1, 2021. The new regulations will change the mechanics of
establishing the pricing forproducts submitted for approval after August 21, 2019; theywill also require full transparency ofdiscounts agreedwithprovincial bodies; and finally, will change the number and composition ofreference countries used to
determine ifa drug s price is excessive. While we do not believe this will have a significant impact on our future cash flows, as additional facts materialize, we cannot provide assurance as to the ultimate content, timing, effect or impact of such
Tegulations.

‘The HealthCareReformAct andfurtherchanges to health care laws orregulatory framework that reduce our revenues orincrease ourcosts could also have a material adverseeffect onour business, financial condition. cash flows and results of
operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.
We are subject to a broad range ofenvironmental laws and regulations and may be subject to environmental remediation obligations under such safety and related laws and regulations. The impact ofthese obligations and the Company’s
ability to respondeffectively to them may havea material adverse effect on our business,financialcondition, cashflows andresultsofoperationsandcouldcause the marketvalueofour common shares and/or debtsecurities to decline.

‘We are subject to a broad range offederal, state, provincial and local environmental laws and regulations concerning the environment, safety matters, regulation ofchemicals and product safety in the countries where we manufacture and sell
our products or otherwise operate our business. These requirements include, among other matters, regulation of the handling, manufacture, transportation, storage, use and disposal of materials, including the discharge of pollutants, hazardous
substances andwaste into the environment. In the normal course ofourbusiness, such substances andwaste may be released into the environment, which could cause environmental or property damage orpersonal injuries, andwhich could subjectus
to remediation obligations regarding contaminated soil and groundwater, potential liability for damage claims or to social or reputational harm and other similar adverse impacts. Under certain laws, we may be required to remediate contamination at
certain ofour properties regardless ofwhether the contamination was causedby us orby previous occupants ofthe property orby others andatthird-party siteswherewe sendwaste.

In recent years, the operations ofall companies have become subject to increasingly stringent legislation and regulation related to environmental protection Such legislation and regulations are complex and constantly changing. Future events,
such as changes in existing laws or regulations or the enforcement thereofor the discovery ofcontamination at our facilities may, among other things, require ws to install additional controls for certainofour emission sources, undertake changes in
our manufacturing processes, remediate soil or groundwater contamination at facilities where suchcleanup is not currently required or to take action to address social expectations or concerns arising from or relating to suchchanges and our response
to such changes. The costofsuch additional compliance or remediationobligations or responding to such social expectations or concerns may be significant and couldhave a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and
Tesults ofoperations and couldcause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.
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Other Risks

In recent years, shareholder activism involving corporate governance, fiduciary duties ofdirectors and officers, strategic direction and operations has become increasingly prevalent. One ofour investors, which owns approximately 7.8% ofour
outstanding common shares, filed a Schedule 13D withthe SEC in February 2021, inwhich it was indicated that the investor intendedto engage im discussions with our management andboard regarding ways to enhance shareholdervalue, including
our ongoing strategic review and that it may also seek board representation. Another ofour investors, which owns approximately 6%ofour outstanding common shares, filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC in July 2020, in which it indicated that it
intended to consider, explore and/or develop plans and/or make proposals respecting, among other things, our businesses, assets, operations, and strategy, and to explore ways to strengthen the company and enhance shareholder value. In February
2021, this investor also sent the Company a public letter, in which it stated that the proposed Separation shouldbe completed by the endof2021 and recommended, among otherthings, the divestiture ofcertain ofourbusinesses and assets.

In the event such investors continue topursue such proposals or we become the subject ofadditional shareholder activism, this may create a significant distraction for our management and employees. This could negatively impact our ability to
execute our business plans (including the Separation) and may require our management to expend significant time, resources andcosts, including legal fees and other expenses incurred in connection with any proxy contest that may result from any
such shareholder activism. Furthermore. ifindividuals are elected to our Boardwith a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively implement our business strategy and create additional value for our shareholders andcould lead
‘us to adopt other plans that we cannot predict and which could focus on short-term benefits with longer-term costs. Such shareholder activism may also create uncertainties with respect to our financial position and operations, may adversely affect
our ability to attract and retain key employees and may result in loss ofpotential business opportunities with our current and potential customers and business parmers, any ofwhich could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, cash flows and results ofoperations. In addition, such shareholder activism may cause significant fluctuations in our share price based on temporary or speculative market perceptions, uncertainties or other factors that do not necessarily
Teflect the underlying fundamentals and prospects ofour business, and could cause the market value of our common shares to decline. While we will remain responsive to shareholder demands, there is no assurance that we will achieve their
objectives, or that doing sowill decrease the likelihoodofactivist shareholder engagement in the future.

‘Goodwill andintangible assets represent a significantportionofour total assets. Finite-lived intangible assets are subject to animpairment analysiswheneverevents orchanges incircumstances indicate the carrying amount ofthe asset may not
be recoverable. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, ormore frequently ifevents or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset maybe impaired. Ifimpairment exists, we wouldbe required to take an
impairment chargewith respectto the impaired asset.

For example, in 2020, 2019 and 2018, we recognized impairments, including a loss on assets held for sale, to finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangible assets of $114 million, $75 million and $568 million, respectively. These asset
impairments were primarily attributable to (i) assets being classified as held for sale and (ii) revisions in sales forecasts associated with discontinuances, generic competition and other market forces. In addition to impairments to finite-lived and
indefinite-lived intangible assets, in 2018, we recognized goodwill impairments of $2,322 million. These impairments to goodwill were primarily the result of (i) the adoption ofnew accounting guidance in 2018 and (ii) revisions to forecasts to
certain reporting units, as a resultofchanging business dynamics andmarket conditions. There were no goodwill impairments in 2020 and 2019.

‘The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2020. No impairment to the goodwill ofany reporting unit was identified Ifmarket conditions deteriorate, or ifthe Company is unable to execute its strategies, it
may be necessary torecordimpairment charges in the future.

See Note 5, "FAIRVALUEMEASUREMENTS" andNote 8, "INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL"toour audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements for further informationon these impairmentcharges.
Events giving rise to impairment are difficult to predict, including the uncertainties associated with the launchofnew products, and are an inherent risk in the pharmaceutical and medical device industries. As a result of the significance of

goodwill and intangible assets, our financial condition and results ofoperations ina future period could be negatively impacted should such an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets occur, which could cause the market value ofour common
shares and/or debt securities to decline. We may be required to take additional impairment charges in the future and such impairment charges maybe material.
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We have becomeincreasingly dependent on information technology systems andinfrastructure andany breakdown, interruption, breach orother compromiseofourorour third-party vendors information technology systems couldsubject us
to liability or interruptthe operation ofour business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,fmancial condition, cashflows andresults ofoperations andcould cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debtSecurities to decline.

‘systems and infrastructure on whichwe depend. including thoseofthird parties, will continue to meet our current and future business needs or adequately safeguard our operations. Furthermore, modification, upgrade or replacement ofsuch systems
and infrastructure may be costly or out ofour control.

Any failure to so modify, upgrade or replace such systems and infrastructure, any disruptions that occur during the process of such modification, upgrade or replacement and/or any breakdown, interruption or corruption ofthe information
technology systems and infrastructure on which we rely could create system disruptions, shutdowns, delays in generating or the corruption ofdata and information or other disruptions that could result in negative financial, operational, business or
Teputational consequences forus.

‘The size and complexity ofthe informationtechnology systems and infrastructure on which we rely makes such systems and infrastructure potentiallyvulnerable to internal or external inadvertentor intentional security breaches, including as a

resultofPrivate or state-sponsored cybercrimes, terrorism, war, malware, ransomware, human error, system malfunction, telecommmumication and electrical failures, natural disaster, fire, misplaced or lost data, socially engineered breaches or otheri ‘events.

In addition, during the normal course ofour business operations, including through the use of information technology systems and infrastructure, we are involved in the collection, transmission, use, retention and other processing of sensitive,
confidential, non-public orpersonal data andinformation in Canada, theUnited States and abroad.

Cyber-attacks are increasing in frequency, sophistication and intensity and are made by groups and individuals with a wide rangeofmotives and expertise. Cyber-attacks could include the deployment ofharmful malware, ransomware, denial-
of-service attacks, worms, social engineering, improper modification ofinformation, fraudulent “phishing” e-mails and other means to affect service reliability or threaten data confidentiality, integrity or availability. Techniques used in these attacks
are often highly sophisticated, change frequently andmay be difficult to detect forlongperiods oftime.

‘We have established physical, electronic and organizational measures intended to safeguard and secure our systems to prevent a compromise and policies and procedures designed to provide for the timely investigation of cybersecurity

and storage ofdigital information.
‘While we attempt to take appropriate security and cybersecurity measures to protect our information technology systems and infrastructure (including any confidential or other sensitive information) and to prevent and detect breakdowns,

unauthorized breaches and cyber-attacks, we cannot guarantee that such measures will be successful and that breakdowns and breaches of, or attacks on, our systems and data, or those ofthird parties uponwhichwe rely, will be prevented. Any such
incidents, orthe public perception that we or any thirdparty uponwhichwe rely have suffered such an incident, may cause business interruption and damage ourreputationwithcustomers, employees and thirdparties with whomwe do business, and
‘we may suffer litigation, financial damage, regulatory investigations, enforcement, orders and other actions, which could result in injunctions, fines and penalties, as well as costs relating to investigation ofan incident, corrective actions, required
notification, credit monitoring services and other expenses, andcould have a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations.

In addition, we provide confidential and other sensitive information to third parties when necessary to pursue our business objectives. While we obtain assurances that these third parties will protect this information and, where appropriate,
monitor the protections employed by these thirdparties, there is a risk that the confidentiality ofinformation heldby third parties, including trade secrets and sensitive personal information, maybe compromised, including as a result ofcybersecurity
breaches, breakdowns or other incidents. Ifpersonal information ofour customers or employees is misappropriated, our reputation with our customers and employees may be injured, resulting in loss ofbusiness and/or morale. Any such incidents
could require us to incurcosts to remediate possible injury to our customers and employees, to further improve ourprotective
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measures or to pay fines or take other actionwith respect to litigation,judicial or regulatory actions arising outofsuch incidents, which may be significant
‘While we maintain insurance against some of these risks, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover the financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may result from a breakdown, breach, cyber-attack or other compromise ofor

‘interruption to our information technology systems and infrastructure or confidential and other sensitive information. We also cannot ensure that any limitation of liability or indemmity provisions in our contracts, including with vendors and service
Providers, for a security lapse or breach or other security incident would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from any liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim Any ofthe foregoing could have a material

The Company’s ability to effectively monitor and respond to the rapidand ongoing developments andexpectations relating to environmental, social andgovernance (“ESG”) matters, including related social expectations and concerns, may
impose unexpected costs on the Company or result in reputational orother harm to the Company that couldhavea material adverse effect on our business,financialcondition, cashflows and results ofoperations and could cause the market
valueofour common shares and/or debtsecurities to decline.

Ifthe Company is not able to adequately recognize and respond to the rapid and ongoing developments and governmental and social expectations relating to ESGmatters such as climate change and access to health care and affordable drugs,
this failure could result in missed corporate opportunities for the Company, additional regulatory, social or other scrutiny ofthe Company and its businesses, the imposition ofunexpected costs on the Company or in damage to the reputation ofthe
‘Company or its various brands with governments, customers, employees, third parties and the communities in which we operate, in each case that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.
The restatement ofourpreviously issuedfinancial statements was time-consuming andexpensive and couldexpose us to additional risks that could havea material adverse effect on our business,financial condition, cashflowsandresults of
operations andcouldcause themarketvalueofour common shares and/ordebt securitiesto decline.

‘We restated our previously issued audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 and the unaudited financial information for the quarters ended December 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015. This restatement and
the reviewofthe misstatements that necessitated the restatement was time consuming andexpensive and could expose us to potential claims and additional risks that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations and could cause the market value of our common shares and/or debt securities to decline. In particular, we could be subject to further shareholder litigation and additional governmental investigations and proceedings in
connection with the restatements or related other matters. Ifwe do not prevail in any such proceedings, we could be required to pay substantial damages or settlement costs. In addition, although the remediation ofthe material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting that contributed to the material misstatements in the Consolidated Financial Statements previously described has been completed, ifour remedial measures were insufficient to properly and fully address the
material weaknesses, or ifadditional material weaknesses in our internal controls are discovered or occur in the future, it may materially adversely affect our ability to report our financial condition and results ofoperations ina timely and accuratemanner and there will contime to be an increasedrisk offuturemisstatements.

We have enteredinto distribution agreements with other companies to distribute certain ofourproductsat supplyprices basedon net sales. Declines in thepricing and/orvolume, over which we have no or limitedcontrol, ofsuchproducts, and
therefore the amountspaidto us, couldhaveamaterialadverse effectonourbusiness,financialcondition, cashflows andresults ofoperations andcouldcause the marketvalueofour common shares and/or debtsecurities to decline.

Certain ofour products are the subject ofthird-partydistributionor sublicense agreements, pursuant to whichwe may manufacture and sell products to othercompanies, which distribute such products in return for a royalty ora supply price, in
bothcases whichare often based on net sales. Our ability to control pricing and volume ofthese products may be limited and, in some cases, these companies make all distribution and pricing decisions independently ofus. Ifthepricing orvolumeof
such products declines, our revenues would be adversely impactedwhich could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/ordebt securities to decline

The illegaldistribution andsaleofcounterfeitversionsofourproducts may reducedemandforourproductsor haveanegative impacton the reputation ofourproducts, which couldhaveamaterialadverse effectonourbusiness,financial
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condition, cashflows and resultsofoperations andcouldcausethemarket value ofourcommon shares and/ordebtsecurities to decline.
‘Third parties may illegally distribute and sell counterfeit versions ofour products, which do not meet or adhere to the rigorous quality, safety, manufacturing, storage and handling standards and regulations that apply to our products. The

prevalence ofcounterfeit products is a growing industry-wide issue due to thewidespread use ofthe Internet, which has greatly facilitated the ease bywhich counterfeitproducts canbe advertised, purchased and delivered. The discovery ofsafety or
efficacy issues, adverse events or even death orpersonal injury associated with or caused by counterfeit products may be attributed to ourproducts and may cause reputational harm to ourproducts orthe Company. We may notbe able to detect or, if
detected, prevent or prohibit the sale ofsuch counterfeit products. As a result, the illegal sale or distribution ofcounterfeit products may negatively impact the demand for and sales of ourproducts, which could have a material adverse effect on our

Ourrevenuesandprofits couldbe reducedbyimportsfrom countries where ourproducts are availableatlowerprices.
Prices for ourproducts are based on local market economics and competition and differ from country to country. Our sales incountries with relatively higherprices may be reduced ifproducts canbe imported into those or other countries from

lower price markets. If this happens with our products, our revenues and profits may be adversely affected, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations and could cause themarket valueofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.

Ourpolicies regarding returns, allowances andchargebacks, andmarketingprogramsadoptedby wholesalers, mayreduce ourrevenuesinfuturefiscalperiods.
‘Weprovide certain rebates, allowances, chargebacks and other credits to our customers with respect to certain ofourproducts. For example, we make payments or give credits to certainwholesalers for the difference between the invoice price

paid to us by our wholesaler customer for a particular product and the negotiated price that such wholesaler sells such products to its hospitals, group purchasing organizations, pharmacies or other retail customers. We also give certain of our
customers credits on our products that such customers hold in inventory after we have decreased the WAC prices of such products, such credit being for the difference between the old and new price. In addition, we also implement and maintain
Tetums policies, pursuant to which our customers may retum product to us in certain circumstances in return for a credit. Although we establish reserves based on our prior experience, wholesaler data, then-current on-hand inventory, our best
estimates of the impact that these policies may have in subsequent periods and certain other considerations, we cannot ensure that our reserves are adequate or that actual product returns, rebates, allowances and chargebacks will not exceed our
estimates, whichcouldhave a material adverse effect onour business, financial condition, cash flows andresults ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common shares and/or debt securities to decline.
We may experiencedeclines in sales volumes orprices ofcertain ofourproductsas the resultofthe concentration ofsales to wholesalers andthe continuing trendtowards consolidation ofsuch wholesalers andother customergroups andthis
couldhavea materialadverse effecton ourbusiness,financialcondition, cashflowsandresultsofoperations andcouldcausethemarket valueofour common shares and/ordebt securitiesto decline.

For certainofourproducts, a significant portion ofour sales are to a relatively small numberofcustomers. Ifourrelationshipwith one or more ofsuch customers is disrupted orchanges adversely or ifone or more ofsuch customers experience
financial difficulty or other material adverse changes in their businesses, it could materially and adversely affect oursales and financial results, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations and could cause the market value ofourcommon shares and/or debt securities to decline.

product pricingpressures facing our business. The result ofthese developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations and could cause the market value ofour common sharesand/or debt securities to decline.

We have variousindemnity agreements and indemnityarrangements inplace, which may resultinan obligation to indemnify or reimbursethe relevant counterparty, which amounts may be material.
All directors and/or officers ofthe Company, and each ofits various subsidiary entities, are indemmified by the Company in respect oftheir service as directors and/or officers, subject to certain restrictions. We have purchased directors and

officers liability insurance to mitigate the cost ofanypotential future lawsuits or actions. The maximum amount ofany potential futurepayment cannot bereasonably estimatedbut couldhave a material adverse effect on the Company.

 

Exhibit 2160

Page 052 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 053 of 168

In the normal course ofbusiness, we have entered or may enter into agreements that include indemmities in favor ofthird parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, license agreements, engagement letters with advisors and consultants and
‘various product and service agreements. These indemmification arrangements mayrequire us to compensate counterparties forlosses incurredby the counterparties as a resultofbreaches in representations, covenants andwarranties providedbyus or
as a result of litigation or other third-party claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparties as a consequence of the relevant transaction In some imstances, the terms of these indemmities are not explicitly defined We,
wheneverpossible, try to limit this potential liability within the particular agreement or contract, but due to the unpredictability offuture events the maximum amount of any potential reimbursement cannot be reasonably estimated, but could have a
material adverseeffect onthe Company.
General Risk Factors

Our operating results and financial condition may fluctuate from quarter to quarter for a number of reasons. In addition, our stock price can be volatile. The following events or occurrences, among others, could cause fluctuations in our
financial performance and/or stock price fromperiod to period

development and launchofnew competitiveproducts;
the timing and receiptofFDA andotherregulatory approvals or lack ofapprovals;
costs relatedtobusiness development transactions;
changes in the amount we spend to promoteour products;
delays between our expenditures to acquire new products, technologies orbusinesses andthe generation ofrevenues from those acquiredproducts, technologies orbusinesses;
changes in treatmentpractices ofphysicians that curentlyprescribe certain ofourproducts;
‘incteases in the costofraw materials used to manufacture ourproducts;
FDA or other regulatory actions relating to our manufacturers or suppliers;
manufacturing and supply interruptions;
ourresponses toprice competition;
new legislation thatwould control or regulate the prices ofdrugs;
3 protracted andwide-ranging trade conflictbetween theUnited States and China;
expenditures as a result oflegal actions (and settlements thereof). including the defense ofour patents and other intellectual property;
marketacceptance ofourproducts;
the timing ofwholesaler and distributor purchases and success ofour wholesaler and distributor arrangements;

changes in seasonality ofdemand for certainofourproducts;
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
changes to, or the confidence in, our business strategy;
changes to, or the confidence in, our management: and
expectations for future growth

As a result, quarter-to-quarter comparisons of results from operations, or any other similar period-to-period comparisons, may not be reliable indicators of our future performance. In any quarterly period, our results may be below the
expectations ofmarket analysts andinvestors, whichcouldcause the marketvalue ofour commonshares and/or debt securities to decline.
Item 1B. Unresolved StaffComments

None.

Item 2. Properties
‘We own and lease a number of important properties. Our headquarters and one of our manufacturing facilities are located in Laval, Quebec. We own several manufacturing facilities throughout the U.S. We also own or have an interest in

manufacturing plants or otherproperties outside theU.S., including in Canada, Mexico, and certain countries in Europe, NorthAfrica, Asia and SouthAmerica.
‘We consider our facilities to be in satisfactory condition and suitable for their intendeduse, although some limited investments to improve our manufacturing and other related facilities are contemplated, based onthe needs and requirements of

our business. Ouradministrative, marketing, research/laboratory, distributionand warehousing facilities are located invarious partsofthe world. We co-locate our R&D activities with ourmanufacturing at the plant level in a number offacilities. Our
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‘scientists, engineers, quality assurance/quality control professionals and manufacturing technicians work side-by-side in designing and manufacturingproducts that fit the needs andrequirements ofourcustomers, regulators andbusiness units.
‘Webelieve that wehave sufficient facilities to conduct ouroperations during 2021. Our facilities in aggregate are over 10 million square feet and include, among others, the following listofprincipalproperties by segment

Location pre ttt FateCorporate &Administration
Laval, Quebec, Canada Corporateheadquarters, R&D, mamufacturingandwarehouse facility Owned 338,000
Bridgewater, New Jersey istratis Leased 310,000Bausch + Lomb/International
Rochester,NewYork Offices, R&D and manufacturing facility Owned 953,000

El Obour City, Ezypt™ Offices, R&D, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 630,000
JeleniaGora, Poland Offices, R&D, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 521,000
Waterford, Ireland RAD and manufacturing facility Owned 500,000
‘Woodruff, South Carolina Distributionfacility Leased 432,000
Jian, China (Offices and manufacturing facili Owned 418,000
Rzeszow, Poland Offices, R&D, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 380,000
Berlin, Germany ‘Manufacturing, distribution andoffice facility Owned 339,000
Greenville, South Carolina ‘Manufacturing and distribution facility Owned 314,000

Aubenas, France (Offices, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 148,000
Macherio, Italy Offices, R&D, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 119,000
Beijing. China Warehouse facility and distribution Owned 97,000Salix
‘Steinbach, Manitoba. Canada (Offices, manufacturingandwarehousefacility Owned 241,000

()—AileaweforasecondbuildinginBridgewater,Now Jersey was tignedin 2015 andwas not inchnded in the square footage chown im the table above as the Company noveroccupied the secondbuilding In 2016, the Companycomchaded that itwould not occupythe secondbuilding andrecognized thoappropriate chargeforall farurerent: das,netoftheanticipated rub-let incomeatiociatedwith the wecondbuilding.
(2) —This property ispartofabusinesswithinourBausch Lomb/Intarnational segmentbusinesswhich, as ofDocamber31, 2020, is classifiedasheldfor sale. SeeNote3, “ACQUISITIONS, LICENSINGAGREEMENTS ANDASSETS HELD FOR SALE™toourauditedComsolidatedFinancial Statamentsforadditionalinformation

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
See Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements fordetails on legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PARTI

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer PurchasesofEquity Securities
Market Information

Our common shares are traded on the NewYork Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and onthe Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “BHC”.
Market Price Volatility ofCommon Shares

unrelated to the operating performance ofparticular companies. Factors such as fluctuations in our operating results, the aftermath ofpublic announcements by us or by others about us, changes in our executive management, changes in ourbusiness
strategy, concern as to the safety ofdrugs and medical devices, the commencement or outcome of legal or governmental proceedings, changes in our ability to access credit markets, changes in the cost of capital, investigations or inquiries, and
general market conditions can have an adverse effect on the market price of our common shares and other securities. For example, during 2015 and 2016, we experienced significant fluctuations and decreases in the market price of our common
shares as a result of, among other things, legal and governmental proceedings and investigations with respect to certain ofour distribution, marketing, pricing. disclosure and accounting practices, rising interest rates and certain public allegations
made by short sellers andother thirdparties relating to certain ofthese matters. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K for additional information.
Holders

‘The approximate numberofholders ofrecord ofourcommon shares asofFebruary 18, 2021 was 1,834.
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Performance Graph
‘The following performance graphs compare the cumulative total return ona $100 investment on December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, assuming reinvestment ofall dividends, in (i) our common shares, (ii) the S&P 500 Index, (iii) the

S&P/TSX Composite Index and (iv) a composite peer group of 11 major U.S. based pharmaceutical companies for the four and five years ended December 31, 2020. The composite peer group of 11 major U.S. based pharmaceutical companies

Five YearPerformance - Cumulative total return on a$100 investmenton December 31 2015
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Prior to 2016, the Company completed a series ofmergers andacquisitions, which, at the time, were in-line with the Company's stratezy for growth. However, inresponse to changing business dynamics within our Company, we recognizedthe
eedto change our focus in order to build a world-class health organization To do so, in 2016, we retained a new executive team, which, in 2017, implemented a multi-year plan to stabilize, tumaround and transform our Company. The performance
gzaphbelow ofcumulative total return asofDecember 31, 2016 isprovided to coincide with the implementation ofthe Company's turmaround strategies in2017 to focus onour core businesses, eye-health, GI and dermatology.

Four YearPerformance - Cumulative totalreturn ona $100 investmenton December 31 2016
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As ofDecember 31,
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

BauschHealth CompaniesInc. $100 $143 $27 $206 4
S&P 500 $100 $122 $116 $153 sis
S&P/TSX Composite $100 $109 399 $122 $129
PeerGroup $100 sis $123 $149 $164

No dividends were declared or paid in 2020, 2019 or 2018. While our Board ofDirectors will review our dividend policy periodically, we curently do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our Restated
CreditAgreement and indentures include restrictions on the payment ofdividends. SeeNote 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS" to ourauditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for further details regarding these restrictions.
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Restrictions on Share Ownership by Non-Canadians
‘There are no limitations under the laws ofCanada or in our organizational documents on the right offoreigners to hold or vote securities ofour Company, except that the Jrvestment CanadaAct (Canada) (the “Investment Canada Act”) may

Tequire review and approval by the MinisterofInnovation, Science and Economic Development (Canada) (the “Minister”) ofan acquisition of“control” ofour Company by a “non-Canadian”.
Investment CanadaAct

An acquisitionofcontrol ofa Canadian business by a non-Canadian is either reviewable (a “Reviewable Transaction”), inwhich case it is subject to both a reporting obligation andanapproval process, or notifiable. in which case it is subject to
only a reporting obligation. In the case ofa Reviewable Transaction, the non-Canadianacquirer must submit an application for review withthe prescribed information The Minister is thenrequired to determine whetherthe Reviewable Transaction is
likely to be ofnetbenefit to Canada, taking into account the assessment factors specified inthe Investment CanadaAct and any writtenundertakings that may havebeen givenby the non-Canadian acquirer.

‘The Investment Canada Act provides that any investment by a non-Canadian in a Canadian business, even where control has not been acquired, can be reviewed on grounds of whether it may be injurious to national security. Where an
investment is determined tobe injurious to national security, Cabinet can prohibitclosing or, ifclosed, can order the investor to divest control. Short ofa prohibition or divestment order, Cabinet can impose terms or conditions on the investment or
(Can require the investor to provide bindingundertakings to remove the national security concern
Competition Act

Part IX ofthe Competition Act (Canada) (the “Competition Act”) requires that a pre-merger notification filing be submitted to the Commissioner ofCompetition (the “Commissioner™) in respect ofcertain classes of merger transactions that
exceedcertainprescribedthresholds. Ifa proposed transaction exceeds such thresholds, subject to certain exceptions, the notification filing must be submitted to the Commissioner and the statutory waiting periodmmst expire or be terminated early or
waived by the Commissioner before the transaction canbe completed.

All mergers, regardless ofwhether they are subject to Part IX ofthe Competition Act, are subject to the substantive mergers provisions under Section 92 of the Competition Act. In particular, the Commissioner may challenge a transaction
before the Competition Tribunal where the transaction prevents or lessens, or is likely to prevent or lessen, competition substantially in a market. The Commissioner may not make an application to the Competition Tribunal under Section 92 ofthe

Exchange Controls
‘Canada has no system ofexchange controls. There are no Canadian exchange restrictions on the repatriation ofcapital or earnings ofa Canadianpublic company to non-resident investors. There are no Canadian exchange restrictions affecting

the remittance ofdividends, profits, interest, royalties and otherpayments to non-resident holders ofour securities.
Taxation
Canadian FederalIncome Taxation

‘The following discussion is a summary ofthe principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable to a holder ofour common shares who, at all relevant times, for purposes ofthe Income TaxAct (Canada) and the Income
Tax Regulations (collectively, the “Canadian TaxAct”) deals at arm s-lengthwith, and is not affilistedwith, our Company, beneficially owns its common shares as capital property, does notuse or hold and is not deemed to use orhold such common
shares in carrying on a business in Canada, does not with respect to common shares enter into a “derivative forward agreement” as defined in the Canadian Tax Act, and who, at all relevant times, for purposes ofthe application of the Canadian
TaxAct and the Canads-U_S. Income Tax Convention (1980, as amended) (the “U.S. Treaty”), is resident in the U.S., is not, and is not deemed to be, resident in Canada and is eligible for benefits under the U.S. Treaty (a “U.S. Holder”). Special
Tales, which are not discussed in the summary, may apply to a non-resident holder that is an insurer that carries onan insurance business inCanada and elsewhere orthat is an “authorized foreignbank” as defined imthe CanadianTaxAct.

The U_S. Treaty includes limitation onbenefits rules that restrict the ability ofcertain persons who are resident in the U.S. to claim any or all benefits under the U.S. Treaty. Furthermore, limited liability companies (“LLCs”) that are not taxed
as Corporations pursuant to the provisions ofthe U.S. Internal Revenue Codeof 1986, 2s amended do not generally qualify as resident in the U.S. forpurposesofthe U.S. Treaty. Under the U.S. Treaty, a resident ofthe U.S. who is a memberofsuch
anLLC andis otherwise eligible forbenefits undertheU.S. Treaty may generallybe entitled to claim benefits under the
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US. Treaty inrespectofincome, profits or gains derivedthrough the LLC. Residents oftheU.S. should consult theirown tax advisors with respect to their eligibility forbenefits underthe U.S. Treaty, havingregardtothese rules.
‘This summary is basedupon the current provisions ofthe U.S. Treaty and the Canadian Tax Act and ourunderstanding ofthe current administrative policies and assessing practices ofthe Canada Revenue Agency published in writing prior to

the date hereof. This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the U.S. Treaty and the Canadian Tax Act publicly announced by or on behalfofthe Minister ofFinance (Camada) prior to the date hereof. This summary does not
otherwise take into account or anticipate changes in law or administrative policies and assessing practices, whether byjudicial, regulatory, administrative or legislative decision or action, nor does it take into account provincial, territorial or foreign

‘This summaryis ofa general nature only and is notintended to be, nor should itbeconstrued to be, legalor tax advice generallyor to any particular holder. Holders should consult their own tax advisorswith respect to their own
particular circumstances.

In general, a U.S. Holder will not be subject to tax under the Canadian TaxAct on capital gains arising on the disposition of such holder s common shares unless the common shares are “taxable Canadian property” to the U.S. Holder and are
‘Bot “treaty-protected property”.

As long as the common shares are then listed on a “designated stock exchange”, whichcurrently includes the NYSE and TSX, the common shares generally will not constitute taxable Canadianproperty ofa U.S. Holder, unless (a) at any time
during the 60-monthperiod preceding the disposition, the U.S. Holder, persons not dealing at arm s length with such U.S. Holder or the U.S. Holder together with all such persons, owned 25% or moreofthe issued shares ofany class or series ofthe
capital stock ofthe Company and (b) more than 50% ofthe fair market valueofthe common shares was derived, directly or indirectly, from any combination of (i) real or immoveable property situated in Canada, (ii) “Canadian resource property”
(@s such term is defined in the Canadian TaxAct), (iii) “timber resource property” (as such term is defined in the Canadian TaxAct) or (iv) options in respect of, or interests in, or for civil law rights in, any such properties whether ornot theproperty
exists or the common shares are otherwise deemed to be taxable Canadianproperty.

‘Common shares will be treaty-protected property where the U.S. Holder is exempt from income tax under the Canadian TaxAct on the disposition ofcommon shares because of the U.S. Treaty. Common shares owned by a U.S. Holder will
generally be treaty-protected property where thevalue ofthe common shares is not derivedprincipally from real property situatedin Canada, as defined in the U.S. Treaty.
Dividends on Common Shares

Dividends paid or credited on the common shares or deemed to be paid or credited on the common shares to a U.S. Holder that is the beneficial owner of such dividends will generally be subject to non-resident withholding tax under the
‘CanadianTaxActand the U.S. Treaty at the rateof (a) 5% ofthe amounts paidor credited iftheU.S. Holder is a company thatowns (or is deemed to own) at least 10% ofour voting stock or(6) 15% ofthe amounts paid or credited im all othercases.
The rate ofwithholdingunder the Canadian TaxAct in respect ofdividendspaid to non-residents ofCanada is 25% where no tax treaty applies.

Information required under this Item will be included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this
Form 10-K (the “2021 Proxy Statement”), and such required information is incorporated hereinby reference.
Purchases ofEquity Securities by the Company and Affiliated Purchases

‘There were no purchases ofequity securities by the Company during the fourthquarter oftheyear ended December 31, 2020.
Item 6. Selected FinancialData

Not applicable.

51 

Exhibit 2160

Page 059 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 060 of 168

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofFinancialCondition and Results ofOperations
INTRODUCTION

‘This “Managements Discussion andAnalysis ofFinancial Condition andResults ofOperations” has been updated through February 24 2021 andshould be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the
related notes thereto included elsewhere in this AnnualReport on Form 10-K. The matters discussed in “Managements Discussion andAnalysis ofFinancial Condition andResults ofOperations” contain certainforward-lookingstatements within
the meaning ofSection 274 ofthe Securities Actof1933 as amended and Section 21Eofthe Securities Exchange Actof1934 as amended and that may beforward-looking information within the meaning defined under applicable Canadian
securities laws (collectively “Forward-Looking Statements“). See “Forward-Looking Statements” at the end ofthis discussion. Additional company information including this Form 10-K is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the
U.S. Securities andExchange Commission (the “SEC™) website at www.sec.gov. All currency amounts areexpressedin U_S. dollars unless otherwise noted.

Bausch Health Companies Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”) is a global company whose mission is to improve people s lives with our health care products. We develop, manufacture and market, primarily in the therapeutic areas of
eye-health, gastroenterology (“GI”) and dermatology, a broad range of (i) branded pharmaceuticals, (ii) generic and branded generic pharmaceuticals, (iii) over-the-counter (“OTC™) products and (iv) medical devices (contact lenses, intraocular
lenses, ophthalmic surgical equipment and aesthetics devices), which are marketed directly or indirectly in approximately 100 countries.

‘We generated revenues for 2020, 2019 and 2018, of $8,027 million, $8,601 million and $8,380 million, respectively. Ourportfolio ofproducts falls into four operating and reportable segments (i) Bausch + Lomb/Intemational, (ii) Salix, (ui)

* The Bausch + Lomb/International segment consists of (i) sales im the U.S. ofpharmaceutical products, OTC products and medical device products, primarily comprised ofBausch + Lomb products, with a focus on the Vision Care,
‘Surgical, Consumer and Ophthalmology Rx products and (ii) with the exception of sales of Solta products, sales in Canada, Europe, Asia, Australia, LatinAmerica, Africa and the Middle East ofbranded pharmaceutical products, branded
generic pharmaceutical products, OTC products, medicaldeviceproducts and Bausch + Lombproducts.

+ TheSalix segmentconsistsofsales in the U.S. ofGI products.
+ The OrthoDermatologics segment consists of (i) sales inthe U.S. ofOrtho Dermatologics (dermatological) products and (ii) global salesofSolta medical aesthetic devices.
+ TheDiversifiedProducts segment consists ofsales in the U.S. of (i) pharmaceuticalproducts in the areas ofneurology and certain other therapeutic classes, (ii) gemeric products and (iii) dentistryproducts.

For additional discussion ofour reportable segments, see the discussion in Item 1. "Business — Segment Information" and Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on these
reportable segments.

As discussed further below, onAugust 6, 2020, the Company announced that it intends to separate its eye-health business into an independent publicly traded entity from the remainder ofBausch Health Companies Inc. (the “Separation”). In
‘connection with the Separation, the Companyexpects to realign andbeginmanaging its operations ina manner consistentwiththe organizational structure ofthe two separateentities as proposedby the Separation during the first quarter of2021.
OurFocus on Value

In 2016, we retained a new executive team which implemented a multi-year plan designed to transform and bring out value in our Company. The multi-year plan increased our focus on, among other factors, our product portfolio,
infrastructure, geographic footprint, capital structure and risk management. Since that time, we have been executing and continue to execute on our commitments to transform the Company and generate value. Under the nmlti-year plan, we have
taken the following actions, among others

+ divested non-core assets in order to narrow the Company's activities to our core businesses where we believe we have an existing and sustainable competitive edge and the ability to generate operational efficiencies. To date we received
approximately $3,500 million in net proceeds fromthese divesti 5
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+ made strategic investments inour core businesses in order to support recent revenue growth andprepare for additional growth opportunities weplan to capitalize on for our corebusinesses;
+ made measurable progress in improving our capital structure as we have repaid over $8,600 million in debt obligations (net ofadditional borrowings, amounts refinanced and excluding the $1,210 million financing ofthe U.S. Securities

Litigation settlement discussed below) during the period January 1, 2016 through the date of this filing using the proceeds from the divestiture of non-core assets, cash generated from our operations and improved working capital
management, and

+ resolved many of the Company's legacy litigation matters originating back to 2015 and prior, including the most significant legacy legal matter, the U.S. Securities Litigation settlement discussed below, significantly reducing related
possible disruptions and other uncertainties to our operations.

‘Webelieve that these and other positive actions we have takento transform our Company, have properly focused our operations and improved our capital structure, andwe alsobelieve that, as a result ofsuch actions, we arenow presentedwith
anopportunity to unlock additional value across our portfolio ofassets by creating two highly attractive but dissimilar businesses.
Separation oftheBausch +Lomb Eye-Health Business

On August 6, 2020, we announced that we intend to separate our eye-health business into an independent publicly traded entity (“Bausch + Lomb”) from the remainder of Bausch Health Companies Inc. The Separation will establish two
‘Separate companies thatinclude

+ a fully integrated, pure play eye-health company built on the iconic Bausch + Lombbrand and long historyofinnovation; and
* a diversified pharmaceutical company with leadingpositions in gastroenterology, aesthetics/dermatology, neurology and international pharmaceuticals.
The Bausch + Lomb entity will consist of the Company's Bausch + Lomb Global Vision Care, Global Surgical, Global Consumer and Global Ophthalmology Rx businesses. The remaining pharmaceutical entity will comprise a diversified

dissimilar busi

As separate entities, management believes that each company will be better positioned to individually focus on its core businesses to drive additional growth, more effectively allocate capital and best manage its respective capital needs.
Further, the Separation allows us and the market to compare the operating results ofeach entity with other “pure play” peer companies. Although management believes the Separationwill bring out additional value, there can be no assurance that it
will be successful in doing so. In connectionwith the Separation, we expect to realign and begin managing our operations ina manner consistentwith the organizational structure ofthe two separate entities as proposedby the Separation during the
‘first quarter of2021. Accordingly, we expecttobeginreporting our segment results to reflectthe proposedrealignment ofour operating segments on a retrospective basis beginning with our first quarter of2021.

‘We are in the process ofaddressing the organization, structure andpro forma capitalizations ofthe twoentities post-separation. Based on our assessment, we believe that, by the endof2021, we will be able to address the organizational matters
and regulatory requirements needed to operate the businesses separately and put the Bausch + Lomb entity inposition to become an independent publicly traded company. Management is also considering the form ofthe Separation and exploring a
umberofalternative capitalization structures in order to properly capitalize the entities post-separation. Although a public offering ofa portion ofthe Bausch+ Lomb business is among the alternate capital structures being considered, this Form 10-
E does not constitute an offer ofany securities ofBausch + Lomb for sale. There are considerations, approvals and conditions that will determine the ultimate timing and structure ofthis transaction, including regulatory approvals, final approval by
our board ofdirectors, any shareholder vote requirements that may be applicable, compliance with U.S. and Canadian securities laws and stock exchange rules, receipt ofany applicable opinions and/orrulings with respect to the Canadian and U.S.
federal income tax treatmentofsuch transaction and determination ofthe pro forma capitalizations ofthe two entities. The failure to satisfy all ofthe required conditions coulddelay the completion ofthis transactionfor a significant periodoftime or
prevent it from occuring at all.

‘See Item 1A. “Risk Factors — Risk Relating to the Separation”ofthis Form 10-K for additional risks relating to the Separation.
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ImpactsofCOVID-19Pandemic
In December 2019, a novel strain of the coronavirus disease, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China. Since then, COVID-19 has spread to other parts of the world, including the United States, Canada and Europe, and was declared a

global pandemic by the WorldHealth Organization (the "WHO") on March 11, 2020. As a global health care company, now more than ever, we remain focused on ourmission ofhelping to improvepeople s lives with ourhealth careproducts.
‘The unprecedentednatureofthe COVID-19 pandem c has adversely impactedthe global economy. The COVID-19 pandemic and the rapidly evolving reactions of governments, private sectorparticipants and the public in an effort to contain

the spread of the COVID-19 virus and/or address its impacts have intensified and have had significant direct and indirect effects on businesses and commerce. This includes, but is not limited to, disruption to supply chains, employee base and
transactional activity, facilities closures and production suspensions. The COVID-19 pandemic has also significantly increased demand for certain goods and services, such as pandemic-related medical services and supplies, alongside decreased
demand for others, such as retail, hospitality, elective medical procedures and travel

As the global economic landscape changes, there is a wide rangeofpossible outcomes regarding the nature and timing ofevents related to the COVID-19 pandemic, each ofwhich are highly dependent on variables that are difficult to predict.
Developments, including the ultimate geographic spread and durationofthe pandemic, the extent and duration ofa resurgence, if any, new information concerning the severity ofthe COVID-19 virus, the effectiveness and intensity ofmeasures to
contain the COVID-19 virus, the availability and effectiveness ofvaccines for the COVID-19 virus and the economic impact ofthe pandemic and the reactions to it, could have a significant adverse effect on our business, development programs,

To date, the Company has been able to continue its operations with limited disruptions in supply and manufacturing. Although it is difficult to predict the broad macroeconomic effects that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on industries or
individual companies, the Company has assessed the possible effects and outcomes of the pandemic on, among other things, its supply chain, customers and distributors, discounts and rebates, employee base, product sustainability, research and
development efforts, product pipeline and consumer demand. As a result ofour assessment, we immediately initiated profit protection measures to manage and reduce operating expenses and preserve cash during the COVID-19 pandemic. We have
also taken actions to manage the level ofour investment in support ofcertain existing products, anticipated launches and the expansion ofour sales footprint in Europe. Postponing these investments may impact the extent and timing in achieving our
longer-term forecasts for certain business units, however, webelieve these actionswillnot have a material impact on theunderlyingvalue ofthe relatedbusinesses or theirassociated assets.

‘We are and will continue to closely monitor the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and related responses from governments and private sector participants on the Company, our customers, supply chain, third-party suppliers, project

‘Webelieve we have responded quickly to the human and commercial challenges brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic and that our early actions have, so far, enabledus to keep our employees safe and our supply lines largely intact and we
believe these actions have laid the foundation for us to work our way throughthe uncertainties to come. Importantly, we believe that the steps we took over the last several years to manage our capital structure place us im a strong position to maintain

OurEmployees
Our employees’ health, safety, and wellness are important to us. With the COVID-19 outbreak, a focus in 2020 was protecting the health and safety ofour employees and their families. We broadened our existing remote work policies to enable

our global employees to work from home wherever possible. In circumstances where remote work was not possible (such as at our manufacturing and distribution facilities) we implemented safety measures to ensure we prevented the spread of
‘COVID-19 im the workplace, such as mandatory face coverings, social distancing, hand hygiene, plexiglass barriers, limited face-to-face meetings and other procedures as prescribed by global public health organizations, such as the WHO and U.S.
‘Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. We also provided resources for our employees specifically in response to COVID-19, including launching a website — Collaborating in the New Normal — to help our employees encourage each other, lead
withempathy and adaptas we navigate these unprecedented times.
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Our Supply Chain andMamufacturingFacilities
Our objective is to maintain the uninterrupted availability ofour products to meet the needs ofpatients, consumers and our customers. Business continuity plans and site-level biosecurity procedures are in place to ensure the well-being ofour

employees while we work to maintain the integrity of our supply chain. We have been successful in keeping our manufacturing facilities operational, although, due to shelter-in-place orders, our facilities in Milan and China were forced to
temporarily close in March and Aprilof2020. These facilities were closed for only a shortperiodoftime andwere immediately andcontinually operational once the shelter-in-place orders inthe respective geographies were lifted

As ofthe date ofthis filing. we have not experienced any disruption in our supply chain that would have a material impact on our results or operations. Our global supply chain team worked diligently to stay ahead ofthe challenges presented
by the COVID-19 pandemic once it appeared in Asia. Although we have put in place procedures to mitigate the risks associated with closures and disruptions at our manufacturing facilities, the COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact on our
inventory levels and the manner in which we manage our inventories. From time to time during 2020, our inventory levels were higher than usual as a result of (i) lower demand across multiple business units due to COVID-19 pandemic related
‘matters, (ii) securing additional quantities ofactive pharmaceutical ingredients ("API") forourXifaxan® products from our suppliers inItaly in contemplation ofpotential supply disruptions inthat region, (iii) securing additional quantities ofAPI for
our Trulance* products which have longer procurement times and higher costs and (iv) the acquisition of additional quantities ofcertain products that were at the lower end of their optimal levels at December 31, 2019. During our third and fourth
quarters, we continuedto manage ourinventory levels andeffectively reduced our inventory levels to be in line with ourpre-pandemic inventory levels asofDecember 31, 2020.

‘Wehave dual sources ofAPI andintermediates for many ofour products, the availability ofwhich has not had, andat this time we do not expect will have, amaterial impact on our supply chain. With respect to our largestproduct, Xifaxan®, as
ofJanuary 31, 2021, we have over fourmonths supply ofXifaxan® finished goods onhand and enoughAPI to manufacture another seven months supply ofXifaxan® finished goods. We also have open orders for API for Xifaxan®thatwe currently
expectwill arrive onschedule. However, ifwe were to experience a lack ofavailability ofAPI forXifaxan®, suchdisruptiontooursupply chaincould haveasignificant adverse effect on our business, financial condition andresults ofoperations.

‘We continue to monitorthe impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic and take the actions appropriate to regulate our inventories at levels in line with the current supply and demand for ourproducts. These actions have been effective at meeting our
objectives, and presuming there continues to be increased availability ofeffective vaccines and any resurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus and variant strains thereofdo not have 2 material adverse impact on efforts to contain the COVID-19 virus, we
believewe can maintain our inventories at theirpre-pandemic levels during 2021. We will continue to monitorour inventories and continue totake the appropriate actions and make the necessary adjustments to maintain the uninterruptedavailability
ofourproducts to meet the needs ofpatients, consumers and our customers.
OurProductPipeline

growth During the COVID-19 pandemic, our R&D team remains focused on meeting these objectives in a timely manner, however, there are significant events and circumstances regarding the COVID-19 pandemic that may materially affect our
R&D teamsability to do so, many ofwhicharebeyond the Company's control.

‘Due to the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic, most notably those attributable to "stay at home" and travel restrictions, certain of our R&D activities were forced to pause. Clinical trials that started prior to governmental shutdowns
Temained enrolled and existing patients have progressed, while new patient enrollments were paused as most trial sites were not able to accept new patients. However, during our third quarter of 2020, we saw the pace ofnew patient enrollments
‘increase, getting close to theirpre-COVID-19 pandemic levels in the U.S., and asa resulthave not had to make material changes to our development timelines.

‘Wecontinue to monitor the timing andcompletion ofour ongoing and anticipated clinical trial programs. Asofthe date ofthis filing, the delays in our clinical trials have not had a material impact on our operating results; however, aresurgence
ofthe virus significant enough to necessitate reenacting certain social restrictions could result in unanticipated delays in our ability to conduct new patient enrollments. Other possible COVID-19 pandemic and resurgence related challenges include,

any, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and a possible resurgence ofthe virus such as these and others will likely adversely affect the timely approval, launch and commercialization and the commercial success ofour products, particularly those in
early stage clinical trials, which couldhave a material adverse effect on our future operating results.
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Our Liquid

Our primary sources ofliquidity are our cash and cash equivalents, cash collected from customers, funds as available from our revolving credit facility of$1,225 million due in June 2023 (the “2023 Revolving Credit Facility”), issuances of
long-term debt and issuances ofequity and equity-linked securities. We believe these sources will be sufficient to meet our curent liquidity needs for at least twelve months from the date of issuance ofthis Form 10-K_ Further, for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, we generated positive cash from operations of $1,111 million, $1,501 million and $1,501 million, respectively. Should our operating results during the COVID-19 pandemic materially suffer in comparison to our
2020, 2019 and 2018 operatingresults, webelieve we would continue to generate sufficientcashflows fromoperations to meetour obligations in the ordinary courseofbusiness.

‘We have no debtmaturities or mandatory amortization payments until 2024. Additionally, we haveno outstandingborrowings, $104 million ofissued and outstanding letters ofcredit andremaining availability of$1,121 million under our 2023
Revolving CreditFacility. In the event ofa future, unexpected, need fornear-termliquidity, our 2023 Revolving Credit Facilitywouldbea source offunding forus. After reviewingthe terms ofour Restated Credit Agreement and considering a broad
Tange ofpossible outcomes ofthe COVID-19pandemic, we expect that we will haveaccess to capital under our 2023 Revolving CreditFacility across a broad range ofscenarios inthe event it is required.

See this Item “—Liquidity andCapital Resources—Long-term Debt” and Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements foradditionaldiscussion ofthese matters.
Our OperatingResults

‘While we are taking actions to mitigate the impactofthe COVID-19 pandemic ondaily operations, the global response to the pandemic has and is expectedto impactour operating results until the impacts ofthe pandemic subside, the timingof
which is uncertain and maybe dependentupon, among other matters, the availability and effectiveness ofvaccines for the COVID-19 virus. The changing dynamics ofthe pandemic, related responses from governments and private sector participants
and theprecautionary measures takenby ourcustomers andthehealth care patients and consumers we serve, are expected to impact the timing and amount ofour revenues.

During the pandemic, the public has been advised to engage in certain "social restrictions” such as (i) remaining at home or shelter-in-place, (ii) limiting social interaction, (iii) closing non-essential businesses and (iv) postponing certain
surgical and elective medical procedures in order to prioritize/conserve available health care resources. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, these factors negatively impacted, most notably, the revenues ofthe Company's Global Vision
Care and Global Surgical businesses inAsia where the COVID-19 pandemic originated Beginning in March 2020, and throughout most ofthe second quarter of2020, the Company experienced steeper declines in these revenues and the revenues of
otherbusinesses as social restrictions expandedworldwide, particularly in theU.S. and Europe. Social restrictions negatively impacted the Company's revenues for contact lenses, intraocular lenses, medical devices, surgical systems and certain pre-
and post-operative eye-medications ofits Global Ophtho Rxbusiness, medical aesthetics and therapeutic products ofits Global Solta business, and certain branded pharmaceutical products ofits Salix, Ortho Dermatologics and Dentistry businesses,
as the offices ofmany health careproviders were closedand certain surgeries and elective medical procedures were deferred.

Our 2020 revenues were most negatively impacted during our second quarter by the social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as governments began lifting social restrictions,
allowing offices ofcertain health care providers toreopen and certain surgeries and elective medical procedures to proceed, the negative trend in the revenues ofcertainbusinesses began to level offand stabilize priorto our thirdquarterof2020. Our
revenues forthe three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $2,213 million and $2,224 million, respectively, a decrease of$11 million. This decrease ofless than 1% represents a continuing improving trend over the decreases inour year-
over-year revenues forthe three monthperiods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of23% and 3%, respectively, and suggests that a recovery is underway. Presuming there continues to be increased availability ofeffective vaccines andany
resurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus and variant strains thereofdo not have a material adverse impact on efforts to contain the COVID-19 virus, the Company anticipates an ongoing, gradual global recovery from the significant macroeconomic and
health care impacts ofthe pandemic thatoccurred during the first-halfof2020 and anticipates that its affected businesses could return to pre-pandemic levels during 2021. However, the rates ofrecovery for eachbusiness will vary by geography and
will be dependent upon, among other things, the availability and effectiveness of vaccines for the COVID-19 virus, government responses, rates 0 economic recovery, precautionary measures taken by patients and customers, the rate at which
Temaining social restrictions are lifted and once lifted, the presumption that socialrestrictions will notbe materiallyreenactedin the event ofa resurgence ofthe virus and other actions taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In the U.S., the recovery is progressing more quickly in our surgical, vision care and ophthalmology businesses, while our consumer business has been less impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic than any of our other businesses. Althoughcertain
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‘social restrictions were lifted imEurope and Asia during the summer, recovery in these regions has been more gradual, as consumers have been slower to return to their pre-pandemic habits. Further, various geographies are reinstituting lockdowns or
partial lockdowns in response to resurgence ofthe original COVID-19 virus and as variant strains, possibly more contagious than the original virus, have been identified. For instance, parts ofEurope, such as England, Germany, France andIreland,
and parts ofCanada have already announced returns to lockdowns ofvarious lengths and have enacted or are considering enacting other social restrictions. In the U.S., variant strains ofthe virus have been identified and there has been a rise in the
numberofdaily average COVID-19 cases heading into 2021 which suggests a possible resurgence im the U.S. and could leadtonew lockdowns orother social restrictions.

preserve cash during the COVID-19 pandemic. These profit protection measures have been successful in expanding the profit margins in many ofour businesses as referenced in the discussion of our operating results to follow. As the pace of
Tecovery in each geography accelerates, we expect to allocate more resources to selling and other promotional activities to drive our return to sustainable revenue and profit growth. Therefore, ifthe recovery continues, we expect our operating
expenses to increase in support ofour existing products, product launches andproducts in development andexpect to see our operating expenses in 2021 exceedour operating expenses in 2020 as a result.

‘Webelieve our diverse portfolio ofdurable products and strong brands has servedus well through the COVID-19 pandemic andwe continue to be well positionedto grow market share and return to growth as the world recovers. However, this
Temains a very fluid situation andwe continue to monitor the availability and effectiveness ofvaccines and any resurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus andvariant strains thereofon our operations, business andprimary goals. Given these circumstances,
‘we continue to focus on (i) revising our go-to-market and sales force strategies to address the changing business dynamics createdby the COVID-19 pandemic, (ii) building out our e-commerce presence to enable us to reachcustomers in new ways,
(Gad) investing in our key promotedbrands and product launches to increase market share. (iv) optimizing our cost structure and (v) looking for key trends in the market to meet changing consumer/patient needs and identify areas for investment and
growth. We believe focusing on these priorities will best enable us to effectively manage the changing business dynamics created by the COVID-19 pandemic, best prepare us for a possible resurgence ofthe virus and any variant strains thereof and
Tetumws to growth once the impacts ofthe COVID-19pandemic substantially subside.

The changes in our segment revenues and segment profits, including the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic related matters for the year ended December 31, 2020, are discussed in further detail in the respective subsequent sections “ —
Reportable Segment Revenues and Profits”.

The Company continually updates its near term forecasts forthe changing facts and circumstances regarding the COVID-19 pandemic and believes that its long-term forecasted cash flows are not materially impacted by COVID-19 pandemic
events andrelated factors. As more fully discussed inNote 8, "INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL"to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements, as ofDecember 31, 2020 the Company has not identified any impairments in connection
with the impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic. However, ifmarket conditions furtherdeteriorate, iffacts and circumstances regarding the COVID-19 pandemic escalate beyond management s expectations, or ifthe Company is unable to execute its
‘strategies, it may be necessary to record impairment charges in the future andthose charges can bematerial.

For a further discussionofthese and other COVID-19 relatedrisks, see Item 1A. "Risk Factors—Risk Relatingto COVID-19" ofthis Form 10-K.
Focus on CoreBusinesses

and evidence ofgrowth opportunities. We believethis strategy has reduced complexity in ouroperations and maximizes thevalue ofour (i) eye-health, (ii) GI and (iii) dermatologybusinesses, which collectivelynow represent 2 substantial portionof
our revenues. We have found and continue to believe there is significant opportunity in these businesses andwe believe our existing portfolio, commercial footprint andpipelineofproduct development projects position us to successfully compete in
these markets and provide us with the greatest opportunity to build value for our shareholders. We identify these businesses as “core”, meaning that we believe we are best positioned to grow and develop them. In order to contimue to focus on our
core businesses we have (i) directed capital allocation to drive growthwithin our core businesses, (ii) made measurable progress in effectively managing our capital structure, (iii) increased our efforts to improve patient access and (iv) continued to
invest in sustainable growth drivers to positionus for long-term growth.
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Direct CapitalAllocation toDrive Growth Within Our Core Businesses
Our capital allocation is drivenby ourlong-term growth strategies. We have been aggressively allocating resources to promote our corebusinesses globally through (i) strategic acquisitions, (ii) research and development (“R&D”) investment,

Gid) strategic licensing agreements and (iv) strategic investments inour infrastructure. Theoutcome ofthis process allows us tobetterdrive value in ourproductportfolio and generate operational efficiencies.
5 ic Acomisitis
‘We remain very selective when considering any acquisition and pursue only those opportunities that we believe align well with our current organization and strategic plan We sometimes refer to these opportunities as "bolt on" acquisitions. In

being selective, we seek to enter into only those acquisitions that provide us with significant synergies with our existing business, thereby minimizing risks to our core businesses and providing long-term growth opportunities. Recently, we have
enteredinto transactions that althoughnot immediately impactful to ouroperating results, are expected to be accretive to our bottomline in future years andcontribute to our long-term growth strategies.

In September 2020, we entered into an agreement which provides the Company an option to acquire all ophthalmology assets ofAllegro Ophthalmics, LLC (“Allegro”) (the "Option"), a privately held biopharmaceutical company focused on
the development oftherapies that regulate integrin functions for the treatment ofocular diseases. Among the assets to be acquired, ifthe Optionis exercised, is the worldwide rights to risuteganib (Luminate*), Allezro's lead investigationalcompound
in retina, which is believed to simmltaneously act on the angiogenic, inflammatory and mitochondrial metabolic pathways implicated in diseases such as intermediate dry Age-related Macular Degeneration ("AMD"). A U.S. Phase 2a study with

products for AMD andifapproved, risuteganibmaybe the first treatment indicatedtohelp reversevisionloss due to dryAMD and address a significantunmet medical need affecting millions ofpeople globally.
InMarch 2019, wecompleted the acquisition ofcertain assets of Synergy Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Synergy”)whereby we acquiredthe worldwide rights to the Trulance® (plecanatide) product, a once-daily tablet for adults with chronic idiopathic

constipation, or CIC, andirritablebowel syndromewith constipation, orIBS-C. We believe that the Trulance® product complements ourexisting Salixproducts and allows us to effectively leverage our existing GI sales force.
In February 2019, we acquired the U.S.rights to EM-100 (an investigational preservative-free formulation eye drop) from Eton Pharmaceuticals, Inc. On September 25, 2020, the Company announced that the FDA had approved Alaway®

Preservative Free (ketotifen fumarate) ophthalmic solution, 0.035%, antihistamine eye drops (EM-100) as the first over-the-counter (OTC) preservative-free formulation eye drop approved to temporarily relieve itchy eyes due to pollen, ragweed,
gzass, animal hair anddander. Alaway* PreservativeFreewas launchedin February 2021 and is expected to complement our broadrange ofBausch + Lomb integrated eye-healthproducts.

R&DInvestment

Our R&D expenses for 2020, 2019 and 2018, were $452 million, $471 million and $413 million, respectively, and was approximately 6% as a percentage ofrevenue for 2020 and approximately 5% for 2019 and 2018. Our investment in R&D
reflects our commitment to drive organic growth through internal development ofnew products, a pillar ofour strategy. We continuously search for new product opportunities through internal development and strategic licensing agreements, that if
successful, will allow us to leverage our commercial footprint, particularly our sales force, and supplement our existing product portfolio andaddress specific unmet needs in the market.

Our internal R&D organization focuses on the development ofproducts through clinical trials. As ofDecember 31, 2020, approximately 1,300 dedicated R&D and quality assurance employees in 23 R&D facilities were involved in our R&D

Certain core internal R&D projects that have received a significant portion ofour R&D investment in current and prior periods are listed below. However, due to the challenges ofthe COVID-19 pandemic, most notably those attributable to
“stay at home” and travel restrictions, certain ofour R&D activities were forced to pause. Clinical trials that started prior to governmental shutdowns remained enrolled and existing patients have progressed, while new patient enrollments were
paused as most trial sites were not able to accept new patients. However, during our thirdquarter of2020, we saw thepace ofnew
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patient enrollments increase, getting close to theirpre-COVID-19 pandemic levels in theU.S., and as a result have not had to make material changes to our development timelines.
‘We continue to monitor the timing and completion ofour ongoing and anticipated clinical trial programs. Asofthe date ofthis filing, the delays in our clinical trials have not had a material impact on our operating results; however, 2 resurgence

ofthe virus significant enough to necessitate reenacting certain social restrictions could result in unanticipated delays in our ability to conduct new patient enrollments. Other possible COVID-19 pandemic and resurgence related challenges include,
‘but are not limited to, facility closures, delays by third-party service providers, deferrals ofdoctorvisits, postponement ofelective medical procedures and surgeries and changes inprioritizationby the FDA and other regulatory authorities. Delays, if
any, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and a possible resurgence ofthe virus such as these and others will likely adversely affect the timely approval, launch and commercialization and the commercial success ofour products, particularly those in
early stage clinical trials. As a result, our estimates regarding the timing and success ofourR&D efforts (some ofwhich are set out below), including as it relates to study initiation, enrollment and completion, availability ofstudy results, regulatory
submissions, regulatory approvals and commercial launches, may change.

Bausch +Lomb

Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® for Astigmatism - A monthly planned replacement contact lens for astigmatic patients. The Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® for Astigmatism lens was developed using the proprietary MoistureSeal® technology. In
addition, the Bausch + Lomb ULTRA®forAstigmatism lens integrates an OpticAlign® design engineered for lens stability and to promote a successful wearing experience for the astigmatic patient. In 2017, we launched this product and the
extendedpower range for this product. In 2018, we launched the Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® for Astigmatism -2.75 cylinder expanded SKU range.
SiHy Daily -Asilicone hydrogel daily disposable contact lens designed to provide clear vision throughout the day. In September 2018, we launched SiHy Daily in Japanunder the branded name AQUALOX™ ONE DAY. In August 2020,
‘we launched SiHy Daily in the U.S. under the branded name Bausch + Lomb INFUSE™ SiHy Daily Disposable contact lens. In the fourth quarter of 2020, SiHy Daily was launched in Australia, Hong Kong and Canada under the branded
name Ultra* ONE DAY. SiHy Daily has also received regulatory approval forNew Zealand, South Korea, Singapore andMalaysia, where it will be branded as Ultra*ONEDAY.
Lumify* (brimonidine tartrate ophthalmic solution, 0.025%) - An OTC eye drop developed as an ocular redness reliever. We launched this product in May 2018. Currently, we have several line extensions under development and expectPhase 3 clinical studies to commence in 2021.

Biotrue* ONEday for Astigmatism - A daily disposable contact lens for astigmatic patients. The Biotrue® ONEday contact lens incorporates Surface Active Technology™ to provide a dehydration barrier The Biotrue* ONEday for
Astigmatism also includes evolved peri-ballast geometry to deliver stability and comfort for the astigmatic patient. We launched this product in December 2016 and launched an extended power range and further extended power ranges in
2017, 2018, 2019 and July 2020.
‘NewOphthalmic Viscosurgical Device ("OVD") product -With a formulation to protect cormeal endothelium during phacoemulsification process during a cataract surgery and to help chamber maintenance and lubrication during interocular
Jens delivery. In January 2020, we commenced anFDA clinical study for cohesive OVD. The clinical study has now achieved its enrollment target, despite COVID-19 slowdowns, and we expect results in the fourth quarter of2021. InApril
2020, we fileda PremarketApproval application for the dispersive OVD with the FDA.
Lotemax® SM (loteprednol etabonate ophthalmic gel) 0.38% - A new formulation for the treatment of post-operative inflammation and pain following ocular surgery. Lotemax® SM is the lowest concentrated loteprednol ophthalmic
corticosteroid indicated for the treatment ofpost-operative inflammation andpainfollowing ocular surgery in the U.S. We launched this product inApril 2019.

enVista® Trifocal intraocular lens - An innovative lens design. We initiated an investigative device exemption study for this product inMay 2018 and initiated the lastphase ofthis three phase study inthe fourth quarterof2020.

Extended depth offocus intraocular Jens - Currently under development, however, the timing and completion ofwhich has been delayed due to COVID-19 pandemic related matters. Once developed and ifapproved, we anticipate that this
productcould be launched inthe secondhalfof2021.
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+ Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® monthly silicone hydrogel lens - Specifically designed to address the lifestyle and vision needs ofpatients with MoistureSeal* technology which maintains 95% ofcontact lens moisture for a full 16 hours. In the
secondquarter of2020, Bausch +Lomb ULTRA®receiveda seven day extendedwear indication approval fromthe EuropeanUnionandreceivedregulatory approvalfrom theNationalMedical Products Administration in China

+ Bausch +LombULTRA® Multifocal forAstigmatism contact lens - The first and only multifocal toric lens available as a standard offering in the eye care professional's fit set. The new monthly silicone hydrogel lens, whichwas specifically
designed to address the lifestyle and vision needs ofpatients with both astigmatism and presbyopia, combines the Company's unique 3-Zone Progressive™ multifocal design with the stability of its OpticAlign® toric with MoistureSeal*
technology to provide eye care professionals and their patients an advanced contact lens technology that offers the convenience of same-day fitting during the initial lens exam. Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® Multifocal for Astigmatism was
Iaunched inJune 2019 and received EuropeanUnion regulatory approval in the second quarterof2020.

+ Renu* Advanced Multi-Purpose Solution (“MPS”) - Contains a triple disinfectant system that kills 99.9% of germs, and has a dual surfactant system that provides up to 20 hours of moisture. Renu® Advanced MPS is FDA cleared with
indications for use to condition, clean, remove protein, disinfectant, rinse and store soft contact lenses including those composed of silicone hydrogels. Renu® Advanced MPS has gained regulatory approvals im Korea, India, Mexico,
Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and, during the second quarter of2020, the EuropeanUnion.

+ Custom soft contact lens (Ultra Buttons) - A latheable silicone hydrogel button for custom soft specialty lenses including; Sphere, Toric, Multifocal, Toric Multifocal and irregular comeas. This project has been placed on hold as wesoritize oth jects in our pipeli

+ Zen™ Multifocal Scleral Lens for presbyopia - In January 2019, we launched this product exclusively available with Zenlens™ and Zen™ RC scleral lenses and will allow eye care professionals to fit presbyopic patients with iegular and
regular comeas and those with ocular surface disease, such as dry eye. The Zen™ Multifocal Scleral Lens incorporates decentered optics, enabling the nearpower to bepositioned over the visual axis.

+ Tangible* Hydra-PEG* - A high-water polymer coating that is bonded to the surface of a contact lens and designed to address contact lens discomfort and dry eye. We launched this product in March 2019. Tangible® Hydra-PEG* coating
technology incombination withour Boston® materials andZenlens™ family ofscleral lenses will help eye careprofessionals provide a better lens wearing experience for theirpatients with challenging visionneeds.

Gastrointestinal

© Rifaximin - Top line results from a Phase 2 study for the treatment ofovert hepatic encephalopathy with a new formmlation (SSD IR) of rifaximin showed a treatment benefit. Patients receiving 40 mg twice daily showedastatistically
significant separationfromplacebo. The top line results from this Phase 2 studywill help inform furtherresearch onpotential new indications forrifaximin: this will includethe commencement ofa Phase 3 study (RED-C) im2021 to seek an
indication forthe pre ention ofthe first episode ofHepatic Encephalopath A separate new formulation is planned to be studied for the treatment ofsickle cell anemia which rifaximin recent] recei ed orphan drug designation for and for
whichclinical trials are expected to commence in 2021

+ Rifaximin - Commencement of 2 Phase 2 study to evaluate rifaximin for the treatment of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth or SIBO remains pending results from a new formulation study expected to be available in first half 2021.
Development ofa fit forpurpose PatientReported Outcomes tool for small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO is contimuing in 2021.

+ Rifaximin - We have entered into an agreement with Cedars Sinai Medical Center to evaluate a new formulation ofrifaximin for the treatment ofIBS-D. Two preclinical studies have been completed A ProofofConcept study that was
pauseddue to COVID-19 pandemic related factors has recommenced.
Rifaximin OurparmerAlfasigma S pA ( Alfasigma)isplanning a Phase 2 3 stud for the treatmentofpostoperati eCrohns disease using a no el rifaximin extendedrelease formulation

+ Envive™ - We developed a probiotic supplement to address gastrointestinal disturbances. We launched this product in October 2020.
+ Amiselimod (S1P modulator) - We are preparing to imitiate a Phase 2 study to evaluate Amiselimod (S1P modulator) for the treatment ofmild to moderate Ulcerative Colitis. We anticipate the clinical trial to commence im the first halfof2021.
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Dermatology
+ Duobrii* - The first and only topical lotion that contains a unique combination ofhalobetasol propionate and tazarotene for the treatment ofplaque psoriasis in adults. Halobetasol propionate and tazarotene are each approved to treat plaque

Psoriasis when used separately, but the duration of halobetasol propionate is limited by FDA labeling constraints and the use of tazarotene can be limited due to tolerability concerns. However, the combination of these ingredients in
Duobrii*, with a dualmechanismofaction, allows forexpanded duration ofuse, with reduced adverse events. We launched this product in June 2019.

+ Arazio® (tazarotene) Lotion, 0.045% (formerly IDP-123) -An acne product containing lower concentrationoftazaroteneina lotion formto help reduce imitationwhile maintainingefficacy. We launched this product inJune 2020.
+ Internal Development Project ("IDP") 120 -An acne product with a fixed combination ofmutually incompatible ingredients benzoyl peroxide and tretinoin. Phase 3 clinical studies have been completed and met theprimary endpoints. We

+ IDP-126 - An acne productwith a fixed combination ofbenzoyl peroxide, clindamycin phosphate and adapalene Phase 3 clinical studies initiated im December 2019 were paused due to COVID-19 pandemic related factors, but resumed in
Jume 2020. The first Phase 3 trial has been completed, and the second Phase 3 trial results are expected in 2021. We are currently evaluating next steps for this project.

+ Clear + Brilliant® Zouch - Next generation Clear + Brilliant® laser that is designed to deliver a customized and more comprehensive treatment protocol by providing patients of all ages and skin types the benefits of two wavelengths. We
‘expect to launchthis productduring thefirst halfof2021.

+ IDP-124 - A topical lotion product designed to treat moderate to severe atopic dermatitis, with pimecrolinms. Phase 3 clinical studies have been completed with one ofthe two studies meeting the primary endpoint. As a result, we have
determined to no longerpursue this project.

s ic Licensing 4
To supplement our internal R&D initiatives and to build-out and refresh our product portfolio, we also search for opportunities to augment our pipeline through arrangements that allow us to gain access to unique products and investigational

treatments, by strategically aligning ourselves withotherinnovative product solutions.
In the normal courseofbusiness, the Company will enter into select licensing and collaborative agreements for the commercialization and/or development of unique products primarily in the U.S. and Canada. These products are sometimes

investigational treatments in early stage development that target unique conditions. The ultimate outcome, including whether the product will be (i) fully developed, (ii) approvedby the FDA, (iii) covered by third-party payors or (iv) profitable for
distribution is highly uncertain. Under certainagreements, the Company maybe required to make payments contingentupon the achievement ofspecific developmental, regulatory, orcommercial milestones.

In October 2020, we announced that we entered into two exclusive license agreements which present us withunique developmental opportunities to address the unmet need oftreatment formyopia in children. The first ofthese two licensing
agreements is with Eyenovia, Inc. for the development and commercialization in the United States and Canada of an mvestigational microdose formulation ofatropine ophthalmic solution, which is being investigated for the reduction ofpediatricmyopia progression, also known as nearsightedness, in children ages 3-12. We expect to complete enrollment for a Phase 3 study during the second halfof 2022. Ifapproved by the FDA, we believe this investigational product could potentially
change the treatmentparadigm for the reduction ofmyopia progression in children. The second is an exclusive global licensing agreement with BHVI for a myopia control contact lens design developedby BHVL The Company plans to pair BHVT's
novel contact lens designwith our leading contact lens technologies to develop potential contact lens treatments designed to slow the progression ofmyopia in children

In December 2019, we announced that we had acquired an exclusive license from Novaliq GmbH for the commercialization and development in the U.S. and Canada ofthe investigational treatment NOV03 (perfluorohexyloctane), a first-in-
class investigational drug with anovel mechanism ofaction to treat Dry Eye Disease ("DED") associatedwith Meibomian gland dysfunction ("MGD"). In an OpenLabel Safety study, NOV03 has achieved its enrollment target. We expect the readout
oftopline results from the first oftwo Phase 3 studies during the second halfof2021 and anticipate filing an NDA in 2022. Ifapproved by the FDA, we believe the addition ofthis investigational treatment forDED will help build upon our strong
portfolio ofintegrated eye-healthproducts.

In October 2019, we acquired anexclusive license from Clearside Biomedical, Inc. ("Clearside") for the commercialization and development ofXipere (triamcinolone acetonide suprachoroidal injectable suspension) in the U.S. and

61 
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‘Camada. Xipere is a proprietary suspension ofthe corticosteroid triamcinolone acetonide formulated for suprachoroidal administration via Clearside’s proprietary SCS Microinjector that is being investigated as a targeted treatment ofmacular

In April 2019, we entered into two licensing agreements whichpresent us with unique developmental opportunities to address unmet needs ofindividuals suffering with certain Gi and liver diseases. The first ofthese two licensing agreementsis with the University ofCalifornia for certain intellectual property relating to an investigational compound targeting the pituitary adenylate cyclase receptor 1 in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (“NAFLD”), nonalcoholic
and other GI and liver diseases. The second is an exclusive licensing agreement with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation to develop and commercialize MT-1303 (amiselimod), a late-stage oral compound that targets the sphingosine 1-phosphate
receptor that plays a role in autoimmume diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease and ulcerative colitis. We have completed a thorough QTC study, which evaluated the cardiac safety profile ofthe compound Topline results were positive and
‘We expect to initiate a Phase 2 study imthe firsthalfof2021.

On February 27, 2018, we announced that we entered into an exclusive license agreement with Kaken Pharmaceutical Co, Ltd. ("Kaken") to develop and commercialize a new chemical entity, IDP-131 (KP-470), for the topical treatment of
psoriasis. An earlyproofofconcept study has been completed and the results didnot meet expectations. As a result, the CompanyandKaken have terminated the license agreement.

5 ich - ht
In supportofour core businesses, we have and continue to make strategic investments in ourinfrastructure, the most significant ofwhich are at our Waterford facility in Ireland, our Rochester facility in New York and our Lynchburg facility inViren

To meet the forecasteddemand for ourBiotrue* ONEday lenses, inJuly 2017, we placed into service a $175 millionmulti-year strategic expansion projectofthe Waterfordfacility. The emphasis ofthe expansionprojectwas to (i) develop new
technology tomamufacture, automatically inspect and package contact lenses, (ii)bring thattechnology to full validation and (iii) increase the size ofthe Waterford facility.

‘To address the expected global demand for our Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® contact lens, in December 2017, we completed a multi-year, $200 million strategic upgrade to our Rochester facility. The upgrade increased production capacity

support ofour Bausch+ Lomb Ula and Silty Daily AQUALOX product lines and better supports the production of other well-established contact lenses, such as our PureVision®, PaeVisieu®? (SVS, Peck, and Multia, Sofbent™ 38 and
To address the expected global demand for our Silty Daily disposable contact lenses, in November 2018, we initiated $300 million ofadditional expansion projects to add multiple production lines to our Rochester and Waterford facilities.

‘SiHy Daily disposable contact lenses were munchedin the U.S.in September 2020.
To further help us meet the anticipated demand of our contact lenses, in 2020, we initiated an expansion ofthe Company's Lynchburg distribution center The new facility is expected to create newjobs over the next five years and expand the

‘overall siteto 190,000 square feet, which willprovide distribution capabilities formedical devices, primarily contact lens products, andbe the mainpointofdistribution forthese products in the US.
‘Webelieve the investments inour Waterford, Rochester and Lynchburg facilities and related expansion oflabor forces further demonstrates the growthpotential we see in ourBausch+ Lomb products andour eye-healthbusiness.

‘Wecontinue to effectivelymanage ourcapital structure by (i) reducing our debt through repayments, (ii) extending the maturities ofdebt through refinancing and (iii) improving ourcreditratings.
the impact ofthe $1,210 million financing ofthe U.S. Securities Litigation settlement discussed below, we have been able to repay (net ofadditional borrowings) over $8,600 million oflong-term debt during theDebtRepayments - Excluding

period January 1, 2016 through the date of this filing using the net cash proceeds from divestitures of non-core assets, cash generated from operations and cash generated from tighter working capital management. This includes
$900 million ofrepayments with cash onhand andcash generated from operations during 2020.

2018 Refinancing Transactions - In March, June and November 2018, we accessed the credit markets and completed a series of transactions, whereby we extended approximately $8,300 million im aggregate maturities of certain debt
obligations due to mature im March 2020 through July 2022, out to June 2025 through January 2027. As part of these transactions we obtained less stringent loan financial maintenance covenants under our Senior Secured Credit Facilities and
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facility, set to expire inApril 2020 with arevolving credit facility of$1,225 million due in June 2023 (the “2023 Revolving Credit Facility”).
2019 Refinancing Transactions - In March, May and December 2019, we accessed the credit markets and completed a series of transactions, whereby, we extended approximately $4.200 million in aggregate maturities of certain debt

obligations due to mature in December2021 through May 2023, out to January 2027 through January 2030.
Financing ofLitigation Settlement - In December 2019, we announced that we had agreed to resolve the putative securities class action litigation in the U.S. (the "U.S. Securities Litigation”) for $1,210 million. Final court approval ofthis

‘settlement was granted in January 2021. As part ofthe settlement, the Company andthe other settling defendants admitted no liability as to the claims against it and deny all allegations ofwrongdoing. Subject to an objector's appeal ofthe Court's
final approval order, this settlement resolves and discharges all claims against the Company in the class action, and as a result resolves the most significant ofthe Company's remaining legacy legal matters and eliminates a material uncertainty
Tegarding ourCompan

To finance the settlement ofthe U.S. Securities Litigation and extend certain debt maturities, on December 30, 2019, we accessed the credit markets and issued (i) $1,250 million aggregate principal amount of5.00% Senior Unsecured Notes
due January 2028 (the "5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes") and (ii) $1,250 million aggregate principal amount of5.25% SeniorUnsecuredNotes due January 2030 (the "January 2030UnsecuredNotes") ina private placement. The proceeds and
cash on hand were used to (i) redeem $1,240 million ofMay 2023 Unsecured Notes on January 16, 2020, (ii) finance amounts owed under the Company's $1,210 million settlement agreement relating to the U.S. Securities Litigation (which is
subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval), the full $1,210 million ofwhich was paid into an escrow fund in accordance with the related settlement agreement and is included in our Restricted cashbalance as ofDecember 31, 2020,
and (iii) pay all fees and expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the "December 2019 Financing and Refinancing Transactions"). Through this financing, we have in effect extended the payments ofthe pending litigation settlement
of$1,210 million out to 2028 and 2030, without negatively impacting our working capital available for operations.

2020Refinancing Transactions - InMay and December 2020, we accessed the credit markets and completeda series oftransactions, whereby weextended$3,250 millionin aggregatematurities ofcertain debt obligations due to mature in 2022
and 2023 out to 2029 through2031 and $250 million inaggregate amortizationpayments due in 2022 out to 2029. Inaddition to extending $3,500 million inpayments duein 2022 and 2023 to 2029 through 2031, the refinancing transactions replaced
secureddebt of$1,500 millionwithunsecureddebt. This provides uswithmore secureddebt capacity under our Restated Credit Agreement and existing indentures ifthe market forunsecureddebt in the future is less favorable. Further, by replacing
$1,500 millionof secured debt with unsecured debt we now have additional room under the debt maintenance covenant ofour 2023 Revolving Credit Facility that requires us to maintain a first lien net leverage ratio ofnot greater than4.00 to 1.00.
‘The refinancing transactions also repaid in full €1,500 million ofdebt denominated in euros, thereby reducing our exposure to fluctuations in thevalueofthe euro.

See Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for the details ofour debt portfolio asofDecember31, 2020 and 2019.
‘The debt repayments and refinancing transactions outlined above have allowed us to (i) improve our credit ratings, (ii) finance amounts owed under the Company's previously announced $1,210 million settlement agreement relating to the U.S.

Securities Litigation (which is subject to an objector’s appeal of the final court approval) without negatively impacting our working capital available for operations, (iii) extend maturities of certain debt obligations due out to the year 2025 and
beyond, (iv) satisfy all debt mandatory amortizationpayments andmaturities until 2024 and(v) reduce our exposure to fluctuations inthevalueoftheeuro.

Our prepayment ofdebt and refinancingtransactions over the last fouryears translate into lower repayments ofprincipal over the next fouryears, which, in tum, we believe will permit more cash flows to be directed toward developing our core
assets, identifying new product opportunities and repaying additional debt amounts. The mandatory scheduled principal repayments ofour debt obligations as ofDecember 31, 2020, were as follows

 

omen 2024 2025 2026 2027 2030 2031 Total
,—->i—Fv&i—3S+295werF13505#4220$#44202$325:$51250$1000$24185
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In addition, as a result ofthe changes in our debt portfolio, approximately 80% ofour debt is fixed rate debt as ofDecember 31, 2020, as compared to approximately 60% as ofJanuary 1, 2016. The weighted average stated interest rate ofthe
Company's outstanding debt as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was 6.02% and 6.21%, respectively.

‘We continue to monitor our capital structure and to evaluate other opportunities to simplify our business and improve our capital structure, giving us the ability to better focus on our core businesses. While we anticipate focusing any future
divestiture activities on non-core assets, consistentwith our duties to our shareholders and other stakeholders, wewill consider dispositions incore areas thatwe believe represent attractive opportunities forthe Company. Also, the Company regularly
evaluates market conditions, its liquidity profile and various financing alternatives for opportunities to enhance its capital structure. Ifthe Company determines that conditions are favorable, the Company may refinance or repurchase existing debt or
issue additional debt, equity or equity-linked securities.

See Note 10, "FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS" to our audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements for further details and this Item “— Liquidity and Capital Resources — Liquidity and Debt— Long-term Debt” for additional discussion of
these matters. Cash requirements for future debt repayments including interest canbe found inthis Item “—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations.”
ImprovePatientAccess

Improving patient access to ourproducts, as well as making them more affordable, is a key element ofourbusiness strategy.
PatientAccess andPricing Committee - In 2016, we formed the Patient Access and Pricing Committee which is responsible for setting, changing and monitoring the pricing ofour products and evaluating contract arrangements that determine

programs could affect the averagerealizedpricing for ourproducts andmay have a significant impact on our company revenue andprofit
Bausch Health AssistanceProgram - We are committed to supporting patients who have lost employment health benefits due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and because it is important to continue prescribed treatments, we are proud to offer

certain ofour prescription medicines through our Bausch Health Assistance Program In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, some people have financial obstacles that keep them from obtaining and continuing their prescribed treatments. The
purpose ofthe Bausch Health Patient Assistance Program is to provide eligible unemployed patients in the U.S., who have lost their health insurance due to the COVID-19 pandemic, with certain ofourprescription products although their financial
circumstances or insurance status may otherwise interfere with their ability to do so. If approved, patients receive their Bausch Health Companies Inc. prescription product(s) at no cost to them for up to one year, and may be able to reapply to the
program annually ifthey continue to meet eligibility requirements and have a validprescription.

Cash-pay Prescription Program - In February 2019, we launched Dermatology.com, 2 cash-pay product acquisition program offering certain branded Ortho Dermatologics products directly to patients. In March 2020, the name
‘Dermatology.comwas removed as the cash-pay product program name, with the name Dermatology.com limited to only online usage, including future digital teledermatology and e-commerce offerings. The cash-pay program is designedto address
the affordability andavailability ofcertainbranded dermatologyproducts, when insurers andpharmacybenefit managers are no longer offering thosebranded prescriptionpharmaceutical products under theirdesignated pharmacybenefit offerings.

Walgreens FujfilimentArrangements - In the beginning of2016, we launched a brand fulfillment arrangementwith Walgreen Co. (“Walgreens”). Under the termsofthe brand fulfillment arrangement, as amended in July 2019, we made certain
dermatology and ophthalmology products available to eligible patients through patient access and co-pay assistance programs at Walgreens U_S. retailpharmacy locations, as well as participating independent retail pharmacies. Ourproducts available
under this fulfillment agreement include certain Ortho Dermatologics products, including our Duobrii*, Bryhali*, Arazlo*, Jublia®, Luzu*, Retin-A Micro* Gel and Onexton® and select branded prescription pharmaceutical products included in our
cash-pay prescriptionprogram, and certain ophthalmology products, including ourVyzulta*, Besivance*, Lotemax®, Alrex®, Prolensa*, Bepreve® andZylet® products.
Jnvest in Sustainable Growth Drivers to Position usforLong-Term Growth

‘Weare constantly challenged by the changing dynamics ofourindustry to innovate andbringnew products to market. We havedivested certain businesses where we saw limited growth opportunities, so that we can be more aggressive in
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Tedirecting our R&D spend andother corporate investments to innovatewithin ourcore businesses wherewebelieve we canbe mostprofitable and where we aimtobe an industry leader.
‘We believe that we have a well-established product portfolio that is diversified within our core businesses and provides a sustainable revenue stream to fund our operations. However, our future success is also dependent upon our ability to

continually refresh our pipeline, to provide a rotation ofproduct launches that meet new and changing demands andreplace other products that have lost momentum. We believe we have a robustpipeline that not onlyprovides for the next generation
ofour existing products, but is alsopoisedto bring new products to market.

Invest in ourEye-Health Business - As part ofour global Bausch + Lomb business strategy, we continually look for key trends in the eye-health market to meet changing consumer/patient needs and identify areas for investment to extend our

For instance, there is an increasing rate ofmyopia, and importantly, myopia as a potential risk factor for glaucoma, macular degeneration and retinal detachment. We continue to see increased demand for new eye-health products that address
conditions brought onby factors such as increased screen time, lack ofoutdoor activities and academic pressures, as well as conditions brought on by anaging population (for example, as more and more baby-boomers in the U.S. are reaching the age
of65). To extend our market share in eye-health, we continually seek to identify new products tailored to address these key trends for development internally with our own R&D team to generate organic growth. Recent product launches include

Biotrue* ONEday daily disposable contact lenses, the next generation ofBausch + Lomb ULTRA®contact lenses, araataeNakeedSeagt SeeTament> Waal’ (¢ pressure lowenng eve drop for Pasent wath anglegisucoma orocular hypertension) and Ocuvite* Eye Performance (vitamins to protect the eye from stressors such as sunlight and blue light emitted from digital devices)

aeenssiemreenginengrons BADepeetehdepsweepregentparmAsreicasedweceolexeess
approved bythe FDA, will be the first treatment forpatients suffering from macular edema associated with uveitis; andNOVO3, aninvestigational drugwith a novel mechanismofaction to teatDED associatedwith MGD. We also acquired the U.S.
Tights to EM-100, which was recently approved by the FDA as Alaway® Preservative-Free and is the first OTC preservative-free formulation eye drop for the temporary reliefofitchy eyes due to pollen, ragweed, grass, animal hair, and dander in
adults and children 3 years ofage and older. Recently, we entered into an agreement which provides the Company an option to acquire all ophthalmology assets ofAllezro, including risuteganib (Luminate®), an investigational compound in retina,
which is believed to simultaneously act on the angiogenic, inflammatory and mitochondrial metabolic pathways implicated in diseases such as intermediate dry AMD. AU.S. Phase 2a study with risuteganib in intermediate dry AMD met its primary
endpoint ofvision recovery and Phase 3 testing is im the planning stages. We believe investments in these investigational treatments, if approved by the FDA, will complement, and help build upon, our strong portfolio of integrated eye-health
products.

As previously discussed, we have also made strategic investments inour infrastructure, the most significant ofwhich are at ourWaterford facility imIreland to meet the forecasted demand for our Biotrue* ONEdaylenses, our Rochester facility
in New York to address the expected global demand for our Bausch + Lomb ULTRA® contact lens and our Lynchburg facility in Virginia to be our main point of distribution for medical devices in the U.S. During late 2018, we began investing in
additional expansionprojects at the Waterford and Rochester facilities in order to address the expected global demand for our SiHy Daily disposable contact lenses, whichwe launched in the U.S. in August 2020, under the branded name Bausch+
Lomb INFUSE™ SiHyDaily Disposable contactlens.

‘Webelieve our recentproduct launches, licensing arrangements and the investments in our Waterford, Rochester and Lynchburg facilities demonstrate the growthpotential we see in ourBausch + Lomb products andour eye-health business and
that these investments will positionus to furtherextendourmarket share in the eye-healthmarket.

‘to furthercapitalize onthe value ofthe infrastructure we built aroundtheseproducts to extend our market share.
In the firstquarter of 2017, we hired approximately 250 trained and experienced sales force representatives and managers to create, bolster and sustain deep relationships withprimary care physicians (“PCP”). With approximately 70% ofIBS-

D patients initiallypresenting symptoms to a PCP, we continue to believethat the dedicated PCP sales force is betterpositionedto reach morepatients in need ofIBS-D treatment.
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‘This initiative provided us with positive results, as we experienced consistent growth in demand for our GI products throughout 2017 through 2020, which was evident by our growth in Salix revenues of22% when comparing 2020 to 2017.
‘These results encouraged us to seek out ways to bring out furthervalue through leveraging our existing sales force and, in the later portion of2018 and in 2019, we identified and executed oncertain opportunities whichwe describe below.

StrategicAcquisition - As previously discussed, in March 2019, we completed the acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy, whereby we acquired the worldwide rights to the Trulance® product, 2 once-daily tablet for adults with chronic
‘idiopathic constipation, orCIC and irritable bowel syndrome withconstipation, orIBS-C. We believe that the Trulance* productcomplements ourexisting Salixproducts and allows us toeffectively leverage our existing Gi sales force.

LicensingArrangements - As previously discussed, im April 2019, we entered into two licensing agreements. The first is for certain intellectual property relating to an investigational compound targeting the pituitary adenylate cyclase
receptor 1 in NAFLD, NASH and other GI and liver diseases. The second is to develop and commercialize MT-1303 (amiselimod), a late-stage oral compound that targets the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor that plays a role in autoimmune
diseases, such as inflammatory bowel disease and ulcerative colitis. These licenses present unique developmental opportunities to address unmet needs of individuals suffering with certain GI and liver diseases and ifdeveloped and approved
by theFDA, will allow us to further utilize our existing sales force and infrastructure to extend our market share inthe future andcreatevalue.

Investment in Next Generation Formulations - Revenues from our Xifaxan* product increased approximately 2%, 22% and 22% in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In order to extend growth in Xifaxan*, we contimue to directly invest
im next generation formulations ofXifzxan® and rifsximin, the principal semi-synthetic antibiotic used in our Xifaxan® product. In addition to one R&D program in progress, we have three other R&D programs planned for next generation
formulatifXifaxan® (rifaximin) which address new indicati
‘Webelieve that the acquisition and licensing opportunities discussed above will be accretive to our business by providing us access to products and investigational compounds that are a natural pairing to our Xifaxan® business, allowing us to

effectively leverage ourexisting infrastructure and sales force. We believe these opportunities, coupled withour investment in next generationformulations, will allow ourGI franchise to continue to furtherextend market share.
Position the Ortho DermatologicsBusinessfor Growth - In 2018, we realignedour Solta aesthetics business andcombineditwithour medical dermatology business, creatinga complete dermatologyportfolio. We continue to make investments

in our Solta portfolio and anticipate building out our Solta sales force, particularly in Europe to address the growing demand. Our Ortho Demmatologics business continues to work towards improving the treatment options for medical dermatology

In supportofthe complete dermatolog portfolio we ha e taken and are taking a numberof actions that we belie e will help our efforts to stabilize our dermatolog business These actions include (i) rebranding our dermatolog business
inchading our aesthetics business (ii) appointing a new leader (ii) making ke im estments in our core medical de ice and dermatological products portfolios (i ) right sizing and reorganizing our dermatolog sales force across rough! 195 sales
territories as we work to rebuildrelationshipswithprescribers ofourproducts and ( )impro img patient access to our Ortho Dermatologics products through our cash pa prescription programpre ious] discussed

Investment in Our CoreDermatology Portfolio - We have made significant investments to build out our aesthetics, psoriasis and acne product portfolios, which are the markets within dermatology where we see the greatest opportunities toextend ourmarket share.

Aesthetics - In 2017, we launched our Next Generation Thermage FLX* product in the U.S., a fourth-generation non-invasive treatment option using 2 radiofrequency platform designed to optimize key fumctional characteristics and
improve patient outcomes. During 2018 and2019, Next Generation Thermage FLX® was launched inHong Kong, Japan, Korea, Taiwan, Philippines, Singapore, Indonesia, Malaysia, China, Thailand, Vietnam, and Australia as part ofour Solta
medical aesthetic devices portfolio. These launches have been successful as Next Generation Thermage FLX® revenues for 2020 and 2019 were $142 million and $77 million, respectively. We expect additional launches ofNext Generation
Thermage FLX® in Europe in the near term, pacedby country-specific regulatory registrations.

Psoriasis As the numberofreported cases ofpsoriasis in theUS has increased we belie e there is a need to make further in estments im this market in order to maximize our opportumit and supplement our current psoriasis product
Portfolio We launchedDuobrii® in June 2019 andlaunched Br hali* inNo ember2018 We expect that
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Duobrii*andBryhali® will alignwell with our existing topical portfolio ofpsoriasis treatments and, supplemented by our injectable biologic products, such as Siliq® (launched in July 2017), will provide a diverse choiceofpsoriasis treatments
to doctors andpatients.

‘first lotion (ratherthan a gel or cream) product containing tretinoin forthe treatmentofacne, and Retin-A Micro* 0.06% (launchedin January 2018). We also have two other unique acne projects in ourpipeline that, ifapprovedby the FDA, webelieve will furtherinnovate and advance the treatment ofacne.

Bolstered by new product launches in our aesthetics, psoriasis and acne product lines and the potential of other products under development, our experienced dermatology sales leadership team, our sales force and our cash-pay prescription
program, we believe we have set the groundwork to position theOrtho Dermatologics business for future growth.
Business Trends

In additionto the actionspreviously outlined, the events described below have affected and may affect ourbusiness trends
Health CareReform

The U.S.federal and state governments continue to propose and pass legislation designed to regulate the health care industry. In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the “ACA™) was enacted in the U.S. The ACA
contains several provisions that impact our business, including (i) an increase in the minimum Medicaid rebate to states participating in the Medicaid program. (ii) the extension of the Medicaid rebates to Managed Care Organizations that dispense
drugs to Medicaid beneficiaries, (iii) the expansion ofthe 340(B) Public Health Services drug pricing program, which provides outpatient drugs at reduced rates, to include additional hospitals, clinics and health care centers and (iv) a fee payable to
the federal governmentbased onour prior-calendar-year sharerelative to other companiesofbrandedprescription drug sales to specified governmentprograms.

In addition, in 2013 federal subsidies began to be phased in for brand-name prescription drugs filled in the Medicare Part D coverage gap. The ACA also included provisions designed to increase the number ofAmericans covered by health
insurance. In 2014, the ACA's private health insurance exchanges began to operate. The ACA also allowss states to expandMedicaid coveragewith most ofthe expansion s cost paid forby the federal government.

For 2020, 2019 and 2018, we incurred costs of $21 million, $20 million and $36 million, respectively, related to the annual fee assessed on prescription drug manufacturers and importers that sell branded prescription drugs to specified
U.S. government programs (ez, Medicare and Medicaid). For2020, 2019 and 2018, we also incurredcosts of$131 million, $137 million and $90 million, respectively, onMedicare Part D utilization incurredby beneficiaries whose prescriptiondrug
costs cause them tobe subject to the Medicare Part D coverage gap (i.e., the “donut hole”).

specifically to reduce patient out-of-pocket costs for medicines could result in new mandatory rebates anddiscounts or other pricing restrictions. Also, it is possible, as discussed furtherbelow, that legislation will be passedby Congress repealing the
ACA inwhole or inpart. Adoption oflegislation at the federal or state level could materially affect demandfor, orpricing of, ourproducts.

In 2018, we faceduncertainties due to federal legislative and administrative efforts torepeal, substantially modify or invalidate some or all ofthe provisions ofthe ACA. However, webelieve there is low likelihood ofrepeal ofthe ACA, given
the recent failure ofthe Senate s multiple attempts to repeal various combinations ofACA provisions and the recent change in administration There is no assurance that any replacement or administrative modifications ofthe ACA will not adversely
affect our business and financial results, particularly ifthe replacing legislation reduces incentives for employer-sponsored insurance coverage, and we cannot predict how future federal or state legislative or administrative changes relating to thereformwill affect ourbusiness.

In 2019, the U.S. Health and Human Services Administration announced a preliminary plan to allow for the importation of certain lower-cost drugs from Canada. The preliminary plan excludes insulin, biological drugs, controlled substances
and intravenous drugs. Thepreliminary plan relies onindividual states to develop proposals for safe importation ofthose drugs fromCanada and submit those proposals to the federal government for approval. Althoughthe preliminary planhas some
‘support from the prior administration, at this time, studies to evaluate the related costs and benefits, evaluate the reasonableness ofthe logistics, and measure the public reactionof such a plan have not been performed. While we do not believe thiswill have
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a significant impact onour future cash flows, we cannot provide assurance as to the ultimate context, timing, effect or impact ofsuch a plan.
In 2019, the GovernmentofCanada (Health Canada) published im the Canadian Gazette the new pricing regulation forpatented drugs. These regulations will become effective on July 1, 2021. The new regulations will change the mechanics of

establishing the pricing forproducts submitted for approval after August 21, 2019; theywill also require full transparency ofdiscounts agreedwithprovincial bodies; and finally, will change the number and composition ofreference countries used to
determine if2 drugsprice is excessive. While we do not believe this will have a significant impact on our future cash flows, as additional facts materialize, we cannot provide assurance as to the ultimate content, timing. effect or impact of such
Tegulations.

In July 2020, U.S. President Donald Trump signed four Executive Orders related to drug pricing, including orders addressing (i) Part D rebate reform, (ii) the provision of deeply discounted insulin and/or an EpiPen to patients ofFederally
Qualified Health Centers, (tii) drug importation from Canada and (iv) most favored nationpricing for Medicare. In November 2020, U.S. President Donald Trump announced the MostFavored Nation Model for Medicare Part B Payment whichwas
to be implemented by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Innovation Center on January 1, 2021; however, it has not been implemented, as it is currently being challenged in court. It is also uncertain whether the Biden administration
‘intends to reverse these measures or adopt similar policy initiatives. However, President Biden and several members ofthe current U.S. Congress have indicatedthat lowering drug prices is a legislative andpolitical priority, and some have introduced
proposals that seek to address drug pricing. We are currentlyreviewing those Executive Orders and the MostFavoredNationModel, the impact ofwhich is uncertain at this time.

Other legislative efforts relating to drug pricing have been enacted and others have beenproposed at the U_S. federal and state levels. For instance, certain states have enacted legislation relatedto prescription drug pricing transparency. Several
‘States have passed importation legislation and Florida is working with the U.S. government to implement an importation program from Canada. We also anticipate that Congress, state legislatures and third-party payors may continue to review and
assess alternativehealth care delivery andpayment systems and may inthe futurepropose and adopt legislation or policychanges or implementations affecting additional fundamental changes in the healthcare delivery system. We continuallyreview
newly enacted and proposed U.S. federal and state legislation, as well as proposed rulemaking and guidance publishedby the Department ofHealth and Human Services and the FDA; however, at this time, it is unclear the effect these matters may‘have onour businesses.

Certain ofour products face the expiration oftheirpatent or regulatory exclusivity in 2021 orin lateryears, following which we anticipate generic competition ofthese products. In addition, in certaincases, as a result ofnegotiated settlements
ofsome of ourpatent infringement proceedings against generic competitors, we have granted licenses to such generic companies, which will permit them to enter the market with their generic products prior to the expiration ofour applicable patent
or regulatory exclusivity. Finally, for certain ofourproducts that lostpatent or regulatory exclusivity inprioryears, we anticipate that generic competitors may launch in 2021or im later years. Following a lossofexclusivity ("LOE") ofand/or generic
competition for a product, we would anticipate that product sales for suchproduct would decrease significantly shortly following the LOE orentryofa generic competitor. Where we have the rights, we may elect to launch an authorized generic of
such product (either ourselves or through a third-party) prior to, upon or following generic entry, which may mitigate the anticipated decrease in product sales; however, evenwith launch ofan authorized generic, the decline in product sales of such
productwould still be expectedto be significant, and the effect on our future revenues couldbe material

A number ofour products already facegeneric competition. Prior to and during 2020, in the U.S., these products include, among others, Ammonul®, Apriso*, Benzaclin*, Bupap*, Cuprimine*, Demser®, Edecrin®, Elidel*, Giumetza®, Istalol®,
Isuprel®, Locoid® Lotion, Lotemax® Suspension, Mepiyton®, Mina”, MoviPrep*, Niropes*, Solodyn", Syprine, Toptic* in Ocudos®,Uceris Tablet, Viazle®, WellinXL*, Xenaine,Zegrd® and Zovrm® cream. In Cana, theseproducts include, among others, Glumetza®, Wellbutrin® XL andZovirax®

2020LOE BrandedProducts - Brandedproducts thatbegan facing generic competition im the U.S. during 2020 imclude, Migranal® and MoviPrep®. In aggregate, these products accounted for less than 1% ofour total revenues in 2020. While
certain oftheseproducts have already begun experiencing an adverse impact onvolume and/orpricing as a resultofthe entry into the market ofgeneric competition, we are unable topredict the completemagnitude or timing ofthis impact.

competition in the U.S. during the years 2021 through 2025. These products and year of expected LOE include, but are not limited to, Clindagel® (2021), Lotemax® Gel (2021), Noritate* (2021), Targretin® Gel (2022), Xerese*(2022) and certain
otherproducts that are subjectto settlement agreements which could impact their exclusivity during the years 2021 through 2025. In
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aggregate, theseproducts accounted for 2% of our total revenues in 2020. These dates may change based on, among other things, successful challenge to our patents, settlement ofexisting or future patent litigation and at-risk generic launches. We
believe the entry into the market ofgeneric competition generally wouldhave an adverse impact on the volume and/or pricing ofthe affectedproducts, howeverwe are unabletopredict the magnitude or timingofthis impact.

2021 OTCProduct PatentExpiry - PreserVision* AREDS and PreserVision® AREDS 2 are OTC eye vitamin formulas for those with moderate-to-advanced age-related macular degeneration. PreserVision®products accounted for 3% ofour
total revenues in 2020. The PreserVision® U.S. formmlationpatent expires in 2021, but a patent covering methods ofusing the formulation remains in force until 2026. While the Company camnotpredict the magnitude ortimingofthe impact fromits
patent expiry, this is anOTC product and thus, the impact is not expected to be as significant as the LOE ofa brandedpharmaceutical product.

In addition, for a number ofour products (including Relistor®, Plenvu*, Xifaxan* 550mg, Bryhali*, Duobrii* and Jublia*in the U.S. and Jublia*in Canada), we have commenced (or anticipate commencing) and have (or may have) ongoing
infringement proceedings against potential generic competitors in the U.S. and Canada. Ifwe are not successful inthese proceedings, we may face increased generic competition for these products.

Bryhali®Lotion 0.01%¢ (Glenmark) - In December 2019, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement to resolve the outstanding intellectual property litigationwith Glenmark Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. (“Glenmark”). Under the terms
of the agreement, the Company will grant Glenmark a non-exclusive license to its intellectual property relating to Bryhali* in the U.S. and, beginning in 2026 (or earlier under certain circumstances), Glenmark will have the option to market a
Toyalty-free generic versionofBryhali® Lotion, should it receive approval from the FDA. The parties have agreed to dismiss all litigation related to Bryhali® Lotion, and all intellectual propertyprotecting Bryhali® Lotionremains intact.

Bryhali® Lotion 0.0196 (Perrigo) - On March 20, 2020, the Company received a Notice ofParagraph IV Certification from Perrigo Israel Pharmaceuticals, Ltd (“Perigo”), in which Perrigo asserted that certain U.S.patents, eachofwhich is
listed in the FDAs Orange Book for Bryhali* (halobetasol propionate) lotion, 0.01% are either invalid, unenforceable and/or will not be infringed by the commercial manufacture, use or sale of Perrigo s generic halobetasol propionate lotion, for
which an Abbreviated New DrugApplication ("ANDA") hasbeen filed by Perrigo. On May 1, 2020, the Company filed suit against Perrigo pursuant to the Hatch-WaxmanAct, alleging infringementby Perrigo ofone or more claims ofthe Bryhali®
Patents, thereby triggering a 30-month stay ofthe approval ofthe Perrigo ANDA for halobetasol propionate lotion. On September 3, 2020, this action was consolidated with the actionbetween the Company and Perrigo described below, regarding
Perrigo s ANDA for generic Duobrii® (halobetasol propionate and tazarotine) lotion. The Company remains confident in the strengthofthe Bryhali*patents andintends tovigorously pursue this matterand defend its intellectual property.

Duobrii* Lotion (Perrigo) - On July 23, 2020, the Company received a Notice of Paragraph IV Certification from Perrigo, in which Perrigo asserted that certain U.S. patents, each ofwhich is listed in the FDA's Orange Book for Duobrii*
(@alobetasol propionate and tazarotine) lotion, are either invalid, unenforceable and/orwill not be infringedby the commercial manufacture, use or sale ofPerrigo s generic lotion, forwhich an ANDA has been filed by Perrigo. OnAugust 28, 2020,
the Company filed suit against Perrigo pursuant to the Hatch-WaxmanAct, alleging infringementby Perrigo ofone or more claims ofthe Duobrii® Patents, thereby triggering a 30-month stay ofthe approval ofthe Perrigo ANDA On September 3,
2020, this action was consolidatedwith the action between the Company and Perrigo described above, regarding Perrigo s ANDA for generic Bryhali* (halobetasol propionate) lotion. We remain confident in the strength ofthe Duobrii® patents and

Xifexcan*® 550mg PatentLitigation (Actavis) - On March 23, 2016, the Company initiated litigation against Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc. s ("Actavis"), which alleged infringement by Actavis ofone or more claims of each ofthe Xifaxan®
patents. On September 12, 2018, we announcedthat we had reached an agreement with Actavis that resolvedthe existing litigation and eliminated the pending challenges to our intellectaal property protecting Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets. Aspart of the agreement, the parties agreed to dismiss all litigation related to Xifaxan® (rifaximin), Actavis acknowledged the validity of the licensed patents for Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets and all intellectual property protecting Xifaxan®
(ifaximin) 550 mg tablets will remain intact and enforceable until expiry im 2029. The agreement also grants Actavis a non-exclusive license to the intellectual property relating to Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets in the United States beginning
January 1, 2028 (or earlier under certain circumstances). The Company will not make any financial payments or other transfers ofvalue as part ofthe agreement. In addition, under the terms ofthe agreement, beginning January 1, 2028 (or earlier
under certain circumstances), Actavis will have the option to (1) market a royalty-free generic version ofXifaxan®tablets, 550 mg, should it receive approval from the FDA on its ANDA, or (2) market an authorized generic version of Xifaxan®
tablets, 550 mg, in whichcase, we will receive a share ofthe economics from Actavis on its sales of such an authorized generic. Actavis will be able to commence such marketing earlier ifanother generic rifaximin product is granted approval and
such other generic rifaximinproductbegins to be sold or distributedbefore January 1, 2028.
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Xifeccan*®550mgPatentLitigation (Sandoz) - In October 2019, the Company announced that it and its licensor, Alfasigma had commenced litigation against Sandoz Inc. ("Sandoz"), a Novartis division, allegingpatent infringement of 14 patents
by Sandoz's filing ofits ANDA for Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets. On May 6, 2020, the Company announced that an agreement had been reached with Sandozthat resolved this litigation. Under the terms ofthe agreement, the parties agreed todismiss all litigation relatedto Xifaxan* (rifaximin), Sandoz acknowledged the validity ofthe licensed patents for Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets and all intellectual property protecting Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets will remain intact and
enforceable until expiry in October 2029. The agreement also grants Sandoz a non-exclusive license to the intellectual property relating to Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets in the United States beginning January 1, 2028 (or earlier under certain
circumstances). Under the terms of the agreement, beginning January 1, 2028 (or earlier under certain circumstances), Sandoz will have the right to market a royalty-free generic version ofXifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets, should it receive
approval from the FDA on its ANDA. Sandoz will be able to commence such marketing earlier if another generic rifaximin product is granted approval and such other generic rifaximin product begins to be sold or distributed in the U.S. before
January 1, 2028. The Company did not make any financial payments or other transfers ofvalue as part ofthis agreement with Sandoz.

Xifexcan* 550mgPatentLitigation (Norwich) - On March 26, 2020, the Company and its licensor Alfasigma filed suit against Norwich Pharmaceuticals Inc. (“Norwich”), alleging infringement by Norwich ofone or more claims of the 23
‘Xifaxan® patents by Norwich s filing of its ANDA for Xifaxan* (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets. On November 13, 2020, an additional three patents alleged to be infringed by Norwichwere addedto the suit. Xifaxan® 500mg is protected by 26 patents
covering the composition ofmatter and the use ofXifaxan® listed in the FDA s Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, or the Orange Book. The Company remains confident in the strength ofthe Xifaxan® patents and
will continue to vigorouslypursue this matter and defendits intellectual property.

Xjfexxan*®200mgand550mgPatentLitigation (Sun) - In April 2019, the Company and its licensor, Alfasigma, commenced litigation against Sun Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (“Sun”), alleging patent infringementby Sumsfiling ofits ANDA
for Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 200 mg tablets. This suithadbeen filed following receiptofa Notice ofParagraph IV Certification from Sun, inwhich Sun assertedthat the U.S. patents listed in the FDA's Orange Book for the Company s Xifaxan® tablets,
200 mg, were either invalid, unenforceable and/or would not be infringed by the commercial manufacture, use or sale of Sun s generic rifaximin tablets, 200 mg. Subsequently, on August 10, 2020, the Company received an additional Notice of
Paragraph IV Certification from Sun, in which Sun asserted that the U.S. patents listed in the FDA's Orange Book for the Company s Xifaxan® tablets, 550 mg, were either invalid, unenforceable and/or would not be infringed by the commercial
manufacture, use or saleofSuns generic rifaximintablets, 550 mg, forwhich anANDA had been filedby Sun. OnSeptember 22, 2020, the Companyannounced that an agreement had beenreached with Sunthatresolvedthe outstanding intellectual
property disputes with Sun regarding Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 200 mg and 550 mg tablets. Under the terms ofthe agreement, the parties agreed to dismiss all litigation related to Xifaxan® (rifaximin) and all intellectual property protecting Xifaxan®
(cifaximin) 200 mg and 550 mg tablets will remain intact and enforceable until expiry in July andOctober 2029, respectively. The agreement also grants Sun a non-exclusive license to the intellectual property relating to Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 200 mg
and 550 mg tablets in the U.S. beginning January 1, 2028 (or earlier under certain circumstances). Under the terms ofthe agreement, beginning January 1, 2028 (or earlier under certain circumstances), Sun will have the right to market royalty-free
generic versions ofXifaxan® (rifaximin) 200 mg and 550 mg tablets, should it receive approval from the FDA on its ANDAs. Sun will be able to commence such marketing earlier if another generic rifaximinproduct is granted approval and such
other generic rifaximinproduct begins to be sold or distributed in the U.S. before January 1, 2028.

Relistor® Tablets PatentLitigation (Actavis) - On December 6, 2016, the Company initiated litigation against Actavis, which alleged infringement by Actavis ofone or more claims of US.Patent No. 8,524,276 (the “276 Patent”), which
protects the formulation ofRELISTOR® tablets. Actavis had challenged the validity of such patent and alleged non-infringement by its generic version of such product. In July 2019, we announced that the U.S. District Court ofNew Jersey had
upheld the validityofanddetermined thatActavis infringed the ‘276 Patent, expiring in March 2031. Actavis has appealed this decisionto the U.S. Court ofAppeals for the Federal Circuit.

Generic Competition to Uceris® - In July 2018, a generic competitor launched a product which will directly compete with our Uceris® Tablet product. As disclosed in ourprior filings, the Company initiatedvarious infringement proceedings
against this generic competitor. The Court construed the claims ofthe assertedpatents on August 2, 2019 and, on October 24, 2019, the Company agreed to ajudgment that the asserted patents did not coverthe generic tabletsunder the Court s claim
construction, while reserving its right to appeal the claim construction OnNovember 22, 2019, the Company fileda Notice ofAppeal with respect to the claim construction in the Court ofAppeals for the Federal Circuit. On December 18, 2020, the
Court ofAppeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the District Court s claim construction. The ultimate impact ofthis generic competitor on our future revenues cannot be predicted; however, Uceris® Tablet revenues for 2020, 2019 and 2018 were
approximately $15 million, $20 million and $84 million, respectively.
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Generic Competition to Jublia® - On June 6, 2018, the U.S. Patent and Trial Appeal Board (“PTAB™) completed its inter partes review for an Orange Book-listed patent covering Jublia* (U.S. Patent No 7,214,506 (the “ 506 Patent™)) and
issued a written determination invalidating such patent. On March 13, 2020, the Court ofAppeals for the Federal Circuit reversed this decision and remanded the matterback to the PTAB for further proceedings. As a result ofa settlement, ajoint
motion to terminate the proceedings was filed on November 12, 2020 and, on January 8, 2021, the PTAB granted this motion. The ‘506 Patent, therefore, remains valid and enforceable and expires in 2026. Jublia® revenmes for 2020, 2019 and 2018
‘were approximately $111 million, $110million and $89 million, respectively. Jublia® is covered by fourteen additional Orange Book-listedpatents owned by the Company or its licensor, which expire in the years 2028 through 2035. InAugust and
September 2018, we received notices of the filing of a number of ANDAs with paragraph IV certification, and have timely filed patent infringement suits against these ANDA filers, and, im addition, we have also commenced certain patent
infringement proceedings inCanada against three separate defendants.

The risks of generic competition are a fact ofthe health care industry and are not specific to our operations or product portfolio. These risks are not avoidable, but we believe they are manageable. To manage these risks, our leadership team

alignedwith our core businesses that are expected to provide incremental and sustainable revenues and growth into the future. We believe that our current pipeline is strong enough to meet these objectives and provide future sources ofrevenues, in
our core businesses, sufficient enough to sustainour growthand corporate health as otherproducts in ourestablishedportfolio face generic competition and lose momentum.

‘We believe that we have a well-established product portfolio that is diversified within our core businesses. We also believe that we have a robust pipeline that not only provides for the next generation ofour existing products, but also brings‘new solutions into the market.

‘See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” ofthis Form 10-K for additional information on our competitionrisks.

71 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

‘The following table provides financial performance highlights for eachofthe last threeyears

 
‘Years Ended December

(in millions exceptpersharedata) 2020 2019 2018 2019 to 2020 2018 to 2019
Revenues $ 8027 $ 8601 § 8380 $ G4)=$ 221
Operating income (loss) $ 676 =O 03) $ e384) $ sm $ 2,181
Loss before benefit from income taxes s @34)=$ 837) $ Gis) $ 903 § 2,317
Net loss s G59) $ 783) $ G4) $s 124«=$ 2361
Net loss attributable toBauschHealth Companies Inc. $s (60) $ 788) $ Gl4s)  $ 1228 «OS 2,360
‘Loss per share attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc.

Basic $ ass) $ 6.08) $ qaish $ 350 $ 6.73
Diluted $ ass) $ 6.08) $ qaish $ 350 $ 6.73
no

Summaryof2020 Comparedwith 2019
Revenues for 2020 and 2019 were $8,027 million and $8,601 million, respectively, a decrease of$574 million, or 7%. The decrease was primarily driven by (i) lowervolumes driven by (a) social restrictions and otherprecautionary measures

taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed, and (6) the impact of the LOE of certain products, (ii) the unfavorable effect of foreign currencies, primarily im Latin America, and (iii) the impact of divestitures and
discontinustions. These decreases in ourrevenues were partially offset by the incremental sales ofour Trulance® product, whichwe added to our portfolio in March 2019 as part ofthe acquisition ofcertain assets of Synergy. Net realized pricing was
fiat with increases in Bausch + Lomb/Intemational and Diversified Products being offset by decreases in Salix and Ortho Dermatologics. The changes in our segment revenues and segment profits are discussed in further detail in the subsequent
section titled “Reportable SegmentRevenues and Profits”.

Operatingincome for 2020 was $676 million comparedto Operating loss for 2019 of$203 million, anincrease in our operating results of$879 million whichreflects, among otherfactors
* a decrease in contribution (product sales revenue less cost of goods sold, exclusive ofamortization and impairments ofintangible assets) of $470 million. The decrease was primarily driven by (ji) the decrease in revenues, as previously

discussed and (ii) higher manufacturingvariances primarily due to the impacts oftheCOVID-19 pandemic. The decrease was partially offsetby lowerthird-party royalty costs;
+ a decrease in Selling, general, and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses of$187 million, primarily attributable to profitprotectionmeasures taken to manage andreduce operating expenses during the COVID-19 pandemic:
+ a decrease in R&D of$19 million primarily attributable to social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed;
+ a decrease inAmortization ofintangible assets of$252 millionprimarilyattributable to fully amortized intangible assets no longerbeing amortized in 2020;
* am increase in Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale of $39 million Asset impairments. including loss on assets held for sale in 2020 were primarily related to (i) reclassifying a business within our Bausch +

Lomb/International segment as held for sale and (ii) certainproduct lines as a resultofchanges to forecasted sales. Impairments during 2019 were primarily related to (i) certain product lines as a result ofchanges to forecasted sales due to
generic competition and other factors and (ii) impairments related to assets being classified as heldfor sale; and

+ adecrease in Other expense (income), netof$960 million, primarily attributable the decrease in net charges to Litigation and othermatters. The decrease in Litigation and other matters was primarily related to the settlement ofa legacy U.S.
securities class action matter (which is subject to an objector’s appealofthe final court approval) in 2019, to which the Company and the other settling defendants admitted no liability as to the claims against it and denied all allegations of
wrongdoing.

Operatingincome for 2020 was $676 million comparedto Operating loss for 2019 of$203 million and includes non-cashcharges for Depreciationand amortization ofintangible assets of$1,825 million and $2,075 million, Asset impairments,
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‘inchadingloss on assets held for sale of$114 millionand $75 million and Share-basedcompensationof$105 million and $102 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Our Loss beforebenefit from income taxes for 2020 and 2019 was $934 millionand $1,837 million, respectively, an increase in ourresultsbefore benefit from income taxes of$903 million The decrease in our Loss beforebenefit from income

taxes is primarily attributable to (i) the increase in our operating results of$879 million, as previously discussed, and (ii) a decrease in Interest expense of $78 million as a result of (a) a lower weighted average stated rate of interest, (b) lower
‘interest as a result ofdebt repayments during the year and (c) a benefit related to the Company's cross-curency swaps. These decreases in Interest expense were partially offset by the interest associated with $1,210 million ofadditional financing in
December 2019 relating to the U.S. Securities Litigation. The decrease in our Loss beforebenefit from income taxes was partially offsetby (i) an unfavorable net change in Foreign exchange and other of$38 million and (ii) an increase in the Loss
on extinguishment ofdebt of$17 million.

‘Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. for 2020 and 2019 was $560 million and $1,788 million, respectively, an increase in our results of$1,228 million. The increase in our results was primarily due to (i) the decrease in Loss
before benefit from income taxes of $903 million, as previously discussed, and (ii) the favorable net change in the Benefit from income taxes of $321 million.
Summaryof2019 Comparedwith 2018

Revenues for 2019 and 2018 were $8,601 million and $8,380 million, respectively, am increase of$221 million, or 3%. The increase was primarily driven by (i) higher net realized pricing, (ii) higher volumes and (iii) sales ofour Trulance*
product, which we added to ourportfolio inMarch 2019 as part ofthe acquisition ofcertain assets of Synergy. These increases in Revenues were partially offset by (i) the unfavorable effect offoreign currencies, primarily in Europe, Asia and Latin

Operatingloss for 2019 and 2018 was $203 millionand $2,384 million, respectively, an increase inouroperatingresults of$2,181 million whichreflects, among other factors
an increase in contribution (product sales revemne less cost ofgoods sold, exclusive of amortization and impairments of intangible assets) of $230 million The increase was primarily driven by (i) higher gross selling prices, (ii) higher
‘volumes, (iii) the incremental contribution ofthe salesofour Trulance® product, whichwe added to ourportfolio inMarch 2019aspartofthe acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy and (iv) better inventory management, partially offset by
@ the unfavorable effect offoreign currencies, (ii) the impact of divestitures and discontinuations, (iii) higher sales deductions and (iv) the amortization of the inventory fair value step-up recorded in acquisition accounting related to the
inventories we acquiredas part ofthe acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy;
an increase in SG&A expenses of $81 million, primarily attributable to (i) higher selling, advertising and promotion expenses, (ii) the impact of the acquisition of certain assets of Synergy, (iii) costs in 2019 attributable to our IT
infrastructure improvement projects and (iv) the charge associatedwith the termination ofa co-promotional agreement with US WorldMeds, LLC. The increase was partially offset by (i) the favorable effect offoreign currencies, (ii) lower
costs relatedto professional services and (iii) the impact ofdivestitures and discontinuations;
an increase inR&D of$58 millionprimarily attributable to 2 number ofprojects within ourBausch + Lomb andGIbusinesses;

a decrease in Amortization ofintangible assets of$747 million, primarily due to (j) the impact ofthe change in the estimateduseful life ofthe Xifaxan®related intangible assets made in September 2018toreflect management's changes in
assumptions, (ii) fully amortizedintangible assets no longerbeing amortized in 2019 and (iii) lower amortization as a result ofimpairments to intangible assets inpriorperiods;
a decrease in Goodwill impairments of$2,322 million, as a result of impairments in 2018 to the goodwill ofour (i) Salix reporting umit upon adopting the new guidance for goodwill impairment accounting at January 1, 2018, (ii) Ortho
Demmatologics reportingunit due to unforeseen changes in business dynamics during the three months ended March31, 2018 and (iii) Dentistry reporting umit as a resultofrevised forecasts due to changing market conditions duringthe three
months endedDecember 31, 2018;
a decrease inAsset impairments, including loss on assets held for saleof$493 million, primarily related to specific impairments in 2018 as a resultof (i) decreases inforecasted sales forthe Uceris® Tablet product due to generic competition
and (ii) decreases in forecasted sales for the Arestin® product due to changing market conditions; and
an increase inOther expense (income), netof$1,434 million, primarily attributable to (i) an increase in net charges to Litigation and other matters primarilyrelatedto the settlement ofa legacy US. securities class actionmatter (which is
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subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval) in 2019, to which the Company and the other settling defendants admittedno liability as to the claims against it and deny all allegations ofwrongdoing and (ii) Acquired in-process
esearch and development costs incurred during 2019 associated with the upfront payments to enter into certain exclusive licensing agreements. These increases in other expenses were partially offset by the expected receipt for the
achievement ofa milestone relatedto a certain product.

Operating loss for 2019 and 2018 was $203 million and $2,384 million, respectively, and includes non-cash charges for Depreciation and amortization ofintangible assets of$2,075 million and $2,819 million, Goodwill impairments of$0 and
$2,322 million, asset impairments of$75 million and$568 million and Share-based compensation of$102 million and $87 million, respectively.

Our Loss before benefit from income taxes for 2019 and 2018 was $1,837 million and $4,154 million, respectively, an increase in our results before benefit from income taxes of $2,317 million. The decrease in our Loss before benefit from
‘imcome taxes isprimarily attributable to (i) the increase in our operating results of$2,181 millionpreviously discussed, (ii) the decrease in the Loss on extinguishment ofdebt of$77 million and (iii) a decrease in Interest expense of$73 million as a
resultoflowerprincipal amounts ofoutstanding debt for most of2019, partially offsetby the effect ofhigher interest rates during 2019. The decrease in ourLoss before benefit from income taxes was partially offsetbyanunfavorable net change in
Foreign exchange and other of$15 million

Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. for 2019 and 2018 was $1,788 million and $4,148 million, respectively, an increase in our results of$2_360 million The increase in our results was primarily due to the decrease in Loss
before benefit from income taxes of $2,317 million, as previously discussed, and the increase inthe Benefit from income taxesof$44 million.

4
 

Exhibit 2160

Page 082 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 083 of 168

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Our results for the years 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows

‘YearsEnded December 31, ‘Change
(in millions) 2020 2019 2018 2019 to 2020 2018to 2019
‘Revenues
‘Product sales $ 794 $ 3489 $ 8271 $ 665) $ 218
Otherrevenues 103 2 109 ® 3

8.027 8.601 8.380 G74) 21Expenses
Cost ofgoods sold (excludingamortizationandimpairments ofintangible assets) 2.202 2297 2309 es) ay
Cost ofotherrevenues 47 3 2 © ll
Selling, general andadministrative 2367 2554 2473 as7) 81
Researchanddevelopment 452 471 413 as) 58
Amortizationofintangible assets 1,645 1897 2,644 QR) 747)
Goodwill impairments - - 2322 - 2.322)
Asset impairments, inchadinglossonassets held for sale 4 75 568 39 (493)
‘Restructuring, integration and separationcosts 2 31 2 ® 9
Acquisition-related contingent consideration 48 n ® 36 21
Otherexpense(income), net 454 1414 0) (080) 1434

7351 3.304 10.764 1.453) (2,950)
Operatingincome(loss) 676 (203) 384) 879 2181Interest income B n l 1 1
‘Interestexpense 2534) (1612) (2685) 78 73
‘Lossonextinguishmentofdebt 59) 2) alg) an 77
Foreignexchange and other Go 8 23 G8)
Loss beforebenefit fromincome taxes (934) (1.837) (4.154) 903 2317Benefit from income taxes 375 4 10 321 4
Net loss 659) (1.783) Gls) 124 2361
‘Net incomeattributable to noncontrolling interest @ © @ 4 Q)
Netloss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. $ G60) $ (1.7883) $ 4.148) $ 1238 $ 2360 

A detailed discussion ofthe earo er ear changes ofthe Compan s 2019 results compared with that of 2018 cam be found under Management s Discussion and Anal sis of Financial Condition and Results ofOperations in our Annual
Report onForm 10 K forthe ear ended December 31 2019 filedon Februar 19 2020
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2020 Compared with 2019
Revenues

Our revenues are primarily generated from product sales, principally im the therapeutic areas ofeye-health, Gi and dermatology, that consist of (i) branded pharmaceuticals, (ii) generic and branded generic pharmaceuticals, (tii) OTC products

primarily in the areas ofdermatology and topical medication. Contract service revenue is derived primarily from contract manufacturing for thirdparties and is not material. See Note 22, "SEGMENT INFORMATION" to our audited Consolidated

Our revenues were $8,027 million and $8,601 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$574 million, or 7%. The decrease was primarily drivenby (i) lower volumes of$528 millionprimarily in our Bausch + Lomb/International
and Diversified Products segments primarily due to social restrictions and otherprecautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed, (ii) the unfavorable effect offoreign currencies of$39 million primarily
in LatinAmerica and (iii) the impact ofdivestitures and discontinustions of$20 million The decreases in our revenues were partially offsetby the incremental product sales ofour Trulance® product, which we added to our portfolio in March 2019
as part ofthe acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy of$13 million. Net realizedpricing was flat with increases inBausch+Lomb/Intemnational and DiversifiedProducts being offsetby decreases in Salix and Ortho Dermatologics.

Our 2020 revenues were most negatively impacted during our second quarter by the social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as governments began lifting social restrictions,
allowing offices ofcertain health care providers toreopen and certain surgeries and elective medical procedures to proceed, the negative trend in the revenues ofcertainbusinesses began to level offand stabilize priorto our thirdquarterof2020. Our
Tevenues forthe three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $2,213 million and $2,224 million, respectively, a decrease of$11 million This decrease ofless than 1% represents a continuing improving trend over the decreases inour year-
over-year revenues forthe three monthperiods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of23% and 3%, respectively, and suggests that a recovery is underway. Presuming there continues to be increased availability ofeffective vaccines andany
Tesurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus and variant strains thereofdo not have 2 material adverse impact on efforts to contain the COVID-19 virus, the Company anticipates an ongoing, gradual global recovery from the significant macroeconomic and
health care impacts ofthe pandemic thatoccurred during the first-halfof2020 and anticipates that its affected businesses could return to pre-pandemic levels during 2021. However, the rates ofrecovery for eachbusiness will vary by geography and
will be dependent upon, among other things, the availability and effectiveness of vaccines for the COVID-19 virus, government responses, rates 0 economic recovery, precautionary measures taken by patients and customers, the rate at which
Temaining social restrictions are lifted and once lifted, the presumption that socialrestrictions will notbe materiallyreenactedin the event ofa resurgence ofthe virus and other actions taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The changes in our year over year segment revenues and segment profits, including the impacts ofCOVID-19 pandemic related matters for 2020, are discussed im further detail in the respective subsequent sections “ — Reportable SegmentRevenues and Profits”.

CashDiscounts andAllowances, Chargebacks andDistribution Fees
As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, gross product sales are subject to a variety of deductions in arriving at net product sales. Provisions for these deductions are recognized concurrently with the recognition ofgross product sales.

‘These provisions include cash discounts and allowances, chargebacks, and distribution fees, which arepaid or credited to direct customers, as well as rebates and returns, which canbe paid or credited to direct and indirectcustomers. As more fully
discussed in Note 2, "SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company continually monitors the provisions for these deductions and evaluates the estimates used as additional information
becomes available. Price appreciation credits are generated when we increase a product s wholesaler acquisition cost (“WAC”) under our contracts with certain wholesalers. Under such contracts, we are entitled to credits from such wholesalers for
the impact of that WAC increase on inventory on hand at the wholesalers. In wholesaler contracts, such credits are offset against the total distribution service fees we pay on all of our products to each such wholesaler. In addition, some payor
contracts require discounting if a price increase or series ofprice increases im a contract period exceeds a negotiated threshold. Provision balances relating to amounts payable to direct customers are netted against trade receivables and balances
relating toindirect customers are included inaccruedliabilities.
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‘We actively manage these offerings, focusing on the incremental costs ofour patient assistance programs, the level of discounting to non-retail accounts and identifying opportunities to minimize product retums. We also concentrate on
managing our relationships with ourpayors andwholesalers, reviewing the rangesofour offerings andbeingdisciplined as to the amount and type ofincentives we negotiate.

Provisions recordedtoreduce gross productsales tonet product sales and revenues for 2020 and 2019 were as follows

Years Ended December 31,

 

2020 2019
(in millions) Amount Pct. Amount Pct_
Gross product sales s 12,960 100.0% $ 13,776 100.0 %
Provisions to reduce gross product sales to net product sales

Discounts and allowances 621 48% 716 5.6%
Retums 120 0.9% 13 08%
Rebates 2,174 16.8% 2265 16.4%
(Chargebacks 1925 149% 1938 141%
Distribution service fees 196 15% 195 15%

5,036 38.9 % 5,287 384%

‘Net product sales Ss 7924 611% $ 8.489 61.6%
 

‘Cash discounts and allowances returns rebates chargebacks and distribution fees as a percentage of gross product sales were 38 9% and 38 4% in 2020 and 2019 respecti el Changes in cash discounts and allowances retums rebates
chargebacks anddistribution fees as a percentage ofgross product sales were primaril dn enb

+ discounts and allowances as a percentage ofgross product sales was lower primarily due to lower discount rates for certain generic products, such as Glumetza® AG, Migranal® AG and Syprine® AG, partially offset by the impact ofhigher
goss product sales ofXifaxan® andLotemax®AG;

- Tetum as a percentage ofgross product sales was relatively unchanged Overthe last several years, the Company increasedits focus onmaximizingoperational efficiencies and continues to take actions to reduce product retums, including
‘but not limited to (i) monitoring and reducing customer inventory levels, (ii) instituting disciplined pricing policies and (iii) improving contracting. These actions have had the effect ofimproving sales return experience, primarily related
tobranded and generic products. Included in the product sales return provisions for 2020 and 2019 are reductions in variable consideration for sales retums related to past sales of approximately $38 million and $80 million, respectively.
See Note 2, "SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES"toour suditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements regarding further details related to product sales provisions;
Tebates as a percentage of gross product sales was higher primaril due the impact of (i) increases in gross product sales for products that carr higher contractual rebates and co pa assistance programs including the impact of
incremental rebates from contractual price increase limitations for promoted products such as Xifaxan® and Jublia® and (ii) sales of our Trulance® product which we added to our portfolio in March 2019 as part of the acquisition of
certain assets ofS nerg partiall offsetb decreases in gross product sales for products whichcarr higherrebate rates such as Apriso® as a result ofits generic release Lotemax® Suspension and Lotemax® Gel

+ chargebacks as a percentageofgross product sales was higher primarily due to the impact of (i) higher chargeback rates and gross product sales forGlumetza® SLX, Xifaxan® andNifedical® and (ii) the release ofthe generic Apriso* AG
(December 2019). The higher chargebacks as a percentage ofgross product sales were partially offsetby the impact of lower gross product sales of (i) certain generic products, such as Glumetza® AG, Targretin® AG, and Ofloxacin and
G@ the brandedproductNifedical®; and

+ distribution service fees as a percentage of gross product sales was unchanged as the impact of (i) higher gross product sales andhigherdistribution service fee rates associated withour Xifaxan®and Giumetza® SLX products and (ii) sales
ofour Trulance®product, which we added to ourportfolio in March 2019 as partofthe acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergywere offsetby the impact oflower gross product sales ofcertain branded products, such as Apriso® as a result
ofits generic release. Price appreciation credits are offset against the distribution service fees we paywholesalers andwere $15 million and $11 million for2020 and 2019,respectively.
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Operating Expenses
CostofGoodsSold (exclusive ofamortization andimpairmentsofintangibleassets)

‘Cost ofgoods sold primarily includes manufacturing and packaging: the cost ofproducts wepurchase from thirdparties; royalty payments we make to third parties; depreciation ofmanufacturing facilities and equipment; and lower ofcost or

Cost ofgoods soldwas $2,202 millionand $2,297 million for 2020 and2019, respectively, a decrease of$95 million, or 4%. The decrease was primarily drivenby (i) lower third-party royalty costs, (ii) lowervolumes, as previously discussed,
and (iii) the favorable impact offoreigncurrencies. The decreasewas partially offset by (i) higher mamufacturingvariancesprimarilydue to the impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic and (ii) changes in product mix.

Cost ofgoods sold as a percentage ofProduct sales revenue was 27.8% and 27.1% for 2020 and2019, respectively, an increase of0.7 percentagepoints. Costsofgoods sold as a percentage ofProduct sales revenue was unfavorably impactedas
resultof (i) changes im product mix and(ii) highermanufacturing variances primarily dueto the impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic. These factors were partially offsetby lower third-party royalty costs.

incurred, and will incu, separation-related costs which are incremental costs indirectly related to the Separation. Separation-related costs include, but are not limited to (i) IT infrastructure and software licensing costs, (ii) rebranding costs and (iii)

SG&A expenses were $2,367 million and $2,554 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of $187 million, or 7%. The decrease was primarily attributable to (i) the impacts of social restrictions and other precautionary measures
taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed, and (ii) profitprotection measures taken to manage and reduce operating expenses during the COVID-19 pandemic andresulted im decreases in (a) advertising and promotion
expenses and (b) sellingexpenses. The profit protectionmeasures have been successful inexpanding the profit margins in many ofourbusinesses. As the pace ofrecovery in each geography accelerates, we expect to allocatemore resources to selling
and other promotional activities to drive our retum to sustainable revenue and profit growth Therefore, ifthe recovery continues, we expect our operating expenses to increase in support ofour existing products, product launches and products in
development and expect to see our operating expenses in 2021 exceed our operating expenses in 2020 as a result. Included within SG&A expenses for 2020 were $21 millionofseparation-related costs. Included within SG&A expenses for 2019 was
a charge associatedwith the termination ofa certain co-promotional agreement.
ResearchandDevelopmentExpenses

IncludedinResearch and development are costs related to ourproduct development and quality assurance programs. Expenses related to product development include employee compensation costs; overhead and occupancy costs; depreciation

and include employee compensation costs; overhead and occupancy costs; amortizationofsoftware; and other third-party costs.
R&D expenses were $452 million and $471 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$19 million, or4%. R&D expenses as a percentage ofProduct sales were approximately 6% and 5% for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
As previously discussed, primarily duringour second quarterof2020, certainofour R&D activities were limited andothers, including newpatient enrollments im clinical trials, were temporarily paused as most trial siteswere not able to accept

ewpatients due to government mandated shutdowns. However, during our third quarter of2020, manyofthese trial sites began to reopen and we sawthe paceofnew patientenrollments increasing, getting close to theirpre-COVID-19levels im the
U.S. As ofthe date ofthis filing, we have not had to make material changes to our development timelines and the pause in our clinical trials have not had a material impact on our operating results; however, a resurgence ofthe virus could result in
‘unanticipated delays in our ability to conductnewpatient enrollments and create otherdelays which couldhave a significant adverse effect on ourfuture operating results.
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Amortization ofIntangibleAssets
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally 2 to 20 years. Management continually assesses the useful lives related to the Company's long-lived assets to reflect the

‘most current assumptions.
Amortization of intangible assets was $1,645 million and $1,897 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of $252 million, or 13%. The decrease was primarily attributable to fully amortized intangible assets no longer beingamortized in 2020.

See Note 8, "INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL"to our auditedConsolidated Financial Statements for further details related to our intangible assets.

Long-lived assets with finite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value ofan asset may not be recoverable. The Company continues to monitor the recoverability ofits finite-
lived intangible assets and tests the intangible assets for impairment ifindicators ofimpairment are present.

Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale were $114 million and $75 million for 2020 and 2019, respective y, an increaseof$39 million. Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale for 2020 included impairments
of (@) $96 million to reduce the carrying value ofabusiness within the Bausch + Lomb/Intemational segment to its estimatedfair value less costs to sell due to classifying thebusiness as held for sale, (ii) $16 million, in aggregate, due to decreases in
forecasted sales ofcertainproduct lines, (iii) $1 million, in aggregate, related to the discontinuance ofcertain product lines not aligned with the focus ofthe Company's core businesses and (iv) $1 million related to Acquired in-process research and
development not in service. Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale for 2019 included impairments of (i) $58 million reflecting decreases in forecasted sales ofcertainproduct lines due to generic competition and other factors, (ii)
‘$8 million related to assets being classified as held for sale, (iii) $5 million related to certain product/patent assets associated with the discontinuance ofspecific product lines not aligned with the focus of the Company's core businesses and (iv) $4
million related to Acquired in-process research and development not in service.

See Note 8, "INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL"to ouraudited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details related to our intangible assets.
Restructuring, Integration andSeparation Costs

Restructuring, integrationand separation costs were $22 million and $31 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$9 million.

The Company evaluates opportunities to improve its operating results and implements cost savings programs to streamline its operations and eliminate redundant processes and expenses. Restructuring and integration costs are expenses

Restructuring and integration costs were $11 million and $31 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of $20 million. During 2020, these costs included (i) $10 million offacility closure costs and (ii) $1 million ofseverance and
other costs. During 2019, these costs included (i) $11 million of severance costs and other costs associated with the acquisition ofcertain assets of Synergy, (ii) $11 million offacility closure costs and (iii) $9 million ofother severance costs. The
‘Company continues to evaluate opportunities to streamline its operations and identify additional cost savings globally. Although a specific plan does not exist at this time, the Company may identify and take additional exit and cost-rationalization
Testructuring actions in the future, the costsofwhichcouldbe material.

Separation costs

‘business as an independent publicly traded entity. Separation costs are incremental costs directly related to the Separation and include, but are not limited to (i) legal, audit and advisory fees, (ii) employee hiring, relocation and travel costs and (iii)
costs associated with establishing a new boardofdirectors andaudit committee. Separationcostswere $11 million for 2020. The Company is in
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the planning phaseofthe Separationand the extent and timing offuture charges for these costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time and could bematerial.
See Note 4, "RESTRUCTURING, INTEGRATION AND SEPARATION COSTS" to ourauditedConsolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding these actions.
isition-Related Conti Consideratis

‘Sheets at their estimated fair values at the acquisition date, in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value ofthe acquisition-related contingent consideration is remeasured each reporting period, with changes in fair value
recorded in the Consolidated Statements ofOperations. The fairvalue measurement is based on significant inputs notobservable in the market andthus represents a Level 3 measurement as definedin fairvalue measurement accounting.

Acquisition-related contingent considerationwas a loss of$48 million in 2020 and included (j) net fairvalue adjustments of$25 million, which included net fair value adjustments to expected future royalty payments and (ii) accretion for the
‘time valueofmoney of$23 million Acquisition-relatedcontingent consideration was a loss of$12 millionin 2019 and included accretion for the timevalueofmoney of$22 million, partially offset by net fairvalue adjustments of$10 million, which
‘includednet fair value adjustments to expected future royaltypayments.

See Note 5, "FAIRVALUEMEASUREMENTS" to our audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements for further details.
Other expense (income), net

Otherexpense (income), net for 2020 and 2019 consists ofthefollowing
(im millions) 2020 2019
Litigation and othermatters 3 42 1401
Acquired in process research and de elopment costs 32 41
‘Net (gain) loss on sales ofassets ® Gb
Acquisition-related costs _ 8
Other, net 1 oO

Other expense (income), net $s 454 § 14i4
In 2020, Litigation and other matters includes net charges related to the U.S. Securities Litigation, the SEC Investigation and the Canadian Securities Litigation and related opt-outs. In 2020, Litigation and other matters also includes an

imsurance recovery related to a certain litigation matter. In 2019, Litigation and other matters includes the settlement of a legacy U.S. securities class action matter (which is subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval). In December
2019, we announced that we had agreed to resolve theU.S. Securities Litigationfor $1,210 million Final court approval ofthis settlementwas granted in January 2021. Subject to anobjector's appeal ofthe Court's final approval order, the settlement
resolves and discharges all claims against the Company in this class action and resolves the most significant ofthe Company's remaining legacy legal matters andeliminates a material uncertainty. As part ofthe settlement, the Company and the other
settling defendants admittedno liabilityas to the claims against it and denied all allegations ofwrongdoing.

In addition to the anticipated resolution ofthe U.S. Securities Litigation, through the date of this filing, we achieved dismissals and other positive outcomes in a number oflitigations, disputes and investigations, as we continue to actively
address others. Thesematters and other significant matters are discussed in furtherdetail inNote 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"toour audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements.

In 2020 and 2019, Acquired in-process research and development costsof$32 million and $41 million, primarily consist of costs associated with the upfront payments to enter into certain exclusive licensing agreements. In 2019, Net gain on
‘sales ofassets includes $20 millionrelated to the achievementofa milestone related to 2 certain product
‘Non-Operating Income and Expense
InterestExpense

assessment ofhedze effectiveness overthe term oftheCompany's cross-cumrency swaps.
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Interest expense was $1,534 million and $1,612 million and included non-cash amortization and write-offs ofdebt discounts and deferred financing costs of $61 million and $63 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively. Interest expense
decreased $78 million, or 5%, primarily due to (i) a lower weighted average stated rate of interest, (ii) lower interest as a result ofdebt repayments during the year and (iii) a benefit related to the Company's cross-currency swaps. These decreases
‘were partially offset by the interest associated with $1,210 million of additional financing in December 2019relating to the U.S. Securities Litigation The weighted average stated rate ofinterest as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was 6.02% and
6.21%, respectively.

See Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails.
Loss onExtinguishmentofDebt

Loss on extinguishment ofdebt represents the differences between the amounts paid to settle extinguisheddebts and the carryingvalue ofthe related extinguished debt. Loss on extinguishment ofdebt was $59 million and $42 million for 2020
and 2019, respectively, associated with a series oftransactions which allowed us to refinance and extend the maturities ofportionsofour debt arrangements.

See Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails.
Foreign Exchangeand Other

Foreign exchange and other primarily inchades (j) translation gains/losses on intercompany loans and third-party liabilities and (ii) the gain/loss due to foreign currency exchange contracts. Foreign exchange and otherwas a loss of$30 million
for 2020 as compared to a gainof$8 million for 2019, an unfavorable net change of$38 million
Income Taxes

and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets for outside basis differences in investments in subsidiaries are only recognized ifthe difference will be realized in the foreseeable future. Benefit from income taxes was $375 million and $54 million
‘im 2020 and 2019, respectively, anincreaseof$321 million.

Our consolidated foreign rate differential reflects the net total tax cost or benefit on income earnedor losses incurred injurisdictions outsideofCanada as compared to the net total tax cost or benefit ofsuch income (on ajurisdictionalbasis) at
the Canadian statutory rateof26.9%. Tax costs below the Canadian statutory rate generate a beneficial foreign rate differential as do tax benefits generated injurisdictions where the statutory tax rate exceeds the Canadian statutory tax rate. The net
total foreign rate differentials generated in eachjurisdiction in whichwe operate is not expectedtobear a direct relationship to the net total amountofforeign income (or loss) earnedoutsideofCanada

In 2020 and 2019, oureffective tax rate differs from the statutory Canadian income tax rate primarily due to (i) the recording ofvaluation allowance on entities forwhich no tax benefit oflosses is expected, (ii) the tax benefit generated from
our annualized mixofearnings by jurisdiction and (iii) the discrete treatment ofcertain tax matters, primarily related to (a) the releaseofa valuation allowance, (b) internal restructurings, (c) changes in uncertain tax positions and (d) changes in the
‘manner in which an outsidebasis differencewill berecovered in future periods.

‘We record 2 valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets to reduce their net carrying value to an amount that we believe is more likely than not to be realized. In determining our deferred tax asset valuation allowance, we estimate our
ability to utilize future sources ofincome to realize the benefits ofour temporary income tax differences including (ji) net operating loss carryforwards in eachjurisdiction, primarily in Canada, the U.S. and Ireland, (ii) research and development tax

‘increase or decrease, respectively, in the period such determination is made. Our valuation allowance against deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $2,252 million and $2,831 million, respectively, a decrease of $579 million
whichwas primarily driven bya releaseofvaluationallowance for a change injudgment during 2020 relatedto previously established deferredtax assets.

‘See Note 17, "INCOME TAXES"to our audited ConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails.
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Reportable Segment Revenues and Profits
Our portfolioofproducts falls into four operating and reportable segments (i) Bausch+ Lomb/Intemnational, (ii) Salix, (iii) Ortho Dermatologics and (iv) Diversified Products.
The following is a briefdescription ofour segments

* The Bausch + Lomb/International segment consists of (i) sales in the U.S. ofpharmaceutical products, OTC products and medical device products, primarily comprised ofBausch + Lomb products, with a focus on the Vision Care,
‘Surgical, Consumer and Ophthalmology Rx products and (ii) with the exception of sales of Solta products, sales in Canada, Europe, Asia, Australia, LatinAmerica, Africa and the Middle East ofbranded pharmaceutical products, branded
generic pharmaceutical products, OTC products, medical deviceproducts and Bausch + Lombproducts.

+ TheSalix segmentconsistsofsales in the U.S. ofGI products.
+ The OrthoDermatologics segment consists of (i) sales in the U.S. ofOrtho Dermatologics (dermatological) products and (ii) global sales of Solta medical aesthetic devices.
+ TheDiversifiedProducts segment consists ofsales in the U.S. of (i) pharmaceuticalproducts in the areas ofneurology and certain other therapeutic classes, (ii) gemeric products and (iii) dentistryproducts.

‘separation costs, Acquisition-related contingent consideration costs and Other expense (income), net, are not included in the measure of segment profit, as management excludes these items in assessing segment financial performance. See Note 22,
"SEGMENT INFORMATION” to our auditedConsolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation ofsezment profit to Loss before benefit from income taxes.

‘The following table presents segment revenues, segment revenues as a percentage oftotal revenues and the year overyear changes in segment revenues for 2020 and 2019. The followingtable also presents segmentprofits, segmentprofits as a
percentage ofsegment revenues and the year overyear changes in segmentprofits for 2020 and 2019.

 

‘Years Ended December 31, Change
2020 2019 2019 to 2020

(in millions) ‘Amount Pet. ‘Amount Pet. “Amount Pet.
SegmentRevenue —

Bausch + Lomb/Intemational $ 4,408 35% $ 4,739 55% $ G31) Ms
Salix 1,904 24% 2,022 23% qs) O%
Ortho Dermatologics 553 7% 565 7% a2) @%
DiversifiedProducts 1,162 14% 1 15% (13) @Or%
‘Total revenmes $ 8,027 100% $ 8,601 100% $ (674) M%—

SegmentProfits/SegmentProfitMargins
Bausch + Lomb/International $ 1,159 26% $ 1,332 2% $ 73) 3)%
Salix 1338 20% 1349 67% ap ay%
Ortho Dermatologics 233 42% m2 39% n 5%
DiversifiedProducts 848 3% 932 3% es @Or%
‘Total segmentprofit $ 3,578 45% $ 3,835 45% §$ (257) M%

(GAAP) to assess performance ofits reportable segments, andthe Companyin total, without the impact offoreign currency exchange

 

Exhibit 2160

Page 090 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 091 of 168

fluctuations and recent acquisitions, divestitures andproduct discontinuations. The Company believes that such measures are useful to investors as they provide a supplemental period-to-period comparison.
Organic revenue growth (non-GAAP) reflects adjustments for (i) the impact ofperiod-over-period changes in foreign currency exchange rates on revenues and (ii) the revenues associatedwith acquisitions, divestitures and discontinuations of

‘businesses divested and/or discontinued. These adjustments aredetermined as follows
Foreign currency exchange rates Although changes in foreign cumrency exchange rates are part ofour business, they are not within management s control. Changes in foreign curency exchange rates, however, can mask positive or negative

trends in the underlying business performance. The impact for changes in foreign currency exchange rates is determined as the difference in the current period reported revenues at their current period currency exchange rates and the currentperiod

Acquisitions divestitures anddiscontinuations In order to present period-over-period organic revennes (non-GAAP) on a comparable basis, revenues associated with acquisitions, divestitures and discontinuations are adjusted to include only
Tevenues from those businesses and assets owned during both periods. Accordingly, organic revenue growth (non-GAAP) excludes from the current period, all revemues attributable to each acquisition for twelve months subsequent to the day of
acquisition, as there are no revenues from those businesses and assets included im the comparable prior period. Organic revenue growth (non-GAAP) excludes from the prior period (but not the current period), all revenues attributable to each
divestiture and discontinuance during the twelve months prior to the day ofdivestiture or discontinuance, as there are no revenues fromthose businesses and assets included in the comparable current period.

‘The following table presents a reconciliation ofGAAP revenues to organic revenues (non-GAAP) andpresents organic revenue (Non-GAAP) and the year over year changes in organic revenue (Non-GAAP) for 2020 and 2019 by segment.
‘Wear EndedDecember31, 2020 ‘WearendedDecember31, 2019 .

(fm milton) Reported ee mio Reported Devesteares sndDisscotnnations Cn Amour PaBausch =Lomb/Inturasticaal TTFTTTEO
Salix 1904 - 3) 1891 2,022 - 2,022 @h oO
(OrthoDermatologice 333 ® - 330 365 - 365 ay @%
‘DivertifiedProducts 1,162 - - 1162 1275 ® 1274 az oO
Total r_ ts  »4o °&+.@) = ms 5 °4o@=ff S$ CDSs $51 5~<a) o%

Sausch—LombJniernationalSesment.
Bausch +Lomb/International SegmentRevenue
‘The Bausch + Lomb/International segment has a diversified product line with no single product group representing 10% or more of its segment revenues. The Bausch + Lomb/Intemational segment revenue was $4,408 million and

$4,739 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of $331 million, or 7%. The decrease was primarily attributable to (i) a decrease in volume of $334 million, as discussed below, (ii) the unfavorable effect offoreign currencies of$42
million, primarily in Latin America and (iii) the impact of divestitures and discontinuations of $19 million These decreases were partially offset by an increase in net realized pricing of $64 million, primarily driven by our International Rx andGiobal Consumerbusinesses.

‘The volumes ofour Bausch + Lomb/Intermnational segment were negatively impacted, primarily in Europe, Asia and the U_S., by social restrictions and otherprecautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously
discussed The postponement ofcertain surgical and elective medical procedures related to the COVID-19 pandemic, and associated declines in pre- and post-operative prescriptions, negatively impacted the volumes ofour Global Ophthalmology
and Global Surgical businesses. The reduction in the consumption ofcontact lenses worldwide due to limited social interactions and in some regions government recommended use offrames, negatively impacted the volumes ofour Global Vision
Care business. During our first quarter of2020, certain customers engaged in “pantry-loading”, which, along with stay-at-home orders, negatively impacted the volumes ofour Global Consumer business for our second quarter of2020. However, as
governments began lifting social restrictions, the negative trend im the revemues of these businesses began to level offand stabilize prior to our third quarter of 2020 and continued in the fourth quarter of 2020. Therefore, our revenues for the year
2020 were most impactedby the COVID-19 pandemic inour secondquarter of2020. Although weexperienced additional COVID-19 pandemic related declines inyear-over-yearrevenues in certain geographies during our thirdand fourth quarters of
2020, total Bausch + Lomb/International segment revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $1,242 million and $1.238 million, respectively, an imcrease of $4 million This increase of less than 1% represents a
continuing improving trend over the decreases in ouryear-over-year revenues for the three month periods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of27% and 1%, respectively, and suggests that a recovery is underway. Presuming the increased
availability ofeffective vaccines,
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and any resurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus andvariant strains thereofor reenactment ofsocial restrictions are not significant, we anticipate that our affectedbusinesses couldpossibly retum to pre-pandemic levels in 2021.
Bausch +Lomb/International SegmentProfit
‘The Bausch + Lomb/Intemational segment profit was $1,159 million and $1,332 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$173 million, or 13%. The decrease was primarily driven by the decrease im contribution as a result of

‘social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken inresponse to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed, partially offset by lower SGAexpenses.
saineeme

Salix SegmentRevenue
‘The Salix segment includes the Xifaxan®product line, which accounted for approximately 78% and 72% ofthe Salix segment revenues and approximately 18% and 17% ofthe Company's revenmes for 2020 and 2019, respectively. No other

single product group represents 10% or more ofthe Salix segment revenues. The Salix segment revenue was $1,904 million and $2,022 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$118 million, or 6%. The decrease includes (i) a decrease
im net realized pricingof$96 million, primarily attributable to higher sales deductions for Glumetza* SLX, partially offset by higher gross selling prices for Xifaxan*, and (ii) a decrease in volume of$35 million primarily attributable to the decrease
in demand forApriso®*due to LOE. The decrease in revenue was partially offsetby sales ofour Trulance® product, whichwe addedto ourportfolio in March 2019 aspartofthe acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy, of$13 million.

Certain branded pharmaceutical products within our Salix segment were negatively impacted by social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed Although we
experienced COVID-19 pandemic related declines in year-over-year revenues in 2020, Salix segment revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $527 million and $517 million, respectively, an increase of$10 million.
‘This increase of2% represents a continuing improving trend over the decreases in ouryear-over-year revenmes for the three monthperiods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of21% and 10%, respectively, and suggests that a recovery is
underway. Presuming the increased availability ofeffective vaccines, and any resurgence ofthe COVID-19 virus andvariant strains thereoforreenactment ofsocial restrictions are not significant, we anticipate that our affected Salix businesses could
possibly retumto pre-pandemic levels in 2021.

Salix SegmentProfit
The Salix segment profit was $1,338 million and $1,349 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$11 million, or 1%. The decrease was primarily driven by the decrease in contribution as a result of the decrease in revenue, as

Previously discussed, partially offset by lower third-party royalty costs. The decrease in segment profit was partially offset by (i) decreases in SG&A expenses due to (2) COVID-19 pandemic related matters, as previously discussed, and (b) a
charge associated withthe termination ofa certain co-promotional agreement during 2019 and (ii) the contribution from the sales ofour Trulance® product, whichwe added to our portfolio in March 2019 aspartofthe acquisition ofcertain assetsof
Synergy.
QriheDermaivloricsSeement

Ortho D logics Se R

The Ortho Dermatologics segment includes the Thermage® and Jublia* product lines, which accounted for approximately 38% and 12% of the Ortho Dermatologics segment revenues for 2020, respectively. No other single product group
Tepresents 10% or more ofthe Ortho Dermatologics segment revenues. The Ortho Dermatologics segment revenue was $553 million and $565 million for 2020 and 2019. respectively, a decrease of $12 million, or 2%. The decrease was primarily
attributable to a decrease in net realized pricing of $26 million partially offset by (i) am increase in volume of $11 million and (ii) the favorable effect offoreign currencies of$3 million The decrease in average realized pricing was the result of
higher sales deductions in our medical dermatolog products The increase in olume was primaril due to increased demand of Thermage FLX® primaril im China and was partial offset b the impact ofgeneric competition as certainproducts

19 pandemic. Although we experienced COVID-19 pandemic relateddeclines inyear-over-year revenues in 2020, Ortho Dermatologics segment revenues for the three months endedDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 were $160 million and $158 million,
respectively, an increase of $2 million This increase of 1% represents a continuing improving trend over the decreases in our year-over-year revenues for the three month periods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of 5% and 2%,
Tespectively, and suggests that a recovery is underway. Presuming the increased availability ofeffective vaccines, and any resurgence ofthe
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‘COVID-19 virus andvariant strains thereofor reenactment ofsocial restrictions are not significant, we anticipate that our affected businesses couldpossibly retum to pre-pandemic levels in 2021.
Ortho Dermatologics SegmentProfit
‘The Ortho Dermatologics segmentprofit was $233 millionand $222 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, an increase of$11 million, or 5%. The increase wasprimarilydriven by decreases in (i) selling expenses and (ii) R&D expenses and

‘was partially offset by the decrease incontribution as a resultofthe decrease in revenue, as previously discussed.
Diversified Products 5

DiversifiedProducts SegmentRevenue
‘The following table displays the Diversified Products segment revenues by product andproduct revenues as a percentage ofsegment revenue for 2020 and 2019.

‘Years Ended December 31, ‘Change
2020 2019 2019 to 2020

(in milizons) Amount Pet. Amount Pet. Amount Pet.
‘Wellbutrin® Franchise $ 21 23% $ 244 1% $ 27 11%
Aplenzin® 98 8% 83 6% 15 18%
Arestin® eB 5% 87 M% eh 28%
Ativan® Franchise 50 4% B 3% 7 16%
Neo Pol HC Otic 35 3% 2 2% B 5%
Tobramycin/Dexamethasone 33 3% 31 2% 2 O%
Pepcid® 31 3% 2 —% 29 1,450%
Diastat® Franchise 3% 35 3% © 4%
Librax® Franchise 30 3% 25 2% 5 20%
‘Xenazine*Franchise 29 3% 38 3% O) 24%.
Other 492 42% 665 53% 73) 26%
Total Diversified Products revenues $ 1162 100% s 1275 100% $ 13) O)%

‘The Diversified Products segment revenue was $1,162 million and $1,275 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$113 million. or 9%. The decrease was primarily driven by (i) a decrease in volumeof$170 million and (ii) the
impact ofdivestitures and discontinuations of$1 million. The decrease waspartially offsetby an increase in net realizedpricing of$58 million due to lower sales deductions, primarilywithin the Wellbutrin® Franchise, andhigher gross selling prices.
‘The decrease in volume was primarily attributable to (i) the impact of generic competition as certain products in our Neurology and Other business, such as Cuprimine*, Migranal®, Syprine*, Isuprel® and Xenazine*, lost exclusivity and (ii) the
postponement of certain surgeries and elective medical procedures im response to the COVID-19 pandemic primarily impacting our Dentistry business. The decrease in volume was partially offset by an increase im volumes for Pepcid® due to a
competitor recall in 2020.

Di ersifiedProducts SegmentProfit
‘The DiversifiedProducts segment profitwas $848 million and $932 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$84 million, or 9%. The decreasewas primarily drivenby the decrease inrevemue, as previously discussed
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
‘Cash Flows

‘Summarized cash flow information for theyears 2020, 2019 and 2018isas follows
‘Year: EndedDecember31, Change

‘(im emt Moores) 2020 2019 201s 2019 to 2020 2018 to2019
Net loss = cs) FT Gis) F Gis Tt Ia FT 2361
AdjustmentstreconcileNet loss tonetcashprovidedbyoperatingactivities 2,036 3,602 5,627 (1,566) (2,025)
‘Cahprovidedbyoperatingactivitesbaforechanges inoperating a:ret: and Labiites Tal Tas Tas CD 336
‘Change: inoperatingauret:andLabibne: GS) G18) 18 GS) G3)
‘Net cashprovidedbyoperatingactivities il 11 1,501 6%) _
‘Net cashusedim investingactivitios 61) @y 96) iss (23)
‘Net cach(sued im) providedbyfinancing activities (2294) 13 333) 6.237) 2,796
‘Effect ofxchangerevechangesoncashandcathequi alents 16 @ 5) 20 n
‘Net (decrease) increase inCashandcathequi alants andRestrictedcash as) COC”C”CSC”:”:C—SSY””:”CS OSS(Cashandcachequivalant:andRoctrictedcash,beginningofyear 3.24 m3 797 221 cH
(CashandcachequivalentsandRestrictedcash,ondofyear ve5#};5S526hUS”””!”UCUe UCU

A detailed discussion ofthe year-over-year changes ofthe Company s 2019 summarized cash flow information compared with that of 2018 can be found under “Management s Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results of
Operations” in ourAnnual Report on Form 10-Kfor the year endedDecember 31, 2019 filed on February 19, 2020.
Operating Activitie

Net cash provided by operating activities was $1,111 million and $1,501 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of $390 million. The decrease was attributable to net decreases in (i) Cash provided by operating activities before
changes in operating assets and liabilities and (ii) Changes in operating assets and liabilities.

(Cash providedby operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities for the years 2020 and 2019 was $1,477 million and $1,819 million, respectively, a decrease of$342 million The decreasewas primarily attributable to (i)
the negative impacts to our operating results associated with the social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as previously discussed, (ii) higher payments of legal settlements in 2020 ascompared to 2019 of$153 million and (iii) the upfrontpaymentof$10 million in 2020 withrespect to the optionto acquire all ophthalmology assets ofAllegro, as previously discussed_

‘Changes im operating assets and liabilities resulted im a net decrease in cash of$366 million and $318 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$48 million During 2020, Changes in operating assets and liabilities was negatively
impacted by (j) the timing ofother payments in the ordinary course ofbusiness of$495 million and (ii) an increase in inventories of$77 million andwas partially offset by (j) the collection oftrade receivables of$170 million and (ii) an increase in
accrued interest due to timing ofpayments of $36 million. During 2019, Changes in operating assets and liabilities was negatively impacted by (ji) the build-up of inventories of $209 million and (ii) the timing ofother payments in the ordinary
course ofbusiness of$180 million andwaspartiallyoffset by (i) the collectionoftrade receivables of$39 million and (ii) an increase in accrued interestdue to timing ofpayments of$32 million.
Investing Activiti

‘Net cashused in investing activities was $261 million in2020 andwas primarily drivenby Purchases ofproperty, plant and equipment of$302 millionpartially offset by (i) Interest settlements from cross-currency swaps of$23 million and (ii)
Proceeds from saleofassets andbusinesses, netofcosts to sell of$21 million, primarily related to the receiptofa milestonepayment associatedwith 2 prior year divestiture.

‘Net cashused in investing activitieswas $419 million in2019 andwas drivenby (i) Purchases ofproperty, plant and equipment of $270 million and (ii) Acquisitionofbusinesses,net ofcash acquired of $180 million, related to the acquisition
ofcertain assets ofSynergy. Net cashused in investing activities was partially offsetby Proceeds fromsale ofassets andbusinesses, netofcosts to sellof$45 million, primarily related to the receipt ofa milestonepayment associatedwith a prioryeardivestit
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Financing Activiti

Our financing activities reflect our leadership's commitment to improve the Company s capital structure. Through debt repayments and refinancings during 2020 and 2019, we have effectively managed our capital structure which has allowed
Us to, among other things (i) improve our credit ratings, (ii) access the credit markets to finance amounts owed under the Company's previously announced $1,210 million settlement agreement relating to the U.S. Securities Litigation without

‘Net cash used in financing activities during 2020 was $2,294 million and was primarily driven by repayments oflong-term debt, netofissuances and related discounts, of$2,187 million These repayments primarily include i) $1,240 million
ofMay 2023 UnsecuredNotes, whichwas previously financedas partofthe December 2019 Financing andRefinancing Transactions and (ii) debt repayments during 2020 with cash onhand of$902 million

Net cashprovided by financing activities during 2019 was $1,443 million and primarily reflects the ageregate netproceeds from the issuance ofthe 5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes and Jamuary 2030 Unsecured Notes of$2,472 million,
partially offset by (i) debt repayments during 2019 with cash on hand of $906 million and (ii) payments for all other financing activities. The aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the January 2028 Unsecured Notes and January 2030
‘UnsecuredNotes are tobe used and were used to (i) pay the Company's previously announced $1,210 million settlement agreement relating to the U.S. Securities Litigation(whichis subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval), the full
amountofwhichwe paid into an escrow fund under the terms ofa settlement agreement andis includedwithinRestricted cash asofDecember31, 2020, and (ii) redeem $1,240 millionofMay 2023 Unsecured Notes on January 16, 2020.

See Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails regarding thefinancing activities previously described
Liquidity and Debt
FutureSources ofLiquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents, cash collected from customers, funds as available from our revolving credit facility, issuances of long-term debt and issuances of equity and equity-linked securities. We
believe these sources will be sufficienttomeetourcurrent liquidityneeds for the next twelve months.

The Company regularly evaluates market conditions, its liquidity profile, andvarious financing alternatives foropportunities to enhance its capital structure. Ifopportunities are favorable, the Companymay refinance orrepurchase existing debt
or issue equity or equity-linked securities. As a result ofprepayments and the series ofrefinancing transactions, we have no debt maturities or mandatory amortization payments due until 2024. We believe our existing cash and cash generated from
operations will be sufficient to service our debt obligations inthe years 2021 through 2023.
Long-term Debt

‘Long-term debt, net ofunamortized discounts and finance costs was $23,925 million and $25,895 million as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Aggregate contractual principal amounts dueunderour debt obligations were $24,185
million and $26,188 million asofDecember31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, a decrease of$2,003 million. The decreasewas primarily drivenby net debt repayments previously discussedunder " -Cash Flows - Financing Activities”.

2020Refinancing Transactions InMa and December 2020 we accessedthe credit markets and completed a series oftransactions whereb we extended$3 250 millionin aggregatematurities ofcertain debt obligations due to mature in 2022
and 2023 out to 2029 through2031 and $250 million inaggregate amortizationpa ments due in 2022 out to 2029 Inaddition to extending $3 500 million inpa ments duein 2022 and 2023 to 2029 through 2031 the refinancing transactions replaced
secureddebt of$1 500 millionwithunsecureddebt This pro ides uswithmore secureddebt capacit under our Restated Credit Agreement and existing indentures ifthe market forunsecureddebt in the future is less f2 orable Further b replacing
$1 500 millionof secured debt with unsecured debt we now ha e additional room under the debt maintenance co enant ofour 2023 Re ol img Credit Facilit that requires us to maintain a first lien net le erage ratio ofnot greater than 400 to 1 00
‘The refinancing transactions also repaid in full €1 500 million ofdebt denominated in euros thereb reducing our exposure to fluctuations inthe alueofthe euro

Our prepayments of debt and refinancing transactions over the last four years translate into lower mandatory repayments of principal over the next four years, which, in turn, we believe will permit more cash flows to be directed toward
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‘The mandatory scheduledprincipal repayments ofour debt obligations asofDecember 31, 2020, were as follows

See Note 10, "FINANCINGARRANGEMENTS"toour auditedConsolidatedFinancial Statements for furtherdetails.
‘The weightedaverage statedrateofinterest asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was 6.02% and 6.21%, respectively.
CurrentDescriptionofSeniorSecured CreditFacilities
(On June 1, 2018, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries as guarantors entered into the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities” under the Company s Fourth Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement, as amended by the First

Incremental Amendment to the Restated Credit Agreement, dated asofNovember 27, 2018, and as furtheramended (the “RestatedCreditAgreement”) with a syndicate offinancial institutions and investors as lenders. The RestatedCreditAgreement
provides for a revolving credit facility of $1,225 million, which matures on the earlier ofJune 1, 2023 and the date that is 91 calendar days prior to the scheduled maturity ofindebtedness for borrowed money of the Company and Bausch Health
Americas, Inc. ("BHA") in an aggregate principal amount in excess of $1,000 million (the "2023 Revolving Credit Facility”) and term loan facilities of original principal amounts of$4,565 million and $1,500 million, maturing in June 2025 (the
“June 2025 TermLoanB Facility”) and November 2025 (the "November 2025 TermLoan B Facility"), respectively. Boththe Company andBHA are borrowers under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility, borrowings underwhich maybe made inU.S.
dollars, Canadian dollars or euros.

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities in U.S. dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, either (i) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the prime rate (as defined in the
Restated Credit Agreement), (b) the federal funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1.00% or (c) the eurocurrency rate (as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement) for a period of one month plus 1.00% (or if such eurocurrency rate shall not be
ascertainable, 1.00%) or (ii) a eurocurrency rate determinedby reference to the costsoffunds forU.S. dollar deposits for the interestperiodrelevant to such borrowing adjusted forcertain additional costs (providedhowever, that the eurocurrency rate
‘shall at no time be less than 0.00%per annum), in eachcase plus an applicable margin.

Borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility in euros bear interest at a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to the costs of funds for euro deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing (provided however, that the
eurocurrencyrate shall at notimebe less than 0.00% per annum), plus an applicable margin.

Borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility in Canadian dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, either (i) a prime rate determinedby reference to the higher of (a) the rate ofinterest last quoted by
The Wall Street Journal as the “Canadian Prime Rate” or, ifThe Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the Bank ofCanada as its prime rate and (b) the 1 month BA rate (as defined below)
calculated daily plus 1.00% (provided however, that the prime rate shall at no time be less than 0.00%)or (ii) the bankers acceptance rate for Canadian dollar deposits inthe Toronto interbank market (the “BA rate”) for the interest period relevant to
such borrowing (provided however, that the BA rate shall at no timebe less than 0.00% per annum), in each case plus an applicable margin.

‘Subject to certain exceptions and customary baskets set forth in the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company is required to make mandatory prepayments ofthe loans under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities under certain circumstances,
including from (i) 100% ofthe net cash proceeds ofsuranceand condemnation proceeds for property or asset losses (subject to reinvestment rights and net proceeds threshold), (ii) 100% ofthe net cash proceeds from the incurrence ofdebt (other
than permitted debt as described in the Restated Credit Agreement), (iii) 50% ofExcess Cash Flow (as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement) subject to decrease based on leverage ratios and subject to a threshold amount and (iv) 100% ofnet
cashproceeds from asset sales (subject toreinvestment rights). These mandatory prepayments maybe used to satisfy future amortization.

‘The applicable interest rate margins for the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and the November 2025 Term Loan B Facility are 2.00% and 1.75%, respectively, with respect to base rate and prime rate borrowings and 3.00% and 2.75%,
Tespectively, with respect to eurocurrency rate and BA rate borrowings. As ofDecember 31, 2020, the stated rates of interest on the Company s borrowings under the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and the November 2025 Term Loan B Facility
‘were 3.15% and 2.90%per annum. respectively.

‘The amortization rate forboth the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and theNovember 2025 Term Loan B Facility is 5.00% per annum. The Company may direct that prepaymentsbe applied to such amortization payments in orderofmaturity.
As ofDecember 31, 2020, the aggregate remaining mandatory quarterlyamortizationpayments forthe Senior Secured Credit Facilitieswere $405 million throughNovember 1, 2025.
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The applicable interest rate margins for borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility are 1.50% - 2.00% with respect to base rate or prime rate borrowings and 2.50% - 3.00% with respect to eurocurency rate or BA rate borrowings.
As ofDecember 31, 2020, the stated rate ofinterest onthe 2023 Revolving Credit Facility was 3.15% per annum. As ofDecember 31, 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings, $104 million ofissued and outstanding letters ofcredit, and
remaining availability of $1,121 million under its 2023 Revolving Credit Facility. In addition, the Company is required to pay commitment fees of 0.25% - 0.50% per annum with respect to the unutilized commitments under the 2023 Revolving
Credit Facility, payable quarterly in arrears. The Company also is required to pay (i) letter of credit fees on the maximum amount available to be drawn under al] outstanding letters of credit im an amount equal to the applicable margin on
eurocurrencyrate borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility on aper annumbasis, payable quarterly in arrears, (ii) customary fronting fees forthe issuance ofletters ofcredit and (iii) agency fees.

The Restated Credit Agreement permits the incurrence of incremental credit facility borrowings, up to the greater of $1,000 million and 28.5% of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (as defined im the Restated Credit Agreement), subject to
customary terms and conditions, as well as the incurrence ofadditional incremental credit facilityborrowings subject toa secured leverage ratio ofnot greater than 3.50 1.00, and, im the case ofunsecured debt, a total leverage ratioofnot greaterthan
6.50 1.00 or an interestcoverage ratio ofnot less than 2.00 1.00.

Senior SecuredNotes

The Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed by each ofthe Company s subsidiaries that is a guarantor under the Restated Credit Agreement and existing Senior Unsecured Notes (together, the “Note Guarantors”). The Senior Secured Notes and

‘The Senior SecuredNotes and the guarantees rank equally in right ofrepayment with all ofthe Company s and Note Guarantors respective existing and future unsubordinated indebtedness and senior to the Company s andNote Guarantors

lien on the collateral securing the Senior SecuredNotes and effectively seniorto the Company s and the Note Guarantors respective existing and future indebtedness that is unsecured, including the existing Senior UnsecuredNotes, or that is secured
‘byjunior liens, im each case to the extent ofthe value ofthe collateral. In addition, the Senior Secured Notes are structurally subordinated to (i) all liabilities ofany ofthe Company s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Senior SecuredNotes and
G@) anyofthe Company s debt that is securedby assets that are not collateral.

‘Upon the occurrence ofa change in control (as defined im the indentures governing the Senior SecuredNotes), unless the Company has exercised its right to redeem all ofthe notes ofa series, holders ofthe Senior Secured Notes may require
the Company to repurchase suchholder s notes, in whole orin part, at a purchase price equal to 101% oftheprincipal amount thereofplus accrued andunpaid interest.

‘The aggregate principal amount ofour Senior Secured Notes as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4,250 million and $5,500 million, respectively, a decrease of$1,250 million representing the repayment ofthe 6.50% Senior Secured Notes
due March 2022 as partofthe 2020 RefinancingTransactions.

Senior UnsecuredNotes

‘The Senior Unsecured Notes issued by the Company are the Company s senior unsecured obligations and arejoimtly and severally guaranteed ona senior unsecured basis by eachofits subsidiaries that is a guarantor under the Senior Secured
Credit Facilities. The Senior Unsecured Notes issued by the Company s subsidiary, BHA, are senior unsecured obligations ofBHA and are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Company and each of its subsidiaries
(other thanBHA) that is a guarantorunder the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. Future subsidiaries ofthe Company andBHA, ifany, may be requiredto guarantee the SeniorUnsecuredNotes.

Ifthe Company experiences a change incontrol, the Company may be required to make an offer to repurchase each series of Senior UnsecuredNotes, in whole or inpart, at a purchase price equal to 101% ofthe aggregateprincipal amount of

‘The aggregate principal amount ofour SeniorUnsecuredNotes asofDecember31, 2020 and 2019 was $15,500million and $15,532 million, respectively, a decrease of$32 million
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Covenant Compliance
Any inability to comply with the covenants under the terms ofourRestatedCredit Agreement, Senior SecuredNotes indentures or Senior Unsecured Notes indentures could lead to a default or an eventofdefault for whichwe may need to seek

Telieffrom our lenders and noteholders in order to waive the associated default or event of default and avoid 2 potential acceleration ofthe related indebtedness or cross-default or cross-acceleration to other debt. There can be no assurance that we
‘would be able to obtain such reliefon commercially reasonable terms or otherwise and we may be required to incur significant additional costs. In addition, the lenders under our Restated Credit Agreement, holders ofour Senior Secured Notes and
holders ofour SeniorUnsecured Notes may impose additional operating and financial restrictions onus as 2 conditionto granting any suchwaiver.

During 2019 and 2020, the Company completed several actions which included using cash flows from operations to repay debt and refinancing debt with near term maturities. These actions have reduced the Company s debt balance and
positively affected the Company s ability to comply withits financial maintenance covenant. AsofDecember 31, 2020, the Company was incompliance with the financial maintenance covenant related to its outstandingdebt. The Company, based on
‘its current forecast for the next twelve months from the date ofissuance ofthis Form 10-K, expects to remain incompliance withthe financial maintenance covenantand meet its debt serviceobligations over thatsame period.

‘The Company continues to take steps to improve its operating results to ensure continual compliance with its financial maintenance covenant and take other actions to reduce its debt levels to align with the Company s long-term strategy. The
‘Company may consider taking other actions, including divesting other businesses, refinancing debt and issuing equity or equity-linked securities as deemed appropriate, to provide additional coverage in complying with the financial maintenance

‘The Senior Notes and SecuredNotes are guaranteedby a substantialportionofthe Company s subsidiaries. On anon-consolidatedbasis, the non-guarantor subsidiaries hadtotal assets of$2,442 million and$2,682 million andtotal liabilities of
$1,804 million and $1,075 million as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and revenues of$1,320 million and $1,463 million for 2020 and 2019, respectively, and operating lossof$38 million for 2020 and operating income of$121 millionfor 2019.

CreditRatings
As ofFebruary 24, 2021, the credit ratings and outlook from Moody's, Standard& Poor's andFitchfor certain outstanding obligations ofthe Companywere as follows

Moody s B2 Ba2 B3
Standard& Poor s B+ BB B

Fitch B BB B

An downgrade in our corporate creditratings or other credit ratings ma increase our cost ofborrowing and ma negati el impact ourabilit to raise additional debt capital
OFF-BALANCE SHEETARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

‘Wehave no off-balance sheet arrangements that have a material current effector that are reasonably likely to have a material future effect onour results ofoperations, financial condition, capital expenditures, liquidity, or capital resources.
(Our other furure cash requirements relate to working capital capital expenditures business de elopment transactions (contingent consideration) restructuring integration and separation costs benefit obligations and litigation settlements In

addition we ma use cash to enter into licensing arrangements and or to make strategic acquisitions We areconsidering further acquisitionopportunities within our core therapeutic areas someofwhichcouldbe sizable
In additionto ourworking capital requirements, we expect ourprimary cash requirements for 2021 to include

+ Debtrepayments—Asaresultofprepayments anda series ofrefinancing transactions we have reducedandextended the maturities ofa substantial portionofour long-term debt and have no debt maturities or mandatory amortizationpayments
due until 2024. We expect to make interest payments of approximately $1,425 million during 2021. We may also elect to make additional principal payments under certain circumstances. Further, in the ordinary course of business. we may
borrow and repay amounts under our 2023 Revolving Credit Facility to meet business needs;
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+ ITInfrastructureInvestment—We expect to make payments ofapproximately $60 million for licensing, maintenance andcapitalizable costs associated withour IT infrastructure improvementprojects during 2021;
* Capitalexpenditures—We expect to makepayments ofapproximately $275 million forproperty, plant andequipment during 2021;
* Contingentconsiderationpayments—We expect to make contingent consideration andother development/approval/sales-based milestone payments of$164 million during 2021;
+ Restructuring and integrationpayments—We expect to make payments of$7 million during 2021 for employee separation costs and lease termination obligations associated with restructuring and integration actions we have taken through

December 31, 2020;
+ Benefitobligations—We expect to make aggregate payments under ourpension andpostretirement obligations of$14 million during 2021. See Note 11, "PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS" to our audited

Consolidated Financial Statements for further details ofourbenefit obligations; and
+ U.S. Securities Litigation Settiement—As more fully discussed in Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS"to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements, we announced that we had agreed to resolve the U.S. Securities Litigation for

$1,210 million. Final court approval ofthis settlement was grantedin January 2021. Subject to anobjector's appealofthe Court's final approval order, the settlement resolves and discharges all claims against the Company inthe class action. As
part ofthe settlement, the Company andthe other settling defendants admitted no liability as to the claims against it and deny all allegations ofwrongdoing. This settlement resolves the most significant ofthe Company's remaining legacy legal
‘matters and eliminates a material uncertainty regarding our Company. As ofDecember 31, 2020, Restricted cash includes $1,210 million ofpayments into an escrow fund under the terms ofa settlement agreement regarding the U.S. SecuritiesLitieati

Costs ofSeparation
As previously discussed, with the goal ofunlocking additional Company value, on August 6, 2020, the Company announced that it intends to separate its eye-health business into an independent publicly traded entity. The Company has

inamred, and will incur, costs associated with activities to effectuate the Separation. These activities include (i) separating the eye-health business from the remainder ofthe Company and (ii) registering the eye-health business as an independent
publicly traded entity. Separation costs are incremental costs directly related to the Separation and include, but are not limited to (i) legal, audit and advisory fees, (ii) employee hiring, relocation and travel costs and (iii) costs associated with
establishing a new board ofdirectors and audit committee. The Company has also incurred, and will incur, separation-related costs which are incremental costs indirectly related to the Separation. Separation-related costs include, but are not limited
to @ IT infrastructure and software licensing costs, (ii) rebranding costs and (iii) costs associated with facility relocation and/or modification. As of the date of this filing, we are in the planning phase of the Separation and future payments for
‘separation costs and separation-related costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time and couldbe material.

Future Cost SavingsPrograms
‘We continue to evaluate opportunities to improve our operating results and may initiate additional cost savings programs to streamline our operations and eliminate redundant processes and expenses. These cost savings programs may include,

Option toAcquireAll OphthalmologyAssetsofAllegro
As previously discussed, on September 21, 2020, we announced that we entered into an agreement which provides us an option to acquire all ophthalmology assets ofAllegro. Aggregate payments under the Option are up to $50 million and

include an upfrontpayment of$10 million and a second payment of $40 million shouldAllegro raise additional funding. During 2020, we made and expensed the upfront payment of$10 million as Acquired in-process research and development. If
the Optionis exercised, additionalpayments to acquire all ofthe ophthalmology assets ofAllegro will be due overtime.

In addition to the U.S. Securities Litigation discussed above, in the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in litigation, claims, govemmment inquiries, investigations, charges and proceedings. See Note 20, "LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements forfurther details ofthese matters. Our ability to successfullydefendthe Company against pending and future litigationmay impact futurecash flows.
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Fi Licensing P.

In the ordinary course ofbusiness, the Company may enter into select licensing and collaborative agreements for the commercialization and/or development of unique products primarily in the U.S. and Canada. In connection with these
agreements, the Company may pay an upfront fee to secure the agreement. See Note 3, "ACQUISITIONS, LICENSING AGREEMENTS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Payments associated
withthe upfront fee for these agreements cannotbe reasonably estimated at this time and couldbe material

UnrecognizedTaxBenefits
As ofDecember 31, 2020, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits totaling $414 million, ofwhich, $145 million is expected to be realized within the next twelve months, however a reliable estimate ofthe period in which the remaining

‘uncertain taxpositions will be payable, ifever, cannotbe made.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

At February 18, 2021, we had355,619,826 issued and outstanding common shares. In addition, asofFebruary 18, 2021, we had 8,601,400 stock options and 5,530,821 time-based RSUsthat each represent the right ofa holder to receive oneof
the Company s common shares, and 2,529,506 performance-based RSUs that represent the rightofa holder to receive a number ofthe Company's common shares up to a specifiedmaximum A maximum of4,164,425 common shares couldbe issued
‘upon vesting oftheperformance-based RSUs outstanding.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKETRISK

Our business and financial results are affected by fluctuations in world financial markets, including the impacts offoreign currency exchange rate and interest rate movements. We evaluate our exposure to such risks on an ongoing basis, and
seek ways to manage these risks to an acceptable level, based on management sjudgment ofthe appropriate trade-offbetweenrisk, opportunity and cost. We may use derivative financial instruments fromtime to time as a risk management tool and
not for trading or speculative purposes.
Inflation; Seasonality

‘Weare subject to price control restrictions on ourpharmaceutical products in a number ofcountries inwhichwe now operate. Asa result, our ability to raise prices in a timely fashion imanticipation ofinflationmay be limited in some markets.
Historically, revenues from ourbusiness tend to beweighted toward the second halfoftheyear. Sales in the first quarter tend to be lower as patient co-pays and deductibles reset at the beginning ofeachyear Sales in the fourth quarter tend to

Foreign Currency Risk
In the year ended December 31, 2020, 2 majority ofour revenue and expense activities and capital expenditures were denominated in U.S. dollars. We have exposure to multiple foreign currencies, including, among others, the Euro, Chinese

yuan, Polish zloty, Canadian dollar and Mexican peso. Our operations are subject to risks inherent in conducting business abroad, including price and currency exchange controls and fluctuations in the relative values ofcurrencies. In addition, to the
extent that we require, as a source ofdebt repayment, earnings and cash flows from some of our operations located in foreign countries, we are subject to risk ofchanges in the value of the U.S. dollar, relative to all other currencies in which we
operate, which may materially affect our results of operations. Where possible, we manage foreign currency risk by managing same currency revenues in relation to same currency expenses. Further strengthening ofthe U.S. dollar and/or further
devaluation offoreign currencies will have a negative impact on our reported revenue and reported results. As ofDecember 31, 2020, a 1% change in foreign currency exchange rates would have impacted our shareholders equity by approximately

As ofDecember 31, 2020, the unrealized foreign exchange gainon the translation ofthe remaining principal amount ofU.S. denominated senior secured and unsecured notes was $361 million, for Canadian income taxpurposes. Additionally,
asofDecember 31, 2020, the unrealized foreign exchange loss on certain intercompany balances was equal to $235 million One-halfofany realized foreign exchange gain or loss will be included im our Canadian taxable income. Any resulting gain
will result in a corresponding reduction in our available Canadian Losses, Scientific Research and Experimental Development Pool, and/or Investment Tax Credit carryforward balances. However, the repayment of the senior notes and the
intercompany loans
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denominated inU.S. dollars does not result ina foreign exchange gain or loss being recognized inour ConsolidatedFinancial Statements, as these statements are prepared inU.S. dollars.
‘We may use derivative financial instruments from time to time to mitigate our foreign currency risk and not for trading or speculative purposes. During 2019, we entered into cross-curency swaps, with aggregate notional amounts of$1,250

million, to mitigate fluctustion in the value ofa portion ofour euro-denominated net investment in our consolidated financial statements from adverse movements in exchange rates. The euro-denominated net investment being hedged is the
‘Company s investment in certain euro~denominated subsidiaries. Priorto 2019, the Company hadno derivative instruments for any periodpresented
InterestRate Risk

‘We cmrently do not hold financial instruments for speculative purposes. Our financial assets are not subject to significant interest rate risk due to their short duration The primary objective ofour policy for the investment oftemporary cash
‘surpluses is the protection of principal, and accordingly, we generally invest in high quality, money market investments and time deposits with varying maturities, but typically less than three months. As it is our intent and policy to hold these
investments until maturity, we do not have a material exposure to interest rate risk.

As ofDecember 31, 2020, we had $19,762 million and $4,423 million principal amount ofissued fixed rate debt andvariable rate debt, respectively, thatrequires U.S. dollar repayment. The estimated fairvalue ofour issued fixed rate debt as
ofDecember 31, 2020 was $20,984 million Ifinterest rates were to increase by 100 basis-points, the fairvalue ofour issued fixed rate debtwould decrease by approximately $430 million. Ifinterest rates were to decrease by 100basis-points, the fair
value ofour issued fixed rate debt would increase by approximately $375 million We are subject to interest rate risk on our variable rate debt as changes in interest rates could adversely affect earings and cash flows. A 100 basis-points increase in
‘interest rates, based on 3-month LIBOR, would have an annualized pre-tax effect ofapproximately $44 million in our Consolidated Statements ofOperations and Consolidated Statements ofCash Flows, based on current outstanding borrowings and
effective interestrates on ourvariable rate debt. While ourvariable-rate debt may impact earnings and cash flows as interest rates change. it is not subject to changes in fair value.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

judgments due to the needto select policies from among alternatives available, and to make estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain We base our estimates on historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we review our estimates to ensure that these estimates appropriately reflect changes in our business and new information as it becomes available. Ifhistorical experience and other factors we use to make these

R R iti

In May 2014,the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance on recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. The core principle ofthe revenue model is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of
Promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In applying the revenue model to contracts within its scope, an entity will (i)
identify the contract(s) with 2 customer, (ii) identifythe performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transactionprice, (iv) allocate the transactionprice to the performance obligations in the contract and (v) recognize revenue when (or
as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. In addition to these provisions, the new standard provides implementation guidance on several other topics, including the accounting for certain revenue-related costs, as well as enhanced disclosure
Tequirements. The new guidance requires entities to disclose both quantitative and qualitative information that enables users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty ofrevenue and cash flows arising fromcontracts withcustomers.

The Company adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective approach. Based upon review of customer contracts, the Company concluded the implementation of the new guidance did not have a material
quantitative impact on its 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements as the timing of revenue recognition for product sales did not significantly change. The new guidance did however result in additional disclosures as to the nature, amounts, andconcentrations ofrevenue.

ending balances for ourproduct salesprovisions, are discussed in more detail imNote 2, "SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES".
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OtherRevenues

‘We generate alliance revenue and service revenue fromthe licensing ofproducts and from contract services mainly im the areas ofdermatology and topical medication. Contract service revenue is derivedprimarily fromcontract manufacturing
for thirdparties.
Acquisition-Related Contingent Considerati

Some ofthe business combinations that we have consummated include contingent considerationto be potentially paid basedupon the occurrence offuture events, such as sales performance and the achievement ofcertain future development,
Tegulatory and sales milestones. Acquisition-related contingent consideration associated with a business combination is initially recognized at fair value andremeasured each reporting period, with changes in fair value recorded in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The estimates of fair value involve the use ofacceptable valuation methods, such as probability-weizhted discounted cash flow analysis and Monte Carlo Simulation (when appropriate), and contain uncertainties as theyTequire assumptions about the likelihood of achieving specified milestone criteria, projections of future financial performance and assumed discount rates. Changes im the fair value of the acquisition-related contingent consideration result from
Several factors inciading, changes in the timing and stacunt ofrevenne estimates, Changes in probability assumptions with respect to the likelihood of achieving specified milestone criteria and changes in discount rates A change in any oftheseassumptions could produce a different fair value, which could have a material impact on our results of operations. At December 31, 2020, the fair value measurements of acquisition-related contingent consideration were determined using risk-
adjusted discountrates ranging from 6% to 25%.
Intangible Assets

‘We evaluate potential impairments ofamortizable intangible assets acquired through asset acquisitions or business combinations ifevents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts ofthese assets may not be recoverable.
Our evaluationis based on an assessmentofpotential indicators ofimpairment, such as

* an adverse change in legal factors orin the business climate that could affect the value ofan asset. Forexample, a successful challenge ofour patent rights resulting inearlier than expected generic competition;
* an adverse change in the extentor manner inwhich an asset is usedor is expected to be used. Forexample. a decision not to pursue a product line-extension strategy to enhance an existing product due to changes in market conditions and/or

technological advances; or
* quentor forecastedreductions in revenue, operating income, or cash flows associatedwith the use ofan asset. For example, the introduction ofa competingproduct that results ina significant loss ofmarket share.

Impairment exists when the carrying value of the asset exceeds the related estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. If impairment exists, the carrying value of the asset is adjusted to its fair value. A
discounted cash flow analysis is typically used to determine an asset's fair value, using estimates and assumptions that market participants would apply. Some of the estimates and assumptions inherent ina discounted cash flow model include the
amount and timing ofthe projected future cash flows, and the discount rate used to reflect the risks inherent im the future cash flows. A change in any of these estimates and assumptions could produce a different fair value, which could have a
material impact on ourresults ofoperations. In addition, an intangible asset s expected useful life can increase estimation risk, as longer-lived assets necessarily require longer-term cash flow forecasts, which for some ofour intangible assets can be
up to 20years. In connectionwith an impairment evaluation, we also reassess the remaininguseful life ofthe intangible asset andmodify it, as appropriate.

‘Management continually assesses the useful livesofthe Company's long-lived assets.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including Acquired in-process research and development and the B&L corporate trademark, are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances between annual tests

continue to monitor closely the progression ofour R&D programs as their likelihood of success is contingent upon the achievement of future milestones. See Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis ofFinancial Condition and Results of

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortizedbut is testedfor impairment at least annually onOctober Ist at the reportingunit level. A reporting unit is the same as, or one level below, an operating segment. The Companyperforms its annual impairment testby
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first assessing qualitative factors. Where the qualitative assessment suggests that itis more likely than not that the fairvalue ofa reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative fairvalue test is performed for that reportingunit (Step 1).
‘The fair value ofa reporting unit refers to theprice that wouldbe received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transactionbetween market participants. The Company estimates the fairvalues ofa reporting unitusing a discounted cash flow

model which utilizes Level 3 unobservable inputs. The discounted cash flow model relies on assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, gross profit, projected working capital needs, selling, general and administrative expenses, research and
development expenses, capital expenditures, income tax rates, discount rates and terminal growthrates. To estimate fairvalue, the Company discounts the forecasted cash flows ofeach reporting unit. The discount rate the Company uses represents
the estimated weighted average cost of capital, which reflects the overall level of inherent risk involved in its reporting unit operations and the rate of return a market participant would expect to earn. The quantitative fair value test is performed
utilizing long-term growth rates and discount rates applied to the estimatedcash flows in estimation offairvalue. To estimate cash flows beyond the final yearofits model, the Company estimates a terminal value by applying an in-perpetuity growth
assumption and discount factorto determine the reporting unit's terminalvalue.

To forecast a reporting unit's cash flows the Company takes into consideration economic conditions and trends, estimated future operating results, management's and a market participant's view ofgrowth rates andproduct lives, and anticipates
future economic conditions. Revenue growth rates inherent in these forecasts are based on input from internal and external market research that compare factors such as growth in global economies, recent industry trends and product life-cycles.
‘Macroeconomic factors such as changes in economies, changes inthe competitive landscape including the unexpectedLOE to the Company's product portfolio, changes in government legislation, product life-cycles, industry consolidations and other
changes beyond the Company s control could have a positive or negative impact on achieving its targets. Accordingly, ifmarket conditions deteriorate, or ifthe Company is unable to execute its strategies, it may be necessary to record impairment
charges in the future.

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company elected to early adopt a new accounting standard which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating “Step 2” from the goodwill impairment test. Goodwill impairment is now
measured as the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fairvalue. Upon adopting the new standard, the Company tested goodwill for impairment and determined that the carrying value ofthe Salix reporting unit exceeded its
fairvalue resulting inthe Company recognizing a goodwill impairment of$1,970 millionassociated with the Salix reporting unit

2018Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its 2018 annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2018 and determined that the carrying value of the Dentistry reporting unit exceeded its fair value and, as a result, the Company recognized a goodwill

impairment of $109 million, representing the full amount of goodwill for the Dentistry reporting unit. Changing market conditions such as (i) an increasing competitive environment and (ii) increasing pricing pressures negatively impacted the
Teportingunit's operating results. AsofOctober 1, 2018, the fairvalueofeachreportingunit with associated goodwill exceeded its carrying value by more than 15%.

2019Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2019 by first assessing qualitative factors. Where the qualitative assessment suggested that it was more likely thannot that the fair value ofa reportingunitwas less

than its carrying amount, a quantitative fairvalue test was performed for that reporting unit. In each quantitative fair value testperformed, the fair value was greater than the carrying valueofthe reporting unit. As a result, there was no impairment to
the goodwill ofany reporting unit.

2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessments

An interim goodwill impairment test in advance ofthe annual impairment assessment may be required if events occur that indicate an impairment might be present. For example, a substantial decline m the Company s market capitalization,changes in reportable segments, unexpected adverse business conditions, economic factors andunanticipated competitive activities may signal that an interim impairment test is needed. Accordingly, during 2020 the Company continually monitored
among other matters the possible affects and outcomes ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on, among other things, its supplychain, customers and distributors, employee base, product sustainability, research and development activities, productpipeline and
consumer demand and related rebates and discounts and has made adjustments, although not considered to be material, to its long-term forecasts as of October 1, 2019 (the date goodwill was last tested for impairment) for these and other matters.
After completing this assessment, although not completely insulated from the negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company believed that its long-term forecasted cash flows, as adjusted for the possible outcome of the COVID-19
pandemic
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and othermatters, did not indicate that thefair value ofanyreporting unit may bebelow its carrying value.
On a quarterly basis, using its latest forecasts ofcash flows, the Company gave consideration to the nature and timing ofthe expected revenue losses resulting from COVID-19 pandemic related matters. No events occured or circumstances

changed during theperiod October 1, 2019 through September 30, 2020 that would indicate that the fair valueofany reporting unit, with the exception ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit as discussedbelow, mightbe below its carrying value.
The changes in the amounts and timing of revenues as presented in the Company's forecasts during 2020 included a range of potential outcomes and, with the exception of the Ortho Dermatologics reporting umit as discussed below, were not
substantial enough to materially adversely affect the recoverability ofany ofthe associatedreporting units assets and were not material enough to indicate that the fair values ofthose reporting units mightbe below their respective carrying values.
‘However, based on the results ofthe October 1, 2019 annual goodwill impairment test, the Company continued to assess theperformance ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit and the Neuro and Otherreporting unit on a quarterlybasis 2020.

2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessments - Neuro and Other
As partofits quarterly qualitative interim assessments ofthe Neuro and Other reporting unit, management consideredthe totality ofall relevant events or circumstances that could have affected the carrying amount or fairvalue ofthe reporting

‘unit, including comparing the reporting unit s operating results to the forecastused to test the goodwill ofthe Neuro and Other reporting unit as ofOctober 1, 2019. Based on the qualitative assessments, management believed that the carrying value
ofNeuro andOtherreportingunit didnot exceed its fair value and, therefore, concluded a quantitative fair value test was not required forany quarterlyperiod.

2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessments and Testing - OrthoDermatologics
During the three months endedMarch 31, 2020, the operating results for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit were less than those forecasted at October 1, 2019 for that period. As part ofits qualitative assessment as ofMarch 31, 2020, the

‘Company revised its forecasts for the year 2020, for among other matters, the lower than originally forecasted operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the range ofpotential impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic, including
longer than expectedlaunch cycles for certain new products. Managementbelieved that the revisions to its forecasts for the year 2020 were indicators thatthere was less headroom asofMarch 31, 2020 as comparedtothe headroom calculated onthe
date goodwill was last tested for impairment (October 1, 2019). Therefore, a quantitative fairvalue test forthe Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit wasperformed at March 31, 2020. Basedon the quantitative fair value test, the fairvalue ofthe Ortho
Demmatologics reportingunit continued to be greaterthan its carryingvalue and as a result there was no impairment to the goodwill ofthe reportingunit atMarch 31, 2020.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company identified certain Ortho Dermatologics products that were experiencing longer launch cycles than originally anticipated due to the COVID-19 pandemic and, as a direct result, took
actions to mitigate the impactofthesematters, including right-sizing its Ortho Dermatologics sales force. As part ofits qualitative assessment as ofJune 30, 2020, the Company revised its long-term forecasts for, among other matters, the decrease in
forecasted revenues of the identified products, the reduction im sales force and related costs and a range of potential impacts of COVID-19 pandemic related matters. Management believed that these events were indicators that there was less
headroom as ofJune 30, 2020 as compared to the headroom calculated on the date Ortho Dermatologics goodwill was last tested for impairment (March 31, 2020). Therefore, a quantitative fair value test for impairmentto the goodwill ofthe Ortho
Denmatologics reporting unit was performed at June 30, 2020. Basedon the quantitative fairvalue test, the fairvalueofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit continued to be greater than its carrying value andasa result there was no impairment to
the goodwill ofthereporting unit at June 30, 2020.

‘Management believed that based on its qualitative assessments as ofSeptember 30, 2020, itwas more likely than not that the carrying amount ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit was less than its fair value and, therefore, concluded a
quantitative fair value test was not required at September 30, 2020.

2020Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2020 by first assessing qualitative factors. Based on its qualitative assessment as ofOctober 1, 2020, management believed that, with the exception ofthe Ortho

Demmatologics reporting unit, it was more likely than not that the carrying amounts of its reportingunits were less than their respective fair values and therefore concluded 2 quantitative fair value test for those reporting units was not required The
‘Company performed a quantitative fair value test for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit as ofOctober 1, 2020, utilizing a long-term growth rate of2.0% and a range ofdiscount rates between 9.5% and 9.75%, in estimation ofthe fair value of
this reporting unit. Based on the quantitative fairvalue test, the fair value ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit was approximately 10% greater than its carryingvalue and as a result therewas no impairment to the goodwill ofthe reporting unit.
‘Ifmarket conditions deteriorate, or ifthe Company is unable to execute its strategies, it may be necessaryto record impairment
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charges in the future. Specifically, the Company continues to assess the performance ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit as compared to its respective projections and will performqualitative interim assessments ofthe carrying value and fair
value on a quarterlybasis to determine ifimpairment testingofgoodwillwill bewarranted.

See Note 8, "INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL"to ouraudited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details on the goodwill impairments recognized in 2018.
‘The Company expects torealign and begin managing its operations in a manner consistent with the organizational structure ofthe two separate entities as proposedby the Separation during the first quarter of2021, and asa result the Company

‘may need to perform animpairment testupon realignment ofits operating segments.
Conti -

In the normal courseofbusiness,we are subject to loss contingencies, such as claims andassessments arising from litigation and other legal proceedings, contractual indemmities, product andenvironmental liabilities and tax matters. Other than
Joss contingencies that are assumed in business combinations for whichwe can reliably estimate the fair value, we are required to accrue for such loss contingencies ifit is probable that the outcome will be unfavorable and ifthe amount ofthe loss
can be reasonably estimated. We evaluate our exposure to loss based on the progress of each contingency, experience in similar contingencies and consultation with our legal counsel. We re-evaluate all contingencies as additional information
‘becomes available. Giventhe uncertainties inherent in complex litigation andother contingencies, these evaluations can involve significantjudgment about future events. The ultimate outcome ofany litigation or other contingency maybe material to
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. See Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS" to our audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding our current legal proceedings. Ifno accrual is made for a loss
contingency because the amountofloss cannot bereasonably estimated, the Company will disclose contingentliabilities whenthere is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss or anadditional loss mayhavebeen incurred
Income Taxes

‘We have operations in various countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Our tax structure is supported by current domestic tax laws in the countries in whichwe operate and the application oftax treaties between the various countries in
which we operate. Our income tax reporting is subject to audit by domestic and foreign tax authorities. Our effective tax rate may change from year to year based on changes in the mix of activities and income eared under our intercompany
‘giTangements among the differentjurisdictions in which we operate, changes in tax laws im thesejurisdictions, changes in tax treaties between various countries in whichwe operate, changes in our eligibility forbenefits under those tax treaties and
changes inthe estimatedvaluesofdeferred tax assets and liabilities. Suchchanges could result in an increase inthe effective tax rate on all ora portionofour income and/or any ofour subsidiaries.

Our provision for income taxes is based on a numberofestimates and assumptions made by management Our consolidated income tax rate is affected by the amount of income eamed in our various operatingjurisdictions, the availability of
benefits under tax treaties and the rates of taxes payable in respect of that income. We enter into many transactions and arrangements in the ordinary course ofbusiness in which the tax treatment is not entirely certain. We must therefore make
estimates andjudgments based on our knowledge and understanding ofapplicable tax laws and tax treaties, and the application ofthose tax laws and tax treaties to our business, in determining our consolidated tax provision. For example, certain
countries could seek to tax a greater share of income than has been provided for by us. The final outcome ofany audits by taxation authorities may differ from the estimates and assumptions we have used in determining our consolidated income tax
Provisions and accruals. This could result in a material effect on our consolidated income tax provision, results ofoperations, and financialcondition for the period in which such determinations are made.

Our income tax returns are subject to audit invariousjurisdictions. Existing andfuture audits by, or other disputes with, tax authorities may not be resolved favorably forus and could have a material adverse effecton our reported effective tax

flows may be materially and adversely affected.
‘We assess whether it is more likely than not that we will realize the tax benefits associated with our deferred tax assets and establish a valuation allowance for assets that are not expected to result in a realized taxbenefit A significant amount

ofjudgment is used in this process, including preparation of forecasts of future taxable income and evaluation of tax planning initiatives. Ifwe revise these forecasts or determine that certain planning events will not occur, an adjustment to the
valuation allowance will be made to tax expense in theperiod such determination is made.
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NEW ACCOUNTINGSTANDARDS

Information regarding the recently issued new accounting guidance (adopted andnot adopted as ofDecember31, 2020) is containedinNote 2, “SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES" to ouraudited Consolidated Financial Statements.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

‘Cautionregarding forward-looking information and statements and “Safe-Harbor” statementsunder the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Actof 1995 and applicable Canadian securities laws
To the extent any statements made in this Form 10-K contain information that is not historical, these statements are forward-looking statements within the meaning ofSection 27A ofthe Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of

the Securities Exchange Actof1934, as amended, and may be forward-looking informationwithin themeaningdefined underapplicable Canadian securities laws (collectively, “forward-looking statements”).

Tequirements for 2021 and beyond; our plans for continued improvement in operational efficiency and the anticipated impact of such plans; our liquidity and our ability to satisfy our debt maturities as they become due; our ability to reduce debt
levels; our ability to meet the financial and other covenants contained in our Fourth Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the "Restated Credit Agreement”) and senior notes indentures; the impact ofour distribution, fulfillment
and other third-party arrangements; proposed pricing actions; exposure to foreign curency exchange rate changes and interest rate changes; the outcome of contingencies, such as litigation, subpoenas, investigations, reviews, audits and regulatory

assessments, including the assumptions used therein and the results thereof; the anticipated impact ofthe evolving COVID-19 pandemic and related responses from governments and private sector participants on the Company, its supply chain, third-

andresponses to this pandemic; and theCompany splan to separate its eye-healthbusiness, including the structure andtiming ofcompleting such separationtransaction.
Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the use of words such as “believe”, “anticipate”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “plan”, “continue”, “will”, “may”, “could”, “would”, “should”, “target”, “potential”, “opportunity”,

“designed”, “create”, “predict”, “project”, “forecast”, “seek”, “strive”, “ongoing” or “increase” and variations or other similar expressions. In addition, any statements that refer to expectations, intentions, projections or other characterizations of
future events or circumstances are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements may not be appropriate for other purposes. Although we have previously indicated certain of these statements set out herein, all ofthe statements in
this Form 10-K that contain forward-looking statements are qualified by these cautionary statements. These statements are based upon the curent expectations and beliefs ofmanagement Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such

to differ materially from those described in such forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. Important factors, risks anduncertainties that couldcause actual results to differ

+ the risks and uncertainties caused by or relating to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic, the fear of that pandemic, the availability and effectiveness ofvaccines for COVID-19, the rapidly evolving reaction of governments, private sector
Participants and the public to that pandemic, and the potential effects and economic impactofthe pandemic and the reaction to it, the severity, duration and future impact ofwhich are highlyuncertain and cannot be predicted, andwhich may

andrevenue and margins (both ofwhich may decrease);
* with respect to the proposed separation ofthe Company s eye-health business, the risks anduncertainties include, but are not limited to, the expectedbenefits and costs ofthe separation transaction, the expected timing ofcompletion ofthe

‘separation transaction andits terms, the Company s ability to complete the separationtransaction considering the

Exhibit 2160

Page 106 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 107 of 168

‘various conditions to the completion of the separation transaction (some of which are outside the Company s control, including conditions related to regulatory matters and a possible shareholder vote, ifapplicable), that market or other
conditions are no longer favorable to completing the transaction, that any shareholder, stock exchange, regulatory or other approval (ifrequired) is not obtained on the terms or timelines anticipated or at all, business disruption during the
pendency ofor following the separation transaction, diversion of management time on separation transaction-related issues, retention of existing management team members, the reaction of customers and other parties to the separation
‘transaction, the qualificationofthe separation transactionas a tax-free transaction forCanadian and/orU.S.federal income tax purposes (including whether or notanadvance ruling fromeither or both ofthe Canada Revenue Agency and the

counterparties, general economic conditions, conditions inthe markets the Company is engaged in, behavior ofcustomers, suppliers andcompetitors, technological developments, as well as legal and regulatory rules affecting the Company s
‘business;
the expense, timing and outcome oflegal and governmental proceedings, investigations and information requests relating to, among other matters, our past distribution, marketing, pricing, disclosure and accounting practices (including with
Tespect to our former relationship with Philidor Rx Services, LLC (“Philidor")), including a number ofpending non-class securities litigations (including certainpending opt-out actions in the US. related to the previously settled securities
class action(which is subject to anobjector's appeal ofthe final court approval) andcertain opt-out actions in Canada relating to the recently settled class action in Canada) and purportedclass actions underthe federal RICO statute and other
claims, investigations orproceedings thatmaybe initiated or that maybe asserted;

Potential additional litigation and regulatory investigations (and any costs, expenses, useofresources, diversion ofmanagement time and efforts, liability and damages that may result therefrom), negative publicity and reputational harmonour Company, products andbusiness that may result fromthe past and ongoingpublic scrutiny ofourpast distribution, marketing, pricing, disclosure and accounting practices and fromour former relationshipwith Philidor,
the past andongoing scrutiny ofour legacybusinesspractices, includingwithrespect to pricing, andany pricing controls orprice adjustments that maybe sought or imposed on ourproducts as a result thereof;
Pricing decisions that we have implemented, or may in the future elect to implement, such as the Patient Access and Pricing Committee s commitment that the average annual price increase for our branded prescription pharmaceutical
products willbe set at no greaterthan single digits, or any future pricing actions we may take following reviewby our Patient Access and Pricing Committee (which is responsible for the pricing ofour drugs);
legislative orpolicy efforts, including those that may be introduced and passed by the U.S. Congress, designed to reduce patient out-of-pocket costs for medicines, which could result in new mandatory rebates and discounts or other pricing
Testrictions, controls orregulations (including mandatory price reductions);
ongoing oversight and review ofour products andfacilities byregulatory and governmental agencies, includingperiodic auditsby the FDA andequivalent agencies outside ofthe U.S. and the results thereof,
actionsby the FDA or other regulatory authorities with respect to ourproducts or facilities;

operations;
our ability to meet the financial and other covenants contained in our Restated Credit Agreement, senior notes indentures, 2023 Revolving Credit Facility and other current or future debt agreements and the limitations, restrictions and

able to incurpursuant to other covenants, our ability to draw under our 2023 Revolving Credit Facility andrestrictions onour ability to make certaininvestments and otherrestrictedpayments;
any default under the terms ofour seniornotes indentures or Restated CreditAgreement and our ability, ifany, to cure or obtain waivers ofsuch default;

amy reductions in, or changes in the assumptions usedin, our forecasts for fiscal year 2021 orbeyond, including as aresultofthe impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on ourbusiness and operations, which could lead to, among other
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things (i) a failure to meet the financial and/or other covenants contained in our Restated Credit Agreement and/or senior notes indentures and/or (ii) impairment in the goodwill associated with certain of our reporting units or impairment
charges related to certainofourproducts or other intangible assets, which impairments couldbe material;
changes in the assumptions used in connection with our impairment analyses or assessments, which would lead to a change in such impairment analyses and assessments and which could result in an impairment in the goodwill associated
with any ofourreporting units or impairment charges related to certainofourproducts orother intangible assets;
the uncertainties associated with the acquisitionand launch ofnewproducts, including, but not limitedto, ourability toprovide the time, resources, expertise and funds requiredfor the commercial launch ofnewproducts, the acceptance and

our ability or inabilityto extend the profitable life ofourproducts, including through line extensions and other life-cycleprograms;
our ability to retain, motivate and recruitexecutives and otherkey employees;
our ability to implement effective succession planning forourexecutives and key employees;
factors impacting our ability to achieve anticipated growth in our Ortho Dermatologics business, including the success ofrecently Isunched products (such as Arazio®), expected geographic expansion in our Solta business (including with
Tespect to Next Generation Thermage FLX®), the ability to successfully implement and operate our cash-pay prescription program for certain ofour Ortho Dermatologics branded products, and the ability of such program to achieve the
anticipated goals respecting patient access and fulfillment, the approval ofpending and pipeline products (and the timing of such approvals), changes in estimates on market potential for dermatology products and continued investment in
and success ofour sales force;
factors impacting our ability to achieve anticipated revenues for our products, including changes in anticipated marketing spend on suchproducts and launch ofcompetingproducts;
the challenges and difficulties associatedwith managing a large complexbusiness, which has, in the past, grown rapidly,
our ability to compete against companies that are larger and have greater financial, technical and human resources than we do, as well as othercompetitive factors, such as technological advances achieved, patents obtained andnewproducts
introducedby our competitors;
our ability to effectively operate and grow our businesses in lightofthe challenges that the Company has faced and market conditions, including with respect to its substantial debt, pending investigations and legal proceedings, scrutiny of
our past pricing and other practices, limitations on the way we conductbusiness imposed by the covenants contained in ourRestated Credit Agreement, seniornotes indentures and the agreements governing our other indebtedness, and the
impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic;

government authorities, PBMs andotherthird-partypayors to reimburse ourproducts; and theimpactofobtaining ormaintaining suchreimbursement on theprice and sales ofourproducts;
the inclusion ofourproducts on formularies or ourability to achieve favorable formulary status, as well as the impact on the price and salesofour products inconnection therewith;
the consolidation ofwholesalers, retaildaz chains and other customergroups and the impact ofsuch industry consolidationon ourbusiness;
our eligibility forbenefits undertax treaties and the continued availability oflow effective tax rates for the business profits ofcertain ofour subsidiaries:
the actions ofour third-party partmers or service providers ofresearch, development, manufacturing, marketing, distribution or other services, including their compliance with applicable laws and contracts, which actions may be beyond our
control or influence, and the impact ofsuchactions on our Company, including the impact to the Company ofourformer relationshipwith Philidorand any alleged legal orcontractual non-compliance by Philidor;
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created by new anddifferent regulatory regimes in such countries and theneed to comply with applicableanti-bribery andeconomic sanctions laws and regulations);
adverse global economic conditions and credit markets and foreign currency exchange uncertainty andvolatility in certain ofthe countries inwhichwe dobusiness;
the impactofthe United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement (“USMCA”) and any potential changes to othertrade agreements:
the final outcome and impact ofBrexit negotiations;

our ability to obtain, maintain and license sufficient intellectual property rights overour products and enforce and defend against challenges to suchintellectual property (such as in connectionwiththe filing by Norwich Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Norwich”) ofits Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) for Xifaxan® (rifaximin) 550 mg tablets andthe Company s related lawsuit filed againstNorwich in comnection therewith):
the introduction ofgeneric, biosimilar or other competitors ofourbrandedproducts and otherproducts, including the introduction ofproducts thatcompete against ourproducts that do not havepatent ordata exclusivity rights;

any divestitures ofour assets or businesses and our ability to successfully complete any such divestitures on commercially reasonable terms and on a timely basis, or at all, and the impact ofany such divestitures on our Company, including

the reduction in the size or scope of our business or market share, loss of revenme, any loss om sale, including any resultant impairments of goodwill or other assets, or any adverse tax consequences suffered as a result of amy such

aeeaeeatneOfPending orfare legs! and governmental Proceeding’, arbitrations, investigations, suposnas, tx and other regulatory audi, examinations, reviews and regulatory Proceedings against us or relating 19 us
our ability to negotiate the terms ofor obtain court approval forthe settlement ofcertain lezal andregulatoryproceedings;
our ability to obtain components, rawmaterials or finishedproducts suppliedby thirdparties (someofwhich maybe single-sourced) and othermanufacturing and related supply difficulties, interruptions anddelays;
the disruption ofdeliveryofourproducts and the routine flow ofmanufactured goods;
economic factors over whichthe Company has no control, including changes in inflation. interest rates, foreign currency rates, andthe potential effect ofsuch factors on revenues, expenses and resulting margins:

our ability to effectively distribute ourproducts and the effectiveness and success ofourdistribution arrangements, including the impactofour arrangements with Walgreens;
our ability to effectivelypromote our ownproducts andthose ofour co-promotionpartners;
‘the success ofour fulfillment arrangementswith Walgreens, including market acceptance of, or market reaction to, such arrangements (including by customers, doctors, patients, PBMs, third-partypayors and governmental agencies), and the

our ability to secure andmaintain third-party research, development, manufacturing, licensing, marketing or distribution arrangements;
‘the risk that ourproducts could cause, orbe allegedto cause, personal injury and adverse effects, leading to potential lawsuits, product liability claims and damages and/or recalls orwithdrawals ofproducts from the market;
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the mandatory orvoluntary recall orwithdrawal ofourproducts fromthe market and the costs associated therewith;
‘the availability of, andour ability to obtain and maintain. adequate insurance coverage and/orour ability to cover orinsure against thetotal amountofthe claims and liabilities we face, whether throughthird-party insurance or self-insurance;
the difficulty in predicting the expense, timing and outcome within our legal and regulatory environment, including with respect to approvals by the FDA, Health Canada and similar agencies in other countries, legal and regulatory
proceedings and settlements thereof, the protection afforded by our patents and other intellectual and proprietary property, successful generic challenges to ourproducts and infringement or alleged infringement ofthe intellectual property
ofothers;

‘the success ofpreclinical and clinical trials forour drug developmentpipeline or delays in clinical trials that adversely impact the timely commercialization ofourpipelineproducts, as well as other factors impacting the commercial success
ofourproducts, which could lead to material impairmentcharges;
the results of management reviews ofour research and development portfolio (including following the receipt of clinical results or feedback from the FDA or other regulatory authorities), which could result in terminations of specific
Projects which, inturn, could lead to material impairment charges;
the seasonality ofsales ofcertain ofourproducts;
declines inthe pricing and sales volume ofcertainofourproducts that are distributed or marketedby third parties, overwhichwe have no or limitedcontrol:
compliance by the Company or our third-party partners and service providers (over whom we may have limited influence), or the failure ofour Company or these third parties to comply, with health care “fraud and abuse” laws and other
extensive regulation ofour marketing, promotional and business practices (including with respect to pricing), worldwide anti-bribery laws (including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public

the impacts ofthe Patient Protection and Affordable CareAct, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of2010 (the “Health Care ReformAct”) andpotential amendment thereofand other legislative and regulatory
healthcare reforms in the countries inwhichwe operate, includingwith respect torecent government inquiries onpricing;
‘the impact of any changes im or reforms to the legislation, laws, rules, regulation and guidance that apply to the Company and its businesses and products or the enactment of any new or proposed legislation, laws, rules, regulations or
guidance thatwill impact or apply to the Company or its businesses orproducts;
the impactofchanges in federal laws andpolicy thatmaybeundertaken following the change in the U.S. administration:
legaldistribution or sale ofcounterfeitversionsofour products;
‘interruptions, breakdowms or breaches inour information technology systems; and
Tisks in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” im this Form 10-K_

Additional information about these factors and about the material factors or assumptions underlying such forward-looking statements may be found elsewhere in this Form 10-K, under Item 1A. "Risk Factors” and in the Company's other
filings with the SEC and the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “CSA*). When relying on our forward-looking statements to make decisions withrespect to the Company, investors and others should carefully consider the foregoing factors and
otheruncertainties andpotential events. These forward-looking statements speak only asofthe date made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any ofthese forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances afterthe date ofthis
Form 10-K or to reflect actual outcomes, except as required by law. We caution that, as it is not possible to predict or identify all relevant factors that may impact forward-looking statements, the foregoing list ofimportant factors that may affect
future results is not exhaustive and should not be considered a complete statement ofallpotential risks and uncertainties.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is detailed in Item 7. “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

About Market Risk” and is incorporatedherein byreference.
Item 8. Financial Statements and SupplementaryData

‘The information requiredby this Item is contained in the financial statements set forth inItem 15. “Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules” aspart ofthis Form 10-K and is incorporated hereinby reference.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreementswith Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.
Item 9A_ Controls and Procedures
EvaluationofDisclosure Controls and Procedures

‘The Company s management, with the participation ofthe Company s ChiefExecutive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness ofthe Company s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as ofDecember 31, 2020. Based on that evaluation, the Company s ChiefExecutive Officer and the Company s ChiefFinancial Officer have concluded
that as ofDecember 31, 2020, the Company s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified im the SEC s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and commumicated to management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
Tequired disclosure.
‘Management’sAnnual Report on Internal ControlOver Financial Reporting

The Company s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined inRules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£) underthe Exchange Act. The Company s internal control over financial
Teporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityoffinancial reporting andthepreparation offinancial statements forexternal purposes inaccordancewith generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because ofchanges in conditions, orthat the degree ofcompliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

‘Under the supervision and with the participation ofmanagement, including the Company s ChiefExecutive Officer and the Company s ChiefFinancial Officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofits internal control
over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2020 based on the framework described inInternal Control - IntegratedFramework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation,
management has concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2020.

‘The effectiveness ofthe Company s internal control over financial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2020 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appearsherein.

‘Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have not been any changes in the Company s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(£) and 15d-15(£) under the Exchange Act) during the last fiscal quarter of2020 that have materially affected,

or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company s internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART OO

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Information required under this Item is incorporated hereinby reference from informationincludedin the 202] Proxy Statement.
‘The Board ofDirectors has adopted a Code ofEthics that applies to our ChiefExecutive Officer, ChiefFinancial Officer, the principal accounting officer, controller, and all vice presidents and above in the finance department ofthe Company

worldwide. A copyofthe Code ofEthics can be found as an annex to our Standards ofBusiness Conduct, which is located on our website atwwebauschhegith.com. We intend to satisfy the SEC disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or
waivers from, any provisions ofour Code ofEthics onour website.
ItemI. Executive Compensation

Information required under this Item relating to executive compensation is incorporated hereinby reference from information included in the 2021 Proxy Statement
Item 12. Security OwnershipofCertain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required under this Item relating to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans and to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference from information
includedin the 2021 Proxy Statement.

‘Information required under this Item relating to certain relationships and transactions withrelatedparties and about director independence is incorporated hereinby reference from informationinchaded in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal AccountingFees and Services

Information required under this Item relating to the fees forprofessional services rendered by our independent auditors in 2020 and 2019is incorporatedhereinbyreference from information included in the 2021 Proxy Statement.
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PARTIV
Item 15. Exhibits and Fimancial Statement Schedules

(3) Documents filed as a part ofthe report
(2) The consolidated financial statements required to be filed in the Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed on page F-1 hereof.
Q) Exhibits
All schedules are omittedbecause they are not applicable or therequired informationis includedin the financial statements or notes.

Item 16. Form 10-KSummary
None.
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10.29

1030

211°
23.1*
311°
312°
321°
322°
101 INS
101.SCH*
101L.CAL*
101LAB*
101.PRE*
101.DEF*
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and containedin Exhibit 101)

 
* Filed herewith.

‘Management contract orcompensator plan or arrangement
TT One ormore exhibits or schedules to this exhibit have been omittedpursuant to Item 601(a)(5) or Item 601(b)(2) ofRegulation S-K. We undertake to furnish supplementally a copy ofany omitted exhibit or schedule to the SEC upon request.
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Pursuant to the requirements ofSection 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Actof 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on itsbehalfbythe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
(Registrant)

February 24, 2021 By /s) JOSEPH C. PAPA
JosephC. Papa
(PrincipalExecutive Officerand Chairmanofthe Board)

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities ExchangeActof 1934,this report has been signed below by the following persons onbehalfofthe registrant and in the capacities andon the dates indicated
Sema Tide Duc

ChiefExecutive Officer andChairmanofthe Board February 24, 2021
Toseph C. Papa

AUIS. Executive Vice President and ChiefFinancial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) February 24, 2021
GLSAMELDESSOURY ‘SeniorVice President, Controller and ChiefAccountingOfficer (Principal February 24, 2021

‘Sam Eldessouky Accounting Officer)
-sRICHARDUDESCHUTTER Director Februar 24 2021Richard U. DeSchutter

Director February 24, 2021‘D. Robert Hale
Director February24,2021

Argeris N. Karabelas 24,Director February 24, 2021
Sarah B. Kavanagh

Director February 24, 2021JohnA. Paulson
Director February 24, 2021Robert N Power
Director February24,2021

Russel C. Robertson *,
THOMASWROSSSE. Director February 24, 2021

Thomas W. Ross, Sr.
Director Februar 24 2021

Andrew C. von Eschenbach
GLAMYB.WECHSLER Director February 24, 2021

"Amy B. Wechsler
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BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report ofManagement onFinancial Statements
Report ofIndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements ofOperations for the ears ended December 31 2020 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements ofComprehensive Loss for theyears ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements ofShareholders Equity forthe years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and2018
Consolidated Statements ofCash Flows for the years endedDecember 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
‘Notes to ConsolidatedFinancial Statements
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The Company s management is responsible forpreparing the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformitywithUnited States generally accepted accountingprinciples (“U.S. GAAP”). Inpreparing these consolidated financial
‘statements, management selects appropriate accounting policies and uses its judement and best estimates to report events and transactions as they occur. Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the
consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, inall material respects. Financial informationincludedthroughout this Annual Report is preparedon a basis consistentwith that ofthe accompanying consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has been engagedby the Company to auditthe consolidated financial statements.
‘The Board ofDirectors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board ofDirectors carries

shareholders, the engagement orreappointment ofthe external auditors. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has full and free access to the Audit andRisk Committee.

 

Js/ JOSEPH C. PAPA /s) PAUL S. HERENDEEN
Joseph C Papa Paul S Herendeen

February 24, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGFIRM

‘To the BoardofDirectors and Shareholders ofBausch HealthCompanies Inc.
Opinions on theFinancialStatements andInternalControl o erFinancialReporting

‘We have auditedthe accompanying consolidatedbalance sheetsofBausch Health Companies Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, andthe relatedconsolidated statements ofoperations, ofcomprehensive loss,
ofshareholders’ equity and ofcash flows for each ofthe three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have auditedthe Company's internal
control over financial reporting asofDecember31, 2020, basedon criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issuedbythe Committee ofSponsoring Organizations ofthe Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial positionofthe Company as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results ofits operations and its cash flows for eachofthe
three years in the period ended December 31, 2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ofAmerica. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting asofDecember31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issuedby the COSO.
Changes in AccountingPrinciples
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the mannerinwhich it accounts for leases in 2019 and the manner inwhichit accounts for income taxes and goodwill in 2018.

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment ofthe effectiveness ofinternal control over financial reporting, included
in Management s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over
financial reporting basedon our audits. We are a public accounting firm registeredwith the Public CompanyAccounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent withrespect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations ofthe Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, andwhether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits ofthe consolidated financial statements includedperforming procedures to assess the risks ofmaterial misstatement ofthe consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation ofthe consolidated financial statements. Our auditofinternal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
tisk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

A company s internal control over financial reporting is 2 process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability offinancial reporting and thepreparation offinancial statements for externalpurposes im accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions ofthe assets ofthe company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation offinancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures ofthe company are being made only in accordance with authorizations ofmanagement and directors ofthe
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company; and(iii) provide reasonable assuranceregarding prevention or timely detection ofunauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositionofthe company s assets that could have a material effecton the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation ofeffectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because ofchanges in conditions, or that the degree ofcompliance with the policies orprocedures may deteriorate.
CriticalAuditMatters

‘The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit ofthe consolidatedfinancial statements that were communicated orrequiredtobe communicatedto the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as awhole, andwe are not, by communicating the critical auditmatters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters oron the accounts or disclosures towhichthey relate.
MedicaidRebates andSalesReturnsAllowances

As described im Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, grossproduct sales are subject to avariety ofdeductions in arriving at reported netproduct sales. The transactionprice forproduct sales is typically adjusted for variable consideration,
which may be in the formofcash discounts, allowances, returns, rebates, chargebacks and distribution fees paid to customers. The provisions for these deductions are recorded concurrently with the recognition of gross product sales revenue as 2
Teduction in revenue. The variable consideration provisions, either recognized within accrued and other current liabilities or as a reduction oftrade receivables, included $575 million related to return allowances and $779 million related to rebates,
including Medicaidrebates as ofDecember 31, 2020. For certain rebate programs, such as Medicaid, provisions recognized by management are based on the terms ofstate government-managed programs, estimates ofoutstanding and future claims

product shelflives.
The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to Medicaid rebates and sales retum allowances is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the estimate of
‘Medicaid rebates and allowances for sales returns and (ii) a high degree of auditor judzment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures to evaluate management s estimates, including significant assumptions related to terms of state
government-managed Medicaidprograms, existing retumpolicies with customers, andprojectedoutstanding and future claims for end-customer sales.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connectionwith forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness ofcontrols relating to

‘Medicaid rebates by utilizing third-party information on inventory levels in the distribution channel, the terms ofthe specific Medicaid rebate programs, and the historical trends ofactual Medicaid rebate claims paid adjusted for price and projected
market conditions (ii) comparing the independent estimate for these Medicaid rebates to management s estimates, (iii) evaluating the reasonableness ofmanagement s assumptions related to the allowances for sales returns, including existing retumn

accuracy ofunderlying data used in the model, and (v) testing Medicaid rebate and sales return claims processed by the Company, including evaluating those claims for consistency with the contractual terms of the Company s arrangements and
policies.

As described im Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company s consolidated finite-lived net intangible assets balance was $6,740 million as of December 31, 2020, which consists of product and corporate brands, product
Tights/patents, parmer relationships and technology and other assets. Finite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. As
disclosed by management. recoverability is measured through the use ofanundiscounted future cash flow model when an indication ofimpairment is determined to exist. Ifan asset is determined to not be recoverable, a discounted cash flow model
is used to estimate fair value. Management s impairment tests included significant estimates and assumptions related to the amount and timingofprojected future cash flows and in the situationwhen the asset is determined to notbe recoverable, thediscount rate.
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The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the finite-lived intangible assets impairment assessment is a critical audit matter are (i) the significantjudgment by management in the identification ofevents
that suggest an asset group might not be recoverable and im developing the assumptions used in the impairment testing assessment and (ii) a high degree of auditorjudgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit
evidence related to management s undiscounted future cash flow projections.
Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connectionwith forming our overall opinionon the consolidated financial statements. These procedures includedtesting the effectiveness ofcontrols relating to
management s finite-lived intangible assets impairment assessment, including controls over the development of assumptions used to estimate recoverability and controls over the identification of events that suggest an asset group might not be
Tecoverable. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing managements process for identifying potential impairment events and determining the recoverability of the intangible assets, (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the
undiscounted cash flow model used in the impairment testing assessment, (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy ofunderlying data used in the model, and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness ofthe significant assumptions used by management
Telated to the undiscounted future cash flow projections. Evaluating the reasonableness ofmanagement's assumptions for undiscounted future cash flow projections involved evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable
considering the current andpastperformance ofthe asset group and whether these assumptions were consistentwith evidence obtained in other areas ofthe audit.
Good illImpairmentAssessment OrthoDermatologic: Reporting Unit
As described in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company s consolidated goodwill balance was $13,044 million as ofDecember 31, 2020, and the goodwill associated with the Ortho Dermatologics segment was $1,267 million.
The Ortho Dermatologics segment consists ofthe Ortho Dermatologics and Global Solta reporting units. Management conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2020 by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it
is more likely than not that the fair value ofa reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. Where the qualitative assessment suggested that it was more likely than not that the fair value ofa reporting unit was less than its carrying amount. a
quantitative fairvalue test was performed for that reporting unit As disclosed by management, goodwill impairment is measured by the amount the carrying value exceeds the fair value. Fairvalueofeach reporting unit is estimatedby management

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment assessment ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit is a critical audit matter are (i) the significantjudgment by management when
developing the fairvalue estimate ofthe reporting unit (ii) a high degree ofauditorjudgment, subjectivity, and effort inperforming procedures and evaluating audit evidence relatedto management s significant assumptions related to revenue growth

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connectionwith forming our overall opinionon the consolidated financial statements. These procedures includedtesting the effectiveness ofcontrols relating to
management s goodwill impairment assessment, including controls over the valuation of the Company s Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management s process for developing the fair
value estimate ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit, (ii) evaluating the appropriateness ofthe discounted cash flow model, (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy ofunderlying data used in the model, and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness
of the significant assumptions used by management related to the revenue growth rates, terminal growth rate, gross profit and the discount rate. Evaluating management s assumptions related to revenue growth rates and gross profit involved
evaluating whether the assumptions used by management were reasonable considering (i) the current and past performance of the reporting unit, (ii) the consistency with external market and industry data, and (iii) whether these assumptions were
consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company s discounted cash flow model and terminal growth rate and discount rate
assumptions.
/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Florham Park, NewJersey
February 24, 2021
‘We have served as the Company s auditor since 2012.
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(Gm millions, except share amounts)

 

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 605 $ 3,243
Restricted cash 1211 1
Trade receivables, net 1577 1,839
Inventories, net 1,094 1,107
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 855 779
Total current assets 5,342 6969

Property, plant andequipment, net 1,567 1,466
Intangible assets, net 8,445 10,201
Goodwill 13,044 13,126
Deferred tax assets, net 2,137 1,690Othernon-current assets 664 411

Total assets s 31,199 s 33,
. —_— —

CG lisbilits
Accounts pa able $ 337 $s 503
Acctued and other current liabilities 4,576 45
Current portion oflong-term debt and other — 1234‘Total current liabilities 4913 6.248

Acquisition-related contingent consideration 216 262
‘Non-currentportion oflong-term debt 23,925 24,661
Othernon current liabilities 1012 851

‘Commitments and contingencies (Notes 20 and 21)
Equity
(Common shares, noparvalue, unlimitedshares authorized, 355,422,347 and 352,562,636 issued andoutstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 10,227 10,172
Additional paid-in capital 454 429
Accumulated deficit (8,013) 452)
Accummlated other comprehensieloss (133) (2.086)

‘Total Bausch Health Companies Inc. shareholders equity 535 1,063
Noncontrolling interest 70 73

‘Total equity 605 1,136
Total liabilities and equity $ 31,199 $ 33,863

On behalfofthe Board
‘si JOSEPH C. PAPA /s/ RUSSEL C. ROBERTSON

Joseph C. Papa ‘Russel C. Robertson
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Re enues
Product sales
Otherrevenues

Expenses
Cost ofgoods sold (excluding amortization and impairments ofintangible assets)Cost ofother revenmes
Selling general and administrati e
Research and development

Goodwill impairments

Acquisition-related conti iderati
Other expense (income), net

Operating income (loss)
Interest income
Interest expense
Loss on extinguishment ofdebt
Foreign exchange and other
Loss before benefit from imcome taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc_

Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc.

Basic and diluted weighted-average common shares
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Net loss
‘Other comprehensive (loss) income

‘Net actuarial loss arising during the year
Amortization ofprior service credit
Amortization or settlementrecognition ofnet loss
Income tax benefit (expense)
Foreign currency impact

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Othercomprehensive (loss) income

‘Comprehensive loss
‘Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc.
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BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(@m millions)
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Balance, January 1, 2018
Effect ofapplicationofnew accounting standard Incometaxes

Effect ofapplicationofnew accounting standard fimancial instruments -
‘Common shares issuedunder share-based compensationplans‘Share-based is
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BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Ga millions)
BauschHealthCompanies Inc. Shareholders’ EquityCoenen Bares

Aéianal a ae
come ‘ ‘cone catty

eT aeSO_— — 1200 _- 1209 - 1,209
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Netlows
Adjustments toreconcilenet lors tonetcashprovidedbyoperatingactivities:

‘Depreciationandamortizationofmangible assets
Assetimpairment: including Jossonassetsboldforsale
Goodwill impaimest

‘Deferredincome taxes
(Gain) lousandisposalofassets
Additions (reductions) toaccrued legal settlements
‘Paymants ofaccrued logal settlements
‘Share basedcompensation
‘Foreignexchangelots (gain)
‘Low onextingaithmantofdebt
‘Payment: ofcontagentccaudermticaadmustmant, sxchudag accretionOther
(Changes inoperatingassets and liabilities:‘Trade recaivables
Is cntories
‘Propaidexpense: andothercurrantasuati
Accountspayzble, accrasdandotherLabilitios

‘Netcaubprovidedbyoperating acthites
(CashFlow: FromInvestingActivities
Acquisitionofbusinessea,netofcashacquired
Acquisitionofintangibleas.0t: andothrassots
‘Purchases ofproperty, plantandequipment‘Purchases ofmarketablesecurities
‘Proceeds from saleofmarketable securities
Proceeds from saleofassetsandbusinesses netofcosts to sell
‘[ntarest sottlaments fromcrow-currancy swaps
‘Netcachweed im mmvestingactivites

‘ssaanceoflong-term debt,netofdiscounts
‘Repaymentsoflong-term debt
Borrowing: ofthort-tam debt
‘Repaymentsofshort-termdebt
‘Pymeatofemployeewithholding taxes related to uhare-basedswards
Paymentsofacquititoe-relatedcontingentcontidaresion
‘Paymentsofdeferredconsideration
‘Prymentsoffinancingcost(Other
‘Natcab(usodin)providedbyfinancingactivities,
‘Effect ofexchangeratechango: oncathandcachequivalents
‘Net(decrease)increase imCashandcachoquivalants andRestrictedcash
(Cashandcachequivalents andRestrictedcash,besinningofyear
(Cash andcashequivalent: and Restricted cash, endofyear
(Cashandcachequivalents, endofyear
‘Restrictedcash, andofyear
(Cash andcachequivalent: and Restricted cash, endofyear

BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(iu millions)
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‘YearsEndedDecember31,
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BAUSCH HEALTH COMPANIES INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DESCRIPTION OFBUSINESS

‘BauschHealth Companies Inc. (the “Company”), formerlyknown as Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc., is a multinational, specialty pharmaceutical andmedical device company that develops, manufactures and markets a broad rangeof
‘branded, generic and branded generic pharmaceuticals, over-the-counter (“OTC™) products and medical devices (contact lenses. intraocular lenses, ophthalmic surgical equipment and aesthetics devices) which are marketed directly or indirectly
‘in approximately 100 countries. Effective August 9, 2013, the Company continued from the federal jurisdiction of Canada to the Province of British Columbia, meaning that the Company became a company registered under the laws ofthe
Province ofBritish Columbia as ifit had been incorporated under the laws ofthe Province of British Columbia. As a result of this continuance, the legal domicile ofthe Company became the Province ofBritish Columbia, the Canada Business
Corporations Act ceased to apply to the Company and the Company became subjecttothe British Columbia Business Corporations Act.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis ofPresentation and Use ofEstimates

The Consolidated Financial Statements have beenprepared by the Company inUnited States (“U.S.”) dollars and in accordance withU.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), applied on 2 consistent basis. The Consolidated
Financial Statements includethe accounts ofthe Company and thoseofits subsidiaries and anyvariable interest entities forwhich the Company is the primarybeneficiary. All intercompanytransactions andbalances have been eliminated
SeparationoftheBausch + LombEye-HealthBusiness
On August 6, 2020, the Company announced that it intends to separate its eye-healthbusiness into an independent publicly traded entity from the remainderofBausch Health Companies Inc. (the “Separation”). The Separationwill establish two
separate companies that include (i) a fully integrated eye-health company which will consist of the Company s Bausch + Lomb Global Vision Care, Global Surgical, Global Consumer and Global Ophthalmology Rx businesses and (ii) a
diversified pharmaceutical company which will include the Company s Salix, International Rx, Solta, neurology and medical dermatology pharmaceutical businesses. The anticipated separation is subject to regulatory approvals and certain
conditions, including final approval by the Company s BoardofDirectors andany shareholdervoterequirements that maybe applicable.
The Company has begun addressing the internal organizational design and structure ofthe new entity which it anticipates having substantially completed by late 2021. Management is also exploring various capitalization structures and the form
of the Separation transaction in order to properly capitalize both entities post-separation. As ofthe date of the issuance ofthese financial statements, the Company is in the planning phase of the Separation. As such. there are considerations,
approvals and conditions that will determine the ultimate timing and structure ofthe Separation and there can be no assurance that such 2 transaction will occur. These Consolidated Financial Statements do not include any adjustments to give
effect to the Separation.
ImpactsofCOVID-19Pandemic
The unprecedentednature ofthe COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted the global economy. The COVID-19 pandemic and the rapidly evolving reactions ofgovernments, private sector participants and the public in an effort to contain the
spread of the COVID-19 virus and/or address its impacts have intensified and have had significant direct and indirect effects on businesses and commerce. This includes, but is not limited to, disruption to supply chains, employee base and
transactional activity, facilities closures and production suspensions. The COVID-19 pandemic has also significantly increased demand for certain goods and services, such as pandemic-related medical services and supplies, alongside decreased
demand forothers, such as retail, hospitality, elective medical procedures and travel.
The extent to which these events may continue to impact the Company's business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations, in particular, will depend on future developments which are highly uncertain and many ofwhich are
outside the Company's control Such developments include the availability and effectiveness ofvaccines for the COVID-19 virus, the ultimate geographic spread and duration of the pandemic, the extent and duration of a resurgence of the
COVID-19 virus and variant strains thereof, ifany, new informationconcemingthe severity ofthe COVID-19virus, the effectiveness and intensity ofmeasures to contain the COVID-19 virus and the economic impactofthe pandemic and the
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Teactions to it. Suchdevelopments, among others, depending on their nature, duration and intensity, couldhave a significant adverse effect onthe Company's business, financial condition, cash flows and results ofoperations.
To date, the Company has been able to continue its operations with limited disruptions in supply and manufacturing. Although it is difficult to predict the broad macroeconomic effects that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on industries or
individual companies, the Company has assessed the possible effects and outcomes ofthe pandemic on, among other things, its supply chain, customers and distributors, discounts and rebates, employee base, product sustainability, research and
development efforts, product pipeline and consumer demand andcurently believes that its estimates are reasonable.
UseofEstimates
In preparing the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions. This includes estimates and assumptions regarding the nature, timing and extent of the impacts that the COVID-19
pandemic will have on its operations and cash flows. The estimates and assumptions used by the Company affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

‘uncertain tax positions and realizability of deferred tax assets; fair value of cross-curency swaps; and the recognition of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, including the fair value of contingent
consideration. Under certainproductmanufacturing and supply agreements, management uses information from the Company s commercializationcounterparties to arrive at estimates forfuture returns, rebates and chargebacks.
On an ongoing basis, management reviews its estimates to ensure that these estimates appropriately reflect changes in the Company s business and new information as it becomes available. If historical experience and other factors used by
management to make these estimates do not reasonably reflect future activity, the Company s Consolidated Financial Statements couldbe materially impacted.
Reclassificati

Certainreclassifications have been made to prioryear amounts to conformto the currentyearpresentation.
Acquisitis

Acquired businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at fair value, with limited exceptions. Transaction costs and costs to restructure the
acquired company are expensed as incurred. The operating results of the acquired business are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements after the date of acquisition. Acquired in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) is
recognized at fairvalue and initiallycharacterized as an indefinite-livedintangible asset, irrespective ofwhether the acquired IPR&D has an alternative futureuse. Ifthe acquired net assets do not constitute a business, the transactionis accounted
for as an asset acquisition and no goodwill is recognized Inan asset acquisition the amount allocated to acquired IPRA&D with no alternati e future use is charged to expense at the acquisition date and an future contingent consideration is not
recorded untilit becomes probable.
Fair Value ofFinancial Instruments

is based on estimated discounted future cashflows or Monte Carlo Simulation (whenappropriate) analyses and assessment ofthe probability ofoccurrence ofpotential future events.
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Fair Value ofDerivative Instruments

The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on whether the instrument has been designated and qualifies as part ofa hedging relationship and on the type ofhedging relationship. For derivative instruments
designated and qualifying as hedging instruments, the hedging instrument must be designated, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge ofthe foreign currency exposure ofa net investment in a
foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as hedginginstruments, the gainor loss is recognized im the Consolidated Statements ofOperations during the currentperiod.
The Company s cross-currency swaps qualify for and have been designated as an accounting hedee ofthe foreien currency exposure ofa net investment in 2 foreign operation and are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in their
fair values. The fairvalue is determined via a mark-to-market analysis, using observable (Level 2) inputs. These inputs may include (ji) the foreign cmrency exchange spotratebetween the euro andU.S.dollar, (ii) the interest rateyield curves in
the euro and U.S. dollar and (iii) the credit risk rating for each applicable counterparty. The net change in fair valueofcross-currency swaps is reported as a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements ofComprehensive Loss as partofForeign
currency translation adjustment to the extent they are effective, and remain in Accumulated other comprehensive loss until either the sale or complete, or substantially complete, liquidation of the subsidiary. No portion of the cross-currency
‘swaps was ineffective. The Company uses the spot method ofassessing hedge effectiveness. The Company has elected to amortize amounts excluded from the assessment ofeffectiveness over the termofits cross-cumrency swaps as a reduction
ofInterestexpense in the Consolidated Statements ofOperations.
The Company uses foreign currency exchange contracts to economically hedge the foreign exchange exposure on certain of the Company s intercompany and third party balances. The Company's foreign currency exchange contracts are
Temeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in their fair values determined using forward rates, which are observable market inputs, multiplied by the notional amount. These contracts have not been designated as an accounting hedge,
andtherefore the net change in their fairvalue is reported as a gain or loss inthe Consolidated Statements ofOperations as partofForeignexchange and other.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
(Cash and cash equivalents consistofcash inbank accounts and highly liquid investments with maturities ofthree months or less whenpurchased.
Concentrations ofCredit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations ofcredit risk consist primarily ofcash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, trade receivables, cross-currency swaps and foreign currency exchangecontracts.

The Company invests its excess cash in high-quality, money market instruments and term deposits with varying maturities, but typically less than three months. Cash deposited at banks may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such

The Company s trade receivables primarily represent amounts due from wholesale distributors, retail pharmacies, government entities and group purchasing organizations. Outside ofthe U_S., concentrations ofcredit risk with respect to trade
Teceivables, which are typically unsecured, are limited due to the number ofcustomers using the Company s products, as well as their dispersion across many different geographic regions. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of
customers and does not require collateral The Company monitors economic conditions, including volatility associated with international economies, and related impacts on the relevant financial markets and its business, especially in light of
sovereign credit issues. The credit and economic conditions within Argentina, Brazil, Ezypt, Greece, among other members of the European Union, Turkey, Ukraine and Venezuela have been weak im recent years. These conditions have
increased, and may continue to increase, the average lengthoftime that it takes to collect on the Companystradereceivables outstanding in these countries.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company s three largest U.S. wholesaler customers accounted for approximately 38% ofnet trade receivables. In addition, as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company s net trade receivable balance from
Argentina, Brazil, Egypt, Greece, Serbia, Turkey, Ukraine, Venezuela and Viemam amounted to $166 million and $156 million, respectively, the majority ofwhich is current or less than 90 days past due. The portion ofthe net trade receivable
fromthesecountries that is past duemore than 90 days amountedto $2 million. asofDecember 31, 2020, a portion ofwhichis comprised ofpublic hospitals. Based on an analysis ofcredit risk, including an analysisofbaddebt experience
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and assessment ofhistorical payment patterns for such customers, the Company has established a reserve covering more than half ofthe balance past due more than 90 days for such countries. Over the three-year period ended December 31,
2020, the Company has not experiencedany material losses fromuncollectible accounts in excess ofthe established reserves.
The Company does not enter into financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Further, the Company has a policy ofonly entering into contracts with parties that have at least an investment grade credit rating. The Company enters

institutions, and there is no significant concentration ofexposure with any one counter-party. To date, no counterparty has failed to meet its obligations to the Company and management believes the risk ofloss associated with these contracts is
Temote. See Note 5, "FAIRVALUEMEASUREMENTS" for additional details regarding theCompany's cross-currency swaps and foreigncurrency exchange contracts.
Allowance forCredit Losses

An allowance is maintainedforpotential credit losses. The Company estimates the current expected credit loss on its receivables basedon various factors, including historical credit loss experience, customer creditworthiness, value ofcollaterals
(Gfany), andany relevant current and reasonably supportable future economic factors. Additionally, the Company generally estimates the expected credit loss on a pool basis when customers are deemed to have similar risk characteristics. Trade
receivable balances arewritten offagainst the allowance whenit is deemedprobable that the trade receivable will not be collected. Trade receivables, net are stated netofcertain sales provisions and the allowance for credit losses. Allowance for
credit losses were $39 million, $48 million and $47 million asofDecember31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The activity in the allowance for credit losses for trade receivables for the years 2020, 2019 and2018is as follows.

(inmalltons) 2020 2019 20138
Balance, beginning ofperiod $ $ 47 $
Retrospective effect ofapplicationofnew accounting standard
Provision
Write-offs
Recoveries
Foreign exchange and other
Balance, end ofperiod s

48
1 _—
2 10

a2) Qo)3 1
@)
39 46.8418$ 48 $   

Inventories comprise raw materials, work in process and finished goods, which are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, on a first-in, first-out basis. The cost value for work in process and finished goods inventories includes
materials, direct laborand an allocation ofoverheads.
The Company evaluates the carrying value ofinventories ona regular basis, taking into account such factors as historical and anticipated future sales compared with quantities onhand the price the Company expects to obtain for products in

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reported at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Costs incurred on assets under construction are capitalized as construction in progress. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, commencing
when the assets become available forproductive use, based on the following estimateduseful lives

 

Land improvements 15-30years
Buildings and improvements ‘Up to 40years
‘Machineryand equipment 3-20years
Other equipment 3-10years
Equipment on operating lease UptoS ears
Leasehold improvements Lesser oftermofleaseor 10years
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IntangibleAssets
Intangible assets are reported at cost, less accummlated amortization and impairments. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Amortization is calculated primarily using the straight-line method based on

Product brands 1-20 years
Corporatebrands 7-20years
Productrightspatents 4-15 years
Parmerrelationships 7-9years
Out-licensed technology and other 8-9years

Di estitures ofProducts

The net proceeds on the divestiture ofproducts and the carrying amount ofthe related assets is recorded as a gain/loss on sale within Other expense (income), net Any contingent payments that are potentially due to the Company as a result ofthese divestitures are recorded whenrealizable.

The fair alue ofIPR&D acquired through a business combination is capitalized as an indefinite li ed intangible asset until the completion or abandonment of the related research and de elopment acti ities When the related research and
de elopment is completed the asset willbe assigned a useful life and amortized Acquired IPRAD assets are testedfor impairment atleast anmuall orwhen triggeringe ents are identified
The fair value ofan acquired IPR&D intangible asset is typically determined using an income approach. This approach starts with a forecast of the net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset over its estimateduseful life The net cash
flows reflect the asset s stageofcompletion, the probability oftechnical success, the projected costs to complete, expected market competition and an assessment ofthe asset s life-cycle. The net cash flows are then adjusted to present value by
applying an appropriate discount rate that reflects the risk factors associatedwith the expectedcash flow streams.
Impairment ofLong-LivedAssets
Long li ed assets with fimite li es are tested for impairment whene er e ents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carr ing alue ofan asset ma not be reco erable If indicators of impairment are present the asset is tested for
reco erabilit b comparing the carr ing alue ofthe asset to the related estimatedundiscounted future cash flows expected to be deri ed from the asset Ifthe expected undiscounted cash flows are less than the carr ing alueofthe asset then
the asset is considered to be impairedand its carr ing alue is written down to fair alue based on the relatedestimated discounted future cash flows
Indefinite-lived intangible assets, which includes acquired IPR&D and the corporate trademark acquired in the acquisition of Bausch & Lomb Holdings Incorporated (the “B&L Trademark ), are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances between annual tests indicate that the asset may be impaired Impairment losses on indefinite-lived intangible assets are recognized based on a comparison of the fair value ofthe asset to its
carrying value.

Goodwill is recorded with the acquisition ofa business and is calculated as the difference between the acquisition date fair alue ofthe consideration transferred and the alues assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed Goodwill is
Rot amortized but is tested for impairment at least annuall as ofOctober Ist at the reporting unit le el Goodwill impairment is measured as the amountb which a reporting units carr ing alue exceeds its fair A reporting unit is the
same as or one le el below an operating segment Anentit is permitted to first assess qualitati el whether itis necessar to perform a quantitati e impairment test foran ofits reporting units The quantitati e impairment test is requiredonl
when the Compan concludes that it is more likel than not that a reporting unit s fair alue is less than its carr ing amount Ine aluatingwhether it is more likel thannot that the fair alueofa reporting unit is less than its carr ing amount the
Compan considers the totalit ofall rele ante ents or circumstances that affect the fair alueor carr ing amount ofa reportingunit
An interim goodwill impairment test in advance ofthe annual impairment assessment may be required if events occur that indicate an impairment might be present. For example, a substantial decline in the Company s market capitalization,
changes inreportable segments, unexpectedadverse business conditions, economic factors andunanticipated competitive activities may signal that an interim impairment test is needed Accordingly, among otherfactors, the Company monitors
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changes in its share price between annual impairment tests. The Company considers a decline in its share price that corresponds to an overall deterioration in stock market conditions to be less of an indicator of goodwill impairment than a
unilateral decline in its shareprice reflecting adverse changes in its underlying operating performance, cash flows, financial condition and/or liquidity. In the event that the Company s market capitalization does decline below its book value, the

Teflectunderlying values.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company elected to early adopt guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") which simplified the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating “Step 2” from the goodwill
impairment test. Instead, as ofJanuary 1, 2018 and all subsequentperiods, goodwill impairment is measured as the amount by whicha reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fairvalue.

Debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs are presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a direct deductionfromor addition to the carrying amount ofthe related debt and are amortized or accreted, usingthe effective interest method, as
interest expense over the contractual lives ofthe related credit facilities or notes. Deferred financing costs associated with revolving credit facility arrangements are included im the balances ofPrepaid expenses and other current assets and Other
non-Current assets inthe ConsolidatedBalance Sheets and are amortized as interest expense over the contractual life oftherelatedrevolving credit facility.
Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities ofthe Company s foreign operations having 2 functional currency other than the U_S.dollar are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing atthe balance sheet date, and at the average exchange rate for the
Teporting periodfor revenue and expense accounts. The cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment is recorded asa componentofAccumulatedothercomprehensive loss in the ConsolidatedBalance Sheets.
Foreign currency exchange gains andlosses on transactions occurring in a currency other thanan operation s functional currency arerecognized as a componentofForeign exchange andother inthe Consolidated Statements ofOperations.
R R iti

The Company s revenmes are primarily generated from product sales, primarily in the therapeutic areas of eye-health, gastroenterology ("GI") and dermatology that consist of (i) branded pharmaceuticals, (ii) generic and branded generic

products and contract service revenue primarily in the areas of dermatology and topical medication. Contract service revenue is derived primarily from contract manufacturing for third parties and is not material. See Note 22, "SEGMENT

The Company recognizes revenue when the customer obtains control ofpromised goods or services and in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services.
To achieve this core principle, the Company applies the five-step revenue model to contracts within its scope (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer, (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction
Price, (iv) allocate the transactionprice tothe performance obligations in the contract and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies aperformance obligation.
ProductSales

A contract with the Company s customers exists foreach product sale. Where 2 contract with a customer contains more than one performance obligation, the Company allocates the transaction price to each distinct performance obligationbased
on its relative standalone selling price. The transaction price is adjusted forvariable consideration which is discussed below. The Company generally recognizes revenue for product sales at a point in time, when the customer obtains control of
the products.
ProductSalesProvisions

As is customary in the pharmaceutical industry, gross product sales are subject to a variety ofdeductions in arriving at reported netproduct sales. The transaction price for product sales is typically adjusted for variable consideration, which may
‘be imthe form ofcashdiscounts, allowances, retums, rebates, chargebacks anddistribution fees paid to customers.
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Provisions for variable consideration are established to reflect the Company s best estimates of the amount of consideration to which it is entitled based on the terms of the contract. The amount ofvariable consideration included in the
transactionprice may be constrained, and is included inthe net sales price only to the extent that it isprobable that a significant reversal in the amount ofthe cumulativerevenue recognized will not occur in the future period.
Provisions for these deductions are recorded concurrently with the recognition ofgross product sales revenue and include cash discounts and allowances, chargebacks, and distribution fees, which are paid to direct customers, as well as rebates
and retums, which can be paid to direct and indirect customers. Returns provision balances and volume discounts to direct customers are included in Accrued and other current liabilities. All other provisions related to direct customers are
included inTrade receivables, net, while provision balances related to indirect customers are included inAccrued andothercurrent liabilities.
The following tablepresents theactivity and ending balances ofthe Company s variable considerationprovisions the years 2020 and2019.

Discount:
and Dumbutioa

Grrromnesee
Reservebalance, Jamuary 1, 2019 $ ms $ 813 $ 104 $ mm § 163 $ 2384
AcquisitionofSynergy - 3 n - 1 16
(Current periodprovision 716 3 2.265 1,938 195 5.287
Paymentsand credits 769) 38) 2.374) 2.979) Qi 6.87)Reservebalance,December 31, 2019 182 @1 on7 168 32 2,050
Current periodprovision al 120 2174 1,925 196 5.036
Paymentsand credits (613) 35) 2.322) (2,909) 293) 6.273)
Reserve balance,December 31, 2020 $ 190 $ 373, $ m7 $ 14 $ 8 $ 1813
Included in Rebates in the table above are cooperative advertising credits due to customers of approximately $32 million and $29 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which are reflected as a reduction of Trade accounts
Teceivable, net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company continually monitors its variable consideration provisions and evaluates the estimates used as additional information becomes available Adjustments will be made to these provisions periodically to reflect new facts and
circumstances that may indicate that historical experience may not be indicative ofcurrent and/or future results. The Company is required to make subjectivejudgments based primarily on its evaluationof current market conditions and trade
inventory levels related to the Company's products. Thesejudgments include the potential impact ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on, among other things, unemployment and related changes in customer health insurance levels, customer behaviors
during the COVID-19 pandemic and government stimulus bills that focus on ensuring availability and access to lifesaving drugs during a public health crisis. This evaluation may result in an increase or decrease in the experience rate that is
appliedto current and future sales, orrequire an adjustment related to past sales, orboth Ifthe trendin actual amounts ofvariable consideration varies from the Companyspriorestimates, the Company adjusts these estimates when suchtrend is
believed to be sustainable. At that time, the Company would record the necessary adjustments which would affect net product revenue and earnings reported in the current period The Company applies this method consistently for contracts with
‘similar characteristics. The following describes the major sources ofvariable consideration in the Company s customer arrangements and the methodology, estimates andjudzments applied to estimate each type ofvariable consideration.
‘Cash Discounts andAllo ances

Cash discounts are offered for promptpayment and allowances for volume purchases. Provisions for cash discounts and allowances are estimated at the time ofsale and recordedas direct reductions to trade receivables andrevenue. Management
estimates the provisions for cash discounts and allowances based on contractual sales terms with customers, an analysis of unpaid invoices and historical payment experience. Estimated cash discounts and allowances have historically been
predictable andless subjective, due to the limited number ofassumptions involved, the consistency ofhistorical experience and the fact that these amounts are generally settledwithin one month ofincurring the liability.
Returns

Consistent withindustr practice customers are general] allowed to retum a product within a specifiedperiod oftime before and after its expiration date excluding Europeanbusinesses which generall do not pro ide aright ofretum The
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utilized to estimate the retums provision includes (i) historical return and exchange levels, (ii) external data with respect to inventory levels in the wholesale distribution channel, (iii) external data with respect to prescription demand for
products, (iv) remainingshelflivesofproducts at the date ofsale and(v) estimated retums liability to be processed byyearofsale based on an analysis oflot informationrelatedto actual historical returns.
In determining the estimate for returns, management is required to make certain assumptions regarding the timing ofthe introduction ofnew products and the potential ofthese products to capture market share. In addition. certain assumptions

continually reassessed, and changes to the estimates and assumptions are made as new information becomes available. A change of 1% in the estimated return rates would have impacted the Company s pre-tax earnings by approximately $76
million for the year 2020.
The estimate for returns may be impacted by a number offactors, but the principal factor relates to the inventory levels in the distribution channel. When management becomes aware ofan increase in such inventory levels, it considers whether
the increase may be temporary or other-than-temporary. Temporary increases in wholesaler inventory levels will not warrant revision to the provision for returns. Other-than-temporary increases in wholesaler inventory levels, however, may be
an indication that future product returns could be higher than originally anticipated, and, as a result, estimates forreturns may need to be adjusted. Factors that suggest increases in wholesaler inventory levels are temporary include (i) recently
implemented or announced price increases for certain products, (ii) new product launches or expanded indications for existing products and (iii) timing of purchases by wholesale customers. Conversely, factors that suggest increases in

changes to the U.S. National Drug Codes (“NDC”) ofproducts. Changes in the NDC ofproducts could result ina periodofhigher returns related to products with the old NDC, as U_S. customers generally permit only one NDC per product for

Over the last several years, the Company increased its focus on maximizing operational efficiencies and continues to take actions to reduce product returns, including but not limited to (i) monitoring and reducing customer inventory levels, (ii)

$120 millionand $113 million, respectively, and includes reductions invariableconsideration for sales returnprovisions relatedtopast sales ofapproximately $38 million and $80 million, respectively.
Rebates andChargeback:
Product sales made under governmental and managed-care pricing programs in the U.S. are subject to rebates. The Company participates in state government-managed Medicaid programs, as well as certain other qualifying federal and state
government programs whereby rebates are provided to participating government entities. Medicaid rebates are generally billed 45 days to 270 days after the quarter in which the product is dispensed to the Medicaid participant. As a result, the
Medicaid rebate reserve includes an estimate of outstanding claims for end-customer sales that occured, but for which the related claim has not been billed and/or paid, and an estimate for future claims that will be made when inventory in the
distribution channel is sold through to planparticipants. The calculation ofthe Medicaid rebate reserve also requires other estimates, such as estimates ofsales mix, to determine which sales are subject to rebates and the amount ofsuch rebates.
A change of 1% im the estimatedrates used in the Medicaidrebate reserve would have impacted the Company s pre-tax earings by approximately $76 million for 2020. Quarterly, the Medicaid rebate reserve is adjusted based on actual claims
paid Due to the delay in billing, adjustments to actual claims paidmay incorporate revisionsofthat reserve for several periods.
Managed Care rebates relate to contractual agreements to sell products to managedcare organizations and pharmacybenefitmanagers at contractual rebatepercentages in exchange for volume and/ormarket share.
Chargebacks relate to contractual agreements to sell products to government agencies. group purchasing organizations and other indirect customers at contractual prices that are lower than the list prices the Company charges wholesalers. When
these group purchasing organizations or other indirect customers purchase products through wholesalers at these reducedprices, the wholesaler charges the Company for the difference between the prices they paid the Company and the prices at
which they sold the products to the indirect customers.
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Management estimates the amount ofproduct sales subject to these programs based on historical utilization levels. Changes in the level ofutilization ofproducts through private or public benefit plans and group purchasing organizations will
affect the amount ofrebates and chargebacks that the Company is obligated to pay. Management continually updates these factors based on new contractual or statutory requirements, and any significant changes in sales trends that may impact
the percentage ofproducts subject to rebates or chargebacks.
The amount ofManaged Care, Medicaid and otherrebates and chargebacks has become more significant as a resultof a combination ofdeeper discounts implemented in each ofthe last three years, changes in the Company s product portfolio
due to recent acquisitions and increased Medicaid utilization due to expansion ofgovernment funding for these programs. Management s estimate for rebates and chargebacks may be impacted by a number of factors, but the principal factor
Telates to the level ofinventory in the distribution channel.
Rebate provisions are based on factors such as timing and terms ofplans under contract, time to process rebates, product pricing, sales volumes, amountofinventory in the distribution channel and prescription trends. Adjustments to actual for
the years 2020 and 2019 were not material to the Company s revemnes or earnings.
Patient Co-Pay Assistance programs, Consumer Rebates and Loyalty Programs are rebates offered on many ofthe Company s products. Patient Co-Pay Assistance Programs are patient discount programs offered in the form of coupon cards or
pointofsale discounts, with which patients receive certain discounts offtheir prescription at participating pharmacies, as defined by the specific product program. An accrual for these programs is established, equal to management s estimate of
the discount, rebate and loyalty incentives attributable to a sale That estimate is based on historical experience and other relevant factors. The accrual is adjusted throughout each quarter based onactual experience andchanges in other factors. if
any.
Distribution Fees

The Company sells products primarily to wholesalers, and in some instances to large pharmacy chains such as CVS and Walmart. The Company has Distribution Services Agreements ("DSAs") with several large wholesale customers such as

Company is entitled to credits from such wholesalers for the impact of that WAC increase on inventory currently on hand at the wholesalers. Such credits are offset against the total distribution service fees paid to each such wholesaler The
variable consideration associated with price appreciation credits is reflected in the transaction price of products sold when it is determined to be probable that a significant reversal will not occur Included as a reduction ofcurrent period
Provisions forDistribution Fees inthe table above areprice appreciation credits of$15 millionand $11 million for the years 2020 and 2019,respectively.

There are no contract assets for anyperiodpresented. Contract liabilities consist ofdeferred revenue, the balanceofwhich is not materialto any periodpresented.
Sales Commissions

‘Sales commissions are generally attributed to periods shorterthan oneyear andtherefore are expensedwhen incurred. Sales commissions are included inselling, general and administrative expenses.
Financing Component
The Company has elected not to adjust consideration for the effects ofa significant financing component when the period betweenthe transfer ofa promised good or service to the customer and when the customer pays for that good or service
will be one year or less. The Company's global payment terms are generally betweenthirty toninety days.
Leases

The Company leases certain facilities, vehicles and equipment principallyundermulti-year agreements generally having 2 lease termofone to twenty years, some ofwhich include termination options and options to extend the lease term from
one to five years orona month-to-month basis. The Company includes options that are reasonably certain to be exercised as partofthe lease term The Company may negotiate termination clauses in anticipation ofchanges in marketconditionsbut
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generally, these termination options are not exercised. Certain lease agreements also include variable payments that are dependent on usage or may vary month-to-month such as insurance, taxes andmaintenance costs. Noneofthe Company's
lease agreements contain material residual value guarantees or materialrestrictive covenants.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted a new standard revising the accounting for leases, using the modified retrospective approach Upon adoption, the Company elected the availablepractical expedients, including (i) thepackage of
practical expedients as defined im the accounting guidance. which among other things, allowed the carry forward ofhistorical lease classifications, (ii) the election to use hindsight in determining the lease terms for all leases, (iii) the transition
method, which does not require the restatement ofprior periods, (iv) the election to aggregate lease components with non-lease components and account for these payments as a single lease component and (v) the short-term lease exemption,
which does not require recognition on the balance sheet for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less. The Company has updated its systems, processes and controls to track, record and account for its lease portfolio, including
implementation ofa third-party software tool to assist in complyingwith the new standard Uponadoption ofthe new standard, the Companyrecognized a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability of$302 million The adoption ofthe
standard didnot have a material impact on the Consolidated Statements ofOperations, Comprehensive Loss, Equity andCash Flows for anyofthe periods presented See Note 12, "LEASES" for additional details and application ofthis standard

The Company is required to record a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability, equal to the present value ofthe lease payments at the commencement dateofeach lease. For all asset classes, in determining future lease payments, the
Company has elected to aggregate lease components, such as payments for rent, taxes and insurance costs with non-lease components such as maintenance costs, and account for these payments as a single lease component. In limited
circumstances, when the information necessary to determine the rate implicit in a lease is available, the present value of the lease payments is determined using the rate implicit in that lease. If the information necessary to determine the rate
implicit ina leaseis not available, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at thecommencement ofthe lease, which represents therate ofinterest that the Company would incurto borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term.
All leases must be classified as eitheran operating lease or finance lease. Theclassification is determinedbased onwhether substantive control has been transferred to the lessee. The classification governs the patternoflease expense recognition.
For leases classified as operating leases, total lease expense over the termofthe lease is equal to the undiscounted payments due in accordance with the lease arrangement. Fixed lease expense is recognized periodically on a straight-line basis
overthe termofeach lease andinchades (i) imputed interest during the period on the lease liability determinedusing the effective interestrate methodplus (ii) amortizationofthe right-of-use asset for thatperiod. Amortization ofthe right-of-use
asset during the period is calculated as the difference between the straight-line expense and the imputed interest on the lease liability for that period Variable lease expense is recognizedwhen the achievement ofthe specific target is considered
probable.
Research and DevelopmentExpenses
Costs related to internal research and development programs, including costs associated with the development of acquired IPR&D, are expensed as goods are delivered or services are performed Under certain research and development
arrangements with third parties, the Company may be required to make payments that are contingent on the achievement of specific developmental, regulatory and/or commercial milestones. Milestone payments made to third parties before a
Product receives regulatory approval, but after the milestone is determined to be probable, are expensed and included in Research and development expenses. Milestone payments made to third parties after regulatory approval is received are

Amounts due from third parties as reimbursement ofdevelopment activities conductedundercertainresearch and development arrangements are recognized as a reductionofResearch and developmentexpenses.
Legal Costs
Legal fees and other costs related to litigation and other legal proceedings or services are expensed as incurred and are included in Selling. general and administrative expenses. Certain legal costs associated with acquisitions are included mn

(G@ncome), net, as appropriate. Legal costs expensed are reportednetofexpected insurance recoveries. A claim for insurance recovery is recognized whenrealizationbecomes probable.
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Advertising Costs

$451million, $544 million and $481 million, for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Share-Based Compensation
‘The Company recognizes all share-basedpayments to employees, including grants ofemployee stock options and restricted share units (“RSUs”), at estimated fair value. The Company amortizes the fair valueofstock option orRSU grants on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the individual stock option or RSU grant, which generally equals the vesting period. Stock option and RSU forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods ifactual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Share-based compensation is recorded inResearch and development expenses and Selling, general and administrative expenses, as appropriate.
Acquisition-Related Conti: Considerati

Acquisition-related contingent consideration, which primarily consists ofpotential milestone payments and royalty obligations, is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at its acquisition date estimated fair value, in accordance with the
acquisition method of accounting. The fair value of the acquisition-related contingent consideration is remeasured each reporting period, with changes in fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair value
measurement is based on significant inputs not observable in the market and thus represents a Level 3 measurementas defined infairvalue measurement accounting.
Interest Expense
Interest expense includes standby fees, the amortization ofdebt discounts and deferred financing costs, accretion ofdebt premiums and the amortization ofamounts excluded from the assessment ofeffectiveness related to the Company's cross-
currency Interest costs are expensed as incumred, except to the extent such interest is related to construction in progress, in which case interest is capitalized. Capitalized interest related to construction in progress asofDecember 31, 2020
‘and2019 was $45 million and $34 million, respectively, and is included in Property, plant and equipment, net.
Income Taxes

‘tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is provided for the portion ofdeferred tax assets that is more likely than not to remain unrealized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates and laws. Deferred tax
assets foroutsidebasis differences ininvestments in subsidiaries are only recognized ifthe difference willbe realized imthe foreseeable future.
In October 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring an entity to recognize the income tax consequences ofan intra-entity transfer ofan asset other than inventory when the transfer occurs, rather than when the asset has been sold to an outside
party. This guidance was effective for the Company January 1, 2018 and was applied using a modified retrospective approach through a cumulative-effect adjustment to accumulated deficit and deferred income taxes as ofthe effective date The
‘Company recorded a net cumulative-effect adjustment of $1,209 million to increase deferred income tax assets and decrease the opening balance ofAccumulated deficit for the income tax consequences deferred from past intra-entity transfers
involving assets other than inventory.
‘The tax benefit from an uncertain tax position is recognized only ifit is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authority, based on the technical merits ofthe position. The tax
benefits recognized from such position are measured based on the amount for which there is a greater than 50% likelihood ofbeing realized upon settlement. Liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions are classified as long-term unless
expectedto be paidwithin one year. Interest andpenalties relatedtouncertaintax positions, ifany, are recorded inthe provision for incometaxes and classifiedwith the related liability onthe consolidated balance sheets.
Loss Per Share Attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc_
Basic loss per share attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. is calculated by dividing Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. by the weighted-average number ofcommon shares outstanding during the reporting period.
Diluted loss per share attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. is calculatedby dividing Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. by theweighted-average numberofcommon shares outstanding during the reportingperiod
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ComprehensiveLoss

other investments and certainpension and otherpostretirement benefitplan adjustments. Accumulated othercomprehensive loss is recorded as a component ofshareholders equity.
Conti -

In the normal course ofbusiness, the Company is subject to loss contingencies, such as claims and assessments arising from litigation and other legal proceedings, contractual indemmities, product and environmental liabilities and tax matters.
Accruals for loss contingencies are recordedwhen the Company determines that it is bothprobable that a liability has been incurred andthe amount ofloss can bereasonably estimated. Ifthe estimate ofthe amount ofthe loss is a range and some
amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount within the range, that amount is accrued asaliability. Ifno amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount ofthe range is
accrued asaliability. These accruals are adjustedperiodically as assessments change or additional informationbecomes available.
Ifno accrual is made for a loss contingency because the amount ofloss cannot be reasonably estimated, the Company will disclose contingent liabilities when there is at least a reasonable possibility that a loss or an additional loss may have beenincurred.

Employee Benefit Plans

postretirement plan obligations and their associated expenses requires the use ofactuarial valuations to estimate the benefits employees earwhile working, as well as the present value ofthose benefits. Net actuarial gains and losses that exceed
10 percent ofthe greater of the plan s projected benefit obligations or the market-related value ofassets are amortized to earnings over the shorter ofthe estimated average future service period ofthe plan participants (or the estimated average
future lifetime oftheplanparticipants ifthe majority ofplanparticipants are inactive) or theperiod untilany anticipated finalplan settlements.
Adoption ofNewAccounting Standards
In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance on the impairment offinancial instruments requiring an impairment model based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Under this guidance, an entity recognizes as an allowance its estimate of
expected credit losses. The guidance was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2020 and was applied using a modified retrospective approach through a cummlative-effect adjustment to accummiated deficit, which resulted im an
increase toAccumulated deficit ofless than $1 million The application ofthis guidance did not have a material effect on the Company's results ofoperations and cashflows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance modifying the disclosure requirements for fair value measurement. The guidance was effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2020. The application ofthis guidance did not have a material
effect on the Company's disclosures.
In March 2020, the FASB issued guidance providing optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or a reference rate that is expected to be
discontinued as a result ofreference rate reform. Optional expedients are provided for contract modification accounting within the areas ofreceivables, debt, leases, derivatives and hedging. The optional amendments are effective for all entities
as ofMarch 12, 2020, through December 31, 2022. During 2020, the Company has not entered into any contract modifications in which the optional expedients were applied However, ifprior to December 31, 2022 the Company enters into a
contract modification inwhich the optional expedients are applied, the Companywill evaluate the impact ofadoption ofthis guidance on its financial position, results ofoperations and cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance modifying the disclosure requirements foremployers that sponsor definedbenefitpensionor otherpostretirementplans. The guidance was effective for annual periods ending after December 15, 2020.
The applicationofthis guidancedidnot have 2 material effect on the Company's disclosures.
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Recently IssuedAccounting Standards, Not Adopted asofDecember 31, 2020
In December 2019, the FASB issued guidance that simplifies the accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions to the guidance related to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes
in an interim period and the recognition ofdeferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. The new guidance a so simplifies aspects ofthe accounting for franchise taxes and enacted changes in tax laws or rates and clarifies the accounting
for transactions that result in a step-up in the tax basis of goodwill. The guidance is effective for anmual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The application ofthis guidance is not expected to have a material effect on the Company's
financialposition, results ofoperations and cash flows.
ACQUISITIONS, LICENSING AGREEMENTS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On March 6, 2019, the Company acquired certain assets ofSynergy Pharmaceuticals Inc. ("Synergy") for a cash purchase price ofapproximately $180 million and the assumption ofcertain liabilities, pursuant to the terms approved by the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court for the Souther District ofNew York on March 1, 2019. Among the assets acquired are the worldwide rights to the Trulance® (plecanatide) product, a once-daily tablet for adults with chronic idiopathic constipation and
imitable bowel syndrome withconstipation. This acquiredbusiness is included im the Company's Salix segment and is expectedto result in additional revenmes and costs savings associated with business synergies.

The acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy has been accounted for as a business combination under the acquisitionmethodofaccounting since (ji) substantially all ofthe fair value ofthe assets acquired is not concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets and (ii) substantive imputs and processes were acquired to contribute to the creation ofoutputs. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values ofthe assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Telated to the acquisition ofcertain assetsofSynergy as ofthe acquisition date

fin masibbores)
Accounts recei able $ 7
Inventories 24
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5
Productbrand intangible assets (estimateduseful life 7 years) 159
Accounts payable qQ
Total identifiable net assets 177
Goodwill 3
‘Total fairvalue ofconsideration transferred $ 180

Goodwill associatedwith the acquisitionofcertain assets ofSynergy is not deductible for income taxpurposes.
Revenue andOperatingResults
Revenues associatedwith the acquired assets of Synergy during the period March 6, 2019 through December 31, 2019 were $55 million Operating results associated with the acquired assets ofSynergy during the period March 6, 2019 through
December 31, 2019 and pro-forma revenues and operating results for the year 2019were not material. Included in Other expense (income), net for 2019 are acquisition-related costs of$8 million directlyrelated to the acquisition ofcertain assets
ofSynergy, which include expenditures foradvisory, legal, valuation, accounting and other similar services.
NonconpollingInterestin Medpharma
On October 16, 2018, using cash on hand, the Company acquired the 40% noncontrolling interest ofMedpharma Pharmaceutical & Chemical Industries LLC (“Medpharma”) for $18 million. The difference between the carrying value and the
Pricepaid for the noncontrolling interest inMedpharma of$15 million, is a reductionofadditionalpaid-in capital.
There were no othermaterial business combinations in 2020, 2019 or2018. The measurement period for all acquisitions has closed.

F23 

Exhibit 2160

Page 141 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 142 of 168

Option to PurchaseAll OphthalmologyAssetsofAllegro Ophthalmics, LLC("Allegro")

On September 21, 2020, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire an option to purchase all of the ophthalmology assets ofAllegro (the "Option”), a privately held biopharmaceuticalcompanyfocused on thedevelopment oftherapies that regulate integrin functions for the treatment ofocular diseases. Among the assets tobe acquired ifthe Option is exercised, is theworldwide rights to risuteganib (Luminate*), Allegro’s lead compound
in retina, which is believed to simultaneously act on the angiogenic, inflammatory and mitochondrial metabolic pathways implicated in diseases such as intermediate dry Age-related MacularDegeneration ("AMD"). A U_S. Phase 2a study with
Tisuteganib in intermediate dry AMD met its primary endpoint ofvision recovery and Phase 3 testing is in the planning stages. The aggregate payments to acquire the Option are $50 million and include an upfront payment of$10 million and a
second paymentof$40 million should Allegro raise additional funding. During the three months ended September 30, 2020, the Company made and expensed the upfront payment of $10 million as acquired IPR&D included in Other expense
(Gacome), net Ifthe Option is exercised, additional payments to acquire allophthalmology assets ofAllezro will be due.
LicensingAgreements
In the normal course ofbusiness, the Company may enter into select licensing and collaborative agreements for the commercialization and/or development ofunique products. These products are sometimes investigational treatments in early
stage development that target unique conditions. The ultimate outcome, including whether the product will be (i) fully developed, (ii) approved by regulatory agencies, (iii) covered by third-party payors or (iv) profitable for distribution, is
highly uncertain. The commitment periods under these agreements vary and include customary terminationprovisions. Expenses arising from commitments, ifany, to fund the development and testing ofthese products and their promotion are
Tecognized as incurred. Royalties due are recognized when eamed andmilestonepayments are accrued when each milestone hasbeen achieved andpayment is probable and can be reasonably estimated.
Assets HeldforSale
‘During the three months ended December31, 2020, the Company identified fordisposal a certainbusiness withinthe Bausch + Lomb/Intermational segment. This business was classified as held for sale as ofDecember 31, 2020.
‘The carrying amounts ofthe assets and liabilities held for sale included im the ConsolidatedBalance Sheet as ofDecember 31, 2020 are as follows

Deferred tax liabilities, net $ 36
Other non-current liabilities 21

IncludedwithinDeferred taxliabilities, net, arebook to income tax differences relatedto the Company's intangible assets.
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As a resultofmeeting the criteria forheld for sale classification, the carryingvalueofthis business, was adjusted to its estimated fairvalue, less costs to sell, and the Company recognized a loss of$96 millionwithinAsset impairments, including
loss on assets held for sale in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. This loss was primarily due to the anticipated release ofnon-cash cumulative foreign currency translation losses of $344 million, which were included as part of the
carrying value ofthis business whenmeasuring for impairment. These losseswill be reclassified from Accummlated othercomprehensive loss to Net loss uponthe disposal ofthis business.
RESTRUCTURING, INTEGRATION AND SEPARATION COSTS
Restructuring and integration costs
The Company evaluates opportunities to improve its operating results and implements cost savings programs to streamline its operations and eliminate redundant processes and expenses. Restructuring and integration costs are expenses

contribution margin improvement and other cost reduction initiatives. The liability associatedwith restructuring and integrationcosts as ofDecember 31, 2020 was $20 million.
During 2020, the Company incurred $11 million of restructuring and integration-related costs. These costs included (i) $10 million of facility closure costs and (ii) $1 million of severance and other costs. The Company made payments of
$18 million during 2020.
During 2019, the Company incurred $31 million ofrestructuring and integration costs. These costs included (i) $11 millionofseverance costs and other costs associated with the acquisition ofcertain assets ofSynergy, (ii) $11 million offacility
closure costs and (iii) $9 million ofother severance costs. The Company made payments of $31 million during 2019.
During 2018, the Company incurred $22 million of restructuring and integration costs. These costs included (i) $11 million of severance costs, (ii) $10 million of facility closure costs and (iii) $1 million of other costs. The Company made
payments of$33 million during 2018.
Separation costs and separation-related costs
The Company has incurred, andwill incur, costs associatedwithactivities to effectuate the Separation. These activities include (i) separating the eye-healthbusiness from the remainder oftheCompany and (ii) registering the eye-healthbusiness
as an independent publicly traded entity. Separation costs are incremental costs directly related to the Separation and include, but are not limited to (i) legal, audit and advisory fees, (ii) employee hiring, relocation and travel costs and (iii) costs
associatedwithestablishing a newboard ofdirectors and audit committee. Included in Restructuring, integration and separationcosts for 2020 is $11 millionofseparation costs.
The Company has also incurred, andwill incur, separation-relatedcosts which are incremental costs indirectly related to the Separation. Separation-related costs include, but are not limited to (i) IT infrastructure and software licensing costs, (ii)
Tebranding costs and (iii) costs associated with facility relocation and/or modification. Included in Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2020 is $21 million ofseparation-relatedcosts.
The Company is intheplanning phaseofthe Separation and the extent andtiming offuture charges for these costs cannot be reasonably estimated at this time and couldbe material.
FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fairvalue measurements are estimatedbasedon valuation techniques and inputs categorized as follows
+ Level 1 —Quotedprices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
* Level 2 — Observable inputs other thanLevel 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroboratedby observable market data for substantially the full term ofthe assets or

+ Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are financial instruments whose values are determined using discounted cash flow methodologies, pricing models, or similar techniques, as well as
instruments forwhichthe determination offairvaluerequires significantjudgmentor estimation.

Ifthe inputs used to measure the financial assets and liabilities fall withinmore than one level described above, the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fairvalue measurement ofthe instrument.
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Assets and Liabilities MeasuredatFair Value on a RecurringBasis
The following fair value hierarchy table presents the components andclassification ofthe Company s financial assets and liabilities measured at fairvalue on a recurringbasis as of

December31, 2020 December31, 2019

cm) Tine Lledl Le a2 Le d3 Sie Le dl Le d2 Le d3J CCOe COTO TeelOOeCO
(Cachequivalent: s aos ss BS — $s s s s -RevtrictedCath s ws ww $s —s —s ls is — $s -
‘Foreigncurrencyexchange contracts s 38 —s 38 —s —s —s —s -

Acquititicarelatedcontingentconsideration s ss —s —s 38 OS 316 S$ —s —s 316
(Cross-cumency s ms —s ms —s BS —s Bs -
Forsigacurrencyexchange conzacts s us s us s s s s

Cash equivalents consist ofhighly liquid investments, primarily money market funds, with maturities ofthree months or less whenpurchased, and are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at carrying value, which approximates fairvaluedue totheir short-term nature.

As ofDecember 31, 2020, Restricted cash includes $1,210 million ofpayments into an escrow fund under the terms ofa settlement agreement regarding certainU_S. securities litigation, subject to an objector’s appeal ofthe final court approval,
and is reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at carrying value, which approximates fair value due to its short-term nature. These payments will remain in escrow until final approval ofthe settlement as discussed in Note 20, "LEGALPROCEEDINGS".

There were no transfers into or outofLevel 3 during 2020 and 2019.
(Cross-currency Swaps
During 2019, the Company entered into cross-currency swaps, with aggregate notional amounts of $1.250 million, to mitigate fluctuation in the value ofa portion ofits euro-denominated net investment in its consolidated financial statements
from adverse movements in exchange rates. The euro-denominatednet investmentbeing hedged is the Company s investment in certain euro-denominated subsidiaries. Prior to 2019, the Company had no cross-currency swaps.
‘The fair value ofthe Company s cross-currency swaps liability as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was $70 million and $13 million, respectively. Included in Other non-current liabilities is $79 million and $22 million ofcross-curency swaps
andincludedin Prepaidexpenses and other current assets is $9 million and $9 millionofearned interest within the Consolidated Balance Sheets asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The following tablepresents theeffectofhedginginstruments on theConsolidated Statements ofOperations and Consolidated Statements ofComprehensive Loss for2020 and 2019

(immillions) mS
Loss recognized im Othercomprehensiveloss $ G7) $ 2)
Gain excluded from assessment ofhedge effectiveness $s 23 $ 9
Locationofgain ofexcluded component Interest Expense

‘Settlement ofthe Company's cross-currency swaps occurs in February and August each year. During 2020, the Company received $23 million im settlements which are reported as Investing activities in the Consolidated Statements ofCashFlows.

Foreign CurrencyExchange Contracts
During 2020, the Company entered into foreigncurrency exchange contracts, withanaggregate notional amount of$485 million. Prior to 2020, the Company hadno foreigncurrency exchange contracts for any periodpresented.
The fair valueofthe Company's foreign currency exchange contracts liability as ofDecember 31, 2020 was $8 million. Included in Accrued and other current liabilities are $11 million and included in Prepaid expenses and othercurrent assets
are $3 millionofforeign currency exchange contracts within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2020, the net change
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in fair value was a loss of$8 million. Settlements ofthe Company's foreign currency exchange contracts are reported as a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements ofOperations as part ofForeign exchange and other and reported as operating
activities in the Consolidated Statements ofCash Flows. During 2020, the Company reported a realized loss of$2 million related to settlements ofthe Company's foreigncurrency exchange contracts.
{cquisition-related Contingent Consideration Obligati

The fair value measurement of contingent consideration obligations arising from business combinations is determined via a probability-weighted discounted cash flow analysis, using unobservable (Level 3) imputs. These inputs may include
@ the estimated amount and timing of projected cash flows, (ii) the probability of the achievement of the factor(s) on which the contingency is based and (iii) the risk-adjusted discount rate used to present value the probability-weighted
cash flows. Significant increases or decreases in any of those inputs in isolation could result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. At December 31, 2020, the fair value measurements of acquisition-related contingent
considerationwere determinedusing risk-adjusted discount rates ranging from 6% to 25%, and a weighted average risk-adjusted discount rateof8%. The weighted average risk-adjusted discount ratewas calculated by weighting each contract's
telative fairvalue at December 31, 2020.
The following table presents a reconciliation ofcontingent considerationobligations measured on a recurringbasis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) forthe years 2020 and 2019

Beginningbalance, January 1, $ 316
Adjustments toAcquisition-related contingent consideration

Accretion for the time value ofmoney $ 23
Fair value adjustments 25

Acquisition-related contingent consideration adjustments 48 12
Pa ments Settlements eH eH
Foreign currency translation adjustment included in other comprehensive loss — 1
Ending balance, December 31, 328 316

54
262

(inmillions) 2020 2019
$ 339

n$
©

Current portion 12
‘Non current portion $ 216 $
Assets and Liabilities Measured atFair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis
The following tablepresents thecomponents and classificationofthe Company s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis

(fim reilBions) aie Level] Level? Level3 Wine Level l Level? Level3—_—_
‘Nos currantassetsbold for sale s 45 OCS s s ms US » $s s s ey

‘Non-current assets held for sale of $245 million as ofDecember 31, 2020 were remeasured to estimated fair value, less costs to sell, which utilized Level 3 unobservable inputs. See Note 3, "ACQUISITIONS, LICENSING AGREEMENTS

In 2019, the Company identified certain products in the Bausch + Lomb/International segment and one product in the Diversified Products segment fordisposal. The products and the related assets and liabilities ofthis disposal group qualified as
a business and an impairment of $8 million associated with this business was recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2019. As a result of changing business dynamics, during the three months ended March 31, 2020, the
Company decided not to sell these assets and reclassified $39 million of held for sale assets as assets held and used at their respective fair values at the date of the decision not to sell. This reclassification did not impact the Consolidated
Statement ofOperations for2020.
Fair Value ofLong term Debt
The fairvalue oflong-termdebt asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 was $25,378 million and $27,520 million, respectively, andwas estimated using the quoted market prices for the same or similar debt issuances (Level 2).
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INVENTORIES
Inventories, net, as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 consistof

(inmillions) 2020 2019
Raw materials $ 286 $ 319
‘Work in process 143 149
Finished goods 665 639

as Doe
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The majorcomponents ofproperty, plant and equipment as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of
(inmillions) 2020 2019
Land $ 79 $ 79
Buildings andimpro ements 686 696
Machinery and equipment 1,722 1,606
Otherequipment andleasehold improvements 360 369
Equipment on operating lease 65 56
Construction in progress 436 301

3348 3,107
Accummlsted depreciation G,781) 64}

s 1567 s 1.466
Depreciation expense was $180 million, $178 million and $175 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

IntangibleAssets
The majorcomponents ofintangible assets as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of

‘Weighted. 2020 2019
Kimani‘Useful Gross Accumulated Net Gross Accumulated Nee

(onmilions) der) pred = —F Sacer — Sor
‘Product brands 6 $ 20390 $ qa4si4) $ 5976 $ 21011 $ (3.54) $ 7,467
Corporatebrands 7 907 4H 503 930 G38) 592
‘Product rights/patents 3 3,305 G.055) 250 3,297 (2.887) 410
Parmerrelationships 1 169 168) 1 166 (165) 1
‘Technology and other 3 210 10 209 2»

‘Total finite-lived mtangible assets 25,481 (18,741) 6.740 25,613 17.1233) 8,490
Acquired IPRAD notin service NA 7 - 7 B - B
B&L Trademark NA 1,698 = 1,698 1,098 = 1,698

$ 27,186 $ (8741) $ 8445 $ 2734 $ 27.133) $ 10,201

Long-lived assets with finite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value ofan asset may not be recoverable. Impairment charges associated with these assets are included inAsset
impairments, including loss on assets held for sale in the Consolidated Statement ofOperations. The Company continues to monitor the recoverability ofits finite-lived intangible assets and tests the intangible assets for impairment ifindicators
ofimpairment are present.
Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale in 2020 included impairments of (i) $96 million to reduce the carrying valueofa business within the Bausch + Lomb/International segment to its estimated fairvalue less costs to sell due
to classifying the business as held for sale as discussed in Note 3, "ACQUISITIONS, LICENSINGAGREEMENTS
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AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE",(ii) $16 million im aggregate, due to decreases in forecasted sales of certain product lines, (iii) $1 million in aggregate, related to the discontinuance ofcertain product lines not aligned with the focus ofthe
‘Company's core businesses and (iv) $1 millionrelatedtoAcquiredIPR&D not in service.
Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale in 2019 included impairments of (i) $58 millionreflecting decreases in forecasted sales ofcertain product lines due to generic competition and other factors, (ii) $8 millionrelated to assets
being classified as held for sale, (iii) $5 million related to certain product/patent assets associated with the discontinuance of specific product lines not aligned with the focus of the Company's core businesses and (iv) $4 million related to
Acquired IPR&D not in service.
Asset impairments, including loss on assets held for sale in 2018 included impairments of (i) $263 million reflecting decreases in forecasted sales for the Uceris® Tablet product in the Company's Salix reporting unit due to generic competition,
(Gi $85 million reflecting decreases in forecasted sales ofcertain other product lines due to generic competition, (iii) $132 million reflecting decreases in forecasted sales for the Arestin® product in the Company's Dentistry reporting unit and
other product lines due to chanzing market conditions, (iv) $55 million, im aggregate, related to certain product/patent assets associated with the discontinuance of specific product lines not aligned with the focus of the Company's core
‘businesses, (v) $28 milliontoAcquiredIPR&D not in service relatedtoa certainproduct and (vi) $5 millionrelated to assets being classified as heldfor sale.
The impairments to assets reclassified as held for sale weremeasured as the difference ofthe carrying value ofthese assets as compared to the estimatedfairvalues ofthese assets less costs to sell determined using a discounted cash flow analysis
which utilized Level 3 unobservable inputs. The other impairments and adjustments to finite-lived intangible assets were measured as the difference of the historical carrying value of these finite-lived assets as compared to the estimated fair
value as determinedusing a discounted cash flow analysis using Level 3 unobservable inputs.
Periodically, the Company s products face the expiration oftheir patent or regulatory exclusivity. The Company anticipates that product sales for such product would decrease shortly following a loss ofexclusivity ("LOE"), due to the possible
entry ofa generic competitor. Where the Company has the rights, it may elect to launch an authorized generic ofsuch product (either as the Company s own branded generic or through a third-party). This may occur prior to, upon or following
generic entry, which may mitigate the anticipated decrease in product sales; however, even with launch ofan authorized generic, the decline in product sales of such product could still be significant, and the effect on future revenues could bematerial.

Management continually assesses the useful lives relatedto the Company's long-lived assets to reflect themost current assumptions.
Effective September 12, 2018, the Company changed the estimateduseful life ofits Xifaxan*-related intangible assets due to the positive impactofanagreement betweenthe Company and Actavis Laboratories FL, Inc. ("Actavis") resolving the
intellectual property litigation regarding Xifaxan® tablets, 550 mg. Under the agreement, the parties agreed to dismiss all litigation related to Xifaxan® tablets, 550 mg and all intellectual property protecting Xifaxan® will remain intact and
enforceable. As a result, the useful life of the Xifaxan®-related intangible assets was extended from 2024 to January 1, 2028. As this change in the estimated useful life is a change in an accounting estimate, amortization expense is impacted
prospectively. The change in the estimateduseful lifeofthe Xifaxan*-related intangible assets resulted in a decrease to the Net loss attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. of $476 million, $473 millionand $143 million, and a decrease to
the Basic and Diluted Loss per share attributable to Bausch Health Companies Inc. of$1.34, $1.34 and $0.41for the years 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As ofDecember 31, 2020, the net carrying value ofthe Xifaxan*-related intangible
assets was $3,771 million.
Estimated amortization expense offinite-livedintangible assets for the five years ending December 31 and thereafter are as follows

(inmillions) 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter Total
Amortization $ 1,389 $ 1204 $ 1,030 $ 95 $ 822 $ 139 $ 6,740
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Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amounts ofgoodwill during the years endedDecember 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows
Bausch

‘(in maliboms) we 1 B x UsRoce st On D tig D> tPF t TeBalance,Jamuary1, 2018 $ 6016 $ 661 $ 294 $§ — $ — $ -$ 15,593
Impairmentofthe SalixandOrthoDematologics reportingunits - 2.213) - - =- — 2.213)
‘RealignmentofGicbalSolta reportingunit good ill (2 us @3) — — _ a
Good ill reclassified toassetsheldforsaleand rebvequantlydispoved @ = — — _— _ @
Realignmentofsogmantgood ill - (4.533) 913) 3,156 1.267 3,023 a
Innpaizmentoftoo Dentiatrympoingwait — = =- - _ 09) 209)
Foruignexchangeandother fe)Balance,December31, 2018 5,805 = — 3,156 1,267 2914 13,142
Acquisitionofcartainascets ofSynergy — = - 3 - - 3
(Goodwill reclassified toassetsheldforsale(Now 5) ag) - — — — — as)
Foraignexchangeandother @ = = = _— _ ®Balance, December31, 2019 5,786 _ _ 3,159 1,267 2,914 B16
Assetsheldforsale reclassifiedto goodwill (Note 5) 18 = =- - - - 18
‘Goodwill reclassified toastetsheldforsale(Now3) Qi7 = =- - - - Qin
Foraignexchangeandother 117 = _— _— = _ 17
Balance,December31, 2020 $ 5.704 $ = 319 $ 1267: $ 2914 $ 13,04

  Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually on October Ist at the reporting unit level A reporting unit is the same as, or one level below, an operating segment. The Company performs its annual impairment test by
first assessing qualitative factors. Where the qualitative assessment suggests that it is more likely thannot that the fair valueofa reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative fair value test isperformed forthat reporting unit (Step
».
The fair valueofa reporting unit refers to the price that would be received to sell the unit as a whole in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Company estimates the fair values ofa reporting unit using a discounted cash flow

development expenses, capital expenditures, income tax rates, discount rates and terminal growth rates. To estimate fair value, the Company discounts the forecasted cash flows ofeach reporting unit. The discount rate the Company uses
Tepresents the estimatedweighted average costofcapital, which reflects the overall level ofinherent risk involved im its reporting unit operations and the rateofreturn a market participant would expect to earn. The quantitative fair value test is
performed utilizing long-term growth rates and discount rates applied to the estimated cash flows in estimation offair value. To estimate cash flows beyond the final year ofits model, the Company estimates a terminal value by applying an in-

To forecast a reportingunits cash flows the Compan takes into consideration economic conditions and trends estimated future operating results managements and a market participants iew ofgrowth rates and product li es and anticipates
future economic conditions Re enue growth rates inherent in these forecasts are based on input from internal and external market research that compare factors such as growth in global economies recent industr trends and product life c cles
Macroeconomic factors such as changes in economies changes in the competiti e landscape including the unexpected LOE to the Compan s product portfolio changes in go emment legislation product life c cles industr consolidations and
other changes be ond the Compan s control could ha ea positi e or negati e impact on achie ing its targets According] ifmarket conditions deteriorate or ifthe Compan is unable to execute its strategies itma be necessar to record
impairment charges in the future
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Effective January 1, 2018, the Company elected to early adopt a new accounting standard which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating “Step 2” from the goodwill impairment test. Goodwill impairment is now
measured as the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fair value. Upon adopting the new standard, the Company tested goodwill for impairment and determined that the carrying value ofthe Salix reporting unit exceeded
its fairvalue resulting inthe Companyrecognizing a goodwill impairment of$1,970 million associatedwiththe Salix reportingunit.
The Company conductedits 2017 annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2017 and determined that the fairvalue ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit exceeded its carryingvalue. However, at January 1, 2018, unforeseen changes
in the business dynamics ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit, such as (i) changes im the dermatology sector, (ii) increased pricing pressures from third-party payors, (iii) additional risks to the exclusivity of certain products and (iv) an
expected longer launch cycle for a new product, were factors that negatively impacted the reporting unit's operating results beyond management's expectations as ofOctober 1, 2017. In response to these adverse business indicators, as ofJanuary
1, 2018, the Company reduced its near and long term financial projections for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit. As a result ofthe reductions in the near and long term financial projections, the carrying value ofthe Ortho Dermatologics
Teporting unit exceeded its fairvalue at January 1, 2018 andthe Company recognized a goodwill impairment of$243 million.
2018RealignmentafSoltaBusiness
Effective March 1, 2018, revenues and profits from the U.S. Solta business included im the former U.S. Diversified Products segment im prior periods and revenues and profits from the international Solta business included in the Bausch +
Lomb/Intemational segment inprior periods, are reported in a new Global Solta reporting unit, which, at that time, was a part ofthe former Branded Rx segment. As a result ofthis change, $115 million ofgoodwill was reallocated to the new
Global Solta reporting unit and the Company assessed the impact on the fairvaluesofeach ofthe reporting units affected. After considering, among other matters (i) the limitedperiodoftime between last impairment test (January 1, 2018) and
the realignment (March 1, 2018), (ii) the results of the last impairment test and (iii) the amount of goodwill reallocated to the new Global Solta reporting unit, the Company did not identify any indicators of impairment at the time of the
realignment.
2018RealignmentofSegmentStructure
In the second quarter of 2018, the Company began operating in the following reportable segments (i) Bausch + Lomb/International segment, (ii) Salix segment, (iii) Ortho Dermatologics segment and (iv) Diversified Products segment. The
Bausch + Lomb/Intemational segment consists of the (i) U.S. Bausch + Lomb and (ii) International reporting umits. The Salix segment consists of the Salix reporting unit. The Ortho Dermatologics segment consists of the (i) Ortho
Dermatologics and (ii) Global Solta reporting units. The Diversified Products segment consistsofthe (i) Neurology and Other, (ii) Generics and (iii) Dentistry reporting units. There was no triggering event which would require the Company to
test goodwill for impairment as a result ofthe second quarter realignment ofthe segment structure as it did not result in a change in the reporting units.
2018Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its 2018 annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2018 and determined that the carrying value of the Dentistry reporting unit exceeded its fair value and, as a result, the Company recognized a goodwill
impairment of$109 million, representing the full amount ofgoodwill for the Dentistry reporting unit. Changing market conditions such as (i) an increasing competitive environment and (ii) increasing pricing pressures negatively impacted the

The Company's remaining reporting units passed the goodwill impairment test as the estimated fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its carrying value at the date of testing and, therefore, there was no impairment to goodwill for any
Teporting unit other than the Dentistryreporting unit. In order to evaluate the sensitivity ofits fairvalue calculations on the goodwill impairment test, the Company compared the carrying value ofeach reporting unit to its fair value as ofOctober
1, 2018, the dateoftesting. As ofOctober 1, 2018, the fairvalueofeach reporting unit with associated goodwill exceeded its carryingvalue by more than 15%.
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2019Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as ofOctober 1, 2019 by first assessing qualitative factors. Where the qualitative assessment suggested that it was more likely than not that the fair value ofa reporting unit was less
than its carrying amount, a quantitative fair value test was performed for that reporting unit In each quantitative fair value test performed, the fair value was greater than the carrying value of the reporting umit. As a result, there was no
impairment to the goodwill ofany reportingunit.
2222
2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessment
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has taken actions to protect its employees, customers and other stakeholders and mitigate the negative impactofthe COVID-19 pandemic on its operations and operating results. These and

measures takenby customers, healthcare patients andconsumers inresponse to the pandemic are expected to impact the timingand amount ofrevenues during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although the Company's revenues for 2020 were less than
those forecastedon the date goodwill was last testedfor impairment (October 1, 2019), therewereno indications that these trends are materially related to developments other than the COVID-19 pandemic.
The negative impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy have led to significantvolatility in the global equity markets. The Companyhas been able to continue its operations with limited disruptions andhas assessedthe potential
impact that the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to have on its forecasted cash flows. In performing its assessment, the Company considered the possible affects and outcomes ofthe COVID-19 pandemic on, among other things, its supply chain,
customers and distributors, employee base, product sustainability, research and development activities, product pipeline and consumer demand and related rebates and discounts and has made adjustments, although not considered to be material,
to its long-term forecasts as of October 1, 2019 (the date goodwill was last tested for impairment) for these and other matters. After completing this assessment, although not completely insulated from the negative effects of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Company believes that its long-term forecasted cash flows, as adjusted for the possible outcome ofthe COVID-19 pandemic and other matters, do not indicate that the fair value of any reporting unit may be below its carryingvalue.

During the pandemic, the public has been advised to engage in certain "social restrictions” such as (i) remaining at home or shelter-in-place, (ii) limiting social interaction, (iii) closingnon-essential businesses and (iv) postponing certain surgical
and elective medical procedures in order to prioritize/conserve available health care resources. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, these factors negatively impacted, most notably, the revenues ofthe Company's Global Vision Care
and Global Surgical businesses in Asia where the COVID-19 pandemic originated. Beginning in March 2020, and throughout most ofthe second quarter of2020, the Company experienced steeperdeclines in these revenues and the revenues of
other businesses as social restrictions expandedworldwide, particularly in the U.S. and Europe. Social restrictions negatively impacted the Company's revenues for contact lenses, intraocular lenses, medical devices, surgical systems and certain
pre- and post-operative eye-medications of its Global Ophtho Rx business, medical aesthetics and therapeutic products ofits Global Solta business, and certain branded pharmaceutical products of its Salix, Ortho Dermatologics and Dentistry
‘businesses, as the offices ofmany health care providers were closed and certain surgeries and elective medical procedures were deferred.
The Company's 2020 revenues were most negatively impacted during its second quarter by the social restrictions and other precautionary measures taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as governments began lifting social
Testrictions, allowing offices ofcertain health care providers to reopen and certain surgeries and elective medical procedures to proceed, the negative trend in the revenues ofcertain businesses began to level offand stabilize prior to the third
quarter. Revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $2,213 million and $2,224 million, respectively, a decrease of $11 million This decrease of less than 1% represents 2 continuing improving trend over the
decreases inyear-over-year revenues for the three month periods ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020 of23% and 3%, respectively. Presuming there continues to be increased availability ofeffective vaccines and any further resurgence
ofthe COVID-19 virus and variant strains thereofdo nothave a material adverse impact on efforts to contain the COVID-19 virus, the Company anticipates an ongoing, gradual global recovery from the macroeconomic and health care impacts
of the pandemic that occurred during the first-half of 2020 and anticipates that its affected businesses could returm to pre-pandemic levels during 2021. However, the rates of recovery for each business will vary by geography and will be
dependentupon, amongotherthings, the availabilityand effectiveness ofvaccines forthe COVID-19 virus, government
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the event ofa resurgence ofthe virus andotheractions taken in response tothe COVID-19 pandemic.
On a quarterly basis, using its latest forecasts ofcash flows, the Company gave consideration to the nature and timing ofthe expected revenme losses discussed above. No events occurred or circumstances changed during the period October 1,
2019 through September 30, 2020 that would indicate that the fair value ofany reportingunit, other than the Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit, might be below its carryingvalue. The changes in the amounts and timing ofrevenues as presented
inthe Company's latest forecasts included a rangeofpotential outcomes and, with the exception ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit as discussedbelow, were not substantial enough to materially adversely affect the recoverability ofanyof
the associated reporting units assets and were not material enough to indicate that the fair values ofthose reporting units might be below their respective carrying values. However, based on the results of the October 1, 2019 annual goodwill
impairment test, the Company continued to assess theperformance ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reportingunit andthe Neuro and Other reporting unit on a quarterly basis throughout 2020.
2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessments - Neuro and Other
As part ofits quarterly qualitative interim assessments ofthe Neuro and Other reporting unit, management considered the totality ofall relevant events or circumstances that could have affected the carrying amount or fair value ofthe reporting
‘unit, including comparing the reporting unit s operating results to the forecast used to test the goodwill ofthe Neuro and Other reporting unit as ofOctober 1, 2019. Based on the qualitative assessments, management believedthat the carrying
valueofNeuro and Other reporting unit did not exceed its fairvalue and, therefore, concludeda quantitative fairvalue test was not required for any quarterlyperiod.
2020Interim GoodwillImpairmentAssessments and Tasting -Ortho Dermatologics
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, the operating results for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit were less than those forecasted at October 1, 2019 for that period. As part ofits qualitative assessment as ofMarch 31, 2020, the
Company revised its forecasts forthe year 2020, for among other matters, the lowerthan originally forecasted operating results for the three months endedMarch 31, 2020 and the range ofpotential impacts ofthe COVID-19 pandemic, including
longer than expected launchcycles for certain newproducts. Managementbelieved that the revisions to its forecasts for the year 2020 were indicators that there was less headroom as ofMarch 31, 2020 as comparedto theheadroom calculated on
the date goodwill was last tested for impairment (October 1, 2019). Therefore, a quantitative fair value test for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit was performed at March 31, 2020. Based on the quantitative fair value test, the fair valueof
the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unitcontinued tobe greater thanits carryingvalue and as a result there was no impairmentto the goodwill ofthe reporting unit at March 31, 2020.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company identified certain Ortho Dermatologics products that were experiencing longer launch cycles than originally anticipated due to the COVID-19 pandemic and, as a direct result, took
actions to mitigate the impact of these matters, including right-sizing its Ortho Dermatologics sales force. As part of its qualitative assessment as ofJune 30, 2020, the Company revised its long-term forecasts for, among other matters, the
decrease in forecasted revenues ofthe identified products, the reduction in sales force and related costs and a range ofpotential impacts ofCOVID-19 pandemic related matters. Management believed that these events were indicators that there
was less headroom as ofJune 30, 2020 as compared to the headroom calculated on the date Ortho Dermatologics goodwill was last tested for impairment (March 31, 2020). Therefore, a quantitative fairvalue test for impairment to the goodwill
ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit was performed atJune 30, 2020. Based on the quantitative fairvalue test, the fairvalue ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit continued to be greater than its carrying value and as a result there was
Oo impairment to the goodwill ofthereporting unit at June 30, 2020.
Management believed that based on its qualitative assessments as of September 30, 2020, it was more likely than not that the carrying amount of the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit was less than its fair value and, therefore, concluded a
quantitative fairvalue testwas not required at September 30, 2020.
2020Annual GoodwillImpairment Test
The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2020 by first assessing qualitative factors. Based on its qualitative assessment as of October 1, 2020, management believed that, with the exception of the Ortho
Dermatologics reporting unit, it was more likely thannot that the carrying amounts ofits reporting units were less than theirrespective fairvalues andtherefore concluded a quantitative fairvaluetest forthose reportingunitswas not required
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As partofits qualitative assessment ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit as ofOctober 1, 2020, the Company considered, among other matters, a range ofpotential impacts ofCOVID-19 pandemic related matters and the limited headroom
calculated on the date Ortho Dermatologics goodwill was last tested for impairment (June 30, 2020). The Company believed that these factors may suggest that it is more likely than not that the fair value ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting
‘unit is less than its carrying amount, and therefore a quantitative fair value testwas performed for the reporting unit.
The Company performed a quantitative fairvalue test for the Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit as ofOctober 1, 2020, utilizing a long-term growth rate of2.0% and a range ofdiscount rates between 9.5% and 9.75%, in estimation ofthe fair
value ofthis reporting unit. Based on the quantitative fair value test, the fair value ofthe Ortho Dermatologics reporting unit was approximately 10% greater than its carrying value and as a result there was no impairment to the goodwill ofthe
Teporting unit. Ifmarket conditions deteriorate, or ifthe Company is unable to execute its strategies, it may be necessary to record impairment charges im the future. Specifically, the Company continues to assess the performance ofthe Ortho
Dermatologics reporting unit as comparedto its respective projections andwill perform qualitative interim assessments ofthe carryingvalue and fairvalue on a quarterly basis to determine ifimpairment testing ofgoodwill will bewarranted.
In addition, the Company expects to realign and begin managing its operations in a manner consistentwith the organizational structure ofthe two separate entities as proposed by the Separation during the first quarter of2021, and as a result the
Company may need to perform an impairmenttestupon realignment ofits operating segments.
Accumulated goodwill impairment charges throughDecember 31, 2020 were $3,711 million.
ACCRUED AND OTHER CURRENTLIABILITIES

Accrued and other current liabilities as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of

 

(inmillions) 2020 2019
Legal matters andrelated fees $s 1,672 $ 1397Product rebates 747 898
Product returns 375 691
Interest 341 305
Employee compensation andbenefit costs 316 304
Income taxes payable 158 196
Other 767 720
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10. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS,

Principal amounts ofdebt obligations andprincipal amounts ofdebtobligations netofpremiums, discounts andissuance costs as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 consists ofthe following

 
June 2023 $ — $ —- $ - $ _
June 2025 3,298 3.220 3,869 3,768

‘November2025 15 ln 1275 1257

March 2022 - - 1,250 1242
‘March 2024 2,000 1,987 2,000 1,983

‘November2025 1,750 1,736 1,750 1,733
August 2027 500 494 500 493
March 2023 - - 2 400
May 2023 - - 148 1441
May 2023 — - 1,682 1,674
‘April2025 3,250 3.234 3,250 3,230

December 2025 1,500 1478 1,500 1473
‘April2026 1,500 1,487 1,500 1,484

January 2027 1,750 1,755 1,750 1,756
January 2028 750 742 750 741
Jamuary 2028 1,250 1236 1,250 1234

February2029 1,500 1,480 - =
February2029 1,000 983 - -

May 2029 750 741 750 740
January 2030 1250 1,235 1,250 1234

February2031 1,000 983 - -‘Various 12 hn 12 nb
Total long term debt and other $ 24.185 23925 $ 26.188 25 895
Less Currentportionoflong termdebt and other — —— 12m
‘Non-currentportionoflong-termdebt $ 23.925 $s 24.661
Co enant Compliance

and negative covenants include, among other things, and subject to certain qualifications and exceptions, covenants that restrict the Companysability and the ability of its subsidiaries to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness; create or
pemmit liens on assets; pay dividends on capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire capital stock or subordinated indebtedness; make certain investments and other restricted payments; engage in mergers, acquisitions, consolidations and
amalgamations; transferand sell certainassets; and engage in transactions withaffiliates. As ofDecember 31, 2020, the amount available forrestrictedpayments under the "builderbasket” in the Company s most restrictive indentures (as defined
by those indentures) was approximately $13,000 million (although such availability is subject to the Company's compliance with a 2.00 1.00 fixed charge coverage ratio). The 2023 Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) also contains a
financial maintenance covenant that requires the Company to maintainafirst lien net leverage ratio of not greater than 4.00 1.00. The financial maintenance covenant may be waived or amended without the consent of the term loan facility
lenders andcontains a customarytermJoan facility standstill.
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AsofDecember 31, 2020, the Company was in compliancewithits financial maintenance covenant related to its debt obligations. The Company, basedon its current forecast for the next twelve months from the date ofissuance ofthese financial
‘Statements, expects to remainin compliance with its financial maintenance covenant andmeet its debt service obligations overthat sameperiod.
The Company continues to take steps to improve its operating results to ensure continual compliance with its financial maintenance covenant and may take other actions to reduce its debt levels to align with the Company s long-term strategy,
including divesting other businesses, refinancing debt and issuingequity or equity-linked securities as deemed appropriate.
Senior Secured Credit Facilities

On February 13, 2012, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries as guarantors entered into the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities” under the Company s Third Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement, as amended (the “Third
Amended Credit Agreement”) with a syndicate offinancial institutions and investors, as lenders. As ofJanuary 1, 2018, the Third Amended Credit Agreement provided for (i) a $1,500 million Revolving Credit Facility maturing on April 20,
2020 (the "2020 Revolving Credit Facility”) and (ii) a $3,521 million term loan under the Company's Series F Tranche B Term Loan Facility maturing in 2022 (the “Series F Tranche B TermLoan Facility”). There was $250 million outstanding
underthe 2020 Revolving Credit Facility asofJanuary 1, 2018.
2018Activity
During 2018, the Company repaid (netofadditional borrowings) $571 millionofoutstanding debtunder its Senior Secured Credit Facilities using cashon hand.
On June 1, 2018, the Company entered into a RestatementAgreement inrespectofa FourthAmended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “Restated CreditAgreement”) which restated infull the Third Amended CreditAgreement.
The Restated Credit Agreement replaced the 2020 Revolving Credit Facility with a revolving credit facility of $1,225 million (the "2023 Revolving Credit Facility") and replaced the Series F Tranche B Term Loan Facility principal amount
outstanding of$3,315 million with a new sevenyear Tranche B TermLoanFacilityof$4,565 million (the “June 2025 Term Loan B Facility”) borrowedby the Company s subsidiary, Bausch HealthAmericas, Inc. ("BHA").
The 2023 Revolving Credit Facility matures on the earlier ofJune 1, 2023 and the date that is 91 calendar days prior to the scheduled maturity ofindebtedness for borrowed money ofthe Company or BHA in an aggregate principal amount in
excess of$1,000 million Both theCompany and BHA are borrowers with respect to the 2023 RevolvingCredit Facility. Borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facilitymaybe made inU.S. dollars, Canadian dollars or euros.
On June 1, 2018, the Company issued an irrevocable noticeofredemptionfor the remainingoutstandingprincipal amounts of (i) $691 million ofthe March 2020 Unsecured Notes (as definedbelow), (ii) $578 million of6.75% Senior Unsecured
Notes due August 2021 (the “August 2021 Unsecured Notes”), (iii) $550 million of7.25% Senior Unsecured Notes due July 2022 (the “Fuly 2022 Unsecured Notes”) and (iv) $146 million of6.375% Senior Unsecured Notes due October 2020
(the March 2020 Unsecured Notes (as defined below), together with the August 2021 Unsecured Notes, the July 2022 Unsecured Notes and the 6.375% Senior Unsecured Notes due October 2020 the “June 2018 Unsecured RefinancedDebt”).
On June 1, 2018, using the remaining net proceeds from the June 2025 Term LoanBFacility, the net proceeds from the issuance of $750 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.50% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2027 (the "January 2027
‘UnsecuredNotes") by BHA and cash on hand, the Company prepaidthe remaining Series F Tranche B Term Loan Facility and redeemed the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt at its aggregate redemptionprice and the indentures governing
the June 2018 UnsecuredRefinancedDebtwere discharged (collectively, the “June 2018 Refinancing Transactions”).
The RestatedCreditAgreementwas accounted for as a modification ofdebt, to the extent the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt was replacedwithnewlyissued debt to the same creditor, and as anextinguishment ofdebt if (i) the June 2018
‘Unsecured Refinanced Debt was replaced with newly issued debt to a different creditor, (ii) a portion ofthe unamortized deferred financing fees was allocated to debt that was paid down or (iii) the borrowing capacity declined when issuing a
new revolving credit facility. The following was accounted for as an extinguishment of debt (i) the difference between the amounts paid to redeem the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt and the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt s
carrying value, (ii) the replacement ofthe Series F Tranche B TermLoan Facility with the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility to the extent any unamortized deferred financing fees were associated with the portion ofthe Series F Tranche B Term
Loan Facility that was paid down and (iii) the replacement of the 2020 Revolving Credit Facility with the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility to the extent any unamortized deferred financing fees were associated with the decline in borrowing
capacity. For amounts accounted for as an extinguishment ofdebt, the Company incurred 2 loss on extinguishment ofdebt of $48 million Payments made to the lenders and a portion ofpayments made to third parties of$74 million associated
withthe June 2018 Refinancing Transactions were capitalized and are being amortized as interest
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expense overthe remaining terms ofthe debt, ranging from 2023 through2027. Third-party expenses of$4 million associated with the modificationofdebt were expensed as incurred andincludedin Interestexpense.
(On November 27, 2018, the Company entered into the First Incremental Amendment to the Restated Credit Agreement, whichprovided an additional seven year Tranche B Term Loan Facility of$1,500 million (the "November 2025 Term Loan
B Facility”) and used the net proceeds, and cash on hand, to repay $1,483 million of 7.50% Senior Unsecured Notes due July 2021 (the “July 2021 Unsecured Notes”) in a tender offer (the "November 2018 Refinancing Transactions"). On
December 27, 2018, theCompany redeemed, using cash on hand, the remaining outstanding principal amount of $17 millionofthe July 2021 Unsecured Notes.
The repayment of the July 2021 Unsecured Notes was accounted for as an extinguishment ofdebt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $43 million representing the difference between the amount paid to settle the
extinguished debt and theextinguisheddebt s carrying value. Payments made to the lenders andotherthirdparties of$25 million associated with the issuance ofthe November 2025 Term Loan B Facilitywere capitalized and are being amortized
as interest expense over the remaining termofthe November 2025 Term LoanBFacility.
2019Activity
During 2019, the Company repaid (netofadditional borrowings) $806 millionofoutstanding debtunder its Senior Secured Credit Facilities using cashon hand.
2020Activity
During 2020, the Company repaid (i) $471 millionofoutstanding debt under its Senior Secured Credit Facilities using cash on hand and (ii) $250 million ofoutstanding debt under its Senior Secured Credit Facilities as part ofthe May 2020
Refinancing Transactions (as definedbelow).
AsofDecember 31, 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings, $104 million ofissued and outstanding letters ofcredit, andremaining availability of$1,121 millionunder its 2023 Revolving Credit Facility.

Q Descrintion of Senior Ss i Credit Facilits
Borrowings under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities in U.S. dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, either (i) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the prime rate (as defined in the
Restated Credit Agreement), (b) the federal funds effective rate plus 1/2 of 1.00% or (c) the eurocurrency rate (as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement) for a period of one month plus 1.00% (or if such eurocurrency rate shall not be
ascertainable, 1.00%) or (ii) aeurocurency rate determinedby reference to the costs offunds for U.S. dollardeposits for the interestperiod relevant to such borrowing adjusted for certain additional costs (providedhowever, that the eurocurrency
Tate shall at no timebeless than 0.00% per annum), ineach case plus an applicable margin.
Borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility in euros bear interest at a eurocurrency rate determined by reference to the costs of funds for euro deposits for the interest period relevant to such borrowing (provided however, that the
eurocurrency rate shall at no time be less than 0.00% per annum), plus anapplicable margin.
Borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility in Canadian dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company's option, either (i) a prime rate determinedby reference to the higher of (a) the rate ofinterest last quoted by
The Wall Street Journal as the “Canadian Prime Rate” or, ifThe Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the Bank ofCanada as its prime rate and (6) the 1 month BA rate (as definedbelow)
calculated daily plus 1.00% (provided however, that the prime rate shall at no time be less than 0.00%) or (ii) the bankers acceptance rate for Canadian dollar deposits in the Toronto interbank market (the “BA rate”) for the interest period
Televant to such borrowing (providedhowever, that the BA rate shall at no time be less than 0.00% perannum), in each caseplus an applicablemargin.
Subject to certain exceptions and customary baskets set forth in the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company is required to make mandatory prepayments of the loans under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities under certain circumstances,
including from (i) 100% ofthe net cash proceeds ofinsurance and condemmation proceeds forproperty or asset losses (subject to reinvestment rights and net proceeds threshold), (ii) 100% ofthe net cash proceeds from the incurrence of debt
(other than permitted debt as described in the Restated Credit Agreement), (iii) 50% of Excess Cash Flow (as defined in the Restated Credit Agreement) subject to decrease based on leverage ratios and subject to a threshold amount and
Gv) 100% ofnetcashproceeds from asset sales (subject to reinvestment rights). These mandatoryprepayments maybe used to satisfy future amortization.
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The applicable interest rate margins for the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and the November 2025 Term Loan B Facility are 2.00% and 1.75%, respectively, with respect to base rate and prime rate borrowings and 3.00% and 2.75%,
Tespectively, with respect to eurocurrency rate and BA rate borrowings. As ofDecember 31, 2020, the stated rates of interest on the Company s borrowings under the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and the November 2025 Term Loan B
Facility were 3.15%and 2.90%per annum, respectively.
The amortization rate for both the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and theNovember 2025 TermLoanBFacilityis 5.00% perannum The Company may direct thatprepayments be applied to such amortizationpayments in orderofmaturity. As
ofDecember 31, 2020, the aggregate remaining mandatory quarterly amortization payments forthe Senior Secured Credit Facilities are $405 million throughNovember 1, 2025.
The applicable interest rate margins for borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility are 150%-2.00% with respect to base rate orprime rate borrowings and 2.50%-3.00% with respect to eurocurrency rate or BA rate borrowings. Asof
December 31, 2020, the statedrate ofinterest on the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility was 3.15% per annum. In addition, the Company is required to pay commitment fees of0.25% - 0.50% per annum with respect to the unutilized commitments
under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility, payable quarterly in arrears. The Company also is required topay (i) letter ofcredit fees on the maximum amount available to be drawn under all outstanding letters ofcredit im an amount equal to the
applicable marginon eurocurrencyrate borrowings under the 2023 Revolving Credit Facility on a per annumbasis, payable quarterly in arrears, (ii) customary frontingfees forthe issuance ofletters ofcredit and (iii) agency fees.

The Restated Credit Agreement permits the incurrence of incremental credit facility borrowings, up to the greater of $1,000 million and 28.5% of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (as defined im the Restated Credit Agreement). subject to
customary terms andconditions, as well as the incurrence ofadditional incremental credit facility borrowings subject to a secured leverage ratio ofnot greater than 3.50 1.00, and, im the case ofunsecured debt, a total leverage ratio ofnot greater
than 6.50 1.00 or an interest coverage ratio ofnot less than 2.00 1.00.
Senior Secured Notes

The Senior SecuredNotes are guaranteed by eachofthe Company s subsidiaries that is a guarantor under the Restated Credit Agreement and existing Senior UnsecuredNotes (together, the “Note Guarantors”). The Senior Secured Notes and the

ofthe indentures governing the Senior Secured Notes.
The Senior Secured Notes and the guarantees rank equally in right ofrepayment with all of the Company s and Note Guarantors respective existing and future unsubordinated indebtedness and senior to the Company s and Note Guarantors
Tespective future subordinated indebtedness. The Senior Secured Notes and the guarantees related thereto are effectivelyparipassu with the Company s and the Note Guarantors respective existing and future indebtedness secured by a first
Priority lien on the collateral securing the Senior SecuredNotes and effectively seniorto the Company s and theNote Guarantors respective existing and future indebtedness that is unsecured, inchading the existing Senior UnsecuredNotes, or
that is securedbyjunior liens, in each case to the extent ofthe value ofthe collateral. In addition, the Senior SecuredNotes are structurally subordinated to (j) all liabilities ofanyofthe Company s subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Senior
Secured Notes and (ii) anyofthe Company s debt that is secured by assets that are not collateral.
‘Upon the occurrence ofa change in control (as definedin the indentures governing the Senior Secured Notes), unless the Company has exercised its right to redeem all ofthe notes ofa series, holdersofthe Senior Secured Notes may require the
‘Company to repurchase suchholder s notes, in whole or in part, at a purchaseprice equal to 101% ofthe principal amount thereofplus accruedandunpaid interest.
6.50% Senior SecuredNotes due 2022 and 7.00% Senior SecuredNotes due 2024

In March 2017, the Company issued$1,250 million aggregate principal amount of6.50% senior secured notes due March 15, 2022 (the “March 2022 Secured Notes”) and $2,000 millionaggregate principal amountof7.00% senior secured notes
due March 15, 2024 (the “March 2024 SecuredNotes”), in a private placement. Interest onthese notes is payable semi-annually in arrears oneach March 15 and September 15.
The March 2022 Secured Noteswere repaid infull aspart ofthe May 2020 Refinancing Transactions (as definedbelow).
The March 2024 Secured Notes are redeemable at the option ofthe Company, inwhole or inpart, at any time, at the redemptionprices set forth in the indenture.
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5.50% Senior S Note: due 2025
On October 17, 2017, the Company issued $1,000 million. and, onNovember21, 2017, the Company issued $750 million, aggregate principal amount of 5.50% Senior Secured Notes dueNovember 2025 (the “November 2025 Secured Notes”),
ina privateplacement. Interest on the November2025 Secured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears oneach May 1 andNovember 1.
The November 2025 SecuredNotes are redeemable at the option ofthe Company, inwhole or inpart, at any time, at the redemptionprices setforthinthe indenture.
5.2596 Senior S Note: due 2027 - March 2019 Refinancine T -
(On March 8, 2019, BHA andthe Company issued (i) $1,000 million aggregate principal amountofJanuary 2027 UnsecuredNotes and (ii) $500 million aggregate principal amount of5.75% Senior Secured Notes due August 2027 (the "August
2027 Secured Notes"), respectively, in a private placement. A portionofthe proceeds and cash on hand were used to (1) repurchase $584 million of 5.875% Senior UnsecuredNotes due 2023 (the "May 2023 UnsecuredNotes"), (ii) repurchase
$518 million of 5.625% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2021 (the “December 2021 Unsecured Notes”), (iii) repurchase $216 million of 5.50% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2023 (the "March 2023 Unsecured Notes”) and (iv) pay all fees and
expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the “March 2019 Refinancing Transactions”). During April 2019, the Company redeemed $182 million of the December 2021 Unsecured Notes, representing the remaining outstanding
Principal balance ofthe December 2021 UnsecuredNotes and completing the refinancing of$1,500 million ofdebt in connection with the March 2019 Refinancing Transactions. The March 2019 Refinancing Transactions were accounted for as
an extinguishment ofdebt and the Company incurred 2 loss on extinguishment ofdebt of$8 million representing the difference between the amount paid to settle the extinguished debt and the extinguished debt s carrying value. Interest on the
August 2027 SecuredNotes is payable semi-annuallyin arrears on each February 15 andAugust 15.
The August 2027 SecuredNotes are redeemable at the optionofthe Company, in whole or in part, at any time onor after August 15, 2022, at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture. The Company may redeem some or allofthe August
2027 Secured Notes prior to August 15, 2022 at a price equal to 100% ofthe principal amount thereof plus a “make-whole” premium. Prior to August 15, 2022, the Company may redeem up to 40% ofthe aggregate principal amount ofthe
August 2027 SecuredNotes using theproceeds ofcertain equity offerings at the redemptionprice set forthin the indenture.
Senior Unsecured Notes

The Senior Unsecured Notes issued by the Company are the Company s senior unsecured obligations and arejointly and severally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by each ofits subsidiaries that is a guarantor under the Senior Secured
Credit Facilities. The SeniorUnsecured Notes issued by BHA are seniorunsecured obligations ofBHA and are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by the Company and each ofits subsidiaries (other than BHA) that is a
guarantor under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities. Future subsidiaries ofthe Company and BHA, ifany, may be required to guarantee the SeniorUnsecuredNotes.
Ifthe Company experiences 2 change in control, the Company maybe required to make an offer to repurchase each series ofSeniorUnsecuredNotes, inwhole or inpart, at 2 purchase price equal to 101% ofthe aggregate principal amount ofthe

1.025%SeniorUnsecuredNotesdue202)
(On December 2, 2013, the Company issued $900 million aggregate principal amount of December 2021 Unsecured Notes in a private placement The December 2021 Unsecured Notes accrued interest at the rate of 5.625% per year and were
subsequently repaidin full (i) using cash on handof$200 million in December 2018 and (ii) as partofthe March 2019 Refinancing Transactions.

1.50%SeniorUnsecuredNote:due2023

On Jamuary 30, 2015, the Company issued $1,000 million aggregate principal amount of March 2023 Unsecured Notes im a private placement. The March 2023 Unsecured Notes accrued interest at the rate of 5.50% per year, payable semi-
annually in arrears. On March 8, 2019 and May 23, 2019, the Company repurchased $216 million and $382 million of March 2023 Unsecured Notes as part of the March 2019 Refinancing Transactions and the May 2019 Refinancing
‘Transactions (as defined below), respectively. Throughout 2020, the Company repurchased, in aggregate, $169 million ofMarch 2023 Unsecured Notes using cash on hand The Company repurchased the remaining outstanding balance of
$233 millioninDecember 2020 as partoftheDecember 2020 Refinancing Transactions (as definedbelow).
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5.375% Senior Ui Note: due 2020 5.87536 Senior Ut Lote: due 2023. 4.50% Senior Ut Notes due 2023and6.125% Senior Ut Lote: due 2025
On March 27, 2015, VRX Escrow Corp.(the "VRX Issuer"), a newly formed wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, issued $2,000 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2020 (the "March 2020
‘UnsecuredNotes”), $3,250 million aggregate principal amount of5.875% SeniorUnsecuredNotes due 2023 (the "May 2023 Unsecured Notes”), €1,500 million aggregate principal amount of4.50% Senior UnsecuredNotes due 2023 (the "Euro
Notes”) and $3,250 million aggregateprincipal amount of6.125% Senior UnsecuredNotes due 2025 (the "April 2025 Unsecured Notes” and, together with the March 2020 UnsecuredNotes, the May 2023 UnsecuredNotes and the Euro Notes,
the "VRX Notes") in a private placement
The March 2020 UnsecuredNotes accrued interest at the rate of5.375% per year and were repaid in full as part of (i) the December 2017 Refinancing Transactions (as defined below), (ii) the March 2018 Refinancing Transactions (as defined
below) and (iii) the June 2018 Refinancing Transactions. The May 2023 Unsecured Notes and the Euro Notes accrued interest at the rate of5.875% and 4.50% per year, respectively and were each repaid in full as of December 31, 2020, as
discussed below. The April 2025 UnsecuredNotes accrue interest at the rate of6.125% peryear, payable semi-annually in arrears.
Aspartofthe June 2018 Refinancing Transactions, the Company repaid the remaining outstanding principal amounts ofthe March 2020 Unsecured Notes.
On March 8, 2019 and May 23, 2019, the Company repurchased $584 million and $1,118 million ofMay 2023 Unsecured Notes as part of the March 2019 Refinancing Transactions and the May 2019 Refinancing Transactions (as defined
below), respectively, and on October 3, 2019, the Company repaid an additional $100 million ofMay 2023 Unsecured Notes using cash onhand On January 16, 2020, the Company redeemed $1,240 million aggregate principal amount ofthe
May 2023 Unsecured Notes as part ofthe December 2019 Financing and Refinancing Transactions (as defined below). Throughout 2020, the Company repaid, in aggregate, $208 million ofthe May 2023 Unsecured Notes, with the May 2023

‘The Company may redeem all or a portion ofthe April 2025 Unsecured Notes at the redemptionprices set forth in the applicable indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date ofredemption.
(On December3, 2020, the Company redeemed the remaining outstandingbalance ofthe Euro Notes as part ofthe December 2020 Refinancing Transactions, as defined below.

2.00%SeniorUnsecuredNotesdue2025
(On December 18, 2017, the Company issued $1,500 million aggregate principal amount of 9.00% Senior Unsecured Notes due 2025 (the “December 2025 Unsecured Notes”) im a private placement. the net proceeds ofwhich were used to
Tepurchase $1,500 million in aggregate principal amount ofpreviously outstanding senior unsecured notes (the “December 2017 Refinancing Transactions"). The related fees and expenses were paid using cash on hand The December 2025
‘UnsecuredNotes accrue interest atthe rate of9.00%peryear, payable semi-annually in arrears on eachofJune 15 and December 15.
The Company may redeem all or a portion of the December 2025 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to December 15, 2021, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of
Tedemption, plus a “make-whole” premium In addition, at any timeprior to December 15, 2020, the Companymay redeemup to 40% ofthe aggregateprincipal amount ofthe outstanding December 2025 UnsecuredNotes with the net proceeds
ofcertain equity offerings at the redemption price set forth in the December 2025 Unsecured Notes indenture. On or after December 15, 2021, the Company may redeem all or a portionofthe December 2025 Unsecured Notes at the applicable
Tedemption prices set forth inthe December 2025 UnsecuredNotes indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date ofredemption.
22596 Senior UnsecuredNotes due 2026-March 2018 Refinancing Transactions
(On March 26, 2018, BHA issued $1,500 million in aggregate principal amountof9.25% SeniorUnsecured Notes due 2026 (the “April 2026 Unsecured Notes”) im a private placement, the net proceeds ofwhich. and cash on hand, were used to
repurchase $1.500 million in aggregate principal amount ofunsecured notes. All fees and expenses associated with these transactions were paid with cash on hand (collectively, the “March 2018 Refinancing Transactions”). The March 2018
Refinancing Transactions were accounted for as an extinguishment ofdebt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment ofdebtof$26 million representing the differencebetweenthe amountpaid to settle the extinguished debt
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andthe extinguisheddebt s carrying value. The April 2026 UnsecuredNotes accrue interest at the rate of9.25% per year, payable semi-annually inarrears on eachofApril 1 and October 1.
BHA may redeem all or a portion ofthe April 2026 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to April 1, 2022, at a price equal to 100% ofthe principal amount thereof, plus accrued andunpaid interest, ifamy, to the date ofredemption, plus a “make-
whole” premium. In addition, at any timeprior to April 1, 2021, BHA may redeemup to 40% ofthe aggregate principal amount ofthe outstanding April 2026 Unsecured Notes with the net proceeds ofcertain equity offerings at the redemption
Price set forth in the April 2026 Unsecured Notes indenture. On or after April 1, 2022, BHA may redeem all or a portion ofthe April 2026 Unsecured Notes at the applicable redemption prices set forth in the April 2026 Unsecured Notes

Jedennure, Plus accrued and unpaid interest fo the deteofredemption,8.50% Senior UnsecuredNotes due 2027 -June 2018 Transactions andMarch 2019. ing Transactions

As partof the June 2018 Refinancing Transactions, BHA issued $750 million in aggregate principal amountofJanuary 2027 Unsecured Notes in a private placement, the net proceeds ofwhich, when combinedwith the remaining net proceeds
from the June 2025 Term Loan B Facility and cash on hand, were used to redeem the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt at its aggregate redemption price and the indentures governing the June 2018 Unsecured Refinanced Debt were
discharged The January 2027 UnsecuredNotes acctue interest at the rateof8.50% peryear, payable semi-annually inarrears on eachofJanuary 31 and July 31.
As part ofthe March 2019 Refinancing Transactions described above, BHA issued $1,000 million aggregate principal amount of 8.50% Senior Unsecured Notes due January 2027. These are additional notes and form part of the same series as
BHAsexistingJanuary 2027 UnsecuredNotes.
BHA may redeem all or aportion ofthe January 2027 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to July 31, 2022, at a price equal to 100% oftheprincipal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, ifany, tothe dateofredemption, plus a “make-
whole” premium. In addition, at any time prior to July 31, 2021, BHA may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding January 2027 Unsecured Notes with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings at the
Tedemption price set forth in the January 2027 Unsecured Notes indenture. On or after July 31, 2022, BHA may redeem all or a portion of the January 2027 Unsecured Notes at the applicable redemption prices set forth in the January 2027
‘UnsecuredNotes indenture, plus accrued and unpaidinterest to the dateofredemption.

 
On May 23, 2019, the Company issued (i) $750 million aggregate principal amount of7.00% Senior Unsecured Notes due January 2028 (the "7.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes") and (ii) $750 million aggregate principal amount of7.25%
Senior Unsecured Notes due May 2029 (the "May 2029 Unsecured Notes"), respectively, in a private placement. The proceeds and cash on hand were used to (i) repurchase $1,118 million ofMay 2023 Unsecured Notes, (ii) repurchase $382
million ofMarch 2023 Unsecured Notes and (iii) pay all fees and expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the “May 2019 Refinancing Transactions”). The May 2019 Refinancing Transactions were accounted for as an
extinguishment of debt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment ofdebt of $32 million representing the difference between the amount paid to settle the extinguished debt and the extinguished debt s carrying value. Interest on the
7.00% January 2028 UnsecuredNotes is payable semi-annually in arrears on each January 15 and July 15. Interest on the May 2029 Unsecured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears oneach May 30 andNovember 30.
The 7.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes and the May 2029 Unsecured Notes are redeemable at the optionofthe Company, in whole or in part, at any time on or after Jamuary 15, 2023 and May 30, 2024, respectively, at the redemption prices
‘set forth in the respective indenture. The Company may redeem some or all ofthe 7.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes or the May 2029 Unsecured Notes prior to January 15, 2023 and May 30, 2024, respectively, at a price equal to 100% of
the principal amount thereofplus a “make-whole” premium. Prior to July 15, 2022, and May 30, 2022, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the agzzregate principal amount ofthe 7.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes or the May 2029
‘UnsecuredNotes, respectively, using the proceeds ofcertain equity offerings at theredemptionprice set forth in the respective indenture.

 
On December30, 2019, the Company issued (i) $1,250 millionaggregateprincipal amount of5.00% SeniorUnsecured Notes due January 2028 (the "5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes") and (ii) $1,250 million aggregateprincipal amount of
5.25% SeniorUnsecuredNotes due January 2030 (the "January 2030UnsecuredNotes") ina private placement. Theproceeds andcash onhandwere used to (i) redeem $1,240 millionofMay 2023 UnsecuredNotes on January 16, 2020, (ii)
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finance the $1,210 million settlement ofcertainU.S. Securities litigation as discussed in Note 20, "LEGAL PROCEEDINGS" and (iii) pay all fees andexpenses associatedwith these transactions (collectively, the "December 2019 Financing and
Refinancing Transactions”). The redemption of$1,240 millionofMay 2023 Unsecurednotes was accounted for as an extinguishment ofdebt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment ofdebt of $24 million representing the difference

Interest on the 5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on each January 30 and July 30. Interest on the January 2030 Unsecured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on each January 30 and July 30. The
5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes andthe January 2030 Unsecured Notes are redeemable at the option ofthe Company, in whole or inpart, at any time on or after January 30, 2023 and January 30, 2025, respectively, at the redemptionprices
‘set forth in the respective indenture. The Company may redeem some or all ofthe 5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes or the January 2030 Unsecured Notes prior to January 30, 2023 and January 30, 2025, respectively, at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount thereof plus a “make-whole” premium. Prior to January 30, 2023, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 5.00% January 2028 Unsecured Notes or the January 2030
‘UnsecuredNotes usingtheproceeds ofcertain equity offerings at the redemption price set forth in the respective indenture.

5 2556 Senior Ui LNote: due 2029 - Mav 2020 Refinancine Tr -
(On May 26, 2020, the Company issued $1,500 million aggregate principal amount of6.25% SeniorUnsecuredNotes due February 2029 (the "6.25% February 2029 Unsecured Notes”) in a private placement The proceeds and cashonhand were
‘used to (i) repurchase $1,250 million aggregate principal amount ofthe outstanding March 2022 Secured Notes, (ii) prepay $303 million ofmandatory amortization scheduled for payment in 2022 under the Company's June 2025 and November
2025 Term LoanBFacilities and (iii) pay all fees and expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the "May 2020 Refinancing Transactions”). The May 2020 Refinancing Transactions were accounted for as an extinguishment of
debt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment ofdebt of$27 millionrepresentingthe difference between the amount paidto settle the extinguished debt and the extinguished debt's carrying value. The 6.25% February 2029 Unsecured
‘Notes acctue interest at the rate of6.25%per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on each ofFebruary 15 andAugust 15.
The Company may redeem all or a portion of the 6.25% February 2029 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to February 15, 2024, at a price equal to 100% ofthe principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, ifany, to the date of
Tedemption, plus a “make-whole” premium In addition, at any time prior to August 15, 2023, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 6.25% February 2029 Unsecured Notes with the net
proceeds ofcertain equity offerings at the redemptionprice set forth inthe 6.25%February 2029 UnsecuredNotes indenture On or after February 15, 2024, the Company may redeem all or a portion ofthe 6.25%February 2029 UnsecuredNotes
at the applicable redemptionprices set forth inthe 6.25%February 2029 UnsecuredNotes indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the dateofredemption.

 
On December 3, 2020, the Company issued $1,000 million aggregate principal amount of 5.00% Senior Unsecured Notes due February 2029 (the "5.00% February 2029 Unsecured Notes”) and $1,000 million aggregate principal amount of
5.25% Senior Unsecured Notes due February 2031 (the "February 2031 Unsecured Notes”) im a private placement. The aggregate proceeds and cash on hand were used to repurchase the remaining outstanding principal amounts of (i)
€1,500 million ofthe Euro Notes, (ii) $233 million ofthe March 2023 Unsecured Notes and (iii) pay all fees and expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the "December 2020 Refinancing Transactions"). The December 2020
‘Refinancing Transactions were accounted for as an extinguishment ofdebt and the Company incurred a loss on extinguishment ofdebt of$7 million representing the difference between the amount paid to settle the extinguished debt and the
extinguished debt's carrying value. The 5.00% February 2029 Unsecured Notes acctue interest at the rate of 5.00% per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on eachofFebruary 15 and August 15. The February 2031 Unsecured Notes accrue
interest at the rate of5.25% peryear, payable semi-annually in arrears oneach ofFebruary 15 andAugust 15.
The Company may redeem all or a portion of the 5.00% February 2029 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to February 15, 2024. at a price equal to 100% ofthe principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, ifany, to the date of
Tedemption, plus a “make-whole” premium In addition, at any time prior to February 15, 2024, the Company may redeem up to 40% ofthe aggregate principal amount ofthe outstanding 5.00% February 2029 Unsecured Notes with the net
proceeds ofcertain equity offerings at the redemptionprice set forth inthe 5.00%February 2029 UnsecuredNotes indenture On or after February 15, 2024, the Company may redeem all or a portion ofthe 5.00%February 2029 Unsecured
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‘Notes at the applicable redemptionprices set forth in the 5.00% February 2029 Unsecured Notes indenture, plus accrued andunpaid interestto, butnot including, the dateofredemption.
The Company may redeem all or a portion of the February 2031 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to February 15, 2026, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if amy, to the date of
Tedemption, plus a “make-whole” premium In addition, at any time prior to February 15, 2024, the Company may redeem up to 40% ofthe aggregate principal amount ofthe outstanding February 2031 Unsecured Notes with the netproceedsof
Certain equity offerings at the redemption price set forth in the February 2031 Unsecured Notes indenture. On or after February 15, 2026, the Company may redeem all or a portion of the February 2031 Unsecured Notes at the applicable
Tedemption prices set forth inthe February 2031 UnsecuredNotes indenture, plus accrued andunpaidinterest to, but not including, the dateofredemption.
Weighted Average Stated RateofInterest
The weightedaverage stated rateofinterest for the Company's outstanding debt obligations as ofDecember 31, 2020 and2019 was 6.02% and 6.21%, respectively.
‘Maturities and Mandatory Payments
Maturities and mandatory payments ofdebt obligations forthe five succeeding years endingDecember 31 andthereafterare as follows
(inmillions)
2021 $ _
2022 -
2023 —
2024 2,291
2025 10 632
Thereafter 11,262
Total gross maturities 24,185
‘Unamortized discounts (260)

Total long term debt and other $ 23.925
‘Under the Restated CreditAgreement, there is no Excess Cash Flow payment due for 2020.

lL PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENTEMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Compan has defined benefit plans and a participator definedbenefit postretirement medical and life insurance plan which co ers a closed grandfathered group oflegac Bausch & Lomb Holdings Incorporated ( B&L ) US emplo ees
andemplo ees in certain other countries TheUS defined benefit accruals were frozen as ofDecember 31 2004 andbenefits that were earned up to December 31 2004 were preser ed Participants continue toear interest credits on their cash
balance at an interest crediting rate that is equal to the greater of (i) the a erage annual ieldon 10 eartreasur bonds in effect for the No ember preceding the plan earor (ii) 450% The most significant non U S plans are two definedbenefit
plans im Ireland In 2011 both Ireland definedbenefitplans were closed to future ser icebenefit accruals howe er additional accruals related to annual salar increases continued In December 2014 one ofthe Ireland definedbenefitplans was
amended effecti e August 2014 to eliminate future benefit accruals related to salar imcreases All of the pension benefits accrued through the plan amendment date were preser ed As a result of the plan amendment there are no acti e plan
participants accruing benefits under the amended Ireland defined benefit plan TheUS postretirement benefit plan was amended effecti e Januar 1 2005 to eliminate emplo er contributions after age 65 for participants who did not meet the
minimum requirements of age and ser ice on that date The emplo er contributions for medical and prescription drug benefits for participants retiring after March 1 1989 were frozen effecti e Januar 1 2010 Effecti e Jammar 1 2014 the
Compan no longeroffers medical and life insurance co erage to new retirees
In addition to the B&L benefit plans, outside ofthe U.S., a limitedgroup ofthe Company's employees are covered by definedbenefit pensionplans.
The Companyuses December 31 as the year-end measurement date for allofits definedbenefit pension plans andthe postretirementbenefitplan.
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The Company recognizes in its Consolidated Balance Sheets an asset or liability equal to the over- or under-funded benefit obligation of each defined benefit pension plan and postretirement benefit plan. Actuarial gains or losses and prior
service costs or credits that arise during the periodbut are not recognized as components ofnetperiodic benefit cost are recognized, netoftax, as a component ofOther comprehensive income (loss).
The amounts included inAccummlated other comprehensive loss as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows

US. Plan
(fin malltons)  $ i $ 4

NetPeriodic (Benefit) Cost

9 “| Ss “| us] “| “| 
|

“| 2 “| S “| 2   

Fw
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Benefit Obligation Change in Plan Assets andFunded Status
The table below presents components ofthe change inprojectedbenefit obligation, change inplan assets and funded status for 2020 and 2019

US. PostretirementUS. Pho Non-US. Plans Benefit Plan
(inmalltons) 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
‘Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projectedbenefitobligation, beginning ofyear $ 27 $ 24 $ 259 $ 235 $ 41 $ 4Service cost 1 2 3 3 - -
Interest cost 6 g 4 5 1 1
Employee contributions - - _ - - 1
Settlements = = @) @ = =—
Benefits paid as ay ® ® @ ®Actuarial losses 7 1 B 30 1 2

Currency tanslationadjustments ——<——>S|$$Oo 2 SO SS
Projectedbenefitobligation end of ear Se|
‘Change im PlanAssets
Fair alue ofplanassets beginning of ear 216 187 161 147
Actualretumonplanassets 29 2 un 17
Emplo ee contributions 1
‘Compan contributions 1 2 8 10 4 3
‘Settlements 2 @
Benefitspaid as as ® ® @ ®

Fairvalue ofplanassets, end ofyear estessELE
Funded status, end ofyear $ 2 s gp $ (105) $ (5) $ G2. $ (41
Recognized as
Accrued andother current liabilities $ $ $ @) $ Q $ @ $ ©)
Other non current liabilities $ ® $ a) $ (103) $ 6) $ Gy) $ G6)
A mumberofthe Company s pension benefit plans wereunderfunded as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, having accumulatedbenefit obligations exceeding the fairvalueofplan assets. Information for the underfunded pension benefit plans is asfollows

US. Plan Non-US. Plans
(on millions)wa—OtC—s—“—CSD—“‘<“‘<‘“(”*ézt!!!U!~«C
Projectedbenefitobligation $ 236 $ 27 $ 2 $ 259
Accumulatedbenefitobligation 236 27 286 251
Fairvalue ofplanassets 21 216 189 161
The Compan s polic for funding its pension benefit plans is to make contributions that meet or exceed the minimum statutor funding requirements These contributions are determinedbased upon recommendations madeb the actuar under
accepted actuarial principles In 2021 the Compan expects to contribute $0 $10 million and $4 million to the US pension benefit plan the non US pension benefit plans and the US postretirement benefit plan respecti el The Compan
plans to use postretirement benefitplanassets and cashon hand as mecessar to fund the U S postretirement benefit planbenefit pa ments in 2021

Exhibit 2160

Page 163 of 168



Exhibit 2160
Page 164 of 168

EstimatedFuture BenefitPayments
Future benefit payments over the next 10 years for thepensionbenefitplans and the postretirement benefit plan, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expectedto be paid as follows

The weighted-average assumptionsused to determine net periodic benefitcosts and benefit obligations for 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows

ForDeterminingNet Periodic (Benefit) CostUS. Plans
Discountrate
Expectedrate ofretum onplan assets
‘Rate ofcompensation increase
‘Interest creditingrate‘Non-U.S. Plans
Discountrate
Expectedrate ofretum onplan assets
‘Rate ofcompensation increase
‘Interest creditingrate

ForDeterminingBenefit ObligationUS. Plans
Discountrate
Rate ofcompensation increase
Interest creditingrate‘Non-U.S. Plans
Discountrate
Rate ofcompensation increase
Interest creditingrate

3.16%
625%

5.00%

168%

3.05 %

425%
725%

5.00 %

239%
345%
299%

3.05%

vs BenefitUS. Pho Non-US. Plans Pian
WS 6 $ 4
1g 6 4
oa 7 4
oa 7 3
oa 7 3
75 a2 nb

US. Postretirement BenefitPlan
ns2Ss

356% 3.04% 416% 347%
7% - - =

5.00 %

229%
3.66 %
287%

Pension Benefit Plans US. PostretirementBenefitPlan
2019 2020 2019

225% 316% 2.09 % 30%

475% 5.00 %

137% 168%
2.60%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was developed based on 2 capital markets model that uses expected asset class returns, variance and correlation assumptions. The expected asset class returns were developed starting with
curent Treasury (for the U.S. pension plan) or Eurozone (for the Ireland pension plans) government yields and then adding corporate bond spreads and equity risk premiums to develop the return expectations for each asset class. The expected

assets forthe Company s U.S. pensionplanfor 2020 was 6.25%. The expectedreturnon plan assets for the Company s Irelandpensionplans was 3.00% for 2020.
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The discount rate used to determine benefit obligations represents the current rate at which the benefitplan liabilities could be effectively settled considering the timingofexpectedpayments forplanparticipants.
The 2021 expected rateofretumfor the U.S. pensionbenefitplanwill be 5.00%. The 2021 expectedrate ofreturnfor the Irelandpensionbenefitplans will be 2.75%.
Pension BenefitPlansAssets
Pension benefit plan assets are invested in several asset categories. The following presents the actual asset allocation asofDecember31, 2020 and 2019

2020 2019
US. Pho

‘Cashandcashequivalents 1% 1%
Equity securities 39% 55%Fixed income securities O% 4%

Non-US. Plans
‘Cashandcashequivalents 3% 6%
Equity securities 3% 35%‘Fixed income securities 3% an
Other u% 6%

The im estment strateg underl ing pension plan asset allocation is to manage the assets of the plan to pro ide for the non current liabilities while maintaining sufficient liquidit to pa current benefits Pension plan assets are di ersified to
Protect against large in estment losses and to reduce the probabilit ofexcessi e performance olatilit Di ersification of assets is achie edb allocating fumds to ariows asset classes and in estment st les within asset classes and retaining
im estment managementfirm(s) with complementar im estmentphilosophies st les andapproaches
The Company s pension plan assets are managedby outside investment managers using a total return investment approach, whereby a mix ofequity and debt securities investments are used to maximize the long-term rate ofreturn onplan assets.
A significant portion of the assets of the U.S. and Ireland pension plans have been invested im equity securities, as equity portfolios have historically provided higher returns than debt and other asset classes over extended time horizons.
Correspondingly, equity investments also entail greaterrisks than other investments. Equity risks are balanced by investing a significantportion ofplanassets inbroadly diversified fixed income securities.
Fair ValueofPlanAssets
The Compan measured the fair alue of plan assets based on the prices that would be recei ed to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabilit in an orderl transaction between market participants at the measurement date See Note 5 FAIR
‘VALUE MEASUREMENTS for details on theCompansfair alue measurements based on a three tier hierarch
The table below presents total plan assets by investment category as ofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 and the classification ofeach investment category within the fairvalue hierarchy with respect to the inputs used to measure fair value. There
‘were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during 2020 and 2019.

 

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019(inmillions) Levell Level2 Level3 Total Levell Level2 Level 3 Total
(Cash and cash equivalents s 2 $ — $s — $ 2 $ 1 $ — $ — $ 1
Commingled funds

USS. broad market _ 48 _ 48 _ oo _ oo
‘Emerging markets — 9 — 9 — 15 — 15
‘Worldwide developedmarkets _ 20 _ 20 _ 26 _ 26
Other assets - 14 - 14 _ 15 _ 15

Investment grade = 138 = 138 = 95 = 95
$ 2 $ 229 $ $ 231 $ 1$ 215 $ 216

F47
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(inmillions) Le ell Le el2 Le el3 Total ledl le ad2 lead} Total
Cash equivalents $ — $ 5 $ — $ 5 $ — $ 9 $ —- $ 9
Commingied fandsEqui a

Emerging markets - 1 - 1 - 2 - 2
Worldwide developed markets - 31 - 31 - 38 - 38

Investment grade - 6 - 6 - 9 - 9
Global high ield 1 1 3 3
Government bond funds 1 102 - 103 1 90 - 91

Other assets = 20 2 2 = 8 1 9
$ $ 1% $ 2 $ 199 $ 159 $ 1 $ 161

Cash equivalents consisted primarily of term deposits and money market instruments. The fair value of the term deposits approximates their carrying amounts due to their short term maturities. The money market instruments also have short
maturities and are valuedusing a market approach based on the quotedmarketprices ofidentical instruments.
‘Commingled funds are not publicly traded. The underlying assets in these funds are publicly traded on the exchanges and have readily available price quotes. The Ireland pension plans held approximately 96% and 95% of the non-US.
commingled funds in 2020 and 2019,respectively. The commingled funds held by the U.S. and Ireland pensionplans areprimarilyinvested in index funds.
The underlying assets inthe fixed income funds are generally valued using the net asset value per fund share, which is derivedusing a market approach with inputs that include broker quotes, benchmark yields, base spreads and reported trades.
Defined Contribution Plans
The Company sponsors defined contribution plans im the U.S., Ireland and certain other countries. Under these plans, employees are allowed to contribute a portion of their salaries to the plans, and the Company matches a portion of the
employee contributions. The Company contributed $43 million, $41 million and $36million to these plans during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

12. LEASES

Right-of-use assets and leaseliabilities associatedwiththe Company's operating leases are includedin the Consolidated Balance Sheet asofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019 as follows
(inmillions) 2020 2019
Right-of-use assets included in Ll elOther non-current assets s 259 s 271
Lease liabilities included in a

Accrued and other current liabilities $ 52 $ 33

‘Total lease liabilities $ 279 $s 293

AsofDecember 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company's finance leases were not material and for the years 2020 and 2019 sub-lease income and short-termlease expense were not material. Lease expense for the years 2020 and 2019 include

 

(inmillions) 2020 2019
Operating lease costs $ 65 $ 62
‘Variable operating lease costs $ 2 $ 16

F48
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Upon adoption ofthe new standard for accounting for leases on Jamuary 1, 2019, the Company elected the modified retrospective approach without revising prior periods. Rent expense related to operating lease agreements was $92 million for2018.

Otherinformation related to operatingleases for 2020 and 2019 is as follows

(dollars in millions) 200
Cashpaid from operating cash flows for amounts included in the measurement oflease liabilities $ 4 $s B
Right ofuse assets obtained in exchangefor new operating lease liabilities $s 39 $ 47
‘Weighted-average remaining lease term 7.6years 8.2 years
‘Weighted-average discount rate 62% 62%

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities during the year ended December 31, 2019 of$47 million in the table above does not include $282 millionofright-of-use assets recognized upon adoption ofthe new
standard for accounting for leases onJanuary 1, 2019. See Note 2, "SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTINGPOLICIES"for further detail regarding the impact ofadoption.
AsofDecember 31, 2020, future payments under noncancelable operating leases foreach ofthe five succeedingyears ending December 31 andthereafterare as follows
(inmillions)
2021 $

Less Currentportion
‘Non-current portion $

13. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In May 2014, shareholders approved the Company s 2014 Ommibus Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) which replaced the Company s 2011 Ommibus Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”) for future equity awards granted by the Company. The
Company transferredthe common shares available underthe 2011 Planto the 2014 Plan. The maximum numberofcommon shares that may be issued to participants under the 2014 Planwas equal to 18,000,000 common shares, plus the number
of common shares under the 2011 Plan reserved but unissued and not underlying outstanding awards and the number ofcommon shares becoming available for reuse after awards are terminated, forfeited, cancelled, exchanged or surrendered
underthe 2011 Plan andthe Company s 2007 Equity Compensation Plan. The Company registered 20,000,000 common shares ofcommonstock for issuanceunderthe 2014 Plan
Effective April 30, 2018, the Company amended and restated the 2014 Plan (the “Amended and Restated 2014 Plan”). The Amended and Restated 2014 Plan incindes the following amendments (i) the number ofcommon shares authorized for
issuance under the Amended and Restated 2014 Plan has been increased by an additional 11.900,000 common shares, as approved by the requisite number of shareholders at the Company s annual general meeting held on April 30, 2018, (ii)
introduction ofa $750,000 aggregate fair market value limit on awards (in either equity, cash or other compensation) that can be granted in any calendaryear to a participant who is a non-employee director, (iii) housekeeping changes to address
Tecent changes to Section 162(m) ofthe Internal Revenue Code, (iv) awards are expressly subject to the Company s clawback policy and (v) awards not assumed or substituted in connection with a Change ofControl (as defined in the Amended
andRestated 2014 Pian) will onlyvest on apro ratabasis.
Effective April 28, 2020, the Company furtheramended andrestatedthe Amended andRestated 2014 Plan (the “FurtherAmended andRestated 2014 Plan”). The FurtherAmended and Restated 2014 Plan includes the following amendments (i)the number ofcommon shares authorizedfor issuance under the Further Amended and Restated 2014 Plan hasbeen

SlySsSeeae
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increased by an additional 13,500,000 common shares, as approved by the requisite number of shareholders at the Company s annual general meeting held on April 28, 2020, (ii) the exercise price ofstock options and share appreciation rights
SARs”) will be based on the closing price ofthe underlying common shares on the date such stock options or SARs are granted (rather than on the last preceding trading date), (iii) additional provisions clarifying that (a) stock options and
SARs will not be eligible for the payment ofdividend or dividend equivalents and (b) the Talent and Compensation Committee ofthe Board ofDirectors ofthe Company cannot, without shareholder approval, seek to effect any repricingofany
previously granted “underwater” stock option or SAR and(iv) other housekeeping and/or clerical changes.
Approximately 16,902,000 commonshares were available for future grants asofDecember 31, 2020. The Company uses reserved and unissuedcommon shares to satisfy its obligation under its share-basedcompensationplans.
The Company has a long-term incentive program with the objective ofaligning the share-based awards granted to senior management with the Company s focus on improving its tangible capital usage and allocation, while maintaining focus on

comprised of (i) awards that vest upon achievement ofcertain share price appreciation conditions that are based ontotal shareholder return (“TSR”) and (ii) awards that vest upon attainment of certain performance targets that are based on the
Company s return ontangible capital ROTC”).
The components and classification ofshare-based compensation expense related to stock options and RSUs for the years 2020, 2019 and 2018 were as follows

(inmillions) 2020 2019 2018
Stock options $ 15 $ 21 $s 23
RSUs 90 81 “a
‘Share based compensation expense $s 105 $ 102 s 87
Research and development expenses $ ll $ 9 $ 9
Selling, general andadministrative expenses o4 93 73
‘Share-based compensation expense $s 105 $ 102 $s 87
Stock Options
Stock options granted under the 2011 Plan and the Amended and Restated 2014 Plan generally expire on the fifth or tenth anniversary of the grant date. The exercise price ofany stock option granted under the 2011 Plan and the Amended and
Restated 2014 Plan will notbe less than the closingprice percommon share on thedate ofgrant. Stock options generally vest 33% and 25% each year over a three-year and four-year period, respectively, on the anniversary ofthe dateofgrant.
The fairvaluesofall stock options granted fortheyears 2020, 2019 and 2018 were estimatedas ofthe dateofgrantusing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions

——2020___a
Expected stock option life (years) 30 30 3.0
Expected volatility 38.7% 46.5% 54.0%
Risk-free interest rate 12% 25% 27%
Expected dividendyield —% —% —
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